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CHAP. 1

The Constitution of the East India Company, its
practical Arrangements for the Conduct of
Business, and Transactions till the Conclusion of
the War with France by the Treaty of Aix-la-
Chapelle.

WHEN the competitors for Indian commerce were gonk 1v.
united into one corporate body, and the privilege of Cusr. 1.
exclusive trade was founded on legislative authority, 1708.
the business of the East India Company became re-
gular and uniform. Their capital, composed of the
shares of the subscribers, was a fixed and definite
sum : OFf the modes of dealing, adapted to the nature
t of the business, little information remained to be ac-

i quired: Their proceedings were reduced to an
VOL, IIL B




2

Constitution

BOOK IV. established routine, or a series of operations periodi-

Cuar. 1.

1708.

cally recurring: A general description, therefore,
of the plan upon which the Company conducted
themselves, and a statement of its principal results,
appear to comprehend every thing which falls within
the design of a history of that commercial body,
during a period of several years.

When a number of individuals unite themselves
in any common interest, reason suggests, that they
themselves should manage as much as it is convenient
for them to manage; and that they should make
choice of persons to execute for them such parts of
the business as cannot be conveniently transacted by
themselves,

It was upon this principle, that the adventurers in
the trade to India originally framed the constitution
of their Company. They met in assemblies, which
were called Courts of Proprietors, and transacted
certain parts of the common business: And they
chose a certain number of persons belonging to their
own body, and who were called Committees,' to
manage for them other parts of the business, which
they could not so well perform themselves. The
whole of the managing business, therefore, or the
whole of the government, was in the hands of,

1st. The Proprietors, assembled in general court ;

2dly. The Committees, called afterwards the Di-
rectors, assembled in their special courts.

At the time of the award of the Earl of Godolphin,
power was distributed between these assemblies ac-
cording to the following plan : '

To have a vote in the Court of Proprietors, that
is, any share in its power, it was necessary to be the

v Committees ; 1, €. Persons to whom something is committed, or
entrusted.

[ESINE
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of the East India Company. 3

owner of 500/. of the Company’s stock : and no ad- BOOK 1v.
ditional share, contrary to a moré early regulation, C%4*1-
gave any advantage, or more to any proprietor than 1708,
a single vote.

The directors were twenty-four in number :. No
person was competent to be chosen as a Director who
possessed less than 2,000/ of the Company’s stock:
And of these directors, one was Chairman, and
another Deputy-Chairman, presiding in the Courts.

The Directors were chosen annually by the Pro-
prietors in their General Court; and no Director
could serve for more than a year, except by re-
election,

Four Courts of Proprietors, or General Courts, were
held regularly in each year, in the month of Decem-
ber, March, June, and September, respectively; the
Directors might summon Courts at other times, as
often as they saw cause, and were bound to summon
Courts within ten days, upon a requisition signed by
any nine of the Proprietors, qualified to vote.

The Courts of Directors, of whom thirteen were
requisite to constitute a Court, were held by appoint-
ment of the Directors themselves, as often, and at
such times and places, asthey might deem expedient
for the dispatch of affairs.’

According to this constitution, the supreme power
was vested in the Court of Proprietors. In the first
place they held the legislative power entire: All laws
and regulations, all determinations of dividend, all
grants of money, were made by the Court of Pro-
prietors. To act under their ordinances, and manage
the business of routine, was the department reserved
for the Court of Directors. In the second place, the
supreme power was secured to the Court of Proprie-

* Letters Patent, 10 Will, III., Collection of Charters, &ec.
B2
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Constitution

BOOK IV. tors, by the important power of displacing, annually,

CHar, 1.

1708.

the persons whom they chose to act in their behalf.
In this constitution, if the Court of Proprietors
be regarded as representing the general body of the
people, the Court of Directors as representing an
aristocratical senate, and the Chairman as represent-
ing the sovereign, we have an image of the British
constitution ; a system in which the forms of the

* different species of government, the monarchical,

aristocratical, and democratical, are mixed and com-
bined.

In the constitution however of the East India
Company, the power allotted to the democratical part
was 50 great, that a small portion may seem to have
been reserved to the other two. Not only were the
sovereignty, and the aristocracy, both elective, but
they were elected from year to year; thatis, were in
a state of complete dependence upon the democra-
tical part. This was not all : no decrees, but those
of the democracy, were binding, at least in the last
resort; the aristocracy, therefore, and monarchy,
were subordinate, and subject. Under the common
impression of demacratic ambition, irregularity, and

- violence, it might be concluded, that the democratic

assembly would grasp at the whole of the power;
would constrain and disturb the proceedings of the
Chairmen and Directors ; would deliberate with vio-
lence and animosity ; and exhibit all the confusion,
precipitation, and imprudence, which are so commonly
ascribed to the exercise of popular power.

The actual result is extremely different from what
the common modes of reasoning incite common minds
to infer. Notwithstanding the power which, by the
theory of the constitution, was thus reserved to the
popular part of the system, all power has centered in
the court of directors; and the government of the

VDRI Y e ©



of the East India Company. 5

Company has been an oligarchy, in fact.  So far from BOOK 1v.
meddling too much, the Court of Proprietors have not "™ -
attended to the common affairs even sufficiently for 1708.
the business of inspection : And the known principles
of human nature abundantly secured that unfortunate
result. To watch, to scrutinize, to inquire, is labour,
and labour is pain. To confide, to take for granted
that all is well, is easy, is exempt from labour, and,
to the great mass of mankind, comparatively delight-
ful.  Onall ordinary occasions, on all occasions which
present not a powerful motive to action, the great
mass of mankind are sure to be led by the soft and
agreeable feeling. And if they who act have only
sufficient prudence to avoid those occurrences which
are calculated to rouse the people on account of whom
they act, the people will allow them abundant scope
to manage the common concerns in a way con-
formable to their own liking and advantage. It is
thus that all constitutions, however democratically
formed, have a tendency to become oligarchical in
practice. By the numerous body who constitute the
democracy, the objects of ambition are beheld at so
great a distance, and the competition for them is
shared with so great a number, that in general they
make but a feeble impression upon their minds: The
small number, on the other hand, entrusted with the
management, feel so immediately the advantages, and
their affections are so powerfully engaged by the
presence, of their object, that they easily concentrate
their views, and point their energies with perfect con-
stancy in the selfish direction. The apathy and in-
attention of the people, on the one hand, and the in-
terested activity of the rulers on the other, are two
powers, the action of which may always be counted
upon; nor has the art of government as yet exem-
plified, however the science may or may not have dis-
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Mode of Condugting

BOOK 1V. covered, any certain means by which the unhappy

Caapr. 1.
e

1708.

effects of that action may be prevented.'

For conducting the affairs of the Company, the
Directors divided themselves into parties called Com-
mittees; and the business.into as many separate
shares.?

The first was the Committee of Correspondence,
of which the business was more confidential, as well
as extensive, than that of any of the rest. Its duties
were, to study the advices from India, and to prepare
answers for the inspection of the Court of Directors :
To report upon the number of ships expedient for
the trade of the season, and the stations proper for
each : To report upon the number of servants, civil
and military, in the different stations abroad ; on the
demand for alterations, and the applications made for
leave of absence, or leave to return: All complaints
of grievances, and all pecuniary demands on the
Company, were decided upon in the first instance by
this Committee, which nominated to all places, in the
treasury, and in the secretary’s, examiner’s, and audi-
tor’s offices. It performed, in fact, the prime and
governing business of the Company : The rest was
secondary and subordinate.

The next Committee was that of Law-suits; of

1 Not in the East India Company alone; in the Bank of England also,
the constitution of which is similar, oligarchy has always prevailed.
Nor will the circumstances be found to differ in auy joint stock associa~
tion in the history of British Commerce. So little does experience
countenance the dangerous roaxim, of the people’s being always eager to
grasp attoo much power, that the great difficulty, in regard to good go-
vernment, is, to get them really to exercise that degree of power, their
own exercise of which good government absolutely requires.

* The following account is derived from an official report on the busi-
ness of the Committees, called for by the Board of Control, and trans-
mitted officially by the Court of Directors, of which the substance is
given in Mr. Bruce’s Historical View of Plans for the Government of
Brtish India, p. 600.
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the Business of the Company. 7

which the business was to deliberate and direct in all BOOK IV,
cases of litigation; and to examine the bills of law ““"1'“4
charges. It is not a little remarkable that there 170s.
should be work of this description sufficient to engross
the time of a committee.

The third was the Committee of Treasury. Its
business was, to provide, agreeably to the orders of
the Court, for the payment of dividends and interest
on bonds; to negociate the Company’s loans; to pur-
chase gold and silver for exportation: to affix the
Company’s seal to bonds and other deeds; to examine
monthly, or oftener, the balance of cash; and to de-
cide, in the first instance, on applications respecting
the loss of bonds, on pecuniary questions in general,
and the delivery of unregistered diamonds and
bullion.

The Committee of Warehouses was the fourth.
The business of importation was the principal part of
its charge. It framed the orders for the species of
goods of which the investment or importation was
intended to conmsist: It had the superintendance of
the servants employed in the inspection of the pur-
chases; determined upon the modes of shipping and
conveyance ; superintended the landing and ware-
housing of the goods; arranged the order of sales;
and deliberated generally upon the means of promot-
ing and improving the trade.

The fifth was the Committee of Accounts; of
whose duties the principal were, to examine bills of
exchange, and money certificates; to compare advices
with bills; to examine the estimates, and accounts
of cash and stock; and to superintend the office of
the accountant, and the office of transfer, in which
are effected the transfers of the Company’s stock and
annuities, and in which the foreign letters of attorney
for that purpose are examined.
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BOOK 1V.
Cuar. 1.

1708.

Mode of Conducting

A committee, called the Committee of Buying,
was the sixth. Its business was, to superintend the
purchase and preparation of the standard articles of
export, of which lead and woollens constituted the
chief; to contract with the dyers and other trades-
men ; to audit their accounts, and keep charge of the
goods till deposited in the ships for exportation.

The Committee of the House was the seventh, and
its business was mostly of an inferior and ministerial
nature. The alterations and repairs of the buildings,
regulations for the attendance of the several officers
and clerks, the appointment of the inferior servants
of the House, and the control of the secretary’s
accounts for domestic disbursements, were included
in its province.

The eighth Committee, that of Shipping, had the
charge of purchasing stores, and all other articles of
export, except the grand articles appropriated to the
Committee of Buying; the business of hiring ships, -
and of ascertaining the qualifications of their com-
manders and officers; of distributing the outward
cargoes; of fixing seamen’s wages; of issuing orders
for building, repairing, and fitting out the ships,
packets, &c. of which the Company were proprietors;
and of regulating and determining the tonnage allowed
for private trade, to the commanders and officers of
the Company’s ships.

The ninth was the Committee of Private Trade:
and its occupation was to adjust the accounts of
freight, and other charges, payable on the goods ex-
ported for private account, in the chartered ships of
the Company ; to regulate Lhe indulgences to private
trade homeward ; and, by examining the comman-
ders of ships, and other inquiries, to ascertain how
far the regulations of the Company had been violated
or obeyed. .
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The tenth Committee was of a characteristic de- Bgox 1v.
scription. It was the Committee for preventing the ~"** -

growth of Private Trade. Its business was to take
cognizance of all instances in which the licence,
granted by the Company for private trade, was ex-
ceeded; to decide upon the controversies to which
the encroachments of the private traders gave birth ;
and to make application of the penalties which were
provided for transgression. So closely, however, did
the provinces of this and the preceding Committee
border upon one another; and so little, in truth, were
their boundaries defined, that the business of the one
was not unfrequently transferred to the other.

Other transactions respecting the employment of
troops and the, government of territory, required
additions to the system of Committees, when the
Company afterwards became conquerors and rulers.
But of these it will be time to speak when the events
arrive which produced them.

The Chairmen, as the name imports, preside in
the Courts, whether of Directors or Proprietors; they
are the organs of official communication between the

“ompany and other parties, and are by office members
of all the Committees.

The articles in which the export branch of the
Indian trade has all along consisted are bullion, lead,
quicksilver, woollen cloths, and hardware, of which
the proportions have varied at various times.

The official value of all the exports to India for
the year 1708, the year in which the union of the
two Companies was completed, exceeded not 60,915/,
The following year it rose to 168,357/, But from
this it descended gradually till, in the year 1715, it
amounted to no more than 36,997/ It made a start,
however, in the following year; and the medium
exportation for the first twenty years, subsequent to

1708.
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BOOK 1V. 1708, was 92,288/. per annum.! The average annual

Guar. 1. exportation of bullion during the same years was
1708, 442,350,

' The articles of which the import trade of the East
India Company chiefly consisted, were calicoes and
the other woven manufactures of India; raw silk,
diamonds, tea, porcelain, pepper, drugs, and saltpetre.
The official value of their imports in 1708 was
493,2571.; and their annual average importation for
this and the nineteen following years was 758,042/,
At that period the official value assigned to goods at
the Custom House differed not greatly from the real
value ; and the statements which have been made by
the East India Company of the actual value of their
exports and imports for some of those years, though
not according with the Custom House accounts from
year to year, probably from their being made up to
different periods in the year, yet on a sum of several
years pretty nearly coincide.> The business of sale is
transacted by the East India Company in the way of
auction. On stated days, the goods, according to the
discretion of the Directors, are put up to sale at the
India House; and transferred to the highest bidder.

At first the Company built and owned the ships
employed in their trade. But in the progress and
sub-division of commerce, ship-owning became a dis-
tinct branch of business; and the company preferred
the hiring of ships, called chartering. It was in hired
or chartered ships, accordingly, that from this time
the trade of the Company was chiefly conveyed; and

1 Custom House accounts. See Sir Charles Whitworth's Tables, p. 9.

? Try, for example, the sum of the exports for twenty years from 1710,
in Sir Charles Whitworth's Tables, and that in the Company's accounts ;
the table, for instance, No. 7, in the Appendix to Mr. Macpherson’s
History of European Commerce with India. See too, the averages in
Bruce’s Historical View of Plans for British India, p. 295.
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a few swift-sailing vessels, called packets, more for Bé)OK v,
the purpose of intelligence than of freight, formed, omnt
with some occasional exceptions, the only article of 1708.
shipping which they properly called their own. This
regulation set free a considerable portion of the funds
or resources of the Company, for direct traffic, or the
simple transactions of buying and selling.!

That part of the business of the Company which
was situated in India, was distinguished by several
features which the peculiar circumstances of the coun-
try forced it to assume. The sale indeed of the com-
modities imported from Europe, they transacted in
the simplest and easiest of all possible ways; namely,
by auction, the mode in which they disposed of Indian
goods in England. At the beginning of this trade,
the English, as well as other European adventurers,
used to carry their commodities to the interior towns
and markets, transporting them in the hackeries of
the country, and established factories or warehouses,
where the goods were exposed to sale. During the
confusion, however, which prevailed, while the em-
pire of the Moguls was in the progress of dissolution,
the security which had formerly existed, imperfect as
it was, became greatly impaired: and, shortly after
the union of the two Companies, a rule was adopted,
not to permit any of the persons in the Company’s
service, or under their jurisdiction, to remove far into
the inland country, without leave obtained from the
Governor and Council of the place to which they
belonged. According to this plan, the care of dis-
tributing the goods iuto the country, and of introduc-
ing them to the consumers, was left to the native and
other independent dealers.

For the purchase, collection, and custody of the

* Ninth bye-law of the Company, in Russel’s Collection of Statutes.
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BOOK Iv. goods, which constituted the freight to England, a

CHarp. 1.
-—

1708.

complicated system of operations was required. As
the state of the country was too low in respect of ci-
vilization and of wealth, to possess manufacturers and
merchants, on a large scale, capable of executing ex-
tensive orders, and delivering the goods contracted for
on pre-appointed days, the Company were under the
necessity of employing their own agents to collect
throughout the country, in such quantities as pre-
sented themselves, the different articles of which the
cargoes to Europe were composed. Places of re-
ception were required, in which the goods might be
collected, and ready upon the arrival of the ships, that
the expense of demurrage might be reduced to its
lowest terms. WWarehouses were built; and these,
with the counting-houses, and other apartments for
the agents and business of the place, constituted what
were called the factories of the Company. Under the
disorderly and inefficient system of government which
prevailed in India, deposits of property were always
exposed, either to the rapacity of the government, or
under the weakness of the government to the hands
of depredators. It was always therefore an object
of importance to build the factories strong, and to
keep their inmates armed and disciplined for self-
defence, as perfectly as circumstances would admit.
At an early period the Company even fortified t+ose
stations of their trade, and inaintained professional
troops, as often as the negligence permitted, or the
assent could be obtained, of the Kings and Governors
of the countries in which they were placed.

Of the commodities collected for the European
market, that part, the acquisition of which was at-
tended with the greatest variety of operations, was
the produce of the loom. The weavers, like the other
laborious classes of India, are in the lowest stage of
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poverty, being always reduced to the bare means of BOOK 1v.
the most scanty subsistence. They must at all times, C74*- -
therefore, be furnished with the materials of their 170s.
work, or the means of purchasing them; and with
subsistence while the piece is under their hands. To
transact in this manner with each particular weaver,
to watch him that he may not sell the fabric which
his employer has enabled him to produce, and to pro-
vide a large supply, is a work of infinite detail, and
gives employment to a multitude of agents. The
European functionary, who, in each district, is the
head of as much business as it is supposed that he can
superintend, has first his banyan, or native secretary,
through whom the whole of the business is conducted :
The banyan hires a species of broker, called a go-
mastah, at so much a month: The gomastah repairs
to the aurung, or manufacturing town, which is as-
signed as his station; and there fixes upon a habita-
tion, which he calls his cutchery : He is provided with
a sufficient number of peons, a sort of armed servants ;
and hircarahs, messengers or letter carriers, by his
employer: These he immediately dispatches about
the place, to summon to him the dallils, pycars and
weavers : The dalldls and pycirs are two sets of
brokers; of whom the pycars are the lowest, trans-
acting the business of detail with the weavers; the
dallils again transact with the pycérs; the gomastah
transacts with the dallils, the hanyan with the go-
mastah, and the Company’s European servant with
the banyan. The Company’s servant is thus five re-
moves from the workman; and it may easily be sup-
posed that much collusion and trick, that much of
fraud towards the Company, and much of oppression
towards the weaver, is the consequence of the obscu-
rity which so much complication implies.! Besides

! The obstinate adherence of the natives to their established customs,
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BOOK IV. his banyan, there is attached to the European agent

Crar. 1. o mohurree, or clerk, and a cash-keeper, with a suffi-

1708. cient allowance of peons and hircarahs. Along with

the gomastah is dispatched in the first instance as

much money as suffices for the first advance to

the weaver, that is, suffices to purchase the ma-

terials, and to afford him subsistence during part at

least of the time in which he is engaged with the

work. The cloth, when made, is collected in a ware-

house, adapted for the purpose, and called a kattah.

Each piece is marked with the weaver’s name; and

when the whole is finished, or when it is convenient

for the gomastah, he holds a kattah, as the business

is called, when each piece is examined, the price

fixed, and the money due upou it paid to the weaver.

This last is the stage at which chiefly the injustice to

the workman is said to take place; as he is then

obliged to content himself with fifteen or twenty, and

often thirty or forty per cent. less than his work would

fetch in the market. This is a species of traffic which

could not exist but where the rulers of the country

were favourable to the dealer; as every thing, how-

ever, which increased the productive powers of the

labourers added directly in India to the income of the
rulers, their protection was but seldom denied.

The business of India was at this time under the

government of three Presidencies, one at Bombay,

another at Madras, and a third at Calcutta, of which

renders it not easy to quit the track which on any occasion they have
formed ; and under the ignorance of their manners and character which
distinguishes the greater proportion of the Company’s servants, it would
be mischievous to attemptit. Where the agent however is intelhgent,
and acquainted with the langnage and manners of the people, he does
simplify and improve the business to a certain degree; and were it per-
formed by men who had an interest to establish therselves in the coun-
try, and who would make it a business, it would gradually acquire that
rational forra which the interests of a rational people would recommend.
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the last had been created so lately as the year 1707, BOOK 1V.

the business at Calcutta having, till that time, been
conducted under the government of the Presidency of
Madras. These Presidencies had as yet no depend-
ance upon one another; each was absolute within
its own limits, and responsible only to the Company
in England. A Presidency was composed of a Pre-
sident or Governor, and a Council; both appointed
by commission of the Company. The council was not
any fixed number, but determined by the views of the
Directors; being sometimes nine, and sometitnes
twelve, according to the presumed importance or ex~
tent of the business to be performed. The Members
of the Council were the superior servants in the civil
or non-military class, promoted according to the rule
of seniority, unless where directions from home pre-
scribed aberration. All power was lodged in the Pre-
sident and Council jointly; nor could any thing be
transacted, except.by a majority of votes. When any
man became a ruler, he was not however debarred
from subordinate functions; and the members of
council, by natural consequence, distributed all the
most Jucrative offices among themselves. Of the
offices which any man held, that which was the chief
source of his gain failed not to be the chief object of
his attention; and the business of the Council, the
duties ofgoverning, did not, in general, engross the
greatest. part of the study and care of a Member of
Council. It seldom, if ever, happened, that less or
more of the Members of Council were not appointed
as chiefs of the more important factories under the
Presidency, and, by their absence, were not disqualified
for assisting in the deliberations of the governing
body. The irresistible motive, thus afforded to the
persons entrusted with the government, to neglect the
business of government, occupied a high rank among

Cuar. 1.

1708.
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BOOK 1v. the causes to which the defects at that time in the

Caar. 1.

1708.

management of the Company’s affairs in India may,
doubtless, be ascribed. Notwithstanding the equality
assigned to the votes of all the Members of the Coun-
cil, the influence of the President was commonly suf-
ficient to make the decisions agreeable to his inclina-
tion. The appointinent of the Members to the gain-
ful offices after which they aspired, was in a consi-
derable degree subject to his determination ; while he
had it in his power to make the situation even of a
member of the Council so uneasy to him, that his
continuance in the service ceased to be an object of
desire. Under the notion of supporting authority,
the Company always lent an unwilling ear to com-
plaints brought by a subordinate against his superior;
and in the case of councilmen, disposed to complain,
it seldom happened, that of the transactions in which
they themselves had been concerned, a portion was not
unfit to be revealed.

The powers exercised by the Governor or Presi-
dent and Council, were, in the first place, those of
masters in regard to servants over all the persons who

‘were in the employment of the Company ; and as the

Company were the sole master, without fellow or
competitor, and those under them had adopted their
service as the business of their lives, the power of the
master, in reality, and in the majority of cascs, ex-
tended to almost every thing valuable to man. With re-
gard to such of their countrymen, as were nct in their
service, the Company were armed with powers to seize
them, to keep them in confinement, and send them
to England, an extent of authority which amounted
to confiscation of goods, to imprisonment, and what
to a European constitution is the natural effect of
any long confinement under an Indian climate, actual
death. At an early period of the Company’s history, it
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had been deemed necessary to intrust them with the BOOK .
powers of martial law, for the government of the nap. -
troops which they maintained in defence of their fac- 1708.
tories and presidencies; and by a charter of Charles I1.,
granted them in 1661, the Presidents and Councils in
their factories were empowered to exerctise civil and
criminal jurisdiction according to the laws of England.
Under this sanction they had exercised judicial
powers, during all the changes which their affairs had
undergone; but at last it appeared desirable that so
important an article of their authority should rest on
a better foundation. In the year 1726 a charter was
granted, by which the Company were permitted to
establish a Mayor’s Court at each of their three presi-
dencies, Bombay, Madras, and Calcutta; consisting
of a mayor and nine aldermen, empowered to decide in
civil cases of all descriptions. From this jurisdiction,
the President and Council were erected into a Court
of Appeal. They were also vested with the power of
holding Courts of Quarter Sessions for the exercise
of penal judicature, in all cases, excepting those of
high treason. And a Court of Requests, or Court of
Conscience, was instituted, for the decision, by sum-
mary procedure, of pecuniary questions of inconsider-
able amount.

This reform in the judicature of India was not at-
tended with all the beneficial effects which were pro-
bably expected from it. Negligence was left to cor-
rupt the business of detail. The charter is said to
have been procured by the influence of an individual,
for the extension of his own authority ; and when his
ends were gained, his solicitude expired. The per-
sons appointed to fill the judicial offices were the ser-
vants of the Company, bred to commerce, and nursed
in its details : while a manuscript hook of instructions
comprised the whole of the assistance which the wis-

VOI.. I1I. Cq
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BOOK 1V, dom of the King and the Company provided to guide

"Cuar. 1,

1708,

uninstructed men in the administration of justice.

Nor was the obscurity of the English law, and
the inexperience of the judges, the only source of the
many evils which the new arrangements continued,
or produced. Jealousy arose between the Councils,
and the Mayor’s Courts. The Councils complained
that the Courts encroached upon their authority ;
and the Courts complained that they were oppressed
by the Councils. The most viclent dissensions often
prevailed; and many of the members of the Mayor's
Courts quitted the service, and went home with
their animosities and complaints.

Besides the above-mentioned tribunals established
by the Company for the administration of the British
laws to the British people in India, they erected, in
the capacity of Zemindar of the district around Cal-
cutta, the usual Zemindary Courts, for the adminis-
tration of the Indian laws to the Indian people. The
Phousdary Court for the trial of crimes; and the
Cutcherry for civil causes; besides the Collector’s
Court for matters of revenue. The judges, in these
tribunals, were servants of the Company, appointed
by the Governor and Council, and holding their
offices during pleasure; the rule of judgment was the
supposed usage of the country, and the discretion of
the court; and the mode of procedure was summary.
Punishments extended to fine ; imprisonment ; labeyr
upon the roads in chains for a limited time, or for
life; and flagellation, either to a limited degree, or
death. The ideas of honour, prevalent among the
natives, induced the Mogul government to forbid the
European mode of capital punishment, by banging,
in the case of a Mussulman. In compensation, how-

- ever, it had no ohjection to his being whipped to

death ; and the flagellants in India are said to be so
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dexterous, as to kill a man with a few strokes of the BOOK 1V.
chawbuck.! Cuaz. 1.

The executive and judicial functions were com- 170s.
bined in the Councils, at the Indian presidencies ; the
powers even of justices of the peace being granted to
the Members of Council, and to them alone. If
complaints were not wanting of the oppression by
these authorities upon their fellow-servants; it is
abundantly evident that the Company were judge in
their own cause in all cases in which the dispute
existed between them and any other party.

The President was Commander-in-Chief of the
Military Force maintained within his presidency. It
consisted, partly of the recruits sent out in the ships
of the Company ; partly of deserters from the other
European nations settled in India, French, Dutch,
and Portuguese ; and partly, at least at Bombay and
Surat, of Topasses, or persons whom we may deno-
minate Indo-Portuguese, either the mixed produce of
Portuguese and Indian pareats, or converts to the
Portyguese, from the Indian, faith. These were
troops disciplined and uniformed ; besides whom, the
natives were already, to a small extent, employed by
the Company in military service, and called Sepoys,
from the Indian term Sipahi, egpivalent to soldier.
They were made to use the musket, but remained
chiefly armed in the fashion of the country, with
sword and target; they wore the Indian dress, the
turban, cabay or vest, and long drawers; and were
provided with native officers according to the custom
of the country; but ultimately all under English
command. It bad not as yet been attempted to train
them to the European discipline, in which it was

! Seventh Report from the Committee of Secresy on the State of the
East India Company, in 177 3.

c 2



20

Commercial State

BOOK IV possible to render them so expert and steady; but

Cuar. 1.

1708,

considerable service was derived from them; and
under the conduct of European leaders they were
found capable of facing danger with great constancy
and firmness. What at this time was the average
number at each presidency, is not particularly stated.
It is mentioned, that at the time when the presidency
was established at Calcutta in 1707, an effort was
made to augment the garrison to 300 men.

The President was the organ of correspondence,
by letter, or otherwise, with the country powers. It
rested with him to communicate to the Council the
account of what he thus transacted, at any time, and
in any form, which he deemed expedient; and from
this no slight accession to his power was derived.

The several denominations of the Company’s ser-
vants in India were, writers, factors, junior merchants,
and senior merchants : the business of the writers, as
the term, in some degree, imports, was that of clerk.
ing, with the inferior details of commerce ; and when
dominion succeeded, of government. In the capacity
of writers they remained during five years. The first
promotion was to the rank of factor; the next to
that of junior merchant; in each of which the period
of service was three years. After this extent of ser-
vice, they became senior merchants. And out of the
class of senior merchants were taken by seniority the
members of the Council, and when no particular
appointment interfered, even the presidents them.-
selves.!

Shortly after the first great era, in the history of
the British commerce with India, the nation was
delivered from the destructive burthen of the long war
with France which preceded the treaty of Utrecht:

! See Ninth Report, Select Committee, 1783, p. 11.
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And though- the accession of a new family to the BOS‘I]i 11V.
throne, and the resentments which one party of -
statesmen had to gratify against another, kept the 1708,
minds of men for a time in a feverish anxiety, not
the most favourable to the persevering studies and
pursuits on which the triumphs of industry depend,
the commerce and wealth of the nation-made rapid
advances. The town of Liverpool, which was not
formed into a separate parish till 1699, so rapidly in-
creased, that in 1715 a new parish, with a church,
was erected ; and it doubled its size between 1690
and 1726. The town of Manchester increased in a
similar proportion; and was computed in 1727 to
contain no less than 50,000 inhabitants: the manu-
factures of Birmingham, which thirty years before
was little more than a village, are stated as giving
maintenance at that time to upwards of 30,000 indi-
viduals.' In 1719, a patent was granted to Sir
Thomas Lombe, for his rgachine for throwing silk,
one of the first of those noble efforts of invention and
enterprise which have raised this country to unri-
valled eminence in the useful arts. The novelty and
powers of this machine, the model of which he is
said to have stolen from the Piedmontese, into whose
manufactories he introduced himself in the guise of a
common workman, excited the highest admiration ;
and its parts and performances are described to us
by the historians of the time with curious exactness ;
26,586 wheels, 97,746 movements, which worked
78,726 yards of organzine silk by every regolution of
the water-wheel, 318,504,960 yards in one day and
a night ; a single water-wheel giving motion to the
whole machine, of which any separate movement
might be stopped without obstructing the rest; and

' Anderson s History of Commerce, Aano 1727.
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'BOOK 1V. pne firé eommunicating warmth by heated afr to
:_f‘f_ewi‘y part of the manufactory, not less than the
1708-23. eighth part of a mile in length.! Londdn was in-
creased by several new panshes And from the year
1708 to the year 1780, the imports of Great Britain,
according to the valuation of the custom-house, had
increased from 4,608,663L to 7,780,019L; the ex-

ports frot 6,969,080/ to 11,974,1350.>

During this period of national prospérity, the im-
ports of the East India Company rose from 493,2571.,
the importation of 1708, to 1,059,759/, the importa-
tion of 1730. But the other, and not the least im-
portant, the export branch of the Company’s trade,
exhibited another result: As the eéxportation of the
year 1708 was exceedingly small, compared with
that of 1709 and the following years, it is fair to
take an average of four years from 1706 to 1709
{two with a small, two an increased exportation),
producing 105,778.: The exportation of the year
1780 was 1354844 ; while that of 1709 was
168,35%..; that of 1710, 126,310/ ; that of 1711,
151,874, ; and that of 1712, 142,326/,

With regard to the rate of profit, during this
period, or the real advantage of the Indian trade, the
Company, for part of the year 1708, divided at the
rate of five per cent. per annum to the proprietors
upon 3,163,200/ of capital; for the next year, eight
per cent. ; for the two following years, nine per cent. ;
and thence to the year 1716, ten per cent. per an-
num. In the year 1717, they paid dividends on a
capital of 3,194,080/, at the same rate of ten per
cent. per aniium, and so on till the year 1723. That
year the dividend was reduced to eight per cent, per

! Anderson’s History of Commerce, A. D. 1719,
2 8ir Charles Whitworth’s Tables, patt i, p. 78.
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annum, at which rate it continued till the year BOOKIV~
17821 Cuar. 1.

In the year 1712, on the pehtmn of the Company, 1708-24.
the period of their exclusive trade was extended hy
act of parliament, from the year 1726, to which by
the last regulation it stood confined, to the year
1783, with the usual allowance of three years for
notice, should their privileges be withdrawn.*

In the year 1716, they obtained a proclamation
against interlopers. Their complaints, it seems,
were occasioned by the enterprises of British subjects,
trading to India under foreign commissions. As
this proclamation answered not the wishes of the
Company, nor deterred their countrymen from seek-
ing the gains of Indian traffic, even through all the
disadvantages which they incurred by entrusting
their property to the protection of foreign laws and
the fidelity of foreign agents; they were able, in
1718, to procure an act of parliament for the punish-
ment of all such competitors. British subjects, trad-
ing from foreign countries, and under the commission
of a foreign government, were declared amenable to
the laws for the protection of the Company’s rights;
the Company were authorized to seize merchants of
this description when found within their limits, and
to send them to England, subject to a penalty of
500/. for each offence.’

The Company’s present alarm for their monopoly
arose from the establishment for trading with India,
which, under the authority of the Emperor, was
formed at his port of Ostend. After the peace of

! Third Report from the Secret Committee of the House of Commons,
on the State of the East India Company, in 1773, p. 73.

210 Aon ¢ 28. See Collection of Statutes, p. 42.

3 Arderson’s Hist. of Commerce, A. D. 1716 and 1718, and Collec-
tion of Statutes.
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BOOK Iv. Utrecht, which bestowed the Netherlands upon the
Cusr 1 house of Austria, the people of those provinces began
1708-23. to breathe from the distractions, the tyranny, and the

wars which had so long wasted their fruitful coun-
try. Among other projects of improvement, a trade
to India was fondly embraced. Two ships, after
long preparations, sailed from Ostend in the year
1717, under the passports of the Emperor; and se-
veral more soon followed their example. The India
Companies of Holland and England were in the
highest degree alarmed; and easily communicated
their fears and agitations to their respective govern-
ments. These governments not only expostulated,
and to the highest degree of importunity, with the
Emperor himself; but, amid the important negotia-
tions of that diplomatic period, hardly any interest
was more earnestly contended for in the discussions
at the courts bhoth of Paris and Madrid." The Dutch
captured some of the Ostend East India ships: The
Emperor, who dreamed of an inundation of wealth
from Indian trade, persevered in his purpose; and
granted his commission of reprisal to the merchants
of Ostend. In the beginning of 1720, they sent no
fewer than six vessels to India, and as many the
year that followed. The English East India Com-
pany pressed the Government with renewed terrors
and complaints. They asserted that, not only the
capital, with which the trade was carried on, was to
a great degree furnished by British subjects, but
the trade and navigation were conducted by men who
had been bred up in the trade and navigation of the
British Company : They procured, in 1721, another
act of parliament, enforcing the penalties already en~

1 See Coxe’s Memoirs of Sir Robert, and Lord Walpole, and Hist. of
the House of Austria, ad annos.

gy -

e g s

el esad 3l

e v

!

a e geton

g



Ostend Company. 25

acted; and as this also failed in produemg the in- BOOK IV.
tended effects, another act was passed in the spring ~**%
of 1723 ; prohibiting foreign adventures to India, 1708-23.
under the penalty of triple the sum embarked; de-
claring all British subjects found in India, and not in
the service, or under the licence of the East India Com-
pany, guilty of a high misdemeanour; and empower-
ing the Company to seize, and send them home for
pusishment." The Emperor had been importuned,
by the adventurers of Ostend, for a charter to make
them an exclusive company ; but, under the notion of
saving appearances in some little degree with Eng-
land and Holland, or the maritime powers, as they
were called in the diplomatic language of the day, he
had induced them to trade under passports as indivi-
duals. In the month of August, however, of 1723,
the charter was granted; in less than twenty-four
hours the subscription books of the Company were
filled up; and in less than a month the shares were
sold at a premium of fifteen per cent. Notwithstand-
ing the virulent opposition of all the other nations,
already engaged in the Indian trade, the Ostend
Company experienced the greatest success. At a
meeting of Proprietors, in 1726, the remaining in-
stalment on the subscriptions, equal to a dividend of
thirty-three and .one-third per cent., was paid up
from the gains of the trade. But by this time poli-
tical difficulties pressed upon the Emperor. He was
abandoned by his only ally, the King of Spain, and
opposed by a triple alliance of Irance, England, and
Hollaud. To give satisfaction to this potent confede-
racy, and to obtain their support to the pragmatic
sanction, or the guarantee of his dominions to his
daughter and only child, he submitted to sacrifice the

15Geo. I.c.2¢; 7 Geo, I, ¢ 21; 9 Geo. L ¢. 26.
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%O;OK!V Ostéend Company. 'To save appearances, and consult

Sham 1 the imperial dignity, nothing was stipulated in words;

1708485, excépt that the business of the Ostend Company
should be suspended for seven years ; but all men un-
derstood that, in this case, suspension and extinctiont
were the same.

By the act of 7 Geo. I. c. 5, the Company were
authotized to borrow money on their common seal,
to the amount of the sums lent by them to govern-
ment, if not beyond the sum of five millions sterling
in the whole. They were permitted, however, to
borrow solely for the purposes of their trade. They
were expressly interdicted from receiving moneys in
any of the capacities of a banker; and for that pur-
pose several restrictive clauses were inserted in the
gct ; they were not to borrow any sums payable on
demand, or at a shorter date than six months; they
were not to discount any bills; or to keep books or
cash for any persons sole or corporate, or otherwise
than for the real business of the Company.!

When the Company commenced operations in In-
dia, upon the new foundation on which their affairs
were placed by the grand arrangements in 1708,
Shah Aulum, successor of Aurungzebe, was Emperor
of the Moguls. His second son Azeem Ooshaun
had been appointed Viceroy of Bengal before the
death of Aurungzebe, and having bent his chief at-
tention to the amassing of a treasure, against the im-
pending contest between the competitors for the
throne, he accepted the bribes of the company, and
granted them proportional privileges. Under his
authority they had purchased, in 1698, the Zemin-
darship of the three towns of Sutanutty, Calcutta,
and Govindpore, with their districts. 'When Azeem

1 Collection of Statutes, p. 50.
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Ooshann left Bengal to assist his father, in the war BpoOK IV,
which ensued upon the death of Aurungzebe, he left Car-1-
his son Feroksere his deputy. In 1712 Shah Aulum 1708.95.
died ; Azeem Ooshaun lost his life in the struggle for

the succession; and Feroksere, by the help of two

able chiefs, the Syed brothers, gained the throne.

The government of Bengal now devolved upon

Jaffier Khan, and the company experienced a
change. This chief, of Tartar extraction, was born

at Boorhanpore, in Deccan, and rose to eminence in

the latter part of the reign of Aurungzebe, by whom

he had been appointed duan (or controller of the re-
venues) of Bengal. It would appear that he was no-
minated, by Shah Aulum, to the viceroyalty of Ben-

gal, shortly after his accession to the throne; but it

is probable that, during the short reign of that prince,

the appointment never took place ; as, at the time of

his death, Feroksere was in possession of the pro-

vince. Upon the departure, however, of Feroksere

to ascend the imperial throne, Jaffier Khan was in-

vested with entire authority, as subahdar of Bengal ;

and the English Company, along with his other sub-

jects, began speedily to feel the effects of his severe

and oppressive administration.'

In 1713, the first year of the reign of Feroksere,
the Presidency of Calcutta applied to the Company
at home for leave to send an embassy, with a hand-
some present, to the Mogul durbar, in hopes of ob-
taining greater protection and privileges. Two of
the Company’s factors, under the direction of an Ar-
menian merchant, named Serhaud, set out for Delhi ;
and the Emperor, who had received the most magni-
ficent account of the presents of which they were the

' Orme’s History of the Military Transactions of the British Nation
in India, i. 17—=19, Seer Mutakbareen, i. 17 and 296.
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BOOK 1V. bearers, ordered them to be escorted by the governors

Caapr. 1.

1708-23.

of the provinces through which they were to pass.
They arrived at the capital on the eighth of July,
1713, after a journey of three months; and, in pur-
suance of the advice which had been received at Cal-
cutta, applied themselves to gain the protection of
Khan Dowran,! a nobleman in favour with the Em-
peror, and in the interest of Emir Jumla. Whatever
was promoted by the interest of Emir Jumla was op-
posed by that of the vizir. The influence also of
Jaffier Khan was exerted to defeat an application,
which tended to abridge his authority, and impeach
his government. The embassy and costly present of
the Company were doomed to imperial neglect, had
not an accident, over which they had no control, and
the virtue of a public-spirited man, who preferred
their interest to his own, opened an avepue to the
grace of Feroksere. The intemperance of that prince
had communicated to him a secret disease, from
which the luxury of the harem does not always
exempt: Under the unskilful treatment of Indian
physicians the disorder lingered ; and the Emperor’s
impatience was augmented, by the delay which it
imposed upon the celebration of his marriage with
the daughter of the Rajah of Judpore. A medical
gentleman of the name of Hamilton accompanied the
embassy of the English Company: The Emperor
was advised to make trial of his skill: A cure was
the speedy consequence: The Emperor commanded
his benefactor to name his own reward: And the
generous Hamilton solicited privileges for the Com-
pany.® The festival of the marriage, however, en-

' He is named Caundorab by Mr. Orme (lbid. p. 20), who erro-
neously makes Housseiu, instead of Abdoolah Khan, vizir.
* This incident is related with some additional circumstances by
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sued; during which it would not have been deco- Bgoli IIV-
rous to importune with business the imperial mind: "%~
and six months elapsed before the ambassadors could 1708-23.
present their petition. It was delivered in January,
1716 ; and prayed, * that the cargoes of - English
ships, wrecked on the Mogul's coast, should he pro-
tected from plunder; that a fixed sum should be re-
ceived at Surat in lieu of all duties; that three vil-
lages, contiguous to Madras, which had been granted
and again resumed by the government of Arcot,
should be restored in perpetuity ; that the island of
Diu, near the port of Masulipatam, should be given
to the Company, for an annual rent ; that all persons
in Bengal, who might be indebted to the Company,
should be delivered up to the presidency on the first
demand ; that a passport (dustuck, in the language
of the country), signed by the President of Calcutta,
should exempt the goods which it specified from stop-
page or examination by the officers of the Bengal
government ; and that the Company should be per-
mitted to purchase the Zemindarship of thirty-seven
towns, in the same manner as they had been autho-
rised by Azeem Ooshaun to purchase Calcutta, Sutta-
nutty, and Govindpore.” The power of the vizir
could defeat the grants of the Emperor, himself; and
he disputed the principal articles. Repeated applica-
tions were made to the Emperor, and at last the
vizir gave way ; when mandates were issued confirm-
ing all the privileges for which the petition had
prayed. To the disappointment, however, and grief
of the ambassadors, the mandates were not under the
scals of the Emperor, but only those of the vizir, the

Scott, History of Aurungzebe’s Successors, p 139. From the mauner
iu which he speaks of the Emperor’s disease (he speaks very vaguely),
he appears not to have thought it of the sort which is generaliy repre-
sented ; the question is of small importavce,
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BOOK IV. guthority of which the distant viceroys would be
Cud>- 1- gure fo dispute. It was resolved to remonstrate, how
1708-23. delicate soever the ground on which they must tread ;

and to solicit mandates to which the highest autho-
rity should be attached. It was now the month of
April, 1716, when the Emperor, at the head of an
expedition against the Seiks, began his march to-
wards Lahore. No choice remained but to follow
the camp. The campaign was tedious: It height-
ened the dissensions between the favourites of the
Emperor and the vizir; the ambassadors found their
difficulties increased; and contemplated a long, and
probably a fruitless negotiation, when they were
advised to bribe a favourite eunuch in the seraglio.
No sooner was the money paid, than the vizir him-
self appeared eager to accomplish their designs, and
the patents were issued upder the highest authority,
There was a secret, of which the eunuch had made
his advantage. The factory at Surat, having lately
been oppressed by the Mogul governor and officers,
bad been withdrawn by the Presidency of Bombay,
as not worth maintaining, It was recollected by
the Moguls, that in consequence of oppression the
factory at Surat had once before been withdrawn;
immediately after which an English fleet bad ap-
peared; had swept the sea of Mogul ships, and in-
flicted a deep wound upon the Mogul treasury. A
similar visitation was now regarded as a certain con-
sequence ; and, as many valuahle ships of the Moguls
were at sea, the event was deprecated with propor.
tional ardour. This intelligence was transmitted to
the eunuch, by his friend the viceroy of Guzerat.
The eunuch knew what effect it would produce
upon the mind of the vizir ; obtained his bribe from
the English ; and then communicated to the ¥izir the
expectation prevalent in Guzerat of a hostile visit
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from an English fleet. The vizir hastened to pre- BOOK Iv,
vent such a calamity, by granting satisfaction. The Crap- 1.
patents were dlspatcbed and the ambassadors took 170s-23.
leave of the Emperor in the month of July, 1717,
two years after their arrival.

The mandates in favour of the Company produced
their full effect in Guzerat and Deccan ; but in Ben-
gal, where the most important privileges were con-
ceded, the subahdar, or nabob as he was called by
the English, had power to impede their operation.
The thirty-seven towns which the Company had ob-
tained leave to purchase, would have given them a
district extending ten miles from Calcutta on each
side of the river Hoogley ; where 2 number of wea-
vers, subject to their own jurisdiction, might have
been established. The viceroy ventured not directly
to oppose the operation of an imperial mandate, but
his authority was sufficient to deter the holders of the
land from disposing of it to the Company ; and the
most important of the advantages aimed at by the
embassy was thus prevented. ‘I’he nabob, however,
disputed not the authority of the President’s dus-
tucks; a species of passports which entitled the mer-
chandise to pass free from duty, stoppage, or .inspec-
tion; and this immunity, from which the other Eu-
rapean traders were excluded, promoted the vent of
the Company’s goods.'

The trade of the Company’s servants occasioned
another dispute. Beside the business which the fac-
tors and agents of the Company were engaged to per-
form on the Company’s account, they had been al-
lowed to carry on an independent traffic of their own,
for their own profit. Every man had in this manner
a double occupation and pursuit ; one for the benefit

! Orme, Hist. ut supra, ii, 20~25.
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BOOK1V. of the Company, and one for the benefit of himself.
Cusr- 1. Fither the inattention of the feebly interested Direc-
1708-28. tors of a common concern had overlooked the pre-
mium for neglecting that concern which was thus
bestowed upon the individuals entrusted with it in
India: Or the shortness of their foresight made them
count this neglect a smaller evil, than the additional
salaries which their servants, if debarred from other
sources of emolument, would probably require. The
President of Calcutta granted his dustucks for pro-
tecting from the duties and taxes of the native go-
vernment, not only the goods of the Company, but
also the goods of the Company’s servants; and pos-
sibly the officers of that government were too little

- acquainted with the internal affairs of their English
visitants to remark the distinction. The Company
had appropriated to themselves, in all its branches,
the trade between India and the mother country.
Their servants were thus confined to what was
called the country trade, or that from one part of
India to another. This consisted of two branches,
maritime, and inland; either that which was carried
on by ships from one port of India to another, and
from the ports of India to the other countries in the
adjacent seas ; or that which was carried on by land
between one town or province and another. When
the dustucks of the President, therefore, were granted
to the Company’s servants, they were often granted
to protect from duties, commodities, the produce of
the kingdom itself, in their passage by land from one
district or province to another. This, Jaffier Khan,
the viceroy, declared it his determination to prevent ;
as a practice at once destructive of his revenue, and
ruinous to the native traders, on whom heavy duties
were opposed : And he commanded the dustucks of
the President to receive no respect, except for goods,
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either imported by sea, or purchased for exportation. BOOK 1V.
. . Char. 1.

The Company remonstrated, but in vain. Nor were

the pretensions of their servants exempt from unplea-  1730.

sant consequences; as the pretext of examining

whether the goods were really imported by sea, or

really meant for exportation, often produced those

interferences of the officers of revenue, from which it

was so great a privilege to be saved. Interrupted

and disturbed in their endeavours to grasp the in-

land trade, the Company’s servants directed their

ardour to the maritime branch; and their superior

skill soon induced the merchants of the province,

Moors, Armenians, and Hindus, to freight most of

the goods, which they exported, on English bottoms.

Within ten years, from the period of the embassy,

the shipping of the port of Calcutta increased to

10,000 tons.

The year 1730 was distinguished by transactions
of considerable moment in the history of the Com-
pany. In England, a new sovereign had but lately
ascended the throne; an active and powerful Oppo-
sition made a greater use of the press, and more em-
ployed the public mind as a power in the state, than
any party which had gone before them; success ren-
dered the trading interest enterprising and high-
minded ; intellect was becoming every day more en-
lightened, more penetrating, more .independent; and
experience testified the advantages of freedom in all
the departments of trade.

Though the gains of the East India Company,
had they been exactly known, would not have pre-
sented an object greatly calculated to inflame mer-
cantile cupidity; yet the riches of India were cele-
brated as proverbially great: the boastings of the
Company, in the representations they had made of
the benefit derived to the nation from trading with

VOL. IIL. D
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BOOK IV,

Cuaar. 1.

1780,

Proposal

India, had confirmed the popular prejudice; and a
general opinion seems to have prevailed, that the
British subjects at large ought to be ne longer de-
barred from enriching themselves in the trade which
was invidiously, and, it seemed, imprudently, reserved
for the East India Company.

Three years were still unexpired of the period of
the Company’s exclusive charter: yet the plans of
those who desired a total alteration in the scheme of
the trade were moulded into form, and a petition,
grounded upon them, was presented to the legislature
so early as February, 1730.

As the payment of 8,200,000/. which the Company
had advanced to government at an interest of five per
cent. was a condition preliminary to the abolition of
their exclusive privileges, the petitioners offered to
lend to government an equal sum on far more favour-
able terms, They proposed to advance the money
in five instalments, the last at Lady-day in 1733, the
date of the expiration of the Company’s charter; re-
quiring, till that period, interest on the money paid
at the rate of four per cent., but offering to accept of
two per cent. for the whole sum, from that time for-
ward: Whence, they observed, a saving would ac-
crue to the public of 92,000/. per annum, worth, at
twenty-five years’ purchase, 2,500,000/,

For the more profitable management of this branch
of the national affairs, the following was the scheme
which they proposed. They would constitute the
subscribers to this original fund a company, for the
purpose of opening the trade, in its most favourable
shape, to the whole body of their countrymen, It

1 See a distinct summary of the proposals, and of the arguments pro
and con. in Anderson’s Hist. of Commerce, A.D. 1730. For the pro-
ceedings in parliament, consult the Journals, with Boyer’s Political State,
and Hansard’s Parliamentary Hist.
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was not intended that the Company should trade BOOK IV,

upon a joint stock, and in their corporate capacity ; uar. 1.
but that every man in the nation, who pleased, should 1730.
trade in the way of private adventure. The Com-
pany were to have the charge of erecting and main-
taining the forts and establishments abroad ; and for
this, and for other expenses, attending what was
called “ the enlargement and preservation of the
trade,” it was proposed that they should receive a
duty of one per cent. upon all exports to India, and
of five per cent. on all imports from it. For ensuring
obedience to this and other regulations, it should be
made lawful to trade to India only under the licence
of the Company. And it was proposed that thirty-
one years, with three years’ notice, should be granted
as the duration of the peculiar privileges.

It appears from this account, that the end which
was proposed to be answered, by incorporating such a
company, was the preservation and erection of the
forts, buildings, and other fixed establishments, re-
quired for the trade in India. This was its only use,
or intent; for the business of trading, resigned to
private hands, was to be carried on by the individuals
of the nation at large. And, if it were true, as it
has been always maintained, that for the trade of
India, forts and factories are requisite, of such a na-
ture as no individual, or precarious combination of
individuals, is competent to provide, this project offers
peculiar claims to consideration and respect. It pro-
mised to supply that demand which has always been
held forth, as peculiar to Indian trade, as the grand
exigency which, distinguishing the traffic with India
from all other branches of trade, rendered monopoly
advantageous in that peculiar case, how much soever
proved to be injurious in others. While it provided
for this real or pretended want, it left the trade open

D2
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BOOK 1V.
Cuar. 1.

1730.

Proposal

to all the advantages of private enterprise, private
vigilance, private skill, and private economy; the
virtues by which individuals thrive, and nations
prosper : And it afforded an interest to the proposed
Company in the careful discharge of its duty; as
its profits were to increase in exact proportion with
the increase of the trade, and of course, with the
facilities and accommodation by which the trade was
promoted.

As no trade was to be carried on by the Company,
the source, whence dividends to the proprietors would
arise, was the interest to be received from govern-
ment, and the duties upon the exports and imports :
And as the territorial and other duties belonging to
the forts and establishments in India were deemed
sufficient to defray the expense of those establish-
ments, this source was described as competent to yield
an annual return of five or six per cent. upon the
capital advanced. Under absence of risk, and the
low rate of interest at the time, this was deemed a
sufficient inducement to subscribe. Had the per-
nicious example, of lending the stock of trading com-
panies to government, been rejected, a very small
capital would have sufficed to fulfil the engagements
of such a company; and either the gains upon it would
have been uncommonly high, or the rate of duties
upon the trade might have been greatly reduced.

The friends of this proposition urged; that, as the
change which had taken place in the African trade,
from monopoly to freedom, was allowed to have pro-
duced great national advantages, it was not to be
disputed, that a similar change in the Indian trade
would be attended with benefits so much the greater,
as the trade was more valuable; that it would pro-
duce a larger exportalion of our own produce and
manufactures to India, and create employment for a

-
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much greater number of ships and seamen; that it BOOK 1v.
would greatly reduce the price of all Indian com- Crar. 1.
modities to the people at home; that it would enable 1730.
the mnation to supply foreign markets with Indian
commodities at a cheaper rate, and, by consequence,

to a larger amount; that new channels of traffic

would thence be opened, in Asia and America, as

well as in Europe ; that a free trade to India would
increase the produce of the customs and excise, and

“ thereby lessen the national debt;” that it would
introduce a much more extensive employment of
British shipping from one part of India to another,

from which great profit would arise; and that it

would prevent the nation from being deprived of the
resources of those who, for want of permission or
opportunity at home, were driven to employ their

skill and capital in the Indian trade of other
countries.

'The attention of the nation seems to have been
highly excited. Three petitions were presented to
the House of Commons, from the merchants, traders,
&c. of the three chief places of foreign trade in
England, London, Bristol, and Liverpool, in behalf of
themselves and all other his Majesty’s subjects, pray-
ing, that the trade to India might be laid open to the
nation at large, and that they might be heard by
their counsel at the bar of the House. The press,
too, yielded a variety of productions, which compared
with one another the systems of monopoly and free-
dom, and showed, or pretended to show, the pre-
ference due to the last. Though competition might
appear to reduce the gains of individuals, it would,
by its exploring sagacity, its vigilance, address, and
economy, even with an equal capital, undoubtedly in-
crease the mass of business, in other words, the an-
nual produce, that is to say, the riches and prosperity
of the country: The superior economy, the superior
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BOOK 1v. dispatch, the superior intelligence and skill of private
Cae. 1. adventure, while they enable the dealers to traffic en
1780, cheaper terms, were found by experience to yield a
profit on the capital employed, not inferior to what
was yielded by monapoly ; by the business, for exam-
ple, of the East India Company, whose dividends ex-
ceeded not eight per cent.: Whatever was gained by
the monopolizing company, in the high prices at
which it was enabled to sell, or the low prices at
which it was enabled to buy, was all lost by its dila-
tory, negligent, and wasteful management: This was
not production, but the reverse; it was not enriching
a nation, but preventing its being enriched.'

The Company manifested their usual ardour in
defence of the monopoly. They magnified the im-
portance of the trade; and asked if it was wise to
risk the loss of known advantages, of the greatest
magnitude, in pursuit of others which were only sup-
posed : they alledged that it was envy which stimu-
lated the exertions of their opponents; coveting the
gains of the Company, but ungble to produce any
instance of misconduct, without going forty years
back for the materials of their interested accusations :
The Company employed an immense stock in trade,
their sales amounting to about three millions yearly :
The customs, about 300,000/. per annum, for the
service of government, ought not to be sacrificed for
less than a certainty of an equal supply: And the
maintenance of the forts and factories cost 300,0007
a year. Where, they asked, was the security that an
open trade, subject to all the fluctuation of indi-
vidual fancy, one year liable to be great, another to

! Tt was asserted by the merchants, and, as far as appears, without
contradiction, that foreigners possessed at least a third part of the stock
of the East India Company; and one third of their gain was thus
made for the benefit of other countries. Political State, A, D. 1730,
XxxiX, 240
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be small, would afford regularly an annual revenue BOOK IV.
of 600,000/. for customs and forts?> By the competi- Cuar. 1.
tion of so many buyers in India, and of so many 1730.
sellers in Europe, the goods would be so much en-
hanced in price in the one place, and so much re-
duced in the other, that all profit would be destroyed,
and the competitors, as had happened in the case of
the rival companies, would end with a scene of ge-
neral ruin.

Under the increased experience of succeeding times,
and the progress of the science of national wealth,
the arguments of the Company’s opponents have
gained, those of the Company have lost, a portion of
strength. To exaggerate the importance of the
Indian trade; and because it is important, assume
that the monopoly ought to remain, is merely to say,
that when a thing is important, it ought never to be
improved ; in things of no moment society may be
allowed to make progress; in things of magnitude
that progress ought ever to be strenuously and un-
bendingly opposed. This argument is, unhappily,
not confined to the use of the East India Company.
Whoever has attentively traced the progress of
government, will find that it has been employed
by the enemies of improvement, at every stage;
and only in so far as it has been disregarded
and contemned, has the condition of man ascended
above the miseries of savage life. Instead of the
maxim, A thing is important, therefore it ought not
to be improved; reason would doubtless suggest,
that the more any thing is important, the more its
improvement should be studied and pursued. When
a thing is of small importance, a small inconvenience
may suffice to dissuade the pursuit of its improve-
ment. When it is of great importance, a great in-
convenience alone can be allowed to produce that un-
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BOOK Iv. happy effect. If it be said, that where much is
Cuar. 1. enjoyed, care should be taken to avoid its loss; this

1730.

is merely to say that men ought to be prudent ; which
is very true, but surely authorizes no such inference,
as that improvement, in matters of importance,
should be always opposed.

The Company quitted the argument, to criminate
the arguers: The objections to the monopoly were
the impure and odious offspring of avaricious envy.
But, if the monopoly, as the opponents said, was a
bad thing, and free trade a good thing; from what-
ever motive they spoke, the good thing was to be
adopted, the evil to be shunned. The question of
their motives was one thing; the truth or falsehood
of their positions another. When truth is spoken
from a bad motive, it is no less truth; nor is it less
entitled to its command over human action, than
when it is spoken from the finest motive which can
enter the human breast ; if otherwise, an ill-designing
man would enjoy the wonderful power, by recom-
mending a good course of action, to render a bad one
obligatory upon the human race.

If, as they argued, the East India Company had a
large stock in trade, that was no reason why the mo-
nopoly should remain. The capital of the mercantile
hody of Great Britain was much greater than the
capital of the East India Company, and of that capi-
tal, whatever proportion could find a more profitable
employment in the Indian trade, than in any other
branch of the national industry, the Indian trade
would be sure to receive.

With regard to the annual expense of the forts
and factories, it was asserted by the opponents of the
Company ; and, as far as appears, without contradic-
tion, that they defrayed their own expense, and sup-
ported themselves.
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As to the customs paid by the East India Com- BOOK IV.

pany ; all trade paid customs, and if the Indian trade
increased under the system of freedom, it would pay
a greater amount of customs than it paid before; if it
decreased, the capital now employed in it would seek
another destination, and pay customs and taxes in
the second channel as well as the first. To lay stress
upon the customs paid by the Company, unless to
take advantage of the gross ignorance of a minister,
or of a parliment, was absurd.

The argument, that the competition of free trade,
would make the merchants buy so dear in India, and
sell so cheap in England, as to ruin themselves, how-
ever depended upon, was contradicted by experience.
What hindered this effect, in trading with France, in
trading with Holland, or any other country ? Or what
hindered ‘it in every branch of business within the
kingdom itself? If the two East India Companies
ruined themselves by competition, why reason from
a case, which bore no analogy whatsoever to the one
under contemplation ; while the cases which exactly
corresponded, those of free trade, and boundless com-
petition, led to a conclusion directly the reverse? If
two East India Companies ruined one another, it was
only an additional proof, that they were ineligible
instruments of commerce. The ruin proceeded, not
from the nature of competition, but the circumstances
of the competitors. Where two corporate bodies con-
tended against one another, and the ruin of the one
left the field vacant to the other, their contention
might very well be ruinous; because each might
hope, that, by exhausting its antagonist in a compe-
tition of loss, it would deliver itself from its only
rival. Where every merchant had not one, but a
multitude of competitors, the hope was clearly vain of
wearing all of them out by a contest of loss. Every

Cuar. 1.

1730.
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BOOK IV. merchant therefore would deal on such terms alone,

Caar. 1. o5 allowed him the usual, or more than the usual rate
" 1780. of profit; and he would find it his interest to observe

an obliging, rather than an hostile deportment towards
others, that they might do the same toward him, As
it is this principle which produces the harmeny and
prosperity of trade in all other cases in which freedom
prevails, it remained to be shown why it would not
produce them in the Indian trade.

The subject was introduced into parliament, and
discussed. But the advocates for the freedom of the
trade were there overruled, and those of monopoly
triumphed.

In order to aid the parliament in coming to such a
decision as the Company desired, and to counteract
in some degree the impression likely to be made by
the proposal of their antagonists to accept of two per
cent. for the whole of the loan to government, they
offered to reduce the interest from five to four per
cent., and, as a premium for the renewal of their
charter, to contribute a sum of 200,000/. to the public
service. On these conditions it was enacted that the
exclusive privileges should be prolonged to Lady
Day in the year 1766, with the usual addition of
three years notice, and a proviso that nothing in
this arrangement should be construed to limit their
power of continuing a body corporate, and of trading
to India on their joint stock with other of their fellow
subjects, even after their exclusive privileges should
expire.!

On the ground on which the affairs of the East

1 As a corporate body is seldom hurt by its modesty, the Company
alleged that they had a right, by @ preceding act of parliament, to the
mongpoly in perpetuity; but to avoid disputes, they consented to wave
this claim, for a certainty of thirty-six years. 3 Geo. II. ¢.14. Col-
lection of Statutes, p. 73. Anderson, ad an, 1730. Political State. xxxix.

258.
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India Company were now established, they remained pook 1v.
till the year 1744. From 1730 to that year, the trade Cuar. 1.
of the Company underwent but little variation. Of ;55
goads exported, the amount indeed was considerably
increased ; but as in this stores were included, and as

the demand for stores, by the extension of forts, and
increase of military apparatus, was augmented, the
greater part of the increase of exports may be justly

set down to this account. 'The official value of the

goods imported had kept rather below a million
annually ; sometimes indeed exceeding that sum, but
commonly the reverse, and some years to a consider-

able amount; with little or no progressive improve-

ment from the beginning of the period to the end.

The exports had increased from 135,484/, the expor-

tation of the first year, to 476,274/, that of the last;

and they had been still greater in the preceding year.

But the greater part of the increase had taken place

after the prospect of wars and the necessity of military
preparations ; when a greai addition was demanded

in the article of stores.’

In the year 1732, the Company first began to
make up annual accounts; and from that period we
have regular statements of the actual purchase of
their exports, and the actual sale of their imports. In
the year 1732, the sales of the Company amounted to
1,940,996/. In 1744, they amounted to 1,997,506/, ;
and in all the intermediate years were less. The
quantity of goods and stores paid for in the year 1732
amounted to 105,230/, ; the quantity paid for in 1744,
to 231,318/. The quantity of bullion exported in
1732 was 393,377/.; the quantity exported in 1744
was 458,544/, The quantity then of goods exported
was increased, and in some degree, also, that of bul-
lion, while the quantity of goods imported remained

' 8ir Charles Whitworth’s Tables, part ii. p. 9.
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BOOK Iv. nearly the same. It follows, that the additional ex-

Caar. 1.

178244,

portation, not having been employed in the addi-
tional purchase of goods, must have been not mer-
chandize, but stores. It is to be observed, also, that
in the amount of sales, as exhibited in the Company’s
accounts, were included at this time the duties paid
to government, stated at thirty per cent.; a deduc-
tion which brings the amount of the sales to nearly
the official valuation of the imports at the custom-
house.’

In 1732, the Company were obliged to reduce their
dividends from eight to seven per cent. per annum;
and at this rate they continued till 1744, in which
year they returned to eight per cent.> The Dutch
East India Company, from 1730 to 1736, divided
twenty-five per cent. per annum upon the capital
stock ; in 1736, twenty per cent.; for the next three
years, fifteen per cent. per annum; for the next four,
twelve and a half per annum; and in 3744, as much
as fifteen per cent.” The grand advantage of the
English East India Company, in the peculiar privilege
of having their trade exempted from duties in Bengal
and in the other concessions obtained by their embassy
to the court of the Mogul, had thus produced no
improvement in the final result, the ultimate profits
of the trade.

The Company seem to have been extremely anxious
to avoid a renewal of the discussion on the utility or
fitness of the monopoly, and, for that purpose, to
forestal the excitement of the public attention by
the approach to the conclusion of the privileged term.

t Third Report of the Committee of Secrecy, on the State of the East
India Company, (House of Commons, 1773,) p. 75.

2 Thid. p. 73.

3 Histoire Philosoph. et Polit. des Establissemens, &c. dans les Deux
Indes, par Guillanme Thomas Raynal, liv. i, sect, 21. Table at the end
of the vol,
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At 2 moment accordingly when no one was prepared BOOK IV.
to oppose them; and in the middle of an expensive ™% -
war, when the offer of any pecuniary facilities was a  1744.
powerful bribe to the government, they made a pro-
posal to lend to it the sum of one million, at an interest
of three per cent. provided the period of their exclu-
sive privileges should be prolonged to three years’
notice after Lady-day 1780. On these conditions, a
new act was passed in 1744 ; and to enable the Com-
pany to make good their loan to government, they
were autherized to borrow to the extent of a million
on their bonds.’

On the death of the Emperor Charles V1. in the
year 1740, a violent war, kindled by competition for
the imperial throne, and for a share in the spoils of
the house of Austria, had begun in Germany. In
this contest, France and England, the latter involved
by her Hanoverian interests, had both engaged as
auxiliaries ; and in the end had become nearly, or
rather altogether principals. From 1739, England
had been at war with Spain, a war intended to annul
the right, claimed and exercised by the Spaniards,
of searching English ships on the coast of America for
contraband goods. England and France, though
contending against one another, with no ordinary
efforts, in a cause ostensibly not their own, abstained
from hostilities directly on their own account, till
1744; when the two governments came to mutual
declarations of war. And it was not long before the
most distant settlements of the two nations felt the
effects of their destructive contentions.

On the 14th? of September, 1746, a French fleet

! Anderson’s Iist. of Commerce, ad an. 1744 ; Collection of Statutes,
P- 84, 17 Geo. 1. c. 17.

®* Memoire pour Labourdonnais, i. 124. Mr. Orme, i. 67, says the
third, the difference being that of the stiles: The old stile, it appears,
was used by the English historian.



48 Madras attacked by the French,

BOOK 1v. anchored four leagues to the south of Madras; and

€uar. 1. Janded five or six hundred men. On the 15th the

17146. fleet moved along the coast, while the troops marched

by land; and about moon it arrived within cannon-

shot of the town. Labourdonnais, who commanded

the expedition, then landed, with the rest of the

troops. The whole force destined for the siege, con-

sisted of 1000 or 1100 Europeans, 400 Sepoys, and

400 Caffres, or blacks of Madagascar, brought from

the island of Mauritius: 1700 or 1800 men, all sorts
included, remained in the ships.!

Madras had, during the space of 100 years, been
the principal settlement of the English on the Coro-
mandel coast. The territory belonging to the Com-
pany extended five miles along the shore, and was
about one mile in breadth. The town consisted of
three divisions. The first, denominated the white
town, in which resided none but the English, or Euro-
peans under their protection, consisted of about fifty
houses, together with the warehouses and other build-
ings of the Company, and two churches, one an Eng-
lish, the other a Roman Catholic church. This divi-
sion was surrounded with a slender wall, defended
with four bastions, and four batteries, but weak and
badly constructed, decorated with the title of Fort
St. George. Contiguous to it, on the north side, was
the division in which resided the Armenian, and the
richest of the Indian, merchants, larger, and still worse
fortified than the former. And on the northern side
of this division was a space, covered by the hovels of
the country, in which the mass of the natives resided.
These two divisions constituted what was called the
black town. The English in this colony exceeded
not 300 men, of whom 200 were the soldiers of the

1 Memoire, ut supra, p. 125. Orme, p. 67.
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garrison. The Indian Christians, converts or descend- BOOK v.
ants of the Portuguese, amounted to three or four Cuar. 1.
thousand ; the rest were Armenians, Mahomedans, 1746.
or Hindus, the last in by far the largest proportion;

and the whole population of the Company’s territory
amounted to about 250,000. With the exception of

Goa and Batavia, Madras was, in point both of mag-

nitude and riches, the most important of the Euro-

pean establishments in India.

The town sustained the bombardment for five days,
when the inhabitants, expecting an assault, capitulated.
They had endeavoured to save the place, by the offer
of a ransom ; but Labourdonnais coveted the glory of
displaying French colours on the ramparts of fort St.
George. He engaged however his honour to restore
the settlement, and content himself with a moderate
ransom ; and on these terms he was received into the
town. He had not Jost so much as one man in the
enterprise. Among the English four or five were
killed by the explosion of the bombs, and two or
three houses were destroyed. Labourdonnais pro-
tected the inhabitants, with the care of a man of
virtue ; but the magazines and warehouses of the
Company, as public property, were taken possession
of by the commissaries of the French.!

Labourdonnais, with the force under his command,
had arrived in India in the month of June, 1746. At
that time the settlements of France in the Indian
seas were under two separate governments, ahalogous
to the English Presidencies; one established at the
Isle of France, the other at Pondicherry. Under the
former of these governments were placed the two
islands; the one called the isle of France, about sixty
leagues in circumference ; the other that of Bourbon,

' Memoire pour Labourdonnais, i. 126—~142. Orme, i. 64—69.
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Bgng IV. of nearly the same dimensions. These islands, lying

———— On the eastern side of Madagascar, between the nine-

1746. teenth and twentieth degrees of latitude, were dis-

covered by the Portuguese, and by them called

Cerne, and Mascarhenas. In 1660 seven or eight

Frenchmen settled on the island of Mascarhenas;

five years afterwards they were joined by twenty-

two of their countrymen; the remains of the French

colony which was destroyed in Madagascar sought

refuge in this island ; and when it became an object

of some importance, the French changed its name to

the island of Bourbon. The island of Cerne was, at

an early date, taken possession of by the Dutch, and

by them denominated the island of Mauritius, in

honour of their leader Maurice, Prince of Orange ;

but, after the formation of their establishment at the

Cape of Good Hope, was abandoned as useless, The

French, who were subject to great inconvenience by

want of a good harbour on the island of Bourbon,

took possession of it in 1720, and changed its name

from the isle of Mauritius, to the isle of France.

Both islands are fruitful, and produce the corn of

Europe, along with most of the tropical productions.

Some plants of coffee, accidentally introduced from

Arabia, succeeded so well on the island of Bourbon,

as to render that commodity the staple of the
island.’

Pondicherry was the seat of the other Indian
government of the French. It had under its juris.
diction the town and territory of Pondicherry; and
three factories, or Comptoirs, one at Mahé, not far
south from Tellicherry on the Malabar coast, one at
Karical on one of the branches of the Coleroon on

' Raynal, ii. 271. Memoire pour Labourdonnais, i. 88, 95. Orme,
i. 92

gt e
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the Coromandel coast, and one at Chandernagor on BOOK IV.
. . Cnap. 1.
the river Hoogley in Bengal.!

The form of the government at both places was the
same. It consisted, like the English, the form of which
was borrowed from the Dutch, of a Governor, and a
Council ; the Governor being President of the Coun-
cil, and allowed, according to the genius of the
government in the mother country, to engross from
the Council a greater share of power than in the
colonies of the English and the Dutch. The peculiar
business of the Governor and Council was, to direct,
in conformity with instructions from home, all persons
in the employment of the Company ; to regulate the
expenditure, and take care of the receipts; to admi-
nister justice, and in general to watch over the whole
economy of the establishment. Each of the islands
had a Council of its own ; but one Governor sufficed
for both.?

In 1745 Labourdonnais was appointed Governor
of the islands. This was a remarkable man. He
was born at St. Malo, in 1699; and was entered on
board a ship bound for the South Sea at the age of
ten. In 1713 he made a voyage to the East Indies,
and the Philippine islands ; and availed himself of the
presence of a Jesuit, who was a passenger in the ship,
to acquire a knowledge of the mathematics. After
performing several voyages to other parts of the
world, he entered for the first time, in 1719, into the
service of the East India Company, as second lieu-
tenant of a vessel bound to Surat. He sailed again
to India, as first lieutenant in 1723; and a third
time, as second captain in 1724. In every voyage
he found opportunity to distinguish himself by some

1746.

' Memoire, ut supra, p. 94. Raynal, ut supra, p. 217.

* Memoire pour Labourdonnais, i. 95. Memoire contre Dupleix,
p. 8.

VOI.. III. T
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BOOK v, remarkable action; and during the last he acquired,
Cuar. 1. from another passenger, an officer of engineers, a

1746.

knowledge of the principles of fortification and tactics.
He now resolved to remain in India, and to navigate
a vessel on his own account. He is said to have
been the first Frenchman who embarked in what is
called the country trade; in which he conducted
himself with so much skill, as to realize in a few
years a considerable fortune. The force of his mind
procured him an ascendancy wherever its influence
was exerted : A violent quarrel was excited between
some Arabian and Portuguese ships in the harbour
of Mocca, and blood was about to be shed, when
Labourdonnais interposed, and terminated the dis-
pute to the satisfaction of the parties. So far did his
services on this occasion recommend him to the
Viceroy of Goa, that he invited him into the service
of the King of Portugal, gave him the command of a
King’s ship, the arder of Christ, the rank of Fidalgo,
and the title of agent of his Portuguese Majesty on
the coast of Coromandel. In this situation he
remained for two years, and perfected his knowledge
of the traffic and navigation of India; after which, in
1733, he returned to France. Apprized of his
knowledge and -capacity, the French government
turned its eyes upon him, as a man well qualified to
aid in raising the colonies in the eastern seas from

that state of depression in which they remained. In
1734 he was nominated Governor General of the
isles of France and Bourbon; where he arrived in
June 1735. S little had been done for the improve-
ment of these islands, that the people, few in number,
were living nearly in the state of nature. They
were poor, without industry, and without the know-
ledge of almost any of the useful arts. They had
neither magazine, nor hospital, neither fortification,
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nor defensive force, military or naval. They had no BOOK 1v.
roads ; they had no beasts of burden, and no vehicles. C#47- -
Every thing remained to be done by Labourdonnais; 1746.
and he was capable of every thing. With the hand

to execute, as well as the head to contrive, he could
construct a ship from the keel; He performed the
functions of engineer, of architect, of agriculturist:

He broke bulls to the yoke, constructed vehicles, and

made roads : He apprenticed blacks to the few han-
dicrafts whom he carried out with him : He prevailed

upon the inhabitants to cultivate the ground; and
introduced the culture of the sugar-cane and indigo :

He made industry and the useful arts to flourish;
contending with the ignorance, the prejudices, and

the inveterate habits of idleness, of those with whom

he had to deal, and who opposed him at every step.

To introduce any degree of order and vigilance into

the management even of the hospital which he con-
structed for the sick, it was necessary for him to
perform the office of superintendant himself, and for

a whole twelvemonth he visited it regularly every
morning. Justice had been administered by the
Councils, to whom that function regularly belonged,

in 8 manner which produced great dissatisfaction.
During eleven years that Labourdonnais was Go-
vernor, there was but one law-suit in the isle of
France, he himself having terminated all differences

by arbitration.

The vast improvements which he effected in the
islands did not secure him from the disapprobation of
his employers. The captains of ships, and other
visitants of the islands, whom he checked in their
unreasonable demands, and from whom he exacted
the discharge of their duties, filled the ears of the
Company’s Directors with complaints; and the
Directors, with too little knowledge for accurate

F2
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BOOK 1v. judgment, and too little interest for careful inciuiry,

CHar. 1.

1746.

inferred culpability, because there was accusation.
He returned to France in 1740, disgusted with his
treatment ; and fully determined to resign the govern-
ment : But the minister refused his consent. It is
said that being asked by one of the Directors of the
Company, how it was, that he had conducted his own
affairs so prosperously, those of the Company so
much the reverse; he replied that he had conducted
his own affairs according to his own judgement : those
of the Company according to that of the Directors.*
Perceiving, by the state of affairs in Europe, that
a rupture was approaching between France and the
maritime powers, his fertile mind conceived a project
for striking a fatal blow at the English trade in the
East. Imparting the design to some of his friends,
he perceived that he should be aided with funds suf-
ficient to equip, as ships of war, six vessels and two
frigates ; with which, being on the spot when war
should be declared, he could sweep the seas of the
English commerce, before a fleet could arrive for
its protection. He communicated the scheme to the
ministry, by whom it was embraced, but moulded
into a different form. They proposed to send out a
fleet, composed partly of the King’s and partly of
the Company’s ships, with Labourdonnais in the
command: And though he foresaw opposition from
the Company, to whom neither he nor the scheme
was agreeable, he refused not to lend himself to the
ministerial scheme. He sailed from L’Orient on the
5th of April, 1741, with five ships of the Company :
one carrying fifty-six; two carrying fifty; one, twenty-
eight; and one, sixteen guns; having on board about
1,200 sailors, and 500 soldiers. Two King’s ships

! Raynal, liv. iv. sect, 20.
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had been intended to make part of his squadron ; but Boox 1v.
they, to his great disappointment, received another Ci*F 1.
destination. He also found that, of the ship’s crews, 1746.
three-fourths had never before been at sea; and that

of either soldiers or sailors hardly one had ever fired

a cannon or a musket. His mind was formed to
contend with, rather than yield to difficulties : and .
he began immediately to exercise his men with all his
industry; or rather with as much industry as their

love of ease, and the opposition it engendered, ren-
dered practicable. He arrived at the Isle of France

on the 14th of August, 1741; where he learned,

that Pondicherry was menaced by the Mabhrattas,

and that the islands of France and Bourbon had sent

their garrisons to its assistance. After a few neces-

sary operations to put the islands in security, he
sailed for Pondicherry on the 22d of August, where

he arrived on the 30th of September. 'I'he danger

there was blown over; but the settlement at Mahé

had been eight months blockaded by the natives. He
repaired to the place of danger ; chastised the enemy ;
re-established the factory; and then returned to the
islands to wait for the declaration of war between
France and England. There he soon received the
mortifying orders of the Company to send home all

the vessels under his command. Upon this he again
requested leave to resign, and again the minister
refused his consent. His views were now confined

to his islands, and he betook himself with his pristine
ardour to their improvement. On the 14th of Sep-
tember, 1744, in the midst of these occupations, the
intelligence arrived of the declaration of war between
France and England; and filled his mind with the
mortifying conception of the important things he

now might have achieved, but which the mistaken
policy or perversity of his employers had prevented.



5 ‘ Labﬂufdémi& .

BOOK 1V.  Unable to do what he wished, he still resolved to
Caar. 1. 4o what he could. He retained whatever ships had -
1746. arrived at the islands, namely, one of forty-four guns,
one of forty, one of thirty, one of twenty-six, one of-
eighteen, and another of twenty-six, which was sent
to him from Pondicherry with the most pressing
solicitations to hasten to its protection. 'The islands,
at which unusual scarcity prevailed, were destitute of
almost every requisite for the equipment of the ships;
and their captains, chagrined at the interruption of
their voyages, seconded the efforts of the Governor
with all the ill-will it was safe for them to show. He
was obliged to make even a requisition of negrees to
man the fleet. In want of hands trained to the dif-
ferent operations of the building and equipping of
ships, he employed the various handicrafts whom he
was able to muster; and by skilfully assigning to
them such parts of the business as were most ana-
logous to the operations of their respective trades, by
furnishing them with models which he prepared him-
self, by giving the most precise directions, and with
infinite diligence superintending every operation in
person, he overcame in some measure the difficulties
with which he was surrounded. In the mean time
intelligence was brought by a frigate, that five of the
Company’s ships which he was required to protect,
and which he was authorized by the King to com-
mand, would arrive at the islands in October. They
did not arrive till January, 1746. The delay had
consumed a great part of the provisions of the former
ships : those which arrived had remaining for them-
selves & supply of only four months; they were in
bad order: and there was no-time, nor materials, nor
hands to repair them. Only one was armed. It
was necessary they should all be armed; and the
means for that purpose were totally wanting. The
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ships® crews, incorporated with the negroes and the BOOK 1v,
handicrafts, Labourdonnais formed into companies; Cuar. 1.
he taught them the manual exercise, and military 1746,
-movements ; showed them how to scale a wall, and

apply petards ; exercised them in firing at a mark;

and employed the most dexterous among them in
preparing themselves to use a machine, which he had
invented, for throwing with mortars grappling-hooks

for boarding to the distance of thirty toises.!

He forwarded the ships, as fast as they were pre-

pared, to Madagascar, where they might add to their

stock of provisions, or at any rate save the stock
which was already on board; and he followed with

the last on the 24th of March. Before sailing from
Madagascar, a storm arose by which the ships were
driven from their anchorage. One was lost; and the

rest, greatly damaged, collected themselves in the

bay of a desert island on the coast of Madagascar.

Here the operations of repairing were to be renewed ;

and in still more unfavourable circumstances. To

get the wood they required, a road was made across

a marsh, a league in circumference; the rains were
incessant ; disease broke out among the people; and

many of the officers showed a bad disposition; yet

the work was prosecuted with so much efficiency,

that in forty-eight days the fleet was ready for sea.

! This seems to be the same invention exactly with that of Captain
Manby, for threwing a rope on board a vessel threatened with shipwreck.
See an essay on the Preservation of Shipwrecked Persons by G. W.
Manby, Esq. and Memoire pour Labourdonnais, 1. 80. The obvious
expedient of training the sailors for land operations is of high importance ;
and it argues little for the heads of those who have conducted enter-
prises in which the mariners might have been, or were to be, employed
for laud operations, that such training has so rarely been resorted to,
How much more instructive, than that of the vulgar details of war, is the
contemplation of the ingenuity, the industry, and the perseverance of
such a man as Labourdonnais, in the various critical situations in which
he was placed !
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BOOK IV. It now consisted of nine sail, containing 3,342 men,
Cear-1. among whom were 720 blacks, and from three to
1746. four hundred sick.

In passing the island of Ceylon, they received in-
telligence that the English fleet was at hand. La-
bourdonnais summoned his captains on board, many
of whom had shown themselves ill-disposed in the
operations of industry; but all of whom manifested
an eagerness to fight. As Labourdonnais understood
that he was superior to the English in number of
men, but greatly inferior in weight of metal, he de-
clared his intention to gain, if possible, the wind,
and to board. On the 6th of July, on the coast of
Coromandel, the English fleet appeared to windward,
advancing with full sail toward the French.’

Immediately after the declaration of war between
France and England, a fleet, consisting of two ships
of sixty guns each, one of fifty, and a frigate of
twenty, commanded by Commodore Barnet, had been
dispatched to India. It cruized, at first, in two di-
visions ; one 1n the straits of Sunda, the other in the
straits of Malacca, the places best fitted for intercepting
the French traders, of which it captured four. After
rendezvousing at Batavia, the united fleet appeared
on the coast of Coromandel, in the month of July,
1745. The Governor of Pondicherry, the garrison
of which at that time consisted of only 436 Europe-
ans, prevailed on the DMogul Governor of the pro-
vince, to declare Pondicherry under his protection,
and to threaten Madras, if the English fleet should
commit hostilitics on any part of his dominions.
This intimidated the government of Madras, and they
requested Commodore Barnet to confine his oper-

! For the above details respecting Labourdonnais, sec Memoire, ut
supra, pp. 10~92,
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ations to the sea; who accordingly left the coast of BOOKIV.
Coromandel, to avoid the stormy season, which he Cur. 1,
passed at Mergui, a port on the opposite coast; and 1746,
returned in the beginning of 1746. His fleet was

now reinforced by two fifty gun ships, and a frigate

of twenty guns from England; but one of the sixty

gun ships had become unfit for service, and, together

with the twenty gun frigate, went back to England.
Commodore Barnet died at Fort St. David in the

month of April ; and was succeeded by Mr. Peyton,

the second in command; who was cruizing to the
southward of Fort St. David, near Negapatnam,

when he descried the enemy just arriving on the

coast.!

Labourdonnais formed his line, and waited for the
English, who kept the advantage of the wind, and
frustrated his design of boarding. A distant fight
began about four in the afternoou, and the fleets se-
parated for want of light about seven. Next morn-
ing Mr. Peyton called a council of war, and it was
resolved, because the sixty gun ship was leaky, to
sail for Trincomalee. The enemy lay to, the whole
day, expecting that the English, who had .the wind,
would return to the engagement. The French, how-
ever, were in no condition to pursue, and sailed for
Pondicherry, at which they arrived on the eighth day
of the month.?

Joseph Francis Dupleix was at that time Governor
of Poudicherry ; having succeeded to the supreme
command of the French settlements in 1742. To

t Orme, 1. 60—63.

* Orme, 1. pp. 62, 65. Memoire, ut supra, pp. 88—90. Mr Orme
says, the challenge of Labourdonuais was only a feint, and that he was
in no condition to renew the engagement ; he himself in the Memoire,
says, that it was not a feint, and that ce_fud avec un extréme regret gu'il
wit les Anglows Wi Cchapper,
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BOOK 1v. this man are to be traced some of the most important
LR 1. of the modern revolutions in India. His father vas
1746, a farmer-general of the revenues; afid a Director of
the East India Company. He had set his heart upon
rearing his son to a life of commerce; and his educa-

tion; which was liberal, was carefully directed to that
end. As the study of mathematics, of fortification,

and engineering, seemed to engross his attention too
exclusively,! his father in 1715 sent him to sea; and

he made several voyages to the Indies and America.
He soon imbibed the taste of his occupation, and, de-
siring to pursue the line of maritime commerce, his
father recommended him to the East India Company,
and had sufficient interest to send him out in 1720 as

first Member of the Council at Pondicherry. Impa
tient for distinction, the young man devoted himself i
to the business of his office ; and became in time mi-
nutely acquainted with the commerce of the country.
He embarked in it, on his own account; a species of
adventure from which the poverty of the servants of

the French Company had in general debarred them.
In this station he continued for ten years, when his
knowledge and talents pointed him out as the fittest
person to superintend the business of the Company
at their settlement at Chandernagor in Bengal.

R

oy

[T

1 The character he manifested at school bears a resemblance to what
is reported of Napoleon Bonaparté: “La passion avec laquelle il se
livra & T'etude des mathematiques, le degout qu’elle lui inspira pour
tous les arts aimables qui ne lai paroissoient que frivoles, le cha-
ractere taciturpe, distrait, et meditatif, qu’elle parut lui donner, et la
retraite qu'elle lul faisoit toujours preferer aux amusemens ordinaires
de la société.” Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 9. The coincidence in
character with these men of another remarkable personage, Frederick
the Great of Prussia, while a boy, is perhaps worth the remarking. His
sister says, Il avoit de I'esprit ; son humeur etoit sombre et taciturne ;
il pensoit long temps, avant que de repondre, mais, en recompense, il
repondoit juste.” Memoires de Frederique Sophie Wilhelmine de Prusse,
Margrave de Bareith, i, 8=22.
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Though Bengal was the richest part of India, the BOOK IV,

French factory in that province had, from want of LCuir &
funds and from bad management, remained in a low 1746.
condition. The colony was still to be formed ; and
the activity and resources of the new manager soon
produced the most favourable changes. The colonists
multiplied ; enterprise succeeded to languor ; Dupleix
on his own account entered with ardour into the
country trade, in which he employed the inheritance
he derived from his father, and had frequently not
less than twelve vessels, belonging to himself and his
partners, navigating to Surat, Mocca, Jedda, the Ma-
nillas, the Maldivias, Goa, Bussora, and the coast of
Malabar. He realized a great fortune : During his
administration more than 2,000 brick houses were
built at Chandernagor : He formed a new establish-
ment for the French Company at Patna; and ren-
dered the French commerce in Bengal an object of
envy to the most commercial of the European co-
lonies.

The reputation which he acquired in this situation
pointed him out as the fittest person to occupy the
station of Governor at Pondicherry. Upon his ap-
pointment to this chief command, he found the Com-
pany in debt; and he was pressed by instructions

from home, to effect immediately a great reduction
of expense.

The reduction of expense, in India, raising up a
host of enemies, is an arduous and a dangerous task
to a European Governor. Dupleix was informed that
war was impending between France and the maritime
powers. Pondicherry was entirely open to the sea, and
very imperfectly fortified even toward the land. He
proceeded, with his usual industry, to inquire, to plan,
and to execute. Though expressly forbidden, under
the present circumstances of the Company, to incur
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Proceedings

BOOK 1V. any expense for fortifications, he, on the prospect of

GCHar. 1,

1746,

a war with the maritime powers, made the works at
Pondicherry a primary object. He had been strug-
gling with the difficulties of narrow resources, and
the strong temptation of extended views, about four
years, when Labourdonnais arrived in the roads.
The mind of Dupleix, though ambitious, active,
and ingenious, seems to have possessed but little
elevation. His vanity was excessive, and even effe-
minate ; and he was not exempt from the infirmities
of jealousy and revenge. In the enterprizes in which
the fleet was destined to be employed, Labourdon-
nais was to reap the glory; and from the very first
he had reason to complain of the air of haughtiness
and reserve which his rival assumed. As the English
traders were warned out of the seas, and nothing was
to be gained by cruizing, Labourdonnais directed his
thoughts to Madras. The danger however was great,
so long as his ships were liable to be attacked, with
the greater part of their crews on shore. He, there-
fore, demanded sixty pieces of cannon from Dupleix,
to place him on a level in point of metal with the
English fleet, and resolved to proceed in quest of it.
Dupleix alleged the danger of leaving Pondicherry
deprived of its guns, and refused. With a very in-
ferior reinforcement of guns,” with a very inadequate
supply of ammunition, and with water given him at
Pondicherry, so bad, as to produce the dysentery in
his fleet, Labourdounais put to sea on the 4th of
August. On the 17th he descried the English fleet off
Negapatnam, and hoisted Dutch colours as a decoy.

1 Memoire pour Dupleix, pp. 9—26.

¢ Labourdonnais (Memoire, 1. 109) does not state the number of the
guns from Pendicherry with which he was obliged to content himself.
Orme, i. 64. says e obtained thirty or forty pieces; but it 1s a grievous
defect of Mr. Orme’s Iustory, that he never gives his authorities.
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The English understood the stratagem; changed BOOK 1v.
their course; and fled. Lahourdonnais says he pur- €#4%1-
sued them all that day and the next; when, having 1746.
the wind, they escaped.! He returned to Pon-
dicherry on the 23d, much enfeebled by disease, and

found all hearty co-operation on the part of the go-
vernor and council still more hopeless than before.

‘After a series of unfriendly proceedings, under which

he had behaved with a manly temperance ; after Du-

pleix had even commanded him to re-land the Pon-
“dicherry troops, he resolved to send the fleet, which

he was still too much indisposed to command, to-
wards Madras, for the double purpose, of seizing the
" vessels by which the people of Madras were prepar-

ing to send away the most valuable of their effects,

and of ascertaining whether his motions were watched

by the English fleet. The cruise was unskilfully
conducted, and yielded little in the way of prize; it
afforded presumption, however, that the English fleet

had abandoned the coast. Labourdonnais saw, there-

fore, a chance of executing his plan upon Madras.

He left Pondicherry on the 12th of September, and

on the 14th commenced the operations, which ended,

"as we have seen, in the surrender of the place.

It was in consequence of an express article in his

orders from home that Labourdonnais agreed to the
restoration of Madras.”> But nothing could be more
adverse to the views of Duplex. He advised, be in-
treated, he menaced, he protested; Labourdonnais,

! Memoire pour Labourdonnais, ut supra, p. 110, and Orme, p. 64,
who here adopts the account of Laboardonnais.

2 1l est expressément défendn au sieur de la Bourdonnais de s’emparer
d’aucun etablissement ou comptoir des ennemis pour le conserver.
Mem. p. 105. This was sigued by M. Orry, Controuleur General. [t
appears, by the orders both to Labourdonnais and Dupleix, that the
French government, and East India Company, shrunk from all idea of
conquest ig India.
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Restoration of Madras evaded.

BOGK IV. however, proceeded with firmness to fulfil the condi-

Cayp,

1746.

! tions into which he had entered. Dupleix not only

refused all assistance to expedite the removal of the
goods, and enable the ships to leave Madras before
the storms which accompany the change of monsoon;
he raised up every obstruction in his power, and even
endeavoured to excite sedition among Labourdonnais’
own people, that they might seize and send him to
Pondicherry. On the night of the 13th of October
a storm arose, which forced the ships out tosea. Tweo
were lost, and only fourteen of the crew of one of
them were saved. Another was carried so far to the
southward, that she was unable to regain the coast ;
all lost their masts, and sustained great and formida-
ble injury. Disregarding the most urgent entreaties
for assistance, Dupleix maintained his opposition. At
last, a suggestion was made, that the articles of tbe
treaty of ransom should be so far altered, as to afford
time to the French, for removal of the goods; and
Labourdonnais and the English, though with some
reluctance, agreed, that the period of evacuatien
should be changed from the 15th of October to the
15th of Janvary. This was all that Dupleix desired.
Upon the departure of Labourdonnais, which the
state of the season rendered indispensable, the place
would be delivered into the hands of Dupleix, and he
was not to be embarrassed with the fetters of a
treaty.’'

1 Memoire, ut supra, pp. 142—220. Orme, i. 69—72. Dupleix, in
his apology, involves the cause of his opposition to Labourdonnais in
mystery. It was a secret, forsooth! And a secret, too, of the ministry
and the company! The disgrace, then, was tripartite: Great consela-
tion to Labourdonnais! And great satisfaction to the nation! ¢ Le
Sieur Dupleix,” says the Memoire,  respecte trop les ordres du minis-
tere et ceux de la Compagnie pour oser publier ici ce qu'il lui a été en-
joint d’ensevelir dans le plus profond secret:” p.27. In the usual style
of subterfuge and mystery, this is ambiguous and equiveoal. The word
ordres may signify orders given him to behave as he did to Labourdon-



Fate of Laboyrdonnais.

The remaining history of Labourdennais may be
shortly adduced. Upon his return to Pondicherry,
the opposition, which he had formerly experienced,
was changed into open hostility. All his proposals
for a union of counsels and of resources were rejected
with scorn. Three fresh ships had arrived from the
islands; and, notwithstanding the loss occasioned by
the storm, the force of the French was still sufficient
to endanger, if not to destroy, the whole of the
English settlements in India.' Convinced, by the
counteraction which he experienced, that he possessed
not the means of carrying his designs into execution,
Labourdonnais acceded to the proposition of Dupleix
that he should proceed to Acheen with such of the
ships as were able to keep the sea, and return to Pon-
dicherry after they were repaired ; resigning five of
them to Dupleix to carry next year’s investment to
Europe. At its departure, the squadron consisted of
seven ships, of which four were in tolerable repair;
the rest were in such a condition that it was doubted
whether they could reach Acheen; if this was im-
practicable, they were to sail for the islands. In con-
formity with this plan, Labourdonnais divided them
into two parts. The first, consisting of the sound
vessels, was directed to make its way to Acheen,

nais; and this is the sense in which it is understood by Voltaire, who
says, “ Le gouverneur Dupleix s’excusa dans ses Memoires sur des
ordres secrets du ministere. Mais il n'avait pu recevoir & six mille lieues
des ordres concernant une conquéte qu'on venait de faire, et que le mi-
nistere de France w'avait jamais pu prevoir. Si ces ordres funestes
avaient été donnés par prevoyance, ils etorent formellement contradic-
toires avec ceux que la Bourdonnais avait apportés. Le ministere
aurait eu a se reprocher la perte de neuf millions dont on priva la France
en violant la capitulation, mais sur-tout le cruel traitement dont il paya
le genie, la valeur, et la magnanimité¢ de la Bourdonnais.” Fragm.
Histor. sur I" Inde, Art. 3. But the word ordres may also signify orders
merely not to disclose the pretended secret. “This is a species of defence
which ought ever to be suspected ; for it may as easily be applied to the

greatest villainy as to the greatest worth, and is far more likely to be so.
1 Orme, 1. 69, 73.

63

BOOK IV..
Cuap. 1.

1746.



(7]

Fate of Labourdonnais.

BOOK 1. without waiting for the rest: he himself remained

Cuap, 1.
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with the second, with intention to follow, if that
were in his power. The first division outsailed,
and soon lost sight of the other; with which La-
bourdounais, finding it in vain to strive for Acheen,
at last directed his course to the islands. Hasten-
ing to Europe, to make his defence, or answer
the accusations of his enemies, he took his passage
in a ship belonging to Holland. In consequence of
the declaration of war she was forced into an English
harbour. Labourdonnais was recognized, and made
a prisoner ; but the conduct which he had displayed
at Madras was known and remembered. All ranks
received him with favour and distinction. That he
might not be detained, a Director of the East_India
Company offered to become security for him with his
person and property. With a corresponding libera-
lity, the government declined the offer, desiring no
security but the word of Labourdonnais. His treat-
ment in France was different. The representations of
Dupleix had arrived: A brother of Dupleix was
a Director of the East India Company ; Dupleix had
only violated a solemn treaty; Labourdonnais had
only faithfully and gloriously served his country ; and
he was thrown into the Bastile. He remained in
that prison three years; while the vindication which
he published, and the authentic documents by which
he supported it, fully established his innocence, and
the ardour and ability of his services. He survived
his liberation a short time, a memorable example of
the manner in which a blind government encourages

desert.’

' Memoire, ut supra, pp. 221~~280. Orme, 1. 72, Raynal, liv. iv. sect.
20. Voltaire, amid other praises, says of him, ¢ Il fit plus; il disperse
une escadre Angloise dans la mer de I'Inde, ce qui n’etoit jamais arrivé
qu’ alui, et ce qu’on n'a pas revu depuis,” Fragm. Histor. sur I'Inde,
Art. 3.
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‘He had not taken his departurc from Madras, BOOK1v.

when the troops of the Nabob appeared. Dupleix
had been able to dissuade that native ruler from yield-
ing his protection to Madras, a service which the
English, who had prevailed on Commodore Barnet
to abstain from molesting Pondicherry, claimed as
their due. Dupleix had gained him by the pro-
mise of Madras. The Moor (so at that time the
Moslems in India were generally called) quickly how-
ever perceived, that the promise was a delusion ; and
he now proposed to take vengeance by driving the
French from the place. As soon as Labourdonnais
and his fleet disappeared, a numerous army of the
Nabob, led by his son, invested Madras. From the
disaster however which had befallen the fleet, La-
bourdonnais had been under the necessity of leaving
behind him about 1200 Europeans, disciplined by
himself; the French, therefore, encountered the
Indians ; astonished them beyond measure, by the
rapidity of their artillery; with a numerical force
which bore no proportion to the enemy, gained over
them a decisive victory; and first broke the spell
which held the Europenas in subjection to the native
powers.'

The masters of mankind, how little soever dis-
posed to share better things with the people, are
abundantly willing to give them a share of their dis-
grace. Though, on other occasions, they may affect

! Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 28; Mem. pour Labourdonnais, i. 243.
It was now more than a century,” (says Mr. Ore, i. 76) “since any
of the European nations had gained a decisive advantage m war against
the officers of the Great Mogul. The experience of former unsuccessful
wars, and the scantiness of military abilities which prevailed i all tie
colonies from a long disuse of arms, had persunded them that the Moors
were a brave and formidable enemy; when the French at once broke
through the charm of this timorous opinion, by defeating a wliole army
with a single battalion.”

VOI.. IIL. F
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Fort S¢t. David.

BOOK IV. 3 merit in despising the public will, they diligently
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put on the appearance of being constrained by it in
any dishonourable action which they have a mind to
perform. In violating the treaty with the English,
Dupleix recognized his own baseness; means were
therefore used to make the French inhabitants of
Pondicherry assemble and draw up a remonstrance
against it, and a prayer that it might be annulled.
Moved by respect for the general voice of his country-
men, Dupleix sent his orders to declare the treaty of
ransom annulled ; to take the keys of all magazines;
and to seize every article of property, except the
clothes of the wearers, the moveables of their houses,
and the jewels of the women; orders which were
executed with avaricious exactness. The governor
and principal inhabitants were carried prisoners to
Pondicherry, and exhibited, by Dupleix, in a species
of triumph.!

The Enpglish still possessed the settlement of Fort
St. David, on the coast of Coromandel. It was situated
twelve miles south from Pondicherry ; with a territory
still larger than that of Madras. Besides Fort
St. David, at which were placed the houses of the
Company, and other Europeans, it contained the
town of Cuddalore, inhabited by the Indian mer-
chants, and other natives ; and two or three populous

1 Mem, pour Labourdonnais, i. 252. Orme, 1. 77. Daupleiy, in his
Apology, (Mem. p.27) declines defending this breach of faitb, repeat-
ing the former pretence of secrecy—to which, he says, the Ministry and
the Company enjoined him. Experience justifies threc inferences ;
1. That the disgrace was such as explanation would enhance; 2. that
the Ministry and the Company were sharers in it ; 8. that having such
partners, his sefety did not depend upon his justification. He adds,
that it is certain he was innocent, because the Ministry and the Com-
pany continued to employ him. It was certain, either that he was in-
nocent, or that the Ministry and the Company were sharers in his guilt,
And it was a maxim at that time in France, that a Ministry never can
have guilt: If so, the inference was logical.
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villages. The fort was small ; but stronger than any BOOK1V.
of its size in India. Cuddalore was surrounded, on Cuar. 1.
the three sides towards the land, hy walls flanked 1746.
with bastions. On the side towards the sea, it was

open, but skirted by a river, which was separated

from the sea by a mound of sand. A part of the
inhabitants of Madras had, after the violation of the

treaty of ransom, made their way to Fort St. David ;

and the agents of the Company at that place now

took upon themselves the functions of the Presidency

of Madras, and the general admiaistration of the
English affairs on the Coromandel coast.

Dupleix lost no time in following up the retention
of Madras with an enterprise against Iort St. David,
the reduction of which would have left him without
a European rival. In the night of the 19th of De-
cember, a force consisting of 1700 men, mostly
Europeans, of which fifty were cavalry, with two
companies of the Caffre slaves trained by Labour-
donnais, set out from Pondicherry, and arrived next
morning in the vicinity of the English fort. The
garrison, including the men who had escaped from
Madras, amounted to no more than about 200 Euro-
peans, and 100 Topasses. At this time the English
had not yet learned to train Sepoys in the European
discipline, though the French had already set them
the example, and had four or five disciplined com-
panies at Pondicherry.” They had hired, however,
2000 of the undisciplined soldiers of the country,
who are armed promiscuously with swords and tar-
gets, bows and arrows, pikes, lances, matchlocks or
muskets, and known among the Europeans by the

! Orme, i. 78.

2 The two important discoveries for conquering India were ; 1st, the
weakness of the native armies against European discipline; 2dly, the
facility of imparting that discipline to natives in the European service.
Both discoveries were made by the French.

r2
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Attack on Fort St. David

BOOK 1V. name of Peons; among these men they had distri-
Conr. 1. |yted eight or nine hundred muskets, and destined

1747,

them for the defence of Cuddalore. They had also
applied for assistance to the Nabob; and he, exas-
perated against the French, by his defeat at Madras,
engaged, upon the promise of the English to defray
part of the expense, to send his army to assist Fort
St. David. The French, having gained an advan-
tageous post, and laid down their arms for a little
rest, were exulting in the prospect of an easy prey,
when an army of nearly 10,000 men advanced in
sight. Not attempting resistance, the French made
good their retreat, with twelve Europeans killed and
120 wounded. Dupleix immediately entered into a
correspondence with the Moors to detach them from
the English; and, at the same time, meditated the
capture of Cuddalore by surprise. On the night of
the 10th of January, 500 men were embarked in
boats, with orders to enter the river and attack the
open quarter of the town at daybreak. But, as the
wind rose, and the surf was high, they were com-
pelled to return.!

Dupleix was fertile in expedients, and indefatigable
in their application. He sent a detachment from Ma-
dras into the Nabol’s territory, in hopes to withdraw
him to its defence. The French troops disgraced
themselves by the barbarity of their ravages; but the
Indian army remained at Fort St. David, and the
resentment of the Nabob was increased. On the 20th
of January, the four ships of Labourdonnais’ squa-
dron, which had sailed to Acheen to refit, arrived in
the road of Pondicherry. Dupleix conveyed to the
Nabob an exaggerated account of the vast accession
of force which he had received ; describing the Eng-

t Orme, i. 79—88.
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lish as a contemptible handful of men, devoted to de-BOOK IV,
struction. “ The governments of Indostan,” says Caar. 1.
Mr. Orme on this occasion, “ have no idea of national 1747,
honour in the conduct of their politics; and as soon
as they think the party with whom they are engaged
is reduced to great distress, they shift, without hesita-
tion, their alliance to the opposite side, making imme-
diate advantage the only rule of their action.” A
peace was accordingly concluded ; the Nabob’s troops
abandoned the English ; his son, who commanded the
army, paid a visit to Pondicherry ; was received, by
Dupleix, with that display in which he delighted ; and
was gratified by a considerable present.’

Blocked up, as it would have been, from receiving
supplies, by the British ships at sea, and by the Na-
bob’s army on land, Pondicherry, but for this treaty,
would soon have been reduced to extremity.? And
now the favourable opportunity for accomplishing the
destruction of Fort St. David was eagerly seized. On
the morning of the 13th of March, a French army
was seen approaching the town. After some resist-
ance, it had crossed the river, which flows a little
way north from the fort, and had taken possession of
its former advantageous position; when an English
fleet was seen approaching the road. The French
crossed the river with precipitation, and returned to
Pondicherry.”

The fleet under Captain Peyton, after it was lost
sight of by Labourdonnais, on the 18th of August,
off Negapatnam, had tantalized the inhabitants of
Madras, who looked to it with eagerness for protec-
tion, by appearing off Pullicat, about thirty miles to

! Memoire pour Labourdonnais, i. 259. Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 294
Orme, 1. 84, 85.

* So says Dupleix himself, Mem. p. 20.

3 Orme, i. 87. Mem. pour Dupleix, p. 29.
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BOOK IV.the northward on the 3d of September, and again
Cusr. 1. ooiling away. Peyton proceeded to Berngal : because
1747. the sixty gun ship was in such a condition as to be
supposed incapable of bearing the shock of her own
guns. The fleet was there reinforced by two ships,
one of sixty and one of forty guns, sent from England
with Admira}l Griffin; who assumed the command,
and proceeded with expedition to save Fort St. David,
and menace Pondicherry. The garrison was rein-
forced by the arrival of 100 Europeans, 200 Topasses,
and 100 Sepoys, from Bembay, beside 400 Sepoys
from Tellichery : In the course of the year 150 sol-
diers were landed from the Company’s ships from
England : And, in the month of January, 1748, Ma-
jor Laurence arrived, with a commission to command
the whole of the Company’s forces in India.’

The four ships which had arrived at Pondicherry.
from Acheen, and which Dupleix foresaw would be in
imminent danger, when the English fleet should re-
turn to the coast, he had, as soon as he felt assured of
concluding peace with the Nabob, ordered from Pon-
dicherry to Goa. From Goa they proceeded to Mau-
ritius, where they were joined by three other ships
from France. About the middle of June, this fleet
was descried off Fort St. David, making sail, as if it
intended to bear down upon the English. Admiral
Griffin waited for the land wind, and put to sea at
night, expecting to find the enemy in the morning.
But the French admiral, as soon as it was dark,
crowded sail, and proceeded directly to Madras, where
he landed 300 soldiers, and 200,000/. in silver, the
object of his voyage; and then returned to Mauritius.
Admiral Griffin sought for him in vain. But Dupleix,
knowing that several days would be necessary to
bring the English ships back to Fort St. David,

' Orme, i. 66, 87, 88.
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against the monsoon, contrived another attack upon BOOK v,
Cuddalore. Major Laurence, by a well executed _ Cuar. 1.
feint, allowed the enemy at midnight to approach the 174-8.
very walls, and even to apply the scaling ladders,

under an idea that the garrison was withdrawn, when

a sudden discharge of artillery and musketry struck

them with dismay, and threw them into precipitate
retreat.’

The government of England, moved by the disas-
ters of the nation in India, and jealous of the ascend-
ancy assumed by the French, had now prepared a
formidable armament for the East. Nine ships of the
public navy, one of seventy-four, one of sixty-four, two
of sixty, two of fifty, one of twenty guns, a sloop of
fourteen, a bomb ketch with her tender, and a hospi-
tal-ship, commanded by Admiral Boscawen; and
eleven ships of the Company, carrying stores and
troops to the amount of 1,400 men, set sail from Eng-
land toward the end of the year 1747. They had
instructions to capture the island of Mauritius in their
way ; as a place of great importance to thelenterprises
of the French in India. But the leaders of the expe-
dition, after examining the coast, and observing the
means of defence, were deterred, by the loss of time
which the enterprise would occasion. On the 9th of
August they arrived at Fort St. David, when the
squadron, joined to that under Griffin, formed the
largest European force that any one power had yet
possessed in India.?

Dupleix, who had received early intelligence from
France of the preparations for this armament, had

1 Orme, i. 88—091. Orme says that 200 soldiers only were landed by
the French at Madras. Dupleix himself says, Trois cens hommes, tant
sains que malades. Mem, p. 32,

? Orme, i, 91—98.
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Pondicherry atlacked unsuccessfully.

BOOK 1V. been the more eager to obtain an interval of friend-

Cuar. 1.
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ship with the Nabob, and to improve it to the utmost
for laying in provisions and stores at Pondicherry and
Madras ; knowing well, as soon as the superior force
of the Iinglish should appear, that the Nabob would
change sides, and the French settlements, both by sea
and land, would again be cut off from supplies.’
Preparations at Fort St. David had been made, to
expedite the operations of Boscawen, and he was in a
very short time ready for action; when all English-
men exulted in the hope of seeing the loss of Madras
revenged by the destruction of Pondicherry. Amid
other points of preparation for attaining this desirable
object, there was one, to wit, knowledge, which they
had, unfortunately, overlooked. At a place called
Ariancopang, about two miles to the southwest of
Pondicherry, the French had built a small fort.
When the English arrived at this place, not a man
was found who could give a description of it. 'They
resolved, howerver, to take it by assault; but were re-
pulsed, and the repulse dejected the men. Time was
precious ; for the season of the rains, and the change
of monsoon, were at hand : A small detachment, too,
left at the fort, might have held the feeble garrison in
check : But it was resolved to take Ariancopang at
any expense: Batteries were opened; but the enemy
defended themselves with spirit : Major Laurence was
taken prisoner in the trenches: Several days were
consumed, and more would have been added to
them, had not a part of the ewemy’s magazine of
powder taken fire, which so terrified the garrison,
that they blew up the walls and retreated to Pon-
dicherry. As if sufficient time had not been lost,

! Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 31, 52.
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the English remained five days longer to repair the BOOK 1v,
fort, in which they resolved to leave a garrison, ™% 1
lest the enemy should resume possession during the 1748.
siege.

They advanced to Pondicherry, and opened the
trenches on the northwest side of the town, at the
distance of 1,500 yards from the wall, though it was
even then customary to open them within 800 yards
of the covered way. The cannon and mortars in the
ships were found capable of little execution; aud,
from want of experience, the approaches, with much
labour, went slowly on. At last they were carried
within 800 yards of the wall; when it was found im-
possible to extend them any further, on account of a
large morass; while, on the northern side of the
town, they might have been carried to the foot of the
glacis. Batteries, at the distance of 800 yards, were
constructed on the edge of the morass; but the ene-
my’s fire proved double that of the besiegers; the
rains came on ; sickness prevailed in the camp; very
little impression had been made on the defences of the
town; a short time would make the roads impracti-
cable ; and hurricanes were apprehended, which would
drive the ships from the coast. It was therefore de-
termined, by a council of war, thirty-one days after
the opening of the trenches, that the siege should be
raised. Dupleix, as corresponded with the character
of the man, made a great ostentation and parade on
this unexpected event. He represented himself as
having gained one of the most brilliant victories on
record ; he wrote letters in this strain, not only to
Trance, but to the Indian princes, and even to the
Great Mogul himself; he received in return the
highest compliments on his own conduct and bravery,
as well as on the prowess of his nation; and the



74

Moadras restored,

BOOK Iv, English were regarded in India as only a secondary

Caavr. 1.

1749,

and inferior people.!

In November news arrived that a suspension of
arms had taken place between England and France:
and this was shortly after followed by intelligence of
the treaty of Aix la Chapelle, in which the French
government had agreed to restore Madras. It was
delivered up in August, with its fortifications much
improved. At the distance of four miles south from
Madras was the town of San Tomé, or St. Thomas,
built by the Portuguese, and, in the time of their
prosperity, a place of note. It had long however been
reduced to obscurity, and though inhabited mostly by
Christians, had hardly been regarded as a possession
by any of the European powers. It had been found
that the Roman Catholic priests, from the sympathy
of religion, had conveyed useful information to the
French in their designs upon Madras. To prevent
the like inconvenience in future, it was now taken
possession of by the English, and the obnoxious part
of the inhabitants ordered to withdraw.

No events of any importance had occurred at the
other presidencies, during these years of war. The
Viceroy of Bengal had prohibited the French and
English from prosecuting their hostilities in his domi-
nions. This governor exacted contributions from the
European colonies, for the protection which he be-
stowed ; that however which he imposed upon the

' Orme, i. 80, 98—106. Dapleix (Mem. p. 32) says that thetrenches
were open forty-two days, and that the siege altogether lasted fifty-eight.
The memoir drawn up by the French East India Company, in answer to
Dupleix, alleges more than once that Dupleix was defective in personal
courage; and says he apologized for the care with which he kept at a dis-
tance from shot, by acknowledging gue le Lruit des armes suspendoit ses
reflexions, et que le calme seul convenoit o son genie: p. 18,

* Orme, i. 107, 75, 181
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English did not exceed 100,000/. A quantity of raw I%OOK va'
silk, amounting to 300 bales, belonging to the Com- 7** ™
pany, was plundered by the Mahrattas; and the dis- 1749
tress which the incursions of that people produced in
the province, increased the difficulties of traffic.!

The trade of the Company exhibited the following
results :—

Goods and Stores Bullion ditto. Total.
exported.

1744 .. £231,318.. L£458,544 .. £689,862
1745.. 91,364.. 476853.. 568217
1746 .. 265,818.. 560,020 .. 825,838
1747 .. 107,979 .. 779,256 .. 887,235
1748 .. 127,224..  706,890.. 834,114

The bills of exchange for which the Company paid
during those years were :

1744 .. £103,349 1747 .. £441,651
1745 .. 08,213 1748 .. 178,419
1746 .. 417,647

The amount of sales for the same years (including

thirty per cent. of duties, which remained to be de-
ducted) was:

1744 .. £1,997,506 1747 .. ££1,739,159
1745.. 2,480,966 1748 ..  1,768,041%
1746 .. 1,602,388

The official value at the custom-house of the im-

ports and exports of the Company, during that period,
was as follows:

Imports. Exports.
1744 .... £743,508 ..., £476,274
1745.... 973,705.... 293,113

! Orme, i1, 45,
* Third Report from the Committee of Secrecy, 1773, p. 75.



"6 Company’s Dividend.

Imports Exports.
BOOK 1V, ports. po

Caar. 1. 1746 .... 5£646,697.... 893,540

1749 1747 .... 821,733 .... 345,526

1748 .... 1,098,712.... 806,357

The dividend was eight per cent. per annum, dur-
ing the whole of the time.’

During the same period, the trade of the nation,
notwithstanding the war, had considerably increased.
The imports had risen from 6,362,971/. official value,
to 8,136,408/.; and the exports from 11,429,628/
to 12,351,433. ; and, in the two following years, to
14,099,366/, and 15,132,004..°

1Sir C. Whitworth’s tables, part ii. p. 9. ? Report,ut supra, p. 74.
3 Whitworth’s Tables, part i. p. 78.



Engagements with the Native Power.

CHAP. IL

Origin, Progress, and Suspension, of the Contest
Jor establishing Mahomed Ali, Nabob of Car-
natic.

i

A NEW scene is now to open in the history of the BoOK 1v.
Fast India Company. Before this period they had ©®*™ %

maintained the character of mere traders, and, by
humility and submission, endeavoured to preserve a
footing in that distant country, under the protection
or oppression of the native powers. We shall now
behold them entering the lists of war; and mixing
with eagerness in the contests of the princes. Du-
pleix, whose views were larger than, at that time,
those of any of the servants of the Company, had
already planned, in his imagination, an empire for
the French, and had entered pretty deeply into the
intrigues of the country powers. The English were
the first to draw the sword; and from no higher in-
ducement than the promise of a trifling settlement on
the Coromandel coast.

A prince who, amid the revolutious of that country,
had, some years hefore, possessed and lost the throne
of Tanjore, repaired to Fort St. David, and entreated
the assistance of the Knglish. He represented his
countrymen as ready to co-operate {or his restoration ;
and promised the fort and country of Devi-Cotah,
with the payment of all expenses, if, with their assist-
ance, he should recover his rights. The war between
the French and English had brought to the settle-

1749.
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Tanjore.

BOOK Iv. ments of both mnations in that quarter of India, a

Cuar. 2.

1749.

greater quantity of troops than was necessary for
their defence; and with the masters of troops it
seems to be a law of nature, whenever they possess
them in greater abundance than is necessary for de-
fence, to emplay them for the disturbance of others.
The French and English rulers in India showed
themselves extremely obedient to that law. The in-
terests of the Tanjore fugitive were embraced at
Fort St. David; and in the beginning of April,
1749, 430 Europeans and 1,000 Sepoys, with four
field-pieces and four small mortars, marched with him
for Tanjore.

Tanjore was one of those rajahships, or small
kingdoms, into which the Mohamedans, at their first
invasion of India, found the country in general
divided. It occupied little more than the space en-
closed and intersected by the numerous mouths of
the river Cavery. The Colercon, or most northern
branch of that river, bounded it on the north, and it
extended about seventy miles along the coast, and
nearly as much inland from the sea. Like the rest of
the neighbouring country, it appears to have become
dependent upon the more powerful rajahship of
Beejanuggur, before the establishment of the Moha-
medan kingdoms in Deccan; and afterwards upon
the kingdom of Beejapore, but subject still to its own
laws and its own sovereign or rajah, who held it in
the character of a Zemindar. In the time of Aurung-
zebe, it has been already seen, that a very remark-
able personage, the father of Sevagee, who had ob-
tained a footing in the Carnatic, had entered into a
confederacy with the Rajah or Polygar of Mudkul or
Madura, against the Rajah or Zemindar or Naig (for
we find all these titles applied to him) of Tanjore,
whom they defeated and slew ; that afterwards quar-
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relling with the Rajah of Mudkul, about the division BOOK IV
of the conquered territory, the Mahratta stripped %47 %
him of his dominions, took possession both of Mudkul 1749.
and Tanjore, and transmitted them to his posterity.’
His grandson Shawgee was attacked and taken pri-
soner by Zulfeccar Khan, who, to strengthen his
party, restored him to his government or zemindary,
upon the death of Aurungzebe. Shawgee had two
brothers, Shurfagee and Tuckogee. They succeeded
one another in the government, and all died without
issue, excepting the last. Tuckogee had three sons
Baba Saib, Nana, and Sahugee. Baba Saib suc-
ceeded his father, and died without issue. Nana
died before him, but left an infant son, and his widow
was raised to the government, by the influence of
Seid the commander of the fort. This powerful
servant soon deprived the Queen of all authority,
threw her into prison, and set up as rajah a pretended
son of Shurfagee. It suited the views of Seid to
allow a very short existence to this prince and his
power. Ke next placed Sahugee, the youngest of
the sons of Tuckogee, in the seat of government.
Sahugee also was soon driven from the throne. Seid
now vested with the name of sovereign Pretaupa
Sing, a son by one of the inferior wives of Tuckogee.
This was in 1741. The first act of Pretaupa Sing’s
government was to assassinate Seid. It was Sahugee
who now craved the assistance of the English.? And
it was after having corresponded for years with Pre-
taupa Sing, as King of Tanjore ; after having offered
to him the friendship of the English nation; and
after having courted his assistance against the

! Videsupra. Also Aurungzebe’s Operations in Deccan, by Scott, p. 6.

* History and Management of the East India Company, from an au-
thentic MS. account of Tanjore. See also Orme, i. 108, who in some
particulars was misinformed.,
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BOOK 1. French; that the English rulers now, without so
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much as a pretence of any provocation, and without
the allegation of any other motive than the advantage
of possessing Devi-Cotah, dispatched an army to de-
throne him.!

The troops proceeded by land, while the battering-
cannon and provisions were conveyed by sea. They
had begun to proceed when the monsoon changed, with
a violent hurricane. The army, having crossed the
river Coleroon, without opposition, were on the point
of turning into a road among the woods which they
would have found inextricable. Some of the soldiers,
however, discovered a passage along the river, into

1 ¢« The meaning of this letter is to let your Majesty know, I shall
esteem it a great honour to be upon such terms with your Majesty, as
may be convenient to both ; for which reason, I hope, this will meet
with a gracious acceptance, as likewise the few things I send with it.”
Letter from Governor Floyer to Pretaupa Sing, King of Tanjore, dated
30th Nov. 1746.—* I received your letter, and am glad to hear of the
King of Tanjore’s regard and civility towards the English : You may be
assured, that after the arrival of our ships, which will be very soon, I
will serve the King, and all the people that will do us good against the
French, who are enemies to all the world.” Letter from Governor Floyer
to Maccajeeniko, officer of the King of Tanjore, dated 3d Jan. 1747.—
“ This is to acquaint your Majesty of the good news we have received
from Europe two days past. The French nation (enemies both to your
Majesty and the English) bad fitted out a force with design to drive the
English out of India ; and had they been successful, they would never
have stopped there ; but would have made settlements in whatever parts
of your country they liked best; as they have already done at Carical.
But it pleased God, that their vile designs have been prevented; for our
ships met them at sea, and took and destroyed the whole of them....., I
do not at all doubt, but that in a short time we shall be able to put you in
possession of Carical, which I hear you so wuach wish for.” Letter from
Governor Floyer to the King of Tanjore dated 19th Jan. 1748. See
i. 25, 26, of a Collection of Papers, entitled Tanjore Papers, published
by the East India Company in three 4to. volumes, in 1777, as an Ap-
pendix to a vindication of the Company, drawn up by their counsel Mr.
Rous, in answer to two pamphlets ; one entitled ¢ State of Facts relative
to Tanjore;” the other, “ Original Papers relative to Tanjore.” This
collection of papers, I shall commonly quote, under the short title of
Rous’s Appendix.
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which they turned by blind but lucky chance ; and BOOK Iv.
this led them, after a march of about ten miles, to the Cuar. 2.
neighbourhood of Devi-Cotah. They had been an- 174g.
noyed by the Tanjorines ; no partisans appeared for
Sahugee; it indeed appears mot that so much as
a notice had been conveyed to them of what was de-
signed ; and no intelligence could be procured of the
ships, though they were at anchor only four miles off
at the mouth of the river. The army threw at the
fort what shells they had, and then retreated without
delay.

The shame of a defeat was difficult to bear; and
the rulers of Madras resolved upon a second attempt.
They exaggerated the value of Devi-Cotah ; situated
in the most fertile spot on the coast of Coromandel ;
and standing on the river Coleroon, the channel of
which, within the bar, was capable of receiving ships
of the largest burden, while there was not a port from
Masulipatam to Cape Comorin, which could receive
one of 300 tons: it was true the mouth of the river
was obstructed by sand; but if that could be removed,
the possession would be invaluable. This time, the
expedition, again commanded by Major Laurence,
proceeded wholly by sea; and from the mouth of the
river the troops and stores were conveyed up to Devi-
Cotah in boats. The army was landed on the side of
the river opposite to the fort, where it was proposed to
erect the batteries, because theground onthe same side
of the river with the fort, was marshy, covered with
wood, and surrounded by the Tanjore army. After
three days’ firing a breach was made ; but no advan-
tage could be taken of it till the river was crossed.
This was dangerous, as well from the breadth and
rapidity of the stream, as from the number of soldiers
in the thickets which covered the opposite shore. To
the ingenuity of a common ship’s carpenter, the army

YOL. IT1. G
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was overcome. A raft was constructed sufficient to
contain 400 men; but the difficulty was to move it
across. John Moore, the man who suggested and
constructed the raft, was again ready with his aid.
He swam the river in the night; fastened to a tree
on the opposite side a rope which he carefully con-
cealed in the bushes and water; and returned with-
out being perceived. Before the raft began to move,
some pieces of artillery were made to fire briskly
upon the spot where the rope was attached ; and
moved the Tanjorines to a distance too great to per-
ceive it. The raft was moved across; it returned,
and recrossed several times, till the whole of the
troops were landed on the opposite bank. Major
Laurence resolved to storm the breach without
delay. Lieutenant Clive, who had given proofs of
his ardent courage at the siege of Pondicherry,
offered to lead the attack. He proceeded with a
platoon of Europeans and 700 Sepoys; but rashly
allowing himself, at the head of the platoon, to be
separated from the Sepoys, he narrowly escaped with
his life; and the platoon was almost wholly de-
stroyed. Major Laurence advanced with the whole
of his force, when the soldiers mounted the breach,
and after a feeble resistance took possession of the
place. An accommodation between the contending
parties was effected soon after. The reigning king
agreed to concede to the English the fort for which
they contended, with a territory of the annual value
0f 9000 pagodas ; and they, on their part. not only
renounced the support of him for whom they had pre-
tended to fight as the true and lawful king, but
agreed to secure his person, in order that he might
give no farther molestation to Pretaupa Sing, and
demanded only 4000 rupees, about 400!, for his an-
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nual expenses.' It may well be supposed, that toBOOKIV.
conquer Tanjore for him would have been a frantic Cuar. 2.
attempt. But no such reflection was made when a  1749.
zeal for the justice of his cause was held up as the
impelling motive to the war; nor can it be denied
that his interests were very coolly resigned. It is
even asserted that, but for the humanity of Bos-
cawen, he would have been delivered into the hands
of Pretaupa Sing.> He found means to make his
escape from the English; who imprisoned his uncle,
and kept him in confinement for nine years, till he
was released by the French, when they took Fort
St. David in 1758.°

While the English were occupied with the unim-
portant conquest of Devi-Cotah, the French had
engaged in transactions of the highest moment; and
a great revolution was accomplished in Carnatic. This
revolution, on which a great part of the history of
the English East India Company depends, it is now
necessary to explain. Carnatic is the name given to
a large district of country along the coast of Coro-
mandel, extending from near the river Kistna, to the
northern branch of the Cavery. In extending west-
ward from the sea, it was distinguished into two
parts, the first, including the level country between
the sea and the first range of mountains, and entitled
Carnatic below the Ghauts; the second, including
the table land between the first and second range of
mountains, and called Carnatic above the Ghauts.
A corresponding track, extending from the northern

! Orme, i. 109—119. History and Management of the East India
Coumpany, p. 68—70.

2 History and Management, p. 69.

s This is stated by Orme, (ii. 318) who tells us not who this uncle
was (he must have been maternal), but only that he was the guide of his
nephew, and the head of his party.

G2
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BOOK 1Iv. branch of the Cavery to Cape Comorin, sometimes
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also receives the name of Carnatic; but in that case
it is distinguished by the title of the Southern Car-
natic.! The district of Carnatic had fallen into
dependence upon the great rajahships of Beejanuggur
and Warankul; and after the reduction of these Hindu
powers, had been united to the Mahomedan kingdoms
of Beejapore and Golconda. Upon the annexation of
these kingdoms to the Mogul empire, in the reign of
Aurungzebe, Carnatic was included in the general
subjugation, and formed part of the great Subah of
Deccan. In the smaller provinces or viceroyalties,
the districts or sub-divisions were proportionally
small ; and the sub-governors of these divisions were
known by the titles of Zemindar, and Phouzdar or
Fogedar. In the great Subahs, however, parti-
cularly that of Deccan, the primary divisions were
very large, and the first rank of sub-governors pro-
portionally high. They were known by the name of
nabob or deputy ; that is, deputy of the Subahdar, or
Viceroy, governor of the Subah; and under these
deputies or nabobs were the Zemindars and Fogedars

! According to Colonel Wilks, (p. 5) the ancient name was Canara,
and the Canara language is only found within a district bounded by a
line, beginning cear the town of Beder, about sixty miles N. W. from
Hyderabad, waving S. E. by the town of Adoni, then to the west of
Gooti, next by the town of Anantpoor, next Nundidroog, next to the
eastern Ghauts, thence along the range of the eastern Ghauts southwards
to the pass of Gujjelbutty, thence by the chasm of the western hills,
between the towns of Coimbetoor, Palatchi, and Palgaut, thence north-
wards along the skirts of the western Ghauts, nearly as far as the sources
of the Kistna, thence in an eastern and afterwards north eastern direc-
tion to Beder. He adds, p. 6, that the Tamul language was spoken in
the tract extending from Pullicat, (the boundary of the Talinga language
on the south) to Cape Comorin, and from the sea to the eastern Ghauts.
This tract bore, anciently, the name of Drauveda, * although,” says the
Colonel, * the greater part ofit is known to Europeans exclusively by the
name of Carnatic.” [t was called by the Mahomedans Carnatic below
the Ghauts, as Canara proper was called Carnatic above the Ghauts.
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of the districts, Carnatic was one of the nabobships, BOOK 1v.
. e Cuar. 2.

or grand divisions of the great Subah of Deccan.

During the vigour of the Mogul government, the 1749.

grand deputies or nabobs, though immediately subject

to the Subahdar, or Viceroy, were not always nomi-

nated by him. They were very often nominated

immediately by the emperor; and not unfrequently

as a check upon the dangerous power of the Sub-

ahdar. When the Subahdar however was powerful,

and the emperor weak, the nabobs were nominated

by the Subahdar.

When Nizam al Mulk was established Subahdar
of Deccan, a chief, named Sadatullah. was nabob of
Carnatic, and held that command under the Nizam
till the year 1732, when he died. Sadatullah, who
had no issue male, adopted the two sons of his bro-
ther; Doost Ali, and Bakir Ali. Béikir Ali he made
governor of Velore : and he had influence to leave
Doost Ali in possession of the nabobship at his death.
Nizam al Mulk claimed a right to nominate his
deputy in the government of Carnatic; and took dis-
pleasure that Doost Ali had been intruded into the
office with so little deference to his authority ; but he
happened to be engaged at the time in disputes with
the emperor, which rendered it inconvenient to
resent the affront. Doost Ali had two sons and four
daughters. Of these daughters one was married to
Mortiz Ali, the son of his brother Bakir Ali, go-
vernor of Velore ; another to Chunda Saheb, 2 more
distant relative, who became duan, or minister of the
finances, under Doost Ali his father-in-law.

Trichinopoly was a little sovereignty bordering on
the west upon Tanjore. Though subdued by the
Mogul, it had been allowed, after the manner of
Tanjore, to retain, as Zemindar, its own sovereign,
accountable for the revenues and other services,
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BOOK 1V. required from it as a district of the Mogul empire.
Cuar. 2. The rajahs of Tanjore and Trichinopoly were imme-
1749. diately accountable to the nabobs of Carnatic; and,

like other Zemindars, frequently required the terror of
an army to make them pay their arrears. In the year
1736 the Rajah of Trichinopoly died, and the sover-
eignty passed into the hands of his wife. The sup-
posed weakness of female government pointed out
the occasion as favourable for enforcing the payment
of the arrears; or for seizing the immediate govern-
ment of the country. By intrigue and perfidy,
Chunda Saheb was admitted. into the city; when,
imprisoning the queen who soon died with grief, he
was appointed by his father-in-law governor of the
kingdom.

The Hindu Rajahs were alarmed by the ambitious
proceedings of the Nabob of Carnatic and his son-
in-law, and incited the Mahrattas, as people of the
same origin and religion, to march to their assistance.
The attention of Nizam al Mulk was too deeply
engaged in watching the motions of Nadir Shaw,
who at that very time was prosecuting his destructive
war in Hindustan, to oppose a prompt resistance to
the Mahrattas ; it has indeed been asserted though
without proof, and not with much probability, that,
as he was but little pleased with the appointment or
proceedings of Doost Ali, he instigated the Mahrattas
to this incursion, for the sake of chastising the pre-
sumption of his deputy.

An army, commanded by Ragogee Bonslah, ap-
peared on the confines of Carnatic, in the month of
May, 1740. The passes of the mountains might
have been successfully defended by a small number

' By Mr. Ormie, 1. 41. Col. Wilks, states ou verbal authority, that the
Mahrattas were invited by the eldest son of the Nabob, jealous of
Chunda Saheb, ubi supra, p. 251,
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of men; but an officer of Doost Ali, a Hindu, to BOOK Iv.

whom that important post was committed, betray
his trust, and left a free passage to the Mahrattas.
Doost Ali encountered the invaders; but lost his life
in the battle. Subder Ali, the eldest son of the
deceased, retired to the strong fort of Velore, and
began to negotiate with the Mahrattas. A large sum
of money was partly promised, and partly paid ; and
Trichinopoly, which rendered Chunda Saheb an
object of jealousy to the new Nabob, was secretly
offered to them, if they chose the trouble of making
the conquest. They returned in a few months and
laid siege to Trichinopoly. Chunda Saheb defended
himself gallantly for several months, but was obliged
to yield on the 26th of March, 1741 ; and was carried
a prisoner to Satarah ; while Morari Row, a Mahratta
chief, was left Governor of Trichinopoly. Subder
Ali, afraid to trust himself in the open city of Arcot,
the capital of Carnatic, took up his residence in
Velore. Béakir Ali was dead, the late governor of
Velore, and uncle of the Nabob; and Mortiz Ali, his
son, was now governor in his place. By instigation
of this man, whose disposition was perfidious and
cruel, Subder Ali was assassinated; and an attempt
was made by the murderer to establish himself in
the government of the province; but, finding his
efforts hopeless, he shut himself up in his fort of
Velore; and the infant son of Subder Ali was pro-
claimed Nabob.'

1 For this part of the History of Deccan in detail, see Orme, i. 36—62;
Cambridge’s War in India, p. 1—6 ; History and Management of the
East India Company, . 50—72; Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 35—43 ;
Memoire contre Dupleix, p. 19—59; Revolution des Indes, i. 67—289.
This last work was published anonymously in two volumes 12mo. in
1757. It is written with partiality to Dupleix ; but the author is well
informed, and a man of talents.  The leading facts are shortly noticed
by Wilks, ch. vir. ’

ed Cuapr. 2.
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Nizam al Mulk, however, had now left the court
of Delhi, and returned to his government of Deccan.
To arrange the troubled affairs of Carnatic, he ar-
rived at Arcot in the month of March 1743. He
treated the son of Subder Ali with respect; but ap-
pointed his general Cojah Abdoolla, to the govern-
ment of Carnatic; and compelled Morari Row, and
the Mahrattas, to evacuate Trichinopoly. Cojah
Abdoolla died suddenly, apparently through poison,
before he had taken possession of his government;
and the Nizam appointed An'war ad dien Khan, to
supply his place. An’war ad dien Khan, the son of
a man noted for his learning and fpiety, had been
promoted to a place of some distinction, by the father
of Nizam al Mulk, and after his death attached him-
self to the fortunes of his son. When Nizam al
Mulk became Subahdar of Deccan, he made An'war
ad dien Nabob of Ellore and Rajamundry, where he
governed from the year 1725 to 1741; and from
that period till the death of Cojah Abdoolla, he
served as Governor of Golconda. In ostent, Nizam
al Mulk conferred the government of Carnatic upon
An’war ad dien, only for a time, till Seid Mahomed,
the young son of Subder Ali, should arrive at the
years of manhood ; but, in the mean while, he con-
signed him to the guardianship of An’'war ad dien,
and in a short time the young Nabob was murdered
by a party of Patan soldiers, who clamoured for
arrears of pay, due to them, or pretended to be due,
by his father. An’war ad dien escaped not the im-
putation of being author of the crime, but he was
supported by Nizam al Mulk, and appointed Nabob
in form. It was An’'war ad dien, who was the Go-
vernor of Carnatic when the French and English
contended for Madras, and whom Dupleix treated
alternately as a friend and a foe.
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Nizam al Mulk, whose abilities and power were BOOK IV.

calculated to confirm the arrangements which he had
made in Deccan, died in 1748, after a whole life
spent in the toils and agitations of oriental ambition,
at the extraordinary age of 104. The government
of Sadatullah and his family had been highly popular
in Carnatic ; that of An’'war ad dien Khan was very
much hated: A strong desire prevailed that the
government of An’war ad dien should be subverted,
and that of the family of Sadatullah restored: The
death of Nizam al Mulk opened a channel through
which the hope of change made its way: Chunda
Saheb was the only member of the family of Sada-
tullah, who possessed talents likely to support him
in the ascent to the proposed elevation: The keen
eye of Dupleix had early fixed itself upon the pros-
pect of the ascendancy of Chunda Saheb; and if that
chief should, by the assistance of the French, acquire
the government of Carnatic, the most important con-
cessions might be expected from his gratitude and
friendship. At the first irruption of the Mahrattas,
the whole family of Doost Ali had been sent to
Pondicherry, (so strongly had the Indians already
learned to confide in the superiority of European
power) as the place of greatest safety in the province.
They received protection and respect; and the wife
and family of Chunda Saheb, during the whole time
of his captivity, had never been removed. Dupleix
treated them with the attention calculated to make
a favourable impression on the man whom he wished
to gain. He even corresponded with Chunda Saheb
in his captivity; and agreed to advance money to
assist in raising the sum which the Mahrattas de-
manded for his ransom. He was liberated in the
beginning of the year 1748, and even furnished, it
15 said, with 3,000 Mahratta troops. He entered

Cuar. 9.

1749.
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BOOK Iv.immediately into the quarrels of some contending
Cuar. 2. Rajahs, whose dominions lay inland between the
1749. coast of Malabar and Carnatic, with a view to

increase his followers, and collect treasure; and he
was already at the head of 6000 men, when the
death of Nizam al Mulk occurred.

To maintain his authority, in his absence, both at
court and in his province, Nizam al Mulk had pro-
cured the high office of Ameer al Omrah, for his
eldest son, Ghazee ad dien Khan, who always at-
tended the person of the Emperor. His second son,
Nazir Jung, had resided for the most part in Deccan,
and had officiated as his father’s deputy, as often as
the wars of the empire, or the intrigues of the court,
had called him away. Though the ohedience of
Nazir Jung had been so little perfect as to have been
lately chastised even by imprisonment, he was pre-
sent when his father died; the army was accustomed
to obey him; he got possession of his father’s trea-
sures ; the Emperor was far too weak to assert his
right of nomination; and Nazir Jung assumed the
power and titles of Subahdar of Deccan.

There was, however, a favourite grandson of
Nizam al Mulk, the son of a descendant of Sadoollah
Khan, Vizir to Shaw Jehan, by a daughter of Nizam
al Mulk. His name was Hedayet Mohy ad dien; to
which he added the title of Mirzapha Jung. He
had been Nabob of Beejapore, for several years, dur-
ing the life of his grandfather ; who, it was now given
out and believed, had nominated him successor by
his will’ Such a competitor for the government of
Dececan appeared to Chunda Saheb the very man on
whom his hopes might repose. He offered his ser-

t Seer Mutakhareen, i. 115. Wilks says he was Governor of the
strong fort of Adoni, ch. vii,
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vices, and they were greedily received. To attain BOOK 1v.
the assistance of Dupleix was regarded by them both Ci*r %
as an object of the highest importance; and in a 1749
Subahdar of Deccan, and a Nabob of Carnatic, whom

he himself should be the chief instrument in raising

to power, Dupleix contemplated the highest advan-

tages, both for himself and for his country. Chunda

Saheb persuaded Mirzapha Jung that they ought to
commence their operations in Carnatic; where the
interest of the family of Chunda Saheb would afford
advantages. Their troops had increased to the num-

ber of 40,000 men, when they approached the con-

fines of Carnatic. They were joined here by the
French, who consisted of 400 Europeans, 100 Caffres,

and 1800 Sepoys, commanded by M. d’Auteuil.

They immediately advanced towards An’war ad dien,

whom on the 8d of August, 1749, they found en-
camped under the fort of Amboor, fifty miles west

from Arcot. The French offered to storm the
entrenchment ; and though twice beaten back, they
advanced three times to the charge, and at last pre-
vailed. An'war ad dien was slain in the engage-

ment, at the uncommon age of 107 years; his eldest

son was taken prisoner; and his second son Mahomed

Ali, with the wreck of the army, escaped to Trichi-
nopoly, ef which he was Governor.?

Dupleix affirms, that had the victorious leaders,
according to his advice, adyanced without delay
against Trichinopoly, while the consternation of
defeat remained, they would have obtained imme-
diate possession of the place, and the success of their
enterprise would have been assured. They chose

! Memoire pour la Compagpie des Indes contre le Sieur Dupleix,
p- 39.

* Orme, i. 127 ; Memoire, ut supra, p. 40; Memoire pour le Sieur
Dupleix, p. 45,
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The French suppert Chunda Saheb

however to go first to Arcot, that they might play
for a while the Subahdar and Nabob; they after-
wards paid a visit at Pondicherry to M. Dupleix,
who gratified himself by receiving them with oriental
display; and was gifted with the sovereignty of
eighty-one villages in the neighbourhood of the set-
tlement.!

They marched not from Pondicherry till the very
end of October; and instead of proceeding directly
against Trichinopoly, as they had settled with Du-
pleix, they directed their march to the city of Tan-
jore. The urgency of their pecuniary wants, and
the prospect of an ample supply from the hoards of
Tanjore, made them undervalue the delay. The
King was summoned to pay his arrears of tribute,
and a large sum as a compensation for the expense
of the war. By negotiation, by promises, and stra-
tagems, he endeavoured; and the softness of his ene-
mies enabled him, to occupy their time till the very
end of December, when news arrived that Nazir Jung,
the Subahdar, was on his march to attack them.?

Nazir Jung had been summoned, upon his acces-
sion, to the imperial presence; and had advanced
with a considerable army as far as the Nerbudda,
when a counter-order arrived. Informed of the am-
bitious designs of his nephew, he accelerated his
return; and was arrived at Aurengabad, when he
heard of the overthrow and death of the Nabob of

! Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 47. The French Company assert, in
their Memoir against Dupleix, (p. 44), that it was to gratify his vanity
by this display, that the chiefs delayed the march to Trichinopoly: which
seems the invention of malignity. Orme says, with better reasons, that
to keep the army in obedience, it was necessary to obtain money, which
they levied by contribution in the province.

2 Orme, 1. 133—186 ; Mem. pour Dupleix, p. 51. The French Com-
pany accuse Dupleix again falsely of being the author of the ill-timed
invasion of Tanjore: Mem. contre Dupleix, p. 45.
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Carnatic.! The impolitic delays of his enemies af- BOOK 1v.

forded time for his preparations; and they were
struck with consternation when they now heard of
his approach. They broke up their camp with pre-
cipitation: and, harassed by a body of Mahrattas, in
the service of Nazir Jung, returned to Pondicherry.?

Dupleix was admirably calculated for the tricks of
Indian policy. Though he exerted himself with the
utmost vigour to animate the spirits, and augment
the force of his allies; lending them 50,000/., declar-
ing that he would lend them still more, and increas-
ing the French forces to the number of 2000 Euro-
peans; yet contemplating now with some terror the
chance of a defeat, he sought to be prepared for all
events, aud endeavoured secretly to open a nego-
tiation with Nazir Jung. He addressed to him a
memorial, in which he set forth the enmity which
‘was borne by An’war ad dien to the French nation;
and the necessity under which they were placed to
avail themselves of any allies to secure themselves
from its effects; that the death of that Nabob, how-
ever, had now freed them from such obligation, and
they were ready to detach themselves from the ene-
mies of Nazir Jung; that they had already mani-
fested their friendly dispositions towards him, in
sparing Tanjore, and suspending the siege of Trichi-
nopoly, which the victorious army of them and their
allies, there was no doubt, might have easily taken.®
It was only, says Dupleix, the arrival of an English
force in the camp of Nazir Jung, that prevented the
Subahdar from embracing the proposal.?

i Seer Mutakhareen, iii. 115. Mr. Orme (i. 136} is mistaken when he
says that Nazir Jung bad marched toward Delhi, to oppose his elder
brother : it was at a subsequent date that Ghazee ad dien marched for
Deccan.

® Orme, i. 136, 197.
» Memoire pour Dupletx, p. 53. + Ihid. p.54.

Cuar. 2.
———

1749.
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BOOK Iv. From the beginning of 1747, the English had been

CHap. 2.

1749.

intriguing, both with Nizam al Mulk and with Nazir
Jung, against the French. Besides a letter from the
English Governor to the sgme effect, Commodore
Griffin, in a letter to Nizam 4} Mulk, dated March 6,
1747, said, « I shall not enter into a particular detail
of all the robberies, cruelties, and depredations, com-
mitted on shore upon the King my Master’s subjects,
by that insolent, perfidious nation the French; con-
nived at, and abetted by those under your Excellency
(the Nabob of Arcot), whose duty it was to have
preserved the peace of your country, instead of selling
the interest of a nation, with whom you have had the
strictest friendship time out of mind; a nation that
has been the means not only of enriching this part of
the country, but the whole dominions of the grand
Mogul; and that to a people who are as remarkable
all over the world for encroaching upon, and giving
disturbances and disquiet to all near them; a people
who are strangers in your country, in comparison of
those who have been robbed by them of that most
important fortress and factory, Madras; and now
they are possessed of it, have neither money nor
credit, to carry on the trade. And now, excellent
Sir, we have laid this before you, for your information
and consideration ; and must entreat you, in the name
of the King of Great Britain, my Royal Master, to
call the Nabob to an account for his past transactions,
and interpose your power to restore, as near as pos-
sible in its original state, what has been so unjustly
taken from us.” Application was at the same time
made to Nazir Jung for his interest with his father,
which that prince assures the English by letter he
had effectually employed. A favourable answer was
received from Nizam al Mulk, and a mandate was
sent to An’war ad dien Khan, called at that time by
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the English Anaverdy Khan, in which were the fol- BoOK 1v.
lowing words: « The English nation, from ancient CZAF-2-

times, are very obedient and serviceable to us; be-
sides which they always proved to be a set of true
people, and it is very kird that they met with these
troubles, misfortunes, and destruction. I do therefore
write you, to protect, aid, and assist them in all
respects, and use your hest endeavours in such a
manner, that the French may be severely chastised
and rooted off, that his Majesty’s sea-port town may
be recovered, and that the English nation may be
restored to their right, establish themselves in their
former place, as before, and carry on their trade and
commerce for the flourishment of the place.” An agent
of the English, a native, named Hodgee Hodee, who
dates his letter from Arcot, the 10th of March, 1747,
presents them with the real state of the fact in regard
to An’war ad dien, the Nabob: “ I take the liberty
to acquaint your worship, that as the Nabob is but a
Renter, he does not much regard the distress of the
people of this province, but in all shapes has respect
to his own interest and benefit ; therefore there is no
trusting to his promises. The French are very gene-
rous in making presents of other people’s goods, both
to the old and young.” He advises the English to
be equally liberal with their gifts, and says, “ Don’t
regard the money, as Governor Morse did, but part
with it for the safety of your settlement.” Another
of their agents, Boundla Mootal, informed them that
if they expected any cordial assistance from An’'war
ad dien, they must send him money for it. The se-
cond son of An’war ad dien, Mahomed Ali Khan,
showed himself during this period of French ascend-
ancy, rather favourable to the English: probably,
from that spirit of discord which prevails in the ruling

1749.



96

War with the French.

BOOK 1V. families of the East, because his eldest brother dis-

Cuar. 2.
—_—

1749.

played a partiality to the French.'

When, after the deaths of Nizam al Mulk and
An’war ad dien Khan, and the captivity of the eldest
son of An'war ad dien Khan, Nazir Jung marched
into Carnatic against Chunda Saheb and Mirzapha
Jung, he summoned Mahomed Ali to join him from
Trichinopoly, and sent to Fort St. David to solicit
assistance from the English. The arrival of Mirzapha
Jung, the defeat of An’war ad dien, which happened
when they were engaged in the attack of Tanjore,
and the apprehended schemes of Dupleix, had struck
the English with alarm. < They saw,” says Mr.
Orme, “ the dangers to which they were exposed, but
were incapable of taking the vigorous resolutions
which the necessity of their affairs demanded.” They
allowed Mr. Boscawen, with the fleet and troops, to
set sail for England, at the end of October, and sent
only 120 Europeans to support Mahomed Ali at Tri-
chinopely.® The presence, however, of Nazir Jung,
at the head of a great army, encouraged them to com-
mand the detachment at Trichinopoly to accompany
Mahomed Ali; and a few days after their arrival in
the camp, Major Laurence, with 600 Europeans from
Fort St. David, joined the army of the Subahdar.

The two armies were now sufficiently near to skir-
mish; when thirteen French officers, displeased that
they had not shared in the spoils of Tanjore, resigned
their commissions, and infused terror and alarm into
the men they were destined to command. D’Auteuil,
considering it no longer safe to venture into action
with men thus affected, decamped the night before the
expected battle, and retreated in the direction of Pon-

I Rous’s Appendix, 1. 8—22. 2 Orme, 1. 180, 133, 138.
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dlcherry leaving Mirzapha Jung and Chunda Saheb, BOOK1V.
in a state of despair. Mirzapha Jung thought it best Coar. 2.
to yield himself up to his uncle, by whom he was im- 1749
mediately put in fetters; Chunda Saheb, with his

own troops, made his way to Pondicherry.’

The dangers were formidable and imminent which
now stared Dupleix in the face; but he had confi-
dence in the resources of his own genius, and the
slippery footing of an oriental prince. He sent an
embassy to the camp of the victorious Subahdar, offer-
ing terms of peace; and at the same time entered
into correspondence with some disaffected chiefs in his
army. These were leaders of the Patan troops, which
Nizam al Mulk, as the principal instrument of his
ambition, had maintained in his service; and of
which he had made the principal captains Nabobs of
different districts in his Subah. It was the standing
policy of all the Mahomedan princes in India to com-
pose a great part of their armies of men drawn from
the more hardy people of the north, the Tartars and
Afghauns. Of these people the men who arrived in
India were mere soldiers of fortune, accustomed to
seek for wealth and distinction through crimes. If
the master whom they served were able to chastise
their perfidy, and feed their hopes of plunder and ag-
grandizement by the prospect of his conquests, they
were useful and important instruments. The mo-
ment they appeared to have more to gain by destroy-
ing than by serving him, they were the most alarm-
ing source of his danger.

Nazir Jung had the usual character of a man edu-
cated a prince. He devoted his time to pleasure, and

! Cambridge’s War in India, p. 6—11; Orme, 1. 138—142; History
and Management of the East India Company, p. 73; Memoire pour
Dupleix, p. 54; Memoire contre Dupleix, p. 47; Revolution des Indes,
i. 232—238.
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BOOK IV.withdrew it from business; decided without consi-
Caar. 2. deration, hence unwisely ; and was at once too indo-
1750. lent and too proud to correct his mistakes. Under
such a master, the Patan lords expected, by selling
their services to a competitor, to add both to their
treasures, and to the territories of which the govern-

ment was lodged in their hands.

The deputies of Dupleix had returned from the
camp of Nazir Jung, when D’Auteuil, who continued
to watch the motions of the army, ohserving the neg-
ligence with which the camp was guarded during the
night, detached an officer with 300 men, who entered
it unobserved ; penetrated into it a mile ; spread terror
and alarm ; killed upwards of a thousand of the ene-
my ; and returned with the loss of only two or three
men : another proof of the extraordinary weakness of
an Indian army, when opposed to the force of the
European mind.

The Subahdar, alarmed at the presence of so en-
terprising an enemy, hastened to Arcot; while the
English, quarrelling with him about the performance
of his promises, and the abandonment of their cause
by withdrawing his army, left the camp in disgust,
and removed the only important obstacle to the
machinations of the conspirators and Dupleix.

While the Subahdar spent his time at Arcot in the
pleasures of the harem and the chase, of both of
which he was immoderately fond, the French exhi-
bited new specimens of their activity and enterprise.
A small body of troops sailed to Masulipatam, at the
mouth of the river Kistna, once the principal mart of
that region of India; attacked it by surprise in the
night ; and gained possession with a trifling loss:
And another detachment seized the Pagoda of Tri-
vadi, about fifteen miles west from Fort St. David.
Mahomed Ali obtained permission to detach himself
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from the army of the Subahdar, for the purpose of dis-BOOK 1v.

lodging them from Trivadi; in this he obtained as-
sistance from the English, who were deeply interested
in preventing the French from gaining a position so
near. Some attacks which Mahomed Ali and the
English made upon the pagoda were unsuccessful;
and these allies began to quarrel. Mahomed Ali
would neither advance pay to the English, nor move
his troops between the pagoda and Pondicherry ; upon
which they left him. The French, who expected this
event, waited for its arrival ; attacked Mahomed Ali;
gained an easy victory, and made him fly to Arcot,
with two or three attendants. The French still aim-
ing at further acquisitions, advanced against the cele-
brated Fort of Gingee, situated on a vast insulated
rock, and deemed the strongest fortress in Carnatic.
They stormed the fortifications to the very summit of
the mountain ; and contemplating afterwards the na-
tural strength of the place, felt astonished at their
OWN success.

This last exploit disturbed the tranquillity and the
amusements of the Subahdar; and he offered to en-
ter upon negotiation. 'The demands of the French
were lofty ; Nazir Jung, therefore, began his march
to Gingee. But it was now October, 1750, and the
rains began. The Subahdar kept the field; but felt
exceedingly weary of the contest; and at last ap-
peared inclined to concede whatever was demanded
by the French. Dupleix negotiated at once with the
traitors and the Subahdar. He had just concluded
his treaty with the Subahdar, when his commander at
Gingee receives from the traitors the concerted call :
He marches with his whole force ; attacks the camp
of the Subahdar, and is joined by the traitors; by
one of whom Nazir Jung is shot through the heart.
In his Memoir Dupleix affirms, that he wrote imme-

H2
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conclusion of the treaty, and to prevent further hosti-
lities, but that his letter arrived not till after the re-
volution was performed.

Mirzapha Jung was now freed from his imprison-
ment, and vested with the authority of Subahdar.
Immediately, however, the enormous demands of the
Patan nobles, to whose perfidy he owed his power,
began to oppress him; and he only parried their im-
portunities by asserting the necessity of forming his
arrangements in concert with Dupleix. Lofty were
the hopes, in which that ambitious leader seemed now
entitled to indulge himself. Mirzapha Jung ad-
vanced to Pondicherry, and lavished upon him every
testimony of gratitude and friendship. Dupleix ex-
erted himself to satisfy the Patan lords; who, seeing
his determination to support their master, permitted
him to retrench their demands, and treasured up
their resentments for a future day. An adept in
Indian policy, when he had men of their dangerous
character within the walls of Pondicherry, would
have taken care how they made their escape.

Dupleix was appointed Governor of the Mogul
dominions on the coast of Coromandel from the river
Kistna to Cape Comarin; and Chunda Saheb his
Deputy at Arcot. Mahomed Ali, who had fled to
Trichinopoly, upon the assassination of Nazir Jung,
now offered to resign his pretensions to the nabobship
of Carnatic, provided Dupleix, who listened to the
overture, would obtain from the new Subahdar a com-
mand for him, in any other part of his dominions.

Mirzapha Jung left Pondicherry in the month of
January, 1751, accompanied by a body of French
troops, with M. Bussy, who had signalized himself
in the late transactions, at their head. The army
had.marched about sixty leagues; when a disturb-



L b T S

in Carnalic. 101

ance, in appearance accidental, arose among a part of BOOK 1V.
. . Crar. 2.

the troops; presently it was discovered, that the
Patan chiefs were in revolt ; and that they had seized 1751.
a pass in front through which it behoved the army to
proceed. They were attacked with great spirit; the
French artillery carried every thing before it; and a
victory was gained, when the impetuosity of the Su-
bahdar carried him too far in the pursuit,and bhe was
shot dead with an arrow. M. Bussy was not a man
who lost his presence of mind, upon an unexpected
disaster. He represented to the principal comman-
ders the necessity of agreeing immediately upon the
choice of a master; and as the son of Mirzapha
Jung was an infant, and the present state of affairs
required the authority of a man of years, he recome.
mended Salabut Jung, the eldest surviving son of
Nizam al Mulk, who was present in the camp, and
who without delay was raised to the vacant com-
mand. Salabut Jung promised the same concessions
to the French which had been made by his prede-
cessor, and the army continued its march towards
Golconda.!

The Europeans in India, who hitherto had crouched
at the feet of the meanest of the petty governors of
a district, were astonished at the progress of the
French, who now seemed to preside over the whole
region of Deccan. A letter to Dupleix, from a friend
in the camp of Salabut Jung, affirmed that in a little
time the Mogul on his throne would tremble at the

1 For the above details see Orme, i, 142—166. Iistory and Manage-
ment of the East India Company, p. 74—79; Cambridge’s War in
India, p. 10—16 ; Seer Mutakhareen, 1ii. 116—118, the author of which
says that Mirzapha Jung had a plot against the Patans, who on this oc-
casion were not the aggressors ; Memoire pour Dupleix, p. 55—68, who
says he entered into the conspiracy against Nazir Jung, because he
would not listen to peace ; Memoire contre Dupleix, p. 47—061; Wilks,
chap. vii. with whom Dupleix is a favourite.
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prophecy might appear, little was wanting to secure
its fulfilment.

The English, sunk in apathy or despair, were so
far as yet from taking any vigorous measures to op-
pose a torrent by which they were likely to be over-
whelmed, that Major Laurence, the commander of
the troops, on whose military talents and authority
their whole dependence was placed, took the extra-
ordinary resalution, not opposed, it should seem, by the
Council, of returning at this critical juncture to
England. They used their influence indeed, to pre-
vent Mahomed Ali from carrying into execution the
proposal he had made to the French of surrendering
Trichinopoly ; but Mahomed Ali, and the English, in
concert, made offer to acknowledge Chunda Saheb
Nabob of all Carnatic, with the exception of Tri-
chinopoly and its dependencies. This the French
treated as a departure from the original proposal of
Mahomed Ali, and replied with haughtiness and con-
tempt. The English now engaged to support him,
and he resolved to hold out. The Governor of
Madura, however, a small adjacent province, formerly
a Hindu rajahship, declared for Chunda Saheb, and
an attempt, made by a party of the English, to reduce
it, was repelled.

Toward the beginning of April, Chunda Saheb be-
gan his march from Arcot ; and about the same time
Captain Gingens, with the English, was dispatched
from Fort St. David. Chunda Saheb was encamped
near the fort of Volconda, on the great road between
Trichinopoly and Arvcot, when the English ap-
proached. A battle was brought on; but the English
officers spent so much time in deliberation as to dis-

! Memoire contre Dupleix,
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courage the men; and the European soldiers fled BOOK 1v.
shamefully from the field, even while the Caffres and Char. 2.

the native troops maintained the contest. The army
retreated ; and though it posted itself, and encamped
at two different places, Utatoor and Pitchonda; it
quitted both upon the arrival of the enemy, and at last
took shelter under the walls of Trichinopoly. Chunda
Saheb and the French lost no time in following, and
sat down on the opposite side of the town.

The city of Trichinopoly, at the distance of about
ninety miles from the sea, is situated on the south
side of the great river Cavery, about half a mile
from its bank ; and, for an Indian city, was fortified
with extraordinary strength. About five miles higher
up than Trichinopoly, the Cavery divides itself into
two branches, which, after separating to the distance
of about two miles, again approach, and being only
prevented from uniting, about fifteen miles below Tri-
chinopoly, by a narrow mound, they form a peninsula,
which goes by the name of the island of Seringham ;
celebrated as containing one of the most remarkable
edifices, and one of the most venerated pagodas, in
India ; and henceforward remarkable for the struggle,
constituting an era in the history of India, of which
it was now to be the scene.

The presidency of Fort St. David, somewhat roused
by seeing the armyof Mahomed Ali driven out of Car-
natic, and obliged to take shelter beyond the Cavery,
made several efforts to reinforce the troops they had
sent him; whom, after all, they were able to augment to
the number of only 600 men. There was another mis-
fortune; for notwithstanding the urgency with which,
in the depressed and alarming state of their affairs, the
English were called upon for the utmost exertions of
their virtue, “a fatal spirit of division,” says Major
Laurence, “ had unhappily crept in among our

1751.
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were lost, which gave the country alliance but an in-
different opinion of our conduct.”® The French,
however, made hut feehle efforts for the reduction of
the place; and the English were too much impressed
with an opinion of their own weakness to hazard any
enterprise to dislodge them.*

While the war thus lingered at Trichinopoly, Clive,
who had been made a captain to supply some of the
removals occasioned by the recent discontents, per-
suaded the Presidency to create a diversion, by send-
ing him to attack Arcot, the capital of Chunda Saheb,
left with a very slender defence. This young man
was the son of a gentleman of small fortune in
Shropshire. ¥rom the untractableness of his own
disposition, or the unsteadiness of his father’s, he was
moved whenaboy, from one to another, through a great
variety of schools ; at which he was daring, impetuous,
averse to application, and impatient of control. At

! Laurence’s Narrative in Cambridge’s War in [ndia, p. 28. “In the
middle of July,” says Orme, 1. 182, ¢ the discontent which prevailed
among the officers made it necessary to remove several of them at a time
when there were very few fit to succeed to their posts,

® Law, the commander of the French forces, whom 1 am much more
inclincd to believe than Dupleix, one of the most audacious contemners
of truth that ever engaged 1 crooked politics, asserts his want of
strength for gny efficient operation ; as Dupleix, who had entered into a
correspondence with Maloned Ali, and 1elied upon his promise to open
to the French the gates of Trichinopoly, sent him not to attack Trichino-
puly, but to receive possession ofit; he adds, that when they were sur-
prised by Mabomed Al firmg upon them trom the walls, they had not
a single piece of battering or heavy canon in the camp; that it was
three wonths before they were supplied withany ; that at first the whole
army consisted of 11,860, but after the detachment sent for the recovery
of Arcot, it consisted only of 6,680, of whowm 600 only were Europeans.
See Plainte du Chevalier Law contre le Sieur Dupleix, p. 21—23. Du-
pleix, on the other hand (Memotre, p. 74), speaking in round numbers,
says that the natives, who had joined Chunda Saheb, raised the army to
30,000 men. So widely asunder are the statemeuts of these two men,
at the head of the departments, civil and military,
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the age of nineteen he was appointed a writer in the BOOK 1v.

service of the East India Company, and sent to
Madras. There his turbulence, though he was not
ill-natured, engaged bim in quarrels with his equals;
his dislike of application and control prevented his
acquiring the benevolence of his superiors! When
the capitulation with Madras was violated, Clive
made his escape in a Mahomedan dress, to Fort St.
David, and when the siege of Pondicherry was un-
dertaken, he was allowed to enter into the military
service, with the rank of an ensign. At the siege of
Pondicherry, and the enterprise against Devi-Cotah,
he rendered himself conspicuous by courting posts of
danger, and exhibiting in them a daring intrepidity.
Discerning men, however, perceived, along with his
rashness, a coolness and presence of mind, with a rea-
diness of resource in the midst of danger, which made
Laurence, at an early period, point him out as a man
of promise. Upon the conclusion of the affair at
Devi-Cotah, Clive returned to his civil occupation;
but no sooner did his countrymen resume the sword,
than his own disposition, and the scarcity of officers,
again involved him in operations, far better suited to
his restless, daring, and contentious mind. He had
accompanied the troops sent for the defence of Tri-
chinopoly, till after the affair at Volcondah, and had
been employed by the Presidency in conddeting the
several reinforcements which they had attempted to
forward. He was now furnished with 200 Euro-
peans, and 300 Sepoys : and to spare even these, Fort
St. David and Madras were left, for their defence,
the one with 100, the other with fifty men. To com-
mand them he had eight officers, of whom six had
never -been in action, and four were young men in the

1 See a panegyrical life of him, for which his family furnished mate-
-ials, in Kippis's Biographia Britannica, vol. 1. art, Clive,

CHapr. 2.

1751.
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BOOK 1v. mercantile service of the Company, whom his own
Casr. 2 example had inflamed. For artillery they had three
1752, field-pieces; and two eighteen pounders were sent

after him. The enemy, who remained in garrison at
Arcot, which was an open town, defended by a fort,
abandoned the place, and gave him possession with-
out resistance. Expecting a siege, he exerted his
utmost diligence to supply the fort; and that he
might prevent the fugitive garrison, who hovered
around, from resuming their courage, he made fre-
quent sallies; beat up their camp in the middle of the
night ; defended himself with vigour when assailed ;
and harassed them by incessant and daring attacks.
In the mean time Chunda Saheb detached 4,000 men
from his army at Trichinopoly, which were joined by
his son with 150 Europeans from Pondicherry; and,
together with the troops already collected in the
neighbourhood, to the number of 3,000, entered the
city. Clive immediately resolved upon a violent at-
tempt to dislodge them. Going out with almost the
whole of the garrison, he with his artillery forced the
enemy to leave the street in which they had posted
themselves; but filling the houses they fired upon his
men, and obliged him to withdraw to the fort. In
warring against the people of Hindustan, a few men
so often gain unaccountable victories over a host, that
on a disproportion of numbers solely no enterprise can
be safely condemned as rash ; in this, however, Clive
run the greatest risk, with but a feeble prospect of
success., He lost fifteen of his Europeans, and among
them a lieutenant ; and his only artillery officer, with
sixteen other men, was disabled.

Next day the enemy were reinforced with 2,000
men from Velore. The fort was more than a mile
in circumference ; the walls in maay places ruinous;
the towers inconvenient and decayed; and every
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thing unfavourable to defence: Yet Clive found the BgOK v.
means of making an effectual resistance. When the “%4*%
enemy attempted to storm at two breaches, one of 175.

fifty and one of ninety feet, he repulsed them with
but eighty Europeans and 120 Sepoys fit for duty ; so
effectually did he avail himself of his feeble resources,
and to such a pitch of fortitude had he exalted the
spirits of those under his command. During the fol-
lowing night the enemy abandoned the town with

. precipitation, after they had maintained the siege for

fifty days. A reinforcement from Madras joined him
on the following day ; and, leaving a small garrison
in Arcot, he set out to pursue the enemy. With the
assistance of a small body of Mahrattas, who joined
him in hopes of plunder, he gave the enemy, now
greatly reduced by the dropping away of the auxili-
aries, a defeat at Arni, and recovered Conjeveram,
into which the French had thrown a garrison, and
where they had behaved with barbarity to some
English prisoners; among the rest, two wounded
officers whom they seized returning from Arcot to
Madras, and threatened to expose on the rampart, if
the English attacked them. After these important
transactions, Clive returned to Fort St. David about
the end of December. The enemy no sooner found that
he was out of the field than they re.assembled, and
marched to ravage the Company’s territory. Rein-
forced by some troops which had arrived from Bengal,
he went out to meet them in the end of Iebruary.
They abandoned their camp upon his approach ; but
with intent to surprise Arcot, from which the princi-
pal part of the garrison had marched to the reinforce-
ment of Clive. They expected the gates to be
opened by two officers of the English Sepoys, whom
they had corrupted; but the plot being discovered, and
their signals not answered, they did not venture to
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BOOK Iv. make an attack, and suddenly withdrew. Though

Caar, 2.
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informed of their retreat, Clive was still hastening his
march to Arcot, when at sun-set his van was unex-
pectedly fired upon by the enemy’s artillery ; and a
hot engagement ensued. The superior force of the
enemy afforded them great advantages and seemed
likely to decide the contest, unless by some expedient
their cannon could be seized. At ten at night Clive
detached a party, who, favoured by the darkness,
came upon it unexpectedly in the rear; defeated the
troops who were placed for its defence; and suc-
ceeded completely in that important enterprise.
After this disaster, the enemy dispersed ; and before
Clive could undertake any new exploit, he was or-
dered to the presidency ; where it was determined to
send him with all the troops under his command, to
Trichinopoly. * It was fortunate that the enemy, dis-
pirited by the last, in addition to so many former dis-
appointments and defeats, disbanded themselves at
the same moment ; the country troops departing to
their homes, and the French being recalled to Pon-
dicherry.

While these active operations were performing in
the province of Arcot, Mahomed Ali, though he ap-
peared to have little to dread from the attacks of
the French upon Trichinopoly, hegan to have every
thing to dread from the deficiency of his funds. The
English, whom he engaged to maintain out of his
own treasury, were now obliged to be maintained at
the cost of the Presidency. His own troops were
without pay, and there was no prospect of keeping
them long from mutiny or dispersion. Fle had ap-
plied for assistance to the government of Mysore, a
considerable Hindu kingdom, which had risen out of
the wreck of the empire of Beejanuggur, and viewed
with dread the elevation of Chunda Saheb, who had
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formerly aimed at its subjugation. Mahomed Alt re- BgOK 12v.
« . I . w HAP, 2.

newed his importunities ; and, by promising to the "

Mysoreans whatever they chose to ask, prevailed 1752
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upon them to march to his assistance. They arrived
at Trichinopoly about the middle of February, 20,000
strong, including 6000 Mahrattas, who had entered
into their pay, and of whom a part were the same
with those who had assisted Clive after the siege of
Arcot. Their arrival determined the King of Tan-
jore, who till then had remained neutral, to send
5000 men. A few days after Clive was recalled to
Fort St. David, he was again prepared to take the
field ; but on the 26th of March Major Laurence re-
turned from England, and put himself at the head of
the reinforcement, which consisted of 400 Europeans
and 1100 Sepoys, with eight field pieces, and a large
quantity of military stores. Both parties had their
eyes fixed upon the reinforcement, and Dupleix sent
repeated orders that it might De intercepted at all
events. 'The efforts, however, of the enemy, proved
unavailing ; and Laurence in safety joined the camp.’

It was now determined to attack the enemy in

' Daupleix accuses Law with great violence, for not intercepting this
convoy, and the English writers have very readily joined with him. But
if the facts asserted by Law are true, it was from want of means, not of
capacity or inclination, that he failed. He says that the whole army,
even after it was joined by the remains of the detachment seut to Arcot,
and by the body under Aulum Khan, did not amount to 15,000, while
the enemy were three times the number : That the cavairy of Chunda
Saheb, who had long been without pay, refused to act ; and were joined
by several other corps of the native army : That from the importunate
communds of Dupleix to blockade and starve Trichinopoly, he had ex-
tended his posts much beyond what the smallness of his means rendered
advisuble; and was weak at every point: That he made every effort to
intercept the convoy at a distance ; but the cavalry of Chiunda Saheb re-
fused to act; and Aulum Khau, after promising to support the detach-
ment, failed, on the pretext that there was not a farthing to give him.
See the details as stated by Law, Plainte, p. 26—28. The Company,
in their reply to Dupleix, defend the conduct of Law. Mem. contre
Dupleix, p. 74.
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BOOK Iv.their camp. This attack the French had not the re-
Crap. 2. solution, or the means, to withstand, and formed the
1752. determination of passing over to the island of Sering-
ham. Chunda Saheb, it is said, remonstrated, but
without avail. In the hurry of their retreat, the
enemy were able to carry over only a part of their
baggage, and burned what they were unable to re-
move of the provisions which they had collected in

their magazines.'

As delay was dangerous to the English, from the
circumstances of their allies, it was their policy to
reduce the enemy to extremities within the shortest
possible time. 'With this view Clive advised them to
detach a part of the army to the other side of the
Coleroon, for the purpose of intercepting the enemy’s
supplies. Though there was hazard in this plan; for
an enterprising enemy, by attacking one of the divi-
sions, might gain a decisive advantage before the
other could arrive, Laurence accepted the advice ;
and Clive was detached for the performance of the
service. It was executed with his usual activity,
spirit, and success. Dupleix made the strongest ex-
ertions to reinforce and supply his army ; but was

1 This movement has been violently condemned, and Dupleix ascribes
to it the defeat of his schemes; bat Major Laurence (Narrative, p. 31)
says that ¢ they (the English officers) reckoned it a prudent measure at
the time.” From the weakness of the French a retreat was unavoidable.
Law asserts that had they permitted the English to take possession of
Seringham, they were taken in Caudine forks. He asserts also that they
were already suffering for want of provisions; and that between aban-
doning Trichinopoly altogether, and the resolution which he adopted,
there was no middle course. The wise course would bave been, no
doubt, to abandon Trichinopoly ; and of this, Law says, he was abun-
dantly aware. But this the reiterated and pressing commands of Du-
pleix absolutely forbad. I confess the defence of Law seems to me satis-
factory. Plainte du Chev. Law, p. 29—81. Orme says that the enemy
burned a great store of provisions, when they passed over into Sering-
ham ; but what Law says is much more probable, that the army was
already beginning to be in want.
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baffled in every attempt. D’Auteuil, at the head of ook 1v.
a large convoy, was first compelled to suspend his Cuar.2.
march ; was afterwards attacked in the fort to which ;759
he had retired ; and at last taken prisoner. The

enemy were soon in distress for provisions; their

camp was cannonaded by the English ; the troops of
Chunda Saheb left his service ; and he himself, look-

ing round for the means of personal safety, chose at

last to trust to the generosity of the King of Tanjore,

and delivered himself, under promise of protection,

into the hands of the Tanjorine commander. The
French soon after capitulated, and surrendered them-

selves prisoners of war.

The fate of Chunda Saheb was lamentable. He
was immediately put in fetters by the faithless Tan-
Jorine. A dispute, under the power of which of
them he should remain, arose between the Mysorean
and Mabhratta chiefs, the Tanjorine Generals, and
Mahomed Ali. To compromise the dispute, Major
Laurence proposed that he should be confined in one
of the English forts. The parties separated without
coming to an agreement; and the Tanjorine imme-
diately ordered him to be assassinated. Dupleix
affirms that he was murdered by the express com-
mand of Major Laurence, which it is difficult to
suppose that Dupleix must not have known to be
untrue. But it is true, that Laurence showed an
indifference about his fate which is not very easy to
be reconciled with either humanity or wisdom. He
well knew that his murder was, in the hands of any
of them, the probable ; in those of some of them, the
certain consequence, of their obtaining the charge of
his person. He well knew, that if he demanded him
with firmness, they would have all consented to his
confinement in an English fort. And, if he did not
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ngli’ IV.know, it is not the less true, that in the hands of the
" English he might have become a powerful instrument
1752.  with which to counterwork the machinations of Du-
pleix. At any rate Dupleix, of all men, on this
ground, had the least title to raise an accusation
against the English; since he had resolved to im-
prison for life his unfortunate ally, and to reign sole
Nabob of Carnatic himself."

The failure of the enemy at Trichinopoly, the pos-
session of which both parties appear to have valued
too high, produced in the breasts of the English
hopes of undisputed superiority, and of that tide of
riches, which unbounded sway in the affairs of Car-
natic promised to their deluded imaginations. Major
Laurence was in haste to march through the pro-
vince, investing his triumphant Nabob; and saw no
place, except Gingee, which he imagined would re-
tard his progress.

He was not a little surprised when the delays of the
Nabob indicated much less impatience. The Nabob .
was, in fact, engaged in a troublesome dispute.
Among the inducemenis which he bad employed to

* This is directly affirmed by the French East India Company (Me-
moire contre Dupleix, p.70), and evidenced by extracts which they
produce from the letters to Dupleix written by his own agent, at the
court of the Subahdar. Mr. Orme says (i. 25¢) that the patent of Nabob
was actually procured before Chunda Saheb's death. The trath is, that
each of them, Chunda Saheb, and himself, wished to get rid of the other,
and to be Nebob alone; and they were endeavouring, by mutual trea-
chery, to disappoint each other’s designs. Mem. ut supra, and 1ts Ap-
pendix No. vi. For the above details, from the death of Mirzapha Jung,
see Orme, i. 186—242 ; History and Management of the Last India
Company, p, 80—82; Cambridge’s War in India, 16—37; Memoire
pour Dupleix, p. 71—77 ; Memoire contre Dupleix, p. 70—74; Plaiute
du Chevalier Law, p. 19—85. Law says, p. 33, that they made some
attempts for the escape of Chunda Saheb, by water ; but the river was
too shallow at the time to float the boat.

2 Laurence’s Narrative, p. 38.
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gain the assistance of the Mysoreans, he had not BOOK IV.
scrupled to promise the possession of Trichinopoly C#4P#
and its dependencies. The Mysorean chief nmow 1752
insisted upon performance; and the Mahratta cap-

tain, who eagerly desired an opportunity of obtaining
Trichinopoly for himself, encouraged his pretensions.

Intelligence of this dispute was a thunderstroke to
Laurence. His country had paid dear for Trichino-
poly; yet now it appeared that it could mot be
retained, by him for whom it was gained, without a
flagrant violation of honour and faith. The violation
of honour and faith the Nabob, in the Indian manner,
treated as a matter of entire insignificance. The
Mysorean could not but know, he said, that such a
promise was never made to be fulfilled ; and doubt-
less no Indian can believe of any man, that he will
keep more of a promise, than it is his interest, or
than he is compelled, to keep.’

After some time lost in altercation, the Nabob
promised to fulfil his engagement, and deliver up
the fort in two months; and with this the Mysorean,
finding more could not be obtained, allowed himself
for the present to appear satisfied. The English,
leaving a garrison in the fort, set forward to establish
their Nabob; but the auxiliary troops of Tanjore,
and of Tondeman, had marched to their homes; and
the Mysoreans and Mahrattas refused to depart from
Trichinopoly.

Dupleix was not reduced to despondency, by the
stroke which the English imagined had realized their
fondest hopes. As it was the character of this man
to form schemes, which from their magnitude ap-
peared romantic, so was it his practice to adhere to

' Colonel Wilks is very severe on the treachery of the Nabob, and on
the English for abetting it. Historical Sketches, ut supra, p. 285—291.

VOL. III. 1
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BOOK 1v. them with constancy, even when the disasters which
CEa?- 2. e encountered in their execution seemed to counsel
1752. nothing but despair. Nor did the resources of his

mind fail to second its firmness. He still found
means to oppose a nearly equal, in a little time a
more than equal, force to his opponents.

It was resolved, and very unwisely, that the first
operation of the English should be the reduction of
Gingee ; garrisoned by the French; and the only
place in the province expected to yield a serious
resistance. Major Laurence condemned this plan of
operations ; and recommended the previous recovery
of the province, and the collection of the rents; but
by the influence of Mr. Saunders, the President, his
opinion was over-ruled.” Dupleix dispatched a force
for the purpose of seizing the passes of the mountains
by which Gingee is surrounded, and of intercepting
the English convoys. The detachment of the Eng-
lish army, which had arrived at Gingee, marched to
dislodge them; but, instead of succeeding in their
object, sustained a defeat.

The French, elevated by this advantage, reinforced
their victorious party with as many troops as they
found it possible to send into the field. This army,
by way of triumph, marched close to the yery bounds
of Fort St. David. A company of Swiss, in the
English service, were sent on this emergency from

* Madras to Fort St. David, -in boats, contrary to the

advice of Laurence, who entreated they might be
sent in a ship of force; and Dupleix, unrestrained
by the vain forms of a treaty of peace, subsisting be-
tween England and France, while both parties were
violating the substance of it every day, took them
prisoners of war by a ship from Pondicherry road.

! Laurence’s Narrative, p. 42.
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Laurence hastened toward the enemy. His force BOOK Iv.
consisted of 400 Europeans, 1700 Sepoys, 4000 _fif__g_
troops belonging to the Nabob, and nine pieces of 1752,
cannon. The French army consisted of 400 Euro-
peans, 1500 Sepoys, and 500 horse; who declined a
battle, till Laurence, by a feigned retreat, inspired
them with confidence. The action, which took place
near Bahoor, two miles from Fort St. David, was
decidedly in favour of the English; but would have
been far more destructive to the French, had the
Nabob’s cavalry done their duty, who, instead of
charging the routed fue, betook themselves to the
more agreeable operation of plundering their camp.
After this seasonable victory, Captain Clive was
employed, with a small detachment, to reduce the
two forts, called Covelong and Chingliput, which he
executed with his usual vigour and address; and
then returned to Europe for his health. About the
same time the monsoon compelled the army to with-
draw from the field.

During these transactions, Nunjeraj, the Mysorean
General, was not idle before Trichinopoly. He made
several attempts to get into the fort by surprise, as -
well as to corrupt the troops: and his efforts held
Captain Dalton, commanding the English garrison,
perpetually on the watch. The views of that chief
were now, also, directed toward the French; and so
much progress had been made in the adjustment of
terms, that a body of 3000 Mahrattas were actually
on their march to join the enemy, when the victory
at Bahoor produced a revolution in their minds; and
they joined the English, as if they had marched from
Trichinopoly with that express design. During the
interval of winter quarters, the negotiations with the
French were completed, and the Mahrattas, at an
early perivd, marched to Pondicherry; while the

12



116

War with the French continued.

BOOK IV, Mysoreans, to give themselves all possible chances,

CHar. 2.

1752.

remained before Trichonopoly, as still allies of the
English; but they declared themselves, before the
armies resumed their operations; and attacked an
advanced post of Captain Dalton’s, defended by sixty
Europeans and some Sepoys, whom they destroyed
to a man.

Before these designs of the Mysorean and Mah-
ratta chiefs were brought to maturity, Major Lau-
rence had given his advice to seize them, in one of
their conferences with Captain Dalton.' If there was
any confidence, during negotiation, reposed in the
English by the Indians, beyond what they reposed in
one another, a confidence of which the loss would
have been risked by such a blow, we are not in-
formed; the danger, which might have been averted
by securing the persons of those enemies, was of con-
siderable amount.

Dupleix, though so eminently successful in adding
to the number of combatants on his side, was reduced
to the greatest extremity for pecuniary supplies. The
French East India Company were much poorer than
even the English ; the resources which they furnished
from Europe were proportionally feeble; and, though
perfectly willing to share with Dupleix in the hopes
of conquest, when enjoyment was speedily pro-
mised, their impatience for gain made them soon
tired of the war; and they were now importunately
urging Dupleix to find the means of concluding
a peace. Under these difficulties Dupleix had em-
ployed his own fortune, and his own credit, in
answering the demands of the war; and, as a last
resource, he now turned his thoughts to Mortiz Ali,

.the Governor of Velore. He held up to him the

' Laurence’s Narrative, p. 5¢.
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prospect of even the Nabobship itself, in hopes of BOOK Iv.
drawing from him the riches which he was reputed Cusr. 2.
to possess. Mortiz Ali repaired to Pondicherry; and 1753
even advanced a considerable sum; but finding that
much more was expected, he broke off the negotia-
tion, and retired to his fort.

The contending parties looked forward with altered
prospects to the next campaign. By the co-operation
of the Mysoreans, and the junction of the Mahrattas,
the latter of whom, from the abilities of their leader,
and their long experience of European warfare, were
no contemptible allies, the French had greatly the
advantage in numerical force. In the capacity, how-
ever, of their officers, and in the quality of their
European troops, they soon felt a remarkable inferi-
ority. Laurence, without being a man of talents,
was an active and clearheaded soldier; and the
troops, whom he commanded, both officers and men,
appeared, by a happy contingency, to combine in
their little body all the virtues of a British army.
The European troops of the enemy, on the other
hand, were the very refuse of the French population ;
and Laurence himself candidly confesses that their
officers were frequently seen in the hour of action,
making the greatest efforts, and without effect, to
retain them in their ranks. Among their com-
manders, not a man showed any talents; and Du-
pleix with great bitterness complains, that, with the
exception of Bussy, he never had an officer on whose
ability he could place the smallest reliance.!

' In his letter to the French minister, dated 16th October, 1758, he
says the recruits whom the Company sent him were, enfans, décroteurs,
et bandits. He says, « L'example que vous a présenté J'Angleterre en
wenvoyant que des troupes aguerries auroit du engager la Compagoie &
avoir la méme attention dans le choix.” He adds, « Je ne sais que
penser de celui qui est chargé des recrues, mais je crois qu'il n’y employe
pas la somme que la Compagnic lui passe pour chaque homme: c'est
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1753.

War with the French continued.

Early in Jauvuary the two armies again took the
field: The French, consisting of 500 European in-
fantry and sixty horse, 2,000 Sepoys; and 4,000
Mahrattas, commanded by Morari Row. The Eng-
lish consisted of 700 European infantry, 2,000 Sepoys,
and 1,500 horse belonging to the Nabob. The
French, to avail themselves of their superiority in
cavalry, avoided an action, and employed themselves
in making war upon the English counvoys. This
they did, with so much effect, that Major Laurence
was frequently obliged to escort his stores and pro-
visions with his whole army from Fort St. David.
In this manner the time was consumed till the 20th
of April, when an express arrived from Captain
Dalton, that he had only three weeks' provisions
remaining in the fort.

When the English, after the capitulation of the

n'est sans doute pas votre intention m la sienne, nais il n’en est pas
moins vrai que tout se qui nous parvient n’est qu'un ramassis de la plus
vile canaille.—Permettez moi, monseigneur, de vous supplier de donner
a ce sujet les ordres les plus precis; la gloire du roi y est interessée, ce
motif vous paroitra plus que suffisant pour exiger toute votre attention.
Je n’ose voiis dire tous les mauvais propos qui se tiennent sur I'envois de
ces malheureuses troupes; 1'Anglois en fait de gorges chaudes, il n'a ea
que trop d'occasions de les mepriser; les Maures et les Indiens com-
mencent a perdre la haute idée qu’ils avoient concue de nous, et nos
officiers ne se mettent que malgré eux a leur tate ; ce n’vst qu'un cri i ce
sujet.” Memoire pour Dupleix, Pieces Justific, Lett, de M. Dupleix,
4 M. de Machault, p. 50. In the same letter he says, ¢ Pour les officiers
il y en a peu, ou pour mieux dire point du tout qui coient en etat de
commander; la bravoure ne leur manque point, mais les talens n’y re-
pondent pas: dans le nombre sur-tout de ceux arrivés I'année derniere,
la plupart n’etoient que des enfans, sans la moindre teinture du service;
le soldat s’en moque, et souvent avec juste raison.” lbid. p. 51. Speak-
ing in the same letter of the services of Bussy, along with Salabut Jung,
be says, % Si j’en avois un second ici, je vous proteste, monseigneur, que
toutes les affaires de cette partie seroient terminées, il y a plus de deux
ans.” Ibid. p. 57. Nor was this an empty boast : So near was he to the
accomplishment of his object, without any such important assistance,
that the tulents of a man like Bussy, in the Carnatic, would soon have
placed hinu at its head.
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French at Seringham, marched from Trichinopoly, BOOK 1v
and left Captain Dalton Commandant of the English C14? 2
garrison, a brother of the Nabob was at the same 1753,
time appointed Governor of the town. By an un-
happy oversight the magazines were left under direc-
tion of the Mohamedan Governor; and Captain Dal-
ton satisfied himself with asking from time to time in
what condition they remained. When the Myso-
reans, however, had shut him up in his fort, and,
scouring the adjacent country with their cavalry, had
prevented for some time the arrival of supplies, it
occurred to him, rather too late, that he had better
see with his own eyes on what he had to depend.
His ally, he found, had been selling the provisions at
an enormous price to the people of the town ; and he
was left in that alarming condition, of which he
hastened to make report to Major Laurence.

Only one resolution was left to the English com-
mander, that of marching directly to the support of
Trichinopoly. His army suffered greatly on the
march, both by desertion and sickuess; and, upon
. his arrival at the place, he found that all the force he
couid muster for offensive operations, after leaving the
proportion necessary for the duties of the garrison,
consisted of 500 Europeans, and 2,000 Sepoys. The
Nabob had 3,000 horse; but they were badly paid;
and cxecuted their duty with proportional neglect
and disobedience. The French followed with 200
Europeans and 500 Sepoys, to the support of the
Mysoreans; and Trichinopoly became once more the
seat of a tedious and harassing warfare.

It deserves remark, that Major Laurence, who
had recommended the seizure of the Mysorean and
Mahratta chiefs, uniformly disapproved of the at-
tempt to retain Trichinopoly after the promisc to give
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BOOK 1v. it up.' It is equally worthy of remark, that the de-

Cuap. 2.
[

1754.

licacy of the Presidency witheld their hands from
the persons of the hostile chiefs; but easily endured
the violation of the engagement respecting Trichino-
poly. Delicacy would have been less violated in the
one instance by following the advice of Laurence,
and prudence would have been more consulted by fol-
lowing it in both. The cession of Trichinopoly to
the Mysoreans would have enabled the English to
establish their nabob, with little opposition, in the so-
vereignty of Carnatic, and would have saved them
from two years of expensive warfare,

It was on the 6th of May, 1753, that Major Lau-
rence again arrived at Trichinopoly; and from that
day to the 11th of October, 1754, the most active
operations were carried on. Neither the French,
with their allies, were sufficiently powerful to reduce
Trichinopoly ; nor had the English sufficient force to
compel them to raise the siege. The two parties,
therefore, bent their endeavours; the English, to
supply the garrison with a sufficient quantity of food,
to enable them to prosecute their objects in another
quarter; the French, by cutting off the supplies, to
compel the garrison to surrender. On both sides the
greatest exertions were made ; severe conflicts were
frequently sustained, in some of which decisive ad-
vantages, at one time on one side, at another on
the other, were on the point of being gained: and
never did English troops display more gallantry and
good conduct, than in defence of the unimportant
city of Trichinopoly. More than a year had been
spent ; and neither of the contending parties seemed

1 This fact is stated on the satisfactory authority of Col. Wilks, who
had an opportunity of perusing the correspondence of Laurence with the
Presidency. Historical Sketches, ut supra, p. 842.
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nearer their object, when a new scene was intro- BOOK IV.
duced.! Caar. 2.
The objects, which fired the ambition of the Euro- 1754,

pean Governors in India, were too distant to warm
the imaginations of the Directors and Proprietors of
the French and English Companies in Europe ; and
to them the burden of the war had become exceed-
ingly hateful. Aware of the passion for peace which
now animated his employers, and of the opinion dis-
seminated in Europe of his ambitious and warlike
views, Dupleix had opened a negociation with Saun-
ders, the Governor of Madras, in January, 1754,
The real point in dispute was whether or not Ma-
homed Ali should be acknowledged Nabob of Car-
natic ; the English contending that he should be re-
cognized by the French, the French contending that
he should be given up by the English. The parties
were far from being disposed, on either side, to con-
cede the point; and the state of circumstances was
little caleulated to facilitate a compromise : the nego-
tiation turned, therefore, on matters of form ; and
never, surely, did negotiation find more ridiculous
matters of form on which to employ itself. In a
country in which all questions of dominion are deter-
mined by the sword; in a question which, without any
consideration of right, they themselveshad, during four
years, been labouring to decide by the sword, they af-
fected to sit down gravely to a comparison of pretended
titles and grants. The authority to which both par-
ties appealed was that of the Mogul, though the Mo~
gul himself, in the district in question, was an usurper,
and that of a very recent date; though the power too
of the Mogul was such, that he had no more authority

' For this war, Laurence’s Narrative, in Cambridge’s War, p. 38—95;
Orme, i. 245—249, 253—322, 337—3565; Mem. pour Dupleix, p. 78—
111; Wilks, ut supra, p. 285—340, yield the most important materials.
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BOOK 1v. in Deccan than he had at Rome. The authority on

CHarp, 2,

1754.

which the government of Carnatic immediately de-
pended was that of the Subahdar of Deccan ; and the
Subahdar of Deccan was Salabut Jung, the friend of
the French: So far, in point of title, they had the un-
doubted advantage. The patents, however, which
Dupleix had received from Salabut Jung, and which
placed the nabobship of the Carnatic entirely at his
disposal, he asserted to have been confirmed by the
Mogul. The English, on their side, affirmed that
they had a patent constituting Mahomed Ali Nabob
of Carnatic ; and they called upon the French to pro-
duce their documents. The French did exhibit some
papers, which the English, and probably with truth,
asserted to be forged. The English were called upon
to produce their pretended patent, and had none to
produce : Upon this with mutual crimination the pro-
ceedings broke off.’

The parties upon whom the decision depended in
Europe came together with minds more disposed to
accommodation. The English Company had, from
an early period of the war, importuned the ministry
with complaints, that during the existence of a treaty
of peace between England and France, they were op-
pressed by the burden of a dangerous war, produced
by the ambition of a French governor.in India. The

! Orme, i, 837 ; Laurence’s Narrative, p. 81; Mem. -pour Dupleix,
p- 83; Wilks, p. 338. The English writers, with the exception of
Wilks, make no allusion to any pretence of a patent held out by the
English, Butit is so distinctly asserted by Dupleix, who appeals to the
letters of Saunders, to which his opponents had access, that I doubt not
the fact. The English writers, who are very severe upon the French
forgeries, say, that the conferences were broken off when the French,
who had permitted their papers to be so far copied by the English, with-
drew them upon the English allegations that they were forged. Dupleix
on the other hand says, that he refused to permit the French papers any
longer to be copied, when the English failed to produce any on their side
which might undergo the same operation.
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same subject had formed the matter of remonstrance BOOK 1V,
between the English and French governments; and Caar. 2
it was at last agreed that the dispute should be ter- 1754
minated by a distinct negotiation. M. Duvelaer ar-
rived in London, vested with the powers of the
French East India Company ; Lord Holdernesse ne-
gotiated on the part of the English ; while the Duke
of Newcastle, as minister of England, aud the Duc de
Mirepoix, as embassador of France, shared, when ne-
cessary, in the conferences and decisions. ]
Dupleix, in stating afterwards the reasons of his
conduct, asserted that, in the situation into which
Deccan was thrown, upon the death of Nizam al
Mulk, an interference in the affairs of the country
was not a matter of choice. The chiefs who con-
tended for power, supreme and subordinate, were all
ready to tempt, and by the most important conces-
sions, the European nations to grant them support. If
one nation, from an extraordinary effort of self-denial,
should decline such advantages, what was to be ex-
pected but that another would embrace them ? and
that, rising in power above its rivals, it should first
oppress, and finally expel them from the country?
Dupleix was the first to perceive these consequences ;
and, from the promptitude and decision of his charac-
ter, the first to act upon his discovery. This priority,
which naturally promised to be advantageous to him,
was the reverse. It stamped his whole career with
the character of aggression; though the English them-
selves drew the same conclusions, as soon as they
were suggested to them by the proceedings of Du-
pleix; and guided their proceedings by the belief,
that it was not safe for them to see their rival ag-
grandized by favour of the native powers. That to
play a high game in India, was a wish dear to the
heart of Dupleix, sufficiently appears ; but that there
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BOOK Iv. were strong reasons for the part which he acted, no :.
Cusr- 2. one acquainted with the affairs of India will attempt
1754. to dispute.

The French East India Company, however, and
the French Ministers, were but little acquainted
with the affairs of India; those who envied, and
those who hated Dupleix, accused him of wasting the
resources of the Company in ambitious wars; the
English Company and the English Ministry accused
him of embroiling the two nations in India; and
there was a general prejudice against him and his
proceedings, both in France and in England, at the
time when the conferences in London were held.
The English Ministry prudently dispatched a con-
siderable fleet to India while the negotiation was still
proceeding. The French Ministry had no fleet to
spare; and dreaded the superiority which such a
force might bestow. The Fredch Company were at
the same time extremely eager to taste the gains of
commerce, which they promised themselves in peace;
and, from all these causes, were disposed to make
ample concessions. It ultimately appeared, that no
definitive arrangement could be made except upon
the spot. The English, however, exclaimed against
any negotiation which was to be conducted by Dupleix,
the object of which, they affirmed, his ambition and
artifice would be sure to defeat. The French Mi-
nistry were not far from harbouring the same opi-
nion; and easily enough assented to the proposition
of sending commissioners from Europe to settle the
differences of the two nations in India.

A point was thus gained in favour of the English,
on which their fortune in India very probably hinged;
for when, after the short interval of two years, war
was renewed between the English and French; when
the English were expelled from Bengal; and the
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* influence of Bussy was paramount at the court of the BOOK 1v.
Subahdar; had Dupleix remained at the head of ©¥47-*
French affairs in India, the scheme of that enter- 1754,
prising governor, to render himself master of Car-
natic, and the Subahdar master of Bengal, would
have stood a fair chance of complete accomplish-
ment,

On the second of August, 1754, M. Godheu, ap-
pointed commissary to negotiate a peace with the
English, and vested with authority to supersede
Dupleix in the government of all the French pos-
sessions in India, arrived at Pondicherry. Dupleix
affirms, that in the negotiations at London, for the
sake of removing all local prejudices and views, it
had been established that the governors in India on
both sides should be removed; and commissioners,
free from all bias, should be sent from England to
terminate the costly disputes.' If this was a con-
dition really made, the French, it would appear,
consenied to a departure from it, as they raised no
complaint against Mr. Saunders, who continued the
President of Madras. The English in this manner
obtained the important advantage of having the
negotiation conducted on their side by a person con-
versant with the affairs and interests of the two na-
tions in India, while it was conducted, on the part of
their antagonists, by a man to whom they were in a
great measure unknown.

Godheun lost no time in taking upon himself the
exercise of his authority, and in commencing his
negotiations with Saunders. The strong desire of
his employers for peace appears to have been the

! Mem. pour Dupleix, p. 89. As this assertion (made before persons
highly competent to contradict it, aud for which an appeal is made to
the Journal of Duvelaer) is not denied in the Answer of the Company to
the Memoire of Dupleix, it is entitled to credit.
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BOOK 1v, predominating consideration in his mind; and he

Cnapr. 2.

1754,

manifested, from the beginning, a disposition to con-
cede, of which the English made ample advantage.
On the 11th of October, a suspension of arms was
established for three months; and on the 26th of
December, a provisional treaty, to be confirmed or
altered in Europe, was signed at Pondicherry. By
this treaty, every thing for which they had been con-
tending was gained by the English; every advantage
of which they had come into possession was given up
by the French. By the stipulation to withdraw ef-
fectually from interference in the affairs of the native
princes, Mahomed Ali was left, by the fact, Nabob of
Carnatic or Arcot. And by the stipulation to ar-
range the territorial possessions of the two nations on
the principle of equality, the important acquisition of
the four Circars was resigned.’ Till the decision of
the two Companies in Europe should be given, the
contracting parties were to abstain from hostilities,
direct or indirect; and their possessions to remain as
they were.

That the severe strictures which Dupleix made
upon this treaty were in some degree overcharged, is
not to be denied. There is no reason to believe him,
when he asserts that Trichinopoly was on the point
of surrendering for want of supplies; for, at the time

! Col. Wilks (p.345) must have read the treaty very carelessly, to
imagine that  the substantial Moorish government and dignity of the
extensive and valuable provinces of the Northern Circars were not no-
ticed in the treaty,” when the very first article of the treaty says, <« The
two Companies, English and French, sball renounce for ever all Moorish
government and diguity, and shall never interfere in any differences that
arise between the princes of the country.” Mr. Orme too (so easily is
the judgment warped of the best of men when their passions are engaged)
imagined it would have been no infringement of the treaty, to assist the
Mabhrattas with English troops from Bembay, for the purpose of com-
pelling Salabut Jung to dismiss Bussy and the Frerch, and deprive them
of the Northern Circars. Orme, 1. 406.
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of the suspension of arms, the relative advantages of BOOK Iv.
the contending parties appear to have been nearly Cuar. 2.
the same as they had been twelve months before. It 1754,
is equally impossible to believe, what the English
writers affirm, that the advantages of the English

were now so great as to make it politic on the part

of the French to conclude the treaty, unfavourable as

it was. Admiral Watson had indeed arrived with a

fleet, consisting of three ships and a sloop; having on

board a king’s regiment of 700 men, with forty artil-

lery men, and 200 recruits. But 1500 European
troops had arrived with Godheu on the part of the
French;' and Dupleix boasts, with some reason, that

he could have added to these the Mahrattas, the
Mysoreans, and, on certain conditions, the King of
Tanjore.* Bussy too had improved with so much
ability his situation with Salabut Jung, that he ruled

in a great measure the counsels of the Subahdar of
Deccan.

After displaying, in the most brilliant manner, the
extraordinary superiority of European soldiers, in the
subjugation of the Patan rebels, he compelled Salabut
Jung to raise the son of Mirzapha Jung, the late
Subahdar, and friend of the French, to the go-
vernment, originally enjoyed by that unfortunate
prince, of the strong hold of Adoni and its territory,
augmented by the possessions of two of the Patan
nobles, by whose treachery the father was slain.

“ An example of generosity,” says Mr. Orme,
* which, if true, could not fail to raise admiration in

' This is the number stated by Laurence, Narrative, p. 95; Orme,
i. 871, calls it 1,200; Godheu, in his letter to Dupleix, received two
days before his landing, calls it 2,000 (Mem. pour Dupleix, p. 101).
And Dupleix himself asserts (Ibid. p. 111), that by the troops newly
arrived his force was rendered superior to that of the English.

* Memoir pour Dapleix, p. 111,
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BOOK 1V.a country, where the merits of the father are so sel-
Casr- 2 dom of advantage to the distresses of the son.””

1754.

The settlement of the dominions of Salabut Jung
was formidably opposed by the Mahrattas, who, in
the weakness which ensued upon the death of Nizam
al Mulk, were actively employed in adding to their
conquests as much as possible of the Subah of Deccan.
A Mahratta general, named Balagee Row, had op-
posed himself, at the head of 25,000 horse, to the
march of the Subahdar, between the Kistnah and
Golconda, but, by negotiation and a suitable present,
was induced to withdraw. Within a few months he
appeared again, with a force which would have ena-
bled him to gain important advantages, had not the
talents of Bussy, and the execution of European fire-
arms, which astonished the Indians, decided in a
variety of engagements the fortune of the day.
Danger came uot from one quarter alone. Ghazee
ad dien Khan, the eldest son of Nizam al Mulk,
destined by his father to maintain the interests of his
family at the court of the Mogul, had apparently
acquiesced in the accession of his second brother to
the government of Deccan, to which, as to a des-
tined event, he had been accnstomed to look. Upon
the death however of Nazir Jung, as he had become
very uneasy in his situation at court, he solicited, as
the eldest son and successor of Nizam al Mulk, the
appointment of Subahdar of Deccan. The assent of
the Emperor, which was now a mere form without
power, was easily obtained; and Ghazee ad dien
arrived at Aurungabad in the beginning of October,
1752, at the head, it is said, of 150,000 men, of
whom a large body were Mahrattas, commanded by
Holkar Malhar. At the same time Balagee Row,

1 Orme, i. 249.
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and another Mahratta general, named Ragogee BOOK 1V.
Bonsla, in concert, it is said, with Ghazee ad dien Caar. 2.
Khan, entered the province of Golconda with 1754
100,000 horse. To meet these formidable armies,
Salabut Jung and Bussy took the field with very
unequal numbers; when Ghazee ad dien Khan sud-

denly died. He was an old man, worn out by the
pleasures of the harem; and his sudden death was

by no means a surprising event; but, as it was sin-
gularly opportune for Salabut Jung, it was ascribed

to poison, said to be administered, at his instigation,

by the mother of the deceased ; and, as the event was
favourable to the French, the story of its odious cause

has been adopted, with patriotic credulity, by the
English historians.! The Mahratta generals still
continued the war; but were in every encounter
repulsed with so much slaughter by the French, that

they soon became desirous of peace, and Salabut

Jung was happy to purchase their retreat by the
cession of some districts, to Balagee Row in the
neighbourhood of Boorhanpore, and to Ragogee
Bonsla, in the neighbourhood of Berar; where that
Mahratta chief had acquired for himself an extensive
dominion. By the services which, in all these dangers,

Bussy had rendered to the cause of Salabut Jung,?
whom he alone preserved upon the throne, his

! The author of the Seer Mutakhareen, whom as better informed I
follow in all affairs relating at this period to the court of Delhi, says,
(iii. 19) that he died suddenly, without any mention of poison. The
story of the poison s, indeed, presented in a note by the translator ; who
does not however impute the fact to the mother of Ghazee ad dien, but
to the ladies of his harem in geueral.

* The oriental historian describes the efficacy of the French operations
in battle in such expressions as these: ¢ At which time the French,
with their quick musketry and their expeditious artillery, drew smoke
from the Mabratta breasts:” « they lost a vast number of men, whom
the French consumed in shoals at the fire-altars of their artillery.” Seer
Mutakhareen, ii. 118.

VOI.. III. K
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BOOK 1v. influence with that prince had risen to the greatest
Curr-2 height: And though the envy and jealousy of the
1754. Ministers, and the weak character of the Subahdar,

exposed his power to perpetual jeopardy; and on
one occasion, when he was absent for the recovery of
his health, had almost destroyed it; the prudence
and dexterity of that able leader enabled him to tri-
umph over all opposition. In the latter end of 1753
he obtained for his country the four important pro-
vinces of Mustaphanagar, Ellore, Rajamundry, and
Chicacole, called the Northern Circars; “ which
made the French,” says Mr. Orme, * masters of the
sea-coast of Coromandel and Orixa, in an uninter-
rupted line of 600 miles from Medapilly to the
Pagoda of Jagernaut ;”* and “ which,” says Colonel
Wilks, “mnot only afforded the requisite pecuniary
resources, but furnished the convenient means of
receiving reinforcements of men and military stores
from Pondicherry and Mauritius; and thus enabled
Bussy to extend his political views to the indirect or
absolute empire of Deccan and the south.”* All
these brilliant advantages were mow cordially re-
signed by M. Godheu ; and it will certainly be allowed
that few nations have ever made, to the love of peace,
sacrifices relatively more important.

Dupleix, says Mr. Orme, whose concluding stric-
tures upon his enemy are equally honourable to the
wriler and the subject, * departed on his voyage to
Europe, on the 14th of October, having first deli-
vered his accounts with the French Company to Mr.
Godheu, by which it appeared that he had disbursed
on their account near three millions of rupees more
than he had received during the course of the war.
A great part of this sum was furnished out of his

' Orme, i. 334. * Wilks, ut supra, p. 538.
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own estate, and the rest from moneys which he bor-
rowed at interest, from the French inhabitants at
Pondicherry, upon bounds given in his own name.
Mr. Godheu referred the discussion of these accounts
to the Directors of the Company in France, who
pretending that Mr. Dupleix had made these expenses
without sufficient authority, refused to pay any part
of the large balance he asserted to be due to him;
upon which he commenced a law-suit against the
Company ; but the ministry interfered and put a stop
to the proceedings by the King’s authority, without
entering into any discussion of Mr. Dupleix’s claims,
or taking any measures to satisfy them. However,
they gave him letters of protection to secure him
from being prosecuted by any of his creditors. So
that his fortune was left much less than that which
he was possessed of before he entered upon the go-
vernment of Pondicherry, in 1742. His conduct
certainly merited a very different requital from his
nation, which never had a subject so desirous and
capable of extending its reputation and power in the
East Indies ; had he been supplied with the forces he
desired immediately after the death of Anwar-o-dean
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CuaPr. 2.

1754.

Khan, or had he afterwards been supported from °

France in the manner necessary to carry on the ex-
tensive projects he had formed, there is no doubt
but that he would have placed Chunda Saheb in the
nabobship of the Carnatic, given law to the Subah of
the Deccan, and perhaps to the throne of Delhi itself,
and have established a sovereignty over many of the
most valuable provinces of the empire; armed with
which power he would easily have reduced all the
other European settlements to such restrictions as he
might think proper to impose. When we consider
that he formed this plan of conquest and dominion at
a time when all other Europeans entertained the
K2
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BOOK 1V. highest opinion of the strength of the Mogul govern-

CHar. 2,

1754.

ment, suffering tamely the insolence of its meanest
officers, rather than venture to make resistance
against a power which they chimerically imagined to
be capable of overwhelming them in an instant, we
cannot refrain from acknowledging and admiring the
sagacity of his genius, which first discovered and
despised this illusion.”*

In a short time after the conclusion of this treaty,
both Saunders and Godheu took their departure for
Europe ; pleasing themselves with the consideration
that, by means of their exertions, the blessings of
peace between the two nations in India were now per-
manently bestowed. Never was expectation more
completely deceived.” Their treaty procured mnot so
much as a moment’s repose. The English proceeded
to reduce to the obedience of their Nabob the districts
of Madura and Tinivelly. The French exclaimed
against these transactions, as an infringement of the
treaty with Godheu ; but finding their remonstrances
without avail, they followed the English example, and
sent a body of troops to reduce to their obedience the
petty sovereignty of Terriore.

Madura was a small kingdom, bordering on Tri-
chinopoly towards the south; and Tinivelly was a
kingdom of similar extent, reaching from the southern
extremity of Madura to Cape Comorin. These coun-
tries had acknowledged the supremacy of the Mogul
government of Deccan, and had paid tribute through
the Nabob of Arcot. When Chunda Saheb was
master of Trichinopoly, he had set up his own bro-
ther as Governor of Madura; but during the dis-

' Orme, i, 877. Voltaire says, (Precis du Siecle de Louis XV. ch.
xxxix,) Dupleix fut reduit 2 disputer & Paris les tristes restes de sa fortune
contre la Compagnie des Indes, et 3 solliciter des audiences dans Vanti~
chambre de ses juges. Il en mourut bientdt de chagrin.



against the Southern Polygars. 133

turbances which followed, a soldier of fortune, named BOOK 1V.
Aulum Khan, obtained possession of the city and Casr. 2.
government. When Aulum Khan marched to the 1755,
assistance of Chunda Saheb at Trichinopoly, where

he lost his life, he left four Patan chiefs to conduct

his government, who acted as independent princes,
notwithstanding the pretensions of Mahomed Ali, as

Nahob of Arcot. To compromise the dispute about
Trichinopoly, Mahomed Ali had offered to resign Ma-

dura to the Mysoreans. And upon his liberation

from the terror of the French arms, by the treaty of
Godheu, he prevailed upon the English to afford him

a body of troops to collect, as he hoped, and as the

English believed, a large arrear of tribute from the
southern dependencies of his nabobship.

The troops proceeded to the city of Madura, which
they took. The Polygars, as they are called; the
lords, or petty sovereigns of the several districts ; over-
awed by the terror of European arms, offered their
submissions, and promised to discharge the demanded
arrears; but for the present had little or nothing
which they were able to pay. Instead of the quan-
tity of treasure which the Nabob and English ex-
pected to receive, the money collected sufficed not to
defray the expense of the expedition. The disap-
pointment and ill humour were consequently great.
The conduct of the English officer who commanded
became the subject of blame. He formed a connexion,
which promised to be of considerable importance, with
Marawar; a district, governed by two Polygars,
which extended along the coast on the eastern side of
Madura, from the kingdom of Tanjore till it joined
Tinivelly ; but this connexion gave umbrage to the
Polygar Tondeman, and the Rajah of Tanjore, in
satisfaction to whom it was renounced. With Ma-
phuz Khan, the brother of the Nabob, who attended
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BOOK 1. the expedition, as future Governor of the country, the

CHap. 2.

1755,

officer formed an agreement, at a rent which was af-
terwards condemned, as not one half of the requisite
amount: And the English detachment, upon its re-
turn, was imprudently exposed in a narrow pass,
where it suffered severely by the people of the coun-
try. From all these causes, the existing displeasure
found an object and a victim, in the unlucky officer,
who was tried, and dismissed from the Company’s
service.’

About the same time with these transactions in
Madura, Salabut Jung, accompanied by Bussy and
the French troops, marched against the kingdom of
Mysore, to extort arrears of tribute, said to be due
from it, as a dependency of the Subah of Deccan.
Ubpon this emergency, the Mysorean army before Tri-
chinopoly (the Mysoreans had refused to abandon
their pretensions upon Trichinopoly, when the treaty
was concluded between the English and French), was
recalled. As the Mysoreans were threatened at the
same time by an army of Mahrattas under Balagee
Row, they were happy to acquire the protection of
Salabut Jung, by acknowledging his authority, and
paying as large a sum as it was possible for them to
raise.

By the departure of the Mysoreans from Trichi-
nopoly, Mahomed Ali was left without an ostensible
opponent in Carnatic: and he was vested, as pom-
pously as circumstances would permit, with the en-
signs of his office and dignity, at Arcot. It still re-
mained to compel the Zemindars or Polygars, and
other Governors of forts and districts, to yield him a
revenue. The English, after stipulating to receive
one half of all the moneys collected, sent with him a

! Orme, i. 380—387; Cambridge’s War 1n India, p. 109—113.
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large detachment to enforce a tribute from the BOOK IQV-
northern chiefs, who recognized the authority of the e
Nabob, and produced a portion of the demanded 1755
sums. The reputed riches of Mortiz Ali, the Gover-

nor of Velore, rendered his subjugation the main ob-

Ject of desire. The English detachment was strongly
reinforced; and encamped with the Nabob within
cannon-shot of the fort. Mortiz Ali applied to the
French. M. Deleyrit, who was Governor of Pondi-
cherry, informed the English presidency, that he re-
garded their proceedings at Velore as a violation of

the treaty ; and that he should commence hostilities,

if their troops were not immediately withdrawn. The
English rulers, soon aware that Velore could not be

easily taken; and unwilling to put to proof the threat

of Deleyrit, who had made 700 Europeans, and 2,000

Sepoys take the field ; recalled the army to Madras.

An attempt was made to obtain a contribution for the
Company from Mortiz Ali; but the negotiation ter-
minated without any effect.!

Meanwhile the Polygars of Madura and Tinivelly
who had made an ostensible submission during the
presence of the English troops, were affording dan-
gerous employment to the Governor Maphuz Khan.
A confederacy was formed, which it soon appeared
that the Governor was altogether unable to withstand.
The English sent a large body of Sepoys. But in
spite of this support, the refractory chiefs continued
unsubdued ; the country was thrown into confusion
by a petty warfare which extended itself into every
corner of the provinces; and no tribute could be
raised. Highly dissatisfied with the unproductive
state of a country, which they had fondly believed to
be the richest dependency of the Carnatic Nabob, the
English determined to manage it themselves; and

' Orwe, 1. 888, 398, 419 ; Cambridge, p. 111, 117, 110,
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BOOK 1v. Maphuz Khan was ordered to return to Trichinopoly.
Caar.- 2. Byt that chief entered immediately into confederacy
1755. with the Polygars ; set himself in opposition to the

English ; obtained possession of the town and fort of
Madura by a stratagem : And, with much uneasiness
to the English, the disturbances in Madura and Tini-
velly were prolonged for several years.

During these transactions of the English, not very
consistent with their agreement not to interfere in the
disputes of the native princes or add to their territory
in India, the French were restrained from that active
opposition which, otherwise, it is probable, they
would have raised, by the dangerous situation of their
affairs under the government of the Subahdar.

The enemies of Bussy, in the service and in the
confidence of Salabut Jung, were both numerous and
powerful ; and exerted themselves in concert, and
with eagerness, to change the confidence and at-
tachment of their feeble-minded master into distrust
and batred. It was now about two years and a half
since the grant of the northern Circars ; when certain
favourable circumstances enabled them to make so
deep an impression on the mind of this prince, that
the French troops were ordered to quit his territories
without delay. Bussy, in expectation, probably, that
the necessities of the Subahdar would speedily make
him eager to retract his command, showed no hesita-
tion in commencing his march. It was continued for
eight days without interruption: but his enemies had
a very different intention from that of allowing him
to depart in safety. When he approached the city of
Hyderabad, he found his progress impeded by large
bodies of troops; and the road obstructed by all the
chiefs of the neighbouring countries; who had orders
to intercept his march. Upon this he resolved to oc-

' Orme, i. 899, 420 ; Cambridge, p. 188.
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cupy a post of considerable strength, adjoining the BoOK1v.
city of Hyderabad ; to defend himself; and try the Crar. 2.
effect of his arms, and of his intrigues among the 1755
chiefs, whom he well knew, till the reinforcements

which he expected from Pondicherry should arrive.
"Though surrounded by the whole of the army of the
Subahdar, and so feeble in pecuniary means, that

his Sepoys deserted for want of pay, and he durst

not venture them in sallies, for fear of their joining

the enemy, he found the means of supplying himself

fully with provisions, and of resisting every attack,

till his succours arrived ; when the Subahdar sent to
demand a reconciliation, and he was restored to a

still higher degree of influence and authority than he

had previously enjoyed.

Among the means which had been employed to re-
concile the mind of Salabut Jung to the dismissal of
the French, was the prospect held up to him of re-
placing them by the English. No sooner therefore
were the measures against Bussy devised, than an
application was made for a body of troops to the Pre-
sidency of Madras. To the Presidency of Madras,
few things could have presented a more dazzling
prospect of advantage ; and in any ordinary situation
of their affairs, the requisition of the Subahdar would
have met with an eager acceptance. But events had
before this time taken place in Bengal which demanded
the utmost exertions of the English from every quarter;
made them unable to comply with the proposal of the
Subahdar; and thenceforward rendered Bengal the
principal scene of the English adventures in India.'

' Orme, 1. 429—436, and 1. 89—104 ; Wilks, p. 380—388. Itis
amusing to compare the account of Bussy’s transactions on this trying
occasion, in the pages of Owen Cambridge (War in India, p. 132—135,)
written under halt information, and fulness of national prejudice, with
the well informed and liberal narratives of Orme and of Wilks,
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State of Bengal.

CHAP. III.

Suraja Dowla, Subahdar of Bengal—takes Cal-
cutta—attacked by an army from Madras—de-
throned—Meer Jaffier set up in his stead.

DURING the latter part of the reign of Aurungzebe,
the Subahs of Bengal and Orissa, together with those
of Allahabad and Bahar, were governed by his grand-
son A zeem Ooshaun, the secondsonof Shah Aulum, who
succeeded to the throne. Azeem Ooshaun appointed
as his deputy, in the provinces of Bengal and Orissa,
Jaffier Khan, who had been for some time the duan,
or superintendant of the finances, in Bengal; a man
of Tartar descent, but a native of Boorhanpore in
Deccan, who had raised himself to eminence in the
wars of Aurungzebe. Upon the death of Shah
Aulum, and the confusions which ensued, Jaffier
Khan remained in possession of his important govern-
ment, till he was too powerful to be removed. While
yet a resident in his native city, he had married his
daughter and only child to a man of eminence in the
same place, and of similar origin with himself, by
name Sujah Khan. This relative had repaired with
him to Bengal ; and when Jaffier Khan was elevated
to the Subahdarry of Bengal and Orissa, Orissa was
placed under the government of Sujah Khan, as de-
puty or nawab of the Subahdar.!

Among the adventurers who had been in the ser-

! Seer Mutakhareen, 1. 17, 43, 296.
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vice of Azeem Shah, the second son of Aurungzebe, BOOK IV.
was a Tartar, named Mirza Mahommed. Upon Caar. 3.
the death of that prince, and the ruin of his party, 1755.
Mirza Mahommed remained without employment;
and was overtaken, after some years, with great po-
verty. His wife not only belonged to the same place
from which the family of Sujah Khan was derived ;
but was actually of kin to that new ruler. By
this wife he had two sons: the eldest named Hod-
gee Ahmed; the youngest, Mirza Mahommed Ali.
Upon the news of the elevation of their kinsman, it
was determined, in this destitute family, that Mirza
Mahommed, with his wife, should repair to his ca-
pital in hopes of receiving his protection and bounty.
The disposition of Sujah Khan was benevolent and
generous. He received them with favour. The
success of his father and mother induced Mirza Ma-
hommed Ali, the youngest of the two sons, to hope
for similar advantages. With great difficulty his po-
verty allowed him to find the means of performing
the journey. He obtained employment, and distinc-
tion. His prospects being now favourable, he sent
for his brother Hodgee Ahmed; and removed the
whole of his family to Orissa. The talents of the
two brothers were eminent. Hodgee Ahmed was
insinuating, pliant, discerning; and in business
equally skilful and assiduous. Mirza Mahomed
Al to all the address and intelligence of his brother
added the highest talents for war. They soon ac-
quired a complete ascendancy in the counsels of Sujah
Khan; and by their abilities added greatly to the
strength and splendour of his administration.

Jaffier Khan died in 1725 ; but destined Sereffraz
Khan, his grandson, instead of Sujah Khan, the fa-
ther of that prince, with whom he lived not on
friendly terms, to the succession. By the address
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Bé)OK Iv.and activity of the two brothers, the schemes of
#AP-5 Jaffier were entirely defeated ; patents were procured

1755,

from Delhi; and Sujah Khan, with an army, was in
possession of the capital and the government, before

" any time was given to think of opposition. The

province of Bahar was added to the government of
Sujah Khan in 1729 ; and the younger of the two
brothers, on whom was bestowed the title of Aliverdi
Khan, was entrusted with its administration. He ex-
erted himself, with assiduity and skill, to give pros-
perity to the province, and to acquire strength in ex-
pectation of future events.' In 1739, the same year
in which Nadir Shah ravaged Delhi, Sujah Khan
died, and was succeeded by Sereffraz Khan, his son.
Sereffraz Khan had been educated a prince; and had
the incapacity, and the servile subjection to pleasure,
which that education usually implies. He hated the
brothers ; and began with disgusting and affronting,
when he should have either exterminated, or recon-
ciled. The resolution of Aliverdi was soon taken.
He employed his influence, which was great, at
Delhi, to obtain his nomination to the government of
Bengal and the united provinces; and marched with
an army to dethrone Sereffraz, who lost his life in
the battle. With the exception of the Governor of
Orissa, whom he soon reduced, the whole country
submitted without opposition. He governed it with
unusual humanity and justice; and defended it with
splendid ability and unwearied perseverance.

The Mahrattas, who had spread themselves at
this time over a great part of the continent of India,
seemed resolved upon the conquest of Bengal, the

' Holwell (Interesting Historical Events, i. 70) represents his conduct
as higbly cruel and unjust, and gives an account of five baskets of hu-
man heads, which he saw conveying to him in a boat.
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richest portion of the Mogul empire.’ The depend- BOOK 1v.
ence of the greatest events upon the slightest causes Crar. 5.
is often exemplified in Asiatic story. Had Sereffraz 1755.
Khan remained Subahdar of Bengal, the Mahrattas

might have added it, and all the adjoining provinces,

to their extensive dominion : The English and other
European factories might have been expelled : No-

thing afterwards remained to check the Mahratta
progress: The Mahomedans might bave been exter-
minated : And the government of Brahmens and
Cshatriyas might have extended once more from
Caubul to Cape Comorin.

Aliverdi was on his return from the expedition
against the Governor of Orissa, and had disbanded a
great portion of his army, in contemplation of tran-
quillity and enjoyment, when he learned that a large
army of Mahrattas had entered through the valleys
in the mountains, at eight days’ journey west of his
capital Moorshedabad. The Mahrattas, besides pos-
sessing themselves of Candeish and Malwa, had, be-
fore this period, overrun and subdued the whole pro-
vince of Berar, where a general, named Ragogee
Bonsla, of the family of Sevagee, had established him-
self in a widely-extended sovereignty which acknow-
ledged but a nominal subjection to the primitive
throne. The dominions of Ragogee Bonsla were
separated from Bahar, Bengal, and Orissa, by only a
chain of mountains, which it was easy for Mahrattas
to penetrate in many parts. And now it was that
the said chief, either urged by the hope of adding the
richest part of Hindustan to his empire, or at the
instigation, as was alleged, of Nizam al Mulk, sent
an army under a Brahmen general to invade Ben-

1 Seer Mutakhereen, i. 208—3882 ; Orme, i1, 26—32.
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BOOK 1v.gal. Aliverdi marched against them instantly with
Caar. 3. the small number of troops which he had about his

1755.

person, and was hardy enough to venture a battle ;
but the Afghaun troops in his service were discontent-
ed with some recent treatment, and were inclined to
make their advantage of his necessities. They acted
coldly and feebly during the engagement. Aliverdi
found it difficult to avoid a total defeat, and re-
mained surrounded on all sides by a numerous and
active enemy. He resolved to fight his way back ;
and though he suffered prodigiously from the sword,
from fatigue, and from famine, he effected a glorious
retreat; but reached not his capital till a detach-
ment of the enemy had taken and plundered the
suburbs.'

The Mahrattas, instead of returning to their own
country, determined to remain during the period of
the rains ; and collected the revenue of almost the
whole of the territory south of the Ganges. Aliverdi
made the greatest exertions to collect an army; and
marching out at the termination of the rains, sur-
prised the Mahrattas in their camp, and put them to
flight ; pursued them from post to post; and at last
compelled them to evacuate his dominions.?

If Aliverdi flattered himself that he was now de-
livered from a dangerous foe, he knew not the people
with whom he had to contend. The Mahrattas ap-

! Holwell, who was in the province, and must have had opportunities
of learning many of the particulars, gives (Interesting Historical Events,
i. 118) a detailed account of this retreat, which he celebrates as one of
the most brilliant exploits in the annals of warfare.

* Seer Mutakhareen, 1. 407—498 ; Orme, ii. 35. Both Orme and
the anthor of the Seer Mutakhareen mention the instigation of Nizam al
Mulk, but after all it seers to have been only a vague conjecture; and
there were motives enough to Ragogee Bonsla without prompting. Hol-
well (Interesting Historical Events, i. 108) says they were instigated by
the Court of Delhi.
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peared the very next year with Ragogee Bonsla him- BOOK 1v.
self at their head. Another army of Mahrattas, be- %475
longing to the government of Satarah, entered the 1755.
province ; but whether with hostile or friendly inten-

tions, is variously asserted. It is not doubtful that,

at this time, Aliverdi delivered himself from his ene-

mies, by a sum of money ; upon receipt of which they

retired.!

After a little time the gemeral of Ragogee again
entered by the province of Orissa, whence he ad-
vanced toward Bengal. By a train of artful and
base negotiation, he was brought to trust himself at a
conference in the tent of Aliverdi. He was there
assassinated ; and his death was the signal of disper-
sion to his troops.

The next invasion of the Mahrattas was encou-
raged by the rebellion of one of Aliverdi’s principal
officers. The good fortune of that chief still se-
conded his vigour. The formidable rebel was killed
in battle, and the Mahrattas were compelled to
retire.

The Mahratta pressure, incessantly returning,
though frequently repelled, seldom failed, in the
long run, to make the opposing body recede. The
subjects of Aliverdi were grievously harassed, and
the produce of his dominions was greatly impaired,
by these numerous invasions, and by the military
exertions which were necessary to oppose them.

! The author of the Seer Mutakhareen, who had the best opportunities
of knowing, says, (i. 450,) that the Emperor claimed, as due on account
of the payment of the chout, the assistance, for the province of Bengal,
of the government of Satarah, against Ragogee Bonsla; and that it was
in compliance with this request, that the army of Balagee Row came
into Bengal. Holwell, 1. 140, and Ore, ii. 87, say, that the two armies
came in concert, and only differed about the division of the plunder.
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BOOK IV.In a new incursion, headed by Janogee the son of
Casr. 3. Ragogee, the Mahrattas possessed themselves almost

1755.

completely, of Orissa. The attention of the Subah-
dar was engaged in another quarter: Discontent
again prevailed among his Afghaun and Tartar
officers, which it required some address to allay : His
youngest nephew, who was the most distinguished for
ability of all his relations, and whom he had appointed
Nabob or Deputy Governor of Bahar, had taken into
his pay two Afghaun officers, who had retired in dis-
content from the service of Aliverdi: These leaders
murdered their young master, the nephew of the
Subahdar; and with a body of Mahrattas, who had
entered the province on purpose to join them, and a
considerable army of their own countrymen, whom
the host of Ahmed Shah Abdallee, then covering
the upper provinces of Hindustan, enabled them to
collect, erected against Aliverdi the standard of re-
volt. Never was that governor, or rather king, for
it was but a nominal obedience which he now paid
to the throne of Delhi, in greater danger. He was
obliged to meet the enemy, with a very inferior force:
Yet he gained a complete victory ; and the Afghaun
lords were killed in the battle. The Mahrattas, how-
ever, only retired on the road towards Orissa, with-
out crossing the mountains; and halted at Midna-
pore. He followed ; pursued them into Orissa, with
great slaughter ; and even recovered the capital Cui-
tack ; but was obliged to leave the province in so de-
fenceless a condition, that the Mahrattas were not
long deprived of their former acquisitions.

During the fifteen years of Aliverdi’s government
or reign, scarcely a year passed free from the ruinous
invasions of the Mahrattas; though during the infir-
mities of his latter years he had, by a tributary
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payment, endeavoured to procure some repose. He B(S)OK v.
died at the age of eighty on the 9th of April, 1756. Z"*% %
Aliverdi never had a son. He had three daughters, 1756,
and his brother had three sons.*> He married his
three daughters to his three nephews ; all of whom
were men of considerable merit. The youngest was
slain by the Afghaun lords, as already related; and
the two elder both died a little before the decease of
Aliverdi. The eldest son of his youngest nephew
had from his birth been taken under the immediate
care of Aliverdi himself; and was the object of ex-
treme and even doting fondness. This youth, on
whom had been bestowed the title of Suraja Dowla,
was, upon the death of his uncles, regarded as the
destined successor of Aliverdi;® and took the reins of
government without opposition upon his decease.

Suraja Dowla was educated a prince, and with more
than even the usual share of princely consideration
and indulgence. He had, accordingly, more than the
usual share of the princely vices. He was ignorant ;
he was voluptuous; on his own pains and pleasures
he set a value immense, on the pains and pleasures
of other men no value at all; he was impatient,
irascible, headstrong.

! For a minute and very interesting account of the government of Ali-
verdi, see Seer Mutakhareen, i. 355—~681. The narrative of Orme, (i1.
28—52,) and that of Holwell (Interesting Historical Events, i. 85—176),
do not exactly agree either with Gholam or with one another. Scrafton’s
account (Reflections, &c.) Holwell says was stolen from him.

* Orme, ii. 34, says that Aliverdi had only one daughter.  The
author of the Seer Mutakhareen, who was his near rclation, says ke had
three, i. 304. .

3 Orme, 1i, 47, says that Alwerdi had deciared Suraja Dowla his
successer, before the death of his uncle. But the author of the Seer
Mutakbareen, who was in the confidential service of Seid Hamet, the
surviving vephew, tells us that he regarded himseli as the successor of
Alwerd till the time of his death; which was during the lust illuess ot
. Aliverdi,

VOi1.. 1. L
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Suraja Dowla

The first act of Suraja Dowla’s government was

Cmsr. 3. ¢4 plunder his aunt, the widow of his senior uncle,

1756.

eldest daughter of Aliverdi, reputed immensely rich.
To this uncle had belonged the government of the
province of Dacca; and orders were dispatched to
that place, to seize the receivers and treasurers of the
family. His second uncle, who was Nabob of Poo-
rania or Purneah, a province on the northern side of
the Ganges, died during the last illness of Aliverdi,
and left the government in the hands of his son,
whose conduct was imprudent, and his mind vicious.
Jealousy, or the desire of showing power by mischief,
excited the young subahdar to resolve upon the de-
struction of his cousin, the nabob of Purneah. He
had advanced as far as Raje Mahl, when he received
intelligence that one of the principal officers of finance
in the service of his late uncle at Dacca, had given
the slip to his guards; and found an asylum at
Calcutta.

Suraja Dowla had manifested aversion to the
English, even during the life of his grandfather; the
appearance of protection, therefore, shown to a man,
who had disappointed his avarice, and was probably
imagined to have escaped with a large treasure,
kindled his rage; the army was that moment com-
manded to halt, and to march back towards the
capital. A messenger was dispatched to Calcutta to
remonstrate with the Governor; but as the messen-
ger entered the town in a sort of disguise, the Go-
vernor thought proper to treat him as an impostor,
and dismissed him from the Company’s territory.
With a view to the war between France and Eng-
land, the Presidency had begun to improve their
fortifications. This too was matter of displeasure to
the Subahdar; and the explanation offered by the
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English, which intimated that those strangers were BOOK IV,
audacious enough to bring their hostilities into his ™3
dominions, still more inflamed his resentment. The 1756.
factory at Cossimbuzar, near Moorshedabad, was
seized ; and its chief, Mr. Watts, retained a prisoner.
The Presidency were now very eager to appease the
Subahdar; they offered to submit to any conditions
which he pleased to impose; and, trusting to the
success of their humility and prayers, neglected too
long the means of defence. The Subahdar had a
wish for a triumph, which he thought might be
easily obtained; and he was greedy of riches, with
which, in the imagination of the natives, Calcutta
was filled.

The outposts of Calcutta were attacked on the 18th
of June, 1756, There was but little of military skill
in the place, and it was badly defended. After a
short experiment of resistance, a general consultation
decided upon the policy of retreat. It was agreed
that the women and effects should be put on board
the ships in the course of the next day ; and that the
persons employed in the work of defence should
escape in the same manner the following night.
There was hardly a chance of mishap, for the natives
always close their operations with the close of the
day; but by some strange inadvertence no orders
were published respecting the mode in which the plan
was to be carried into effect. It was generally known
that retreat was intended: When the embarkation
next morning began, every person imagined he was
to shift for himself, and hurried on board by the
readiest conveyance: During this confusion an ap-
prehension arose in the ships respecting the security
of their situation: and they began to move down
the river: The danger of being left without the
means of retreat now flashed on the minds of the

1. 2

-
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BOOK 1V. spectators on shore; and the boats were filled and gone

CHapr. 3.

1756.

in an instant. “ Among those who left the factory
in this unaccountable manner were, the Governor
Mr. Drake, Mr. Macket, Captain Commandant Min-
chin, and Captain Grant.”! Great was the indigna-
tion among the people in the fort, upon hearing that
they were in this manner abandoned. Mr. Holwell,
though not the senior servant, was by the general
voice called to assume the command; and exerted
himself with great vigour to preserve order, and
maintain the defence. ¢ Signals were now thrown
out,” says Mr. Cooke, “ from every part of the fort,
for the ships to come up again to their stations, in
hopes they would have reflected (after the first impulse
of their panic was over) how cruel as well as shame-
ful it was, to leave their countrymen to the mercy of
a barbarous enemy; and for that reason we made
no doubt they would have attempted to cover the
retreat of those left behind, now they had secured
their own; but we deceived ourselves; and there
never was a single effort made, in the two days the
fort held out after this desertion, to send a boat or
vessel to bring off any part of the garrison.”* “ Never
perhaps,” says Mr. Orme, “ was such an opportunity
of performing an hercic action so ignominiously
neglected : for a single sloop with fifteen brave men on
board, might, in spite of all the efforts of the enemy,
have come up, and anchoring under the fort, have
carried away all who suffered in the dungeon.”?

1 Evidence of John Cooke, Esq. (who at that time was Secretary to
the Governor and Council of Calcutta), in the First Report of the Com-
mittee of the House of Commons, appowmted © to inquire into the
Nature, State, and Condition of the East India Company,” in 1772.

2 Report, ut supra. Mr. Cooke, from notes, written immediately
after the transactions, gives a very interesting narrative, from the death
of Aliverdi, till the morning after the night of the Black Hole.

3 Orme, 1. 78.
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During these trying days Mr. Holwell made several BOOK 1v.
efforts, by throwing letters over the wall, to signify Crar. 3.
his wish to capitulate; and it was during a temporary 1756.
pause in the fire of the garrison, while expecting an
answer, that the enemy approached the walls in num-

bers too great to be resisted, and the place was car-

ried by storm. The Subahdar, though humanity

was no part of his character, appears not on the pre-

sent occasion to have intended cruelty; for when Mr.
Holwell was carried into his presence with his hands

tied, he ordered them to be set loose, and assured

him, upon the faith of a soldier, that of the heads of

him and his companions not 2 hair should be touched.

When evening however came, it was a question with

the guards to whom they were entrusted, how they

might be secured for the night. Some search was

made for a convenient apartment; but none was
found; upon which information was obtained of a

place which the English themselves had employed as

a prison, Into this, without further inquiry, they

were impelled. It was unhappily a small, ill-aired,

and unwholesome dungeon, called, the Black Hole;

and the English had their own practice to thank for
suggesting it to the officers of the Subahdar as a fit

place of confinement.’ Out of 146 unfortunate in-

1 The atrocities of English imprisonment at home, not then exposed
to detestation by the labours of Howard, too naturally reconciled Eng-
lishmen abroad to the use of dungeons; of Bluck Holcs, What had
they to do with a dluck hole? Had o black hole existed, (as none ought
to esist any where, least of all in the sultry and unwholesome climate of
Bengal,) those who perished 1 the Black Hole of Calcutta would have
experienced a different fute. Even so late as 1782, the cownmon gaol
of Calcatta is described by the Select (lommittee, “ a miserable and
pestilential place.” That Committee exammed two witnesses on the
state of the common gaol of Calcutta. One said, “ The gaol is an old
ruin of a house; there were very few windows to admit air, and those
very small. He asked the gaoler how many souls were then confined in
the prison? Who answered, upwards of 170, blacks and whites included
==that there was no gaol allowance, that many persons had died for want

v
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BOOK 1v. dividuals thrust in, only twenty-three were taken out

CHap, 3.
e e

1756.

alive in the morning. The horror of the situation
may be conceived, but it cannot be described. * Some
of our company,” says Mr. Cooke, “expired very
soon after being put in; others grew mad, and having
lost their senses, died in a high delirium.” Applica-
tions were made to the guard, with the offer of great
rewards; but it was out of their power to afford relief.
The only chance consisted in conveying intelligence,
by means of a bribe, to some officer of high autho-
rity ; but to no one does it appear that this expedient
occurred.’

of the necessaries of life. The nauseous smells, arising from such a
crowded place, were beyond expression. Besides the prisoners, the
number of women and attendants, to carry in provisions and dress
victuals, was so great, that it was astomshing that any person could long
survive such a situation. It was the most horrible place he ever saw,
take it altogether.” The other witness said, “ It is divided into small
apartments, and those very bad ; the stench dreadful, and more offensive
than he ever experienced in this country—that there is no thorough draft
of air—the windows are neither large nor numerous—the rooms low—
that it would be impossible for any European to exist any length of time
n the prison—that debtors and criminals were not separated—nor Hin-
doos, Mahomedans, and Europeans.” Tirst Report, Appendix, No. xi.

1 The account of the capture of Calcutta has been taken from the
Report above quoted; from the accounts of Mr. Holwell and Mr.
Waitts; from Scrafton, p. 52—02; Orme, 1. 49—80 ; and Seer Mutak-
hareen, i. 716—721. The translator of this last work, says in a note,
s There is not a word here of those English shut up in the Black Hole,
to the number of 131, where they were mostly smothered. The truthis,
that the Hindoostanes wanting only to secure them for the night, as
they were to be presented the next morning to the prince, shut them up
in what they heard was the prison of the fort, without haviog any idea
of the capacity of the room ; and indeed the English themselves had
none of it.  This much is certain, that this event, which cuts so capital
a figure in Mr. Watt’s performauce, is not known in Bengal ; and even
in Calcutta it is unknown to every man out of the 400,000 that inhabit
that city: at least it is difficult to meet a single native that knows any
thing ofit: so careless and so incurious are those people. Were we
therefore to accuse the Indians of cruelty, for such a thoughtless action,
we would of course accuse the English, who, intending to embark 400
Gentoo Sepoys, destined for Madras, put them in boats, without one
single necessary, and at last left them to be overset by the bore, when
they all perished after a three days’ fast,”
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The news of the capture of Cossimbuzar arrived BOOK 1v.
at Madras on the 15th of July, of that of Calcutta ©™4™%
on the 5th of August. It was fortunate that Admiral 1756.
Watson and Colonel Clive were now both upon the
coast. Admiral Watson was commander of the
squadron which the English ministry had prudently
sent to India during the progress of the negotiation
in 1754. Soon after his arrival on the coast of Co-
romandel, the monsoon obliged him to sail to Bombay,
from which he returned in the January following, by
a very able navigation against a contrary monsoon ;
and was now joined by Mr. Pocock, who had arrived
from England with two ships of superior force. He
remained on the coast of Coromandel till the 10th of
October, when he again sailed to Bombay, to escape
the monsoon. At this place matters of great impor-
tance were already in agitation.

Captain Clive had arrived from England, where he
had obtained the rank of Lieutenant Colonel in his
Majesty’s service, and the appointment of Deputy
Governor of Fort St. David. He had landed at
Bombay, with three companies of the King’s artil-
lery, and between three and four hundred of the
King’s troops, with a view to a project, concerted in
England, of attacking Salabut Jung, in conjunction
with the Mahrattas, and driving the French out of
Deccan. The report which the directors in England
had received of the brilliant exploits of Captain Clive
in India had made them desirous of entrusting to
him a service, highly delicate, of the greatest im-
portance, and requiring the fullest acquaintance with
the manners and circumstances of the country. “ But
from that dependance on the ministry,” says Mr.
Orme, “ to which their affairs will always be subject,
whilst engaged in military operations, the Court of
Directors, in compliance with very powerful recom-
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BOOK IV. mendations, appointed Lieutenant Colonel Scott to

CHar. 3.

1756.

command the expedition.”’ This officer had sailed
to India, in the capacity of Engineer-General, the
preceding year. Clive was still directed to land at
Bombay, in hopes that some accident might take the
business out of the hands of Scott ; which in rgality
happened, for that officer died before the other ar-
rived. But in the mean time, the truce had been
concluded between the English and French; and
the Presidency of Bombay refused to engage in a
measure by which it would be violated. There was
another enterprise, however, in which they had al-
ready embarked, and in which, with the great force,
military and naval, now happily assembled at Bombay,
they had sanguine hopes of success.

The Mahrattas as early as the time of Sevagee,
had raised something of a fleet, to protect them
against the enterprise of the Siddees. In this ser-
vice a common man distinguished himself; and rose
from one post to another, till he became Admiral of
the fleet. He was appointed Governor of a strong
fort, called Severndroog, situated on a rocky island,
within cannon shot of the continent, about eight
miles north from Dabul. This adventurer quarrelled
with the Mahratta government; and revolted with
the greater part of the fleet. He not only set the
Mahratta state at defiance; but was able to render
himself master of the coast to an extent of sixty
leagues, from Tanna to Rajapore; and the Mahrattas
compounded their dispute with him, by receiving a
stnall annual tribute as a mark of subjection. The
name of the successful rebel was Conagee Angria;
and he made piracy his trade. The nature of the

! Orme, i. 406. “ Colonel Scott,” says Clive himself, in his evidence
before the Committee, (See Report, ut supra)  had been strongly re-
commended by the Duke of Cumberland.”
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coast is well adapted to that species of depredation ; BOOK 1v.
because it is intersected by a great number of rivers, Cuar. 3.
and the breezes compel ships to keep close to the 17s6.
land. The European nations had been harassed by

this predatory community for nearly half a century;

they had made several efforts to subdue them; but

the power of Angria had always increased; and his

fleets now struck terror into all commercial navi-

gators on the western coast of India.

Several approaches towards the formation of a
union for the extirpation of these corsairs had been
made by the English and Mahrattas; but without
effect, till 1755, when an English squadron, under
Commodore James, and a land army of Mahrattas,
attacked Severndroog, and took it, as well as the fort of
Bancoote. It was toward the conclusion of the same
year that Admiral Watson with his fleet, and Colonel
Clive with his forces, arrived at Bombay : The final
reduction of the piratical state was therefore decreed.
On the 11th of February, 1756, the fleet, consisting
of eight ships, besides a grab, and five homb ketches,
having on board 800 Europeans and 1,000 Sepoys,
commanded by Colonel Clive, arrived at Gheriah;
while a Mahratta army approached on the other side.
Gheriah, the capital of Angria, stood on a rocky pro-
montory, nearly surrounded by the sea, and had a
fort of extraordinary strength. But the number of
the assailants, and the violence of the canncnade, ter-
rified both Angria and his pcople ; and they made a
feeble use of their advantages. Angria, with a view
to effect an accommeodation, placed himself in the
hands of the Mahrattas; the fort surrendered; and
the ohject of the expedition was completely attained.
" Watson arrived at Madras on the 16th of May, and
Clive repaired to his government at Fort St. David,
from which, in the month of August, he was sum-
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BOOK 1v. moned to Madras, to assist in the deliberations for re-

Cuar. 3.

1756.

covering Calcutta.’

It was resolved, after some debate, that the re-
establishment of the Company’s affairs in Bengal
should be pursued at the expense of every other en-
terprise. A dispute, however, of two months ensued,
to determine in what manner prizes should be di-
vided ; who should command ; and what should be
the degree of power entrusted with the commander.
The parties, of whom the pretensions were severally
to be weighed, were Mr. Pigot, who had been Go-
vernor of Madras since the departure of Saunders,
but was void of military experience; Colonel Alder-
cron, who claimed as senior officer of the King, but
was unacquainted with the irregular warfare of the
natives; Colonel Laurence, whose experience and
merit were unquestionable, but to whose asthmatical
complaints the close and sultry climate of Bengal
were injurious ; and Clive, to whom none of these
exceptions applied. It was at last determined, that
Clive should be sent. It was also determined, that he
should be sent with powers independent of the Pre-
sidency of Calcutta. Among his instructions, one
of the most peremptory was, that he should return,
and be again at Madras with the whole of the troops,
in the month of April; about which time it was ex-
pected that in consequence of the war between
France and England, a French fleet would arrive
upon the coast. It was principally, indeed, with a
view to this return, that independence of the Calcutta
rulers, who might be tempted to retain him, was be-
stowed upon Clive.

The force, which sailed from the road of Madras,
on the 16th of October, consisted of five Ifing’s ships

! See for this account, Orme,i.406—417 ; Cambridge’s War in India,
p. 120=130; Lord Clive’s Evidence, Report, ut supra,
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with Admiral Watson as Commander, and five Com- BOOK 1V,
pany’s ships, serving as transports ; having on board Cuar. 3.
900 European troops, and 1,500 Sepoys. All the 17s6.
ships, with the exception of two, arrived in the Ganges
on the 20th of December, and found the fugitives
from Calcutta at Fulta, a town at some distance
down the river, to which the ships had descended,
and where they had found it practicable to remain.

After forwarding letters, full of threats, to Suraja
Dowla, which the Governor of Calcutta sent word
that he dared not deliver, it was resolved to com-
mence operations, by the capture of a fort, which
stood, on the river, between Fulta and Calcutta.
On the 27th of December, at the time when the fort
was to be attacked by the ships, Clive marched out,
with the greater part of the troops, to lay an ambush
for intercepting the garrison, who were not expected
to make a tedious defence. The troops, fatigued in
gaining their position, were allowed to quit their
arms to take a little repose; “ and from a security,”
says Mr. Orme, * which no superiority or appear-
ances in war could justify, the common precaution
of stationing centinels was neglected.” In a few
minutes they were all asleep; and in this situation,
surprised by a large body of the enemy. The pre-
sence of mind and steady courage, which never
deserted Clive in sudden emergencies, enabled him,
even in those unfavourable circumstances, to disperse
a band of irregular troops, led by a cowardly com-
mander. ¢ But had the enemy’s cavalry,” says
Orme, “advanced and charged at the same time
that the infantry began to fire, it is not improbable
that the war would have been concluded on the very
first trial of hostilities.” !

' Scrafton, p. 62, sinks the culpable circumstances.
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BOOK 1v.  The ships came up and cannonaded the fort; but
Cusr.3. the garrison frustrated the project of Clive; aund,
1757. totally unperceived, made their escape in the night.
The other forts on the river were deserted, as the
English approached; and on the 24 of January, 1757,
the armament arrived at Calcutta. The garrison
withstood not the cannon of the ships for two hours;
and evacuated the place. The merchandise belong-
ing to the Company was found mostly untouched,
because it had been reserved for the Subahdar; but

the houses of individuals were totally plundered.

Intelligence was received from the natives, who
began to enter the town, that Hoogley, a considerable
city, about twenty-three miles up the river from Cal.
cutta, was thrown into great consternation by these
recent events. In this situation an attack uponm it
was expected to produce a very favourable result.
One of the ships sent on this service struck on a
sandbank, and five days retarded the progress of the
detachment. On the 10th of January they reached
the spot; made a breach in the wall before night;
and the troops no sooner mounted the rampart, than
the garrison fled and escaped.

During the expedition to Hoogley news arrived of
the commencement of hostilities between England
and France.! The I'rench in Bengal had a force of
300 Europeans, and a train of field artillery ; which,
if added to the army of the Subahdar, would render
him an irresistible enemy. The English were now

' The Indian historian gives an amusing account of the relations
between England and France: “ Just at this crisis,” says he,  the
flames of war broke out between the French and Eaglish; two nations
who had disputes between themselves of five or six bundred years stand-
ing; and who, after proceeding to bloodshed, wars, battles, and mas-
sacres, for a number of yeurs, would lay down their arms by common

) agreement, and take breath on both sides, in order to come to blows
again, and to fight with as much fury as ever.” Seer Mutakhareen,

i, 759,
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very desirous to make their peace with that formidable BoOK Iv.
ruler; but the capture of Hoogly, undertaken solely ©*:* 3
with a view to plunder, had so augmented his rage, 1757.
that he was not in a frame of mind to receive from
them any proposition; and his army received its
orders to march. Happily for the English, the same
spirit by which Dupleix was reproached for not hav-
ing negotiated a neutrality between the Irench and
English Companies in India, though the nations were
at war in Europe, prevailed in the Councils at Chan-
dernagor. The rulers at that settlement refused to
assist Suraja Dowla; and proposed that they and the
English should engage by treaty, notwithstanding the
war between their respective countries, to abstain
from hostilities against one another in Bengal.  Still
the power of the Subahdar presented an appalling
aspect to Clive; and no sooner had he received inti-
mation of an abatement in the irritation of that enemy,
than he renewed his application {or peace. The
Subahdar received his letter, and even proposed a
conference ; but continued his march, and on the 3d
of February surrounded Calcutta with his camp.
Clive resolved to surprise it before dawn of the fol-
lowing morning. The design was no less politic than
bold; both as the audacity of it was likely to alarm
a timorous enemy ; and as the difficulty of procuring
provisions, surrounded by a large body of cavalry,
must soon have been great. The execution, however,
was badly planned ; and a thick mist augmented the
causes of misfortune. The troops suffered consider-
ably ; and were several times exposed to the greatest
dangers. Yet they marched through the camp; and
produced on the minds of the Subahdar and his army
the intended effect. Eager to be removed from an
enemy capable of those daring attempts, Suraja Dowla
was now in earnest to effect an accommodation.
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BOOK IV. Overtures were received and returned; and on the
Csar.3. gth of February a treaty was concluded by which the
1757. Nabob, as he was styled by the English, agreed to
restore to the Company their factories, and all the
privileges they had formerly enjoyed; to permit them
to fortify Calcutta; and to make compensation to
them for such of the plundered eflects as had been
brought to account in the books of his government,
So greatly was he pleased with this treaty, that two
days after its conclusion, he proposed to conclude with
the English an alliance offensive and defensive ; a con-
tract which the English eagerly formed, and which

both parties ratified on that very day.

In return to the French for that neutrality of
theirs which had saved the English, Clive, at the
very moment of making peace with the Nabob,
sounded him to know if he would permit the English
to attack the settlement at Chandernagor, for which
there still would be time before the setting in of the
southern monsoon. The proposition was hateful to
the Subahdar; but for the present he returned an
evasive answer. As this was not a prohibition, Clive
resolved to construe it as a permission; and he sent
his army across the river. The Subahdar now in-
terfered with efficacy; sent an express prohibition ;
and took measures for opposing the attempt.

The Council at Calcutta, no longer expecting the
consent of the Subahdar, and alarmed at the thought
of attempting the enterprise in defiance of his autho-
rity, entered into negotiation with the French. They
had mutually agreed upon terms; and obtained the
assent of the Subahdar to guarantee between them a
treaty of neutrality and pacification. But the factory
at Chandernagor was dependant on the government
of Pondicherry, and could only ratify the treaty pro-
visionally ; the government of Calcutta signed with
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definitive powers. This difference started a scruple BOOK IV,
in the brain of Admiral Watson; and he refused to Cuar. 3.
sign. In the opinion of Clive, there was but one 1757.
alternative : that of embracing the neutrality, or
instantly attacking Chandernagor. But Watson
refused to attack without the Nabob’s consent; and
Clive urged the necessity of accepting the neutrality.
In a letter to the Select Committee he said,  If the
neutrality be refused, do but reflect, Gentlemen,
what will be the opinion of the world of these our late
proceedings. Did we not, in consequence of a letter
received from the Governor and Council of Chander-
nagor, making offers of a neutrality within the
Ganges, in a manner accede to it, by desiring they
would send deputies, and that we would gladly come
into such neutrality with them? And have we not,
since their arrival, drawn out articles that were satis-
factory to both parties; and agreed that such articles
should be reciprocally signed, sealed, and sworn to?
What will the Nabob think, after the promises made
him on our side, and after his consenting to guarantee
this neutrality ? He, and all the world, will certainly
think, that we are men without principles, or that
we are men of a trifling insigunificant disposition.”’
While the altercations on this subject continued,
news reached the Subahdar, that Ahmed Shah, the
Abdallee, had taken Delhi; and meant to extend
his conquests to the eastern provinces of the Mogul
empire. This intelligence, which filled him with con-
sternation, suggested the vast importance of securing
the co-operation of the English ; and he immediately
sent a letter to Colonel Clive, the object of which
was to pave the way for attaining it, on almost any
terms. The very same day on which the letter of

! Report ut supra, Appendix, No. vi.
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The French atiacked.

BOOK IV.the Nabob reached Calcutta, the arrival was au-

Caar. 3.

1757,

nounced of three ships with troops from Bombay,
and of one of the ships, also bearing troops, which
sailed with Clive from Madras, but was compelled to
return. “ With such additicns,” says Mr. Orme,
“ the English force was deemed capable of taking
Chandernagor, although protected by the Nabol's
army : Colonel Clive therefore immediately dismissed
the French deputies, who were then with him waiting
to sign the treaty, which was even written out fair,
and which they supposed had been entirely con-
cluded.”?

'The English force advanced ; while the scruples of
Admiral Watson, under the great accession of force,
were vanquished by some supposed contradictions in
the letters of the Subahdar; and the opposition of the
Subahdar was suspended by his apprehension of the
Afghauns. On the 14th of March, the detachment
from Bombay having joined the English army, hosti-
lities commenced. The French defended themselves
with great gallantry : the Nabob, roused at last, and
eager to prevent their fall, sent peremptory orders to

' Orme, 1i. 139.  Clive himsell gives a curious account of the delibe-
ration upon this measure: * That the members of the Committee were
Mr. Drake (the Governor), himself (Col. Clive), Major Kilpatrick, and
Mr. Becher :—Mr. Becher gave his opinion for a neutrality, Major Kil-
patrick, tor a neutrality ;—he himself gave lis opinion for the attack of
the place; Mr. Drake gave au opinion that nobody could make any
thing of. Major Kilpatrick then asked him, whether he thuught the
forces and squadron could attack Chandernagor and the Nubob's army
at the same time !—Ne said, he thought they could; upon which Majoi
Kilpatrick desived to withdraw his opinion, and to be of his. They
voted Mr. Drake's no opinion at all ; and Major kilpatrick and he being
the majority, a letter was wrtten to Admiral Watson, desiring him to
co-operate in the attack on Chandernagor.” Report, ut supra. There
is something ludicrous in voting a man's opinion to be no opinion ; yet
the undecisive, hesitating, ambiguous propositions, of men who know
not what resolution to take, cannot, in genesal, perhaps, be treated by
a better rule.
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the English to desist; and even put a part of his BOOK1V.
army in motion: But the fire from the ships was Cutr. 5.
irresistible, and the reduction of the fort anticipated 1757.
the effects of his intended resistance. The resent-

ment of the Nabob was checked by his remaining

dread of the Abdallees; and he still courted the
friendship of the invaders : He, however, eluded their

request to give up all the other French factories and
subjects in his dominions; and afforded protection to

the troops who had escaped from the fort of Chander-

nagor.

The time was now arrived when, according to his
instructions, Clive ought no longer to have deferred
his return to Madras. He himself, in his letter to
the select committee, dated the 4th of March, had
said respecting Watson’s objection to the treaty of
neutrality ; ¢ This leads me to consider seriously the
situation of the Company’s affairs on the coast, and
the positive orders I have received from the President
and the Committee at Madras, to return at all events
with as great a part of the forces under my command
as could possibly be spared.”' ¢ The situation of the
Company’s affairs on the coast,” that is, in Carnatic,
was indeed in no small degree alarming, if they re-
mained without the protection of their military force,
sent for the restoration of the settlements in Bengal.
The Presidency of Madras had not left themselves
troops sufficient to make head against the Trench
even then in the country ; and it was known at Ma-
dras, before the departure of Clive, that, in conse-
quence of the expected hostilities, a powerful arma-
ment was destined by the French government for In-
dia ; and without doubt would make its first landing
in Carnatic. On the other side Clive beheld an open-

1 Report, ut supra, Appendi, No, vi.
VOL, III. A



162

Clive plans

BOOK IV.ing for exploits, both splendid and profitable, in Ben-

Caar. 3.
p—p————

1757,

gal; overlooked all other considerations ; violated his
instructions; and remained.

The French, who had collected themselves at Cos-
simbuzar, became the first subject of dispute. In-
stead of yielding them up, on the repeated solicita-
tions of the English, the Nabob furnished M. Law,
who was the head of the factory at Cossimbuzar,
with money, arms, and ammunition, and sent them
into Bahar; Clive, to the great displeasure of his
new ally, threatening, and even preparing, to detach
a part of his army to intercept them. By the author
of the Seer Mutakhareen, we are told, that M. Law,
before his departure, revealed to Suraja Dowla the
disaffection of his principal officers; the connection
which they would be sure to form with the English
for his destruction; and the necessity of retaining
the French about his person if he wished to preserve
himself from that deplorable fate. The persons,
however, who meditated his ruin, and who saw the
importance of removing the French, pressed upon his
mind the impolicy of quarrelling with the victorious
English on account of the vanquished end fugitive
French. He therefore dismissed M. Law, telling
him, * that if there should happen any thing new,
he would send for him again.”—* Send for me
again ? ” answered Law, < Be assured, my lord nawab,
that this is the last time we shall see each other; re-
member my words,—we shall never meet again; it
is nearly impossible.”!

Lord Clive, in his statement to the House of Com-
mons, said, “that after Chandernagor was resolved
to be attacked, he repeatedly said to the committee,
as well as to others, that they could not stop there, but

! Seer Mutakhareen, i. 762.
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must gofurther ; that, having established themselves BOOK 1V
by force, and not by consent of the Nabob, he would “***%
endeavour to drive them out again; that they had 1757
numberless proofs of his intentions, many upon re-
cord; and that he did suggest to Admiral Watson
and Sir George Pococke, as well as to the Committee,
the necessity of a revolution ; that Mr. Watson and
the gentlemen of the Committee agreed upon the ne-
cessity of it;' and that the management of that re-
volution was, with consent of the committee, left to
Mr. Watts, who was resident at the Nabob’s capital,
and himself; that great dissatisfaction arising among
Suraja Dowla’s troops, Meer Jaffier was pitched upon
to be the person to place in the room of Suraja
Dowla, in consequence of which a treaty was
formed.” *

A complicated scene took place, which it would be
little instructive to unfold,® of plotting and intrigue.
The first proposals were made by an officer named
Yar Khan Latty ; and they were greedily embraced ;
till intimation was received that Meer Jaffier Khan
was inclined to enter into a confederacy for deposing
the Subahdar. = This was a personage of much
greater power and distinction. IHe had been mar-
ried at an early period to the sister of Aliverdi, and
held a high rank in his army. Between him and
Aliverdi bad not been always the best understanding ;
and Meer Jaffier had at one time entered into a pro-
Ject of treason. But the interest of the two parties
taught them to master their dissatisfaction; and at

1 Captain Brereton, who was Licutenant with Admiral Watson, de-
clared in evidence, ¢ that he had heard Admiral Watson say, he thought
it an extraordinary measure to depose a man they had so lately made a
solemn treaty with.” Report, ut supra.

® Report, ut supra.

9 It has been done with exemplary minuteness and patience by Mr,
Orme, i1, 149—175,

M2
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Bargain with Meer Jaffier.

BOOK1V. the death of Aliverdi, Meer Jaffier was paymaster.

Cuar, 5.

1757,

general of the forces, one of the highest offices in an
Indian government. Suraja Dowla hated Meer Jaf-
fier, and was too ignorant and headstrong to use ma-
nagement with his dislikes. Shortly after his acces-
sion, Meer Jaffier was removed from his office, and
remained exposed to all that might result from the
violent disposition of the Subahdar. According to
the constitution however of an Indian army, in which
every General maintains his own troops, a consider-
able portion of the army belonged to Meer Jaffier ;
and this he exerted himself to increase, by enlisting
as many as possible of the adventurers, with whom
the nature of Indian warfare made the country
ahound.

In manufacturing the terms of the confederacy,
the grand concern of the English appeared to be
money. “ The Committee really believed,” says Mr.
Orme,  the wealth of Suraja Dowla much greater
than it possibly could be, even if the whole life of the
late Nahob Aliverdi had not been spent in defending
his own dominions against the invasion of ruinous
enemies; and even if Suraja Dowla himself had
reigned many, instead of only one year.”' They re-
solved accordingly not to be sparing 'in their de-
mands ; and the situation of Jaffier Khan, and the
manners and customs of the country, made him ready
to promise whatever they desired. In name of com-
pensation for losses by the capture of Calcutta,
10,000,000 rupees were promised to the English
Company, 5,000,000 rupees to English inhabitants,
2,000,000 to the Indians, and 700,000 to the Arme-
nians. These sums were specified in the formal treaty.
Over and Deside this, it was resolved by the Com-

! Orme, u. 153.
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mittee of the Council, that is, the small number of BOOK1V.
individuals by whom the business was performed, Caae. 3.
that a donation of 2,500,000 rupees should be asked 1757
for the squadron; and another of equal amount for
the army. “ When this was settled,” says Lord
Clive,' «“Mr. Becher (a member) suggested to the
Committee, that he thought that Committee, who
managed the great machine of government, was en-
titled to some consideration, as well as the army and
navy.” Such a proposition, in such an assembly,
could not fail to appear eminently reasonable. It
met with a suitable approbation. Mr. Becher in-
forms us, that the sums received were 280,000 ru-
pees by Mr. Drake the Governor ; 280,000 by Colonel
Clive ; and 240,000 each, by himself, Mr. Watis, and
Major Kilpatrick, the inferior members of the Com-
mittee.> The terms obtained in favour of the Com-
pany were, that all the French factories and effects
should be given up; that the French should be for
ever excluded from Bengal; that the territory sur-
rounding Calcutta to the distance of 600 yards be-
yond the Mahratta ditch, and all the land lying
south of Calcutta as far as Culpee should be granted
them on Zemindary tenure, the Company paying the
rents in the same manner as other Zemindars.

For effecting the destruction of Suraja Dowla it
was concerted, that the English should take the field;
and that Meer Jaffier should join them at Cutwa,

1 Evidence before the Committee, Report, ut supra.

2 1bid. These latter receipts were the occasion of a dispute,  Upon
tins bewng known,” said Clive, (Report ut supra) ¢ Mr. Watson rephed,
that ke was entitled to a share m that money. Ile (Clive) agreed in
opinion with the gentlemen, when this application was made, that Mr.
Watson was not one of the Committee, but at the same time did justice
to his services and proposed to the gentlemen to contribute as much as
would make his share equal to the Governor’s and his own ; that about
three or four consented to it, the rest would nat.”
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BOOK IV, with his own troops, and those of as many of the

Cuar- 3 other commanders as it should be in his power to

1757. debauch. When the English arrived at Cutwa, no

allies, however, appeared: Letters were received

from Moorshedabad by some of the natives in the

camp, stating that the conspiracy was discovered, and

that Meer Jaffier had obtained his pardon, on con-

dition of aiding the Nabob with all his resources

against the English. Instead of Meer Jaffier and his

troops, a letter from Meer Jaffier arrived. In this it

was stated, that the suspicions of the Nabob had

been raised ; that he had constrained Meer Jaffier to

swear fidelity on the Koran ; that it had thus become

impaossible for Meer Jaffier to join the English before

the day of battle; but that it would be easy for him,

in the action, to desert the Nabob, and decide the

fortune of the day. The mind of the English com.

mander was disturbed. The treachery of Meer

Jaffier could not be regarded as improbable; and

“ he thought it extremely hazardous™ (to use his

own words) “to pass a river which is only fordable

in one place, march 150 miles up the country, and

risk a battle, when, if a defeat ensued, not one man
would have returned to tell it.”!

In these difficulties he called a council of war.
“Tt is very rare,” says Mr. Orme, “that a council
of war decides for battle.”® Clive himself says,
“ that this was the only council of war that ever he
held, and if he had abided by that council, it would
have been the ruin of the East India Company.”?
The singularity is, that in the council Clive himself
was of the same opinion with the majority, and by
delivering his opinion first, which was far from the

1 Evidence, ut supra. 2 Orme, ii. 171,
3 Evidence, Report, ut supra,
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usual practice, had no doubt considerable influence in BOOK 1V.
determining others: yet that afterwards he disre- Caar. 8.
garded that decision ; and took upon himself to act 1757.
in direct opposition to it. The army was ordered to
cross the river the next morning; and at a little past
midnight arrived at Plassy.!

At this place, a part of the army of the Subahdar
had been intrenched for a considerable time ; and the
Subahdar himself had reached it with the remainder
of his forces the evening before the arrival of the
English. The army with which he was now to con-
tend for his power and his life consisted of 50,000 foot,
18,000 horse, and fifty pieces of cannon. Of the English
force, 900, including 100 artillery-men and fifty sail-
ors, were Europeans ; 100 were Topasses; and 2,100
Sepoys. The battle was nothing but a distant can-
nonade. This was maintained during the greatest
part of the day, and sufficed to terrify the Subahdar,
who, by the advice of those who desired his ruin,
issued orders of preparation for retreat. Upon this,
Jaffier Khan was observed moving off with his
treops : Clive was then convinced of his intention to
join him: He now, therefore, ordered the English
to advance, and attack that part of the line which
still maintained its position. The knowledge of
these two events determined the mind of the Subah-
dar, who mounted a fleet camel and fled with 2,000
attendants. No further resistance was offered ; and
the English entered the camp at five o’clock, having,
by the assistance of a weak and vicious sovereign,

' Scrafion (Reflections, p. 90,) says, that the Colonel’s resolution was
founded upon a letter he received from Jaffier in the course of the day.
Orme, who loves a little of the marvellous, says, ¢ that as soon as the
council of war broke up he retired alone into the adjoining grove, where
he continued near an hour in deep meditation ; and gave orders, on his
return to his quarters, that the army should cross the river the next
morning.” ii. 170,
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fall of the Nabob.

BOOK IV. determined the fate of a great kingdom, and of

Cuavr. 3.

1757.

80,000,000 of people, with the loss of twenty Euro-
peans killed and wounded, of sixteen Sepoys killed,
and only thirty-six wounded.’

The army advanced, about nine miles, to Daudpore,
the same evening, with little occasion to pursue the
enemy, who had almost entirely dispersed. At this
place, Meer Jaffier sent a message to the English com-
mander ; that he, with many more of the great officers,
and a considerable part of the army, waited his com-
mands. The next morning Clive sent to conduct
him to his quarters; and he arrived, under some
apprehensions, which the Colonel, thinking it no
time for reproaches, hastened to dispel. It was ar-
ranged that Meer Jaffier should march to the capital
immediately, to prevent the escape of Suraja Dowla,
and the removal of his wealth.

That wretched prince had arrived at his palace the
night after the Dbattle, where, now apprized that he
had not a friend on whom he could rely, and utterly
uncertain what course to pursue, he remained till
the evening of the following day, when Meer Jaffier
entered the city. Then his fears dictated a resolution.
He disguised himself in a mean dress, and about ten
o'clock at night went secretly out of a window of the
palace, with his favourite concubine and a single
eunuch, intending to join M. Law, and escape into
Bahar, where he counted upon the protection of the

Tovernor. The rowers, however, of his boat, worn
out before the morning with fatigue, stopped at Raje

1 Lord Clive stated (Report, ut supra,) « that the battle’s being at-
tended with so little bloodshed arose from two causes ; first, the army
was sheltered by so high a bank that the heavy artillery of the enemy
could not possibly do them much mischief; the other was, that Suraja
Dowla had not confidence in his army, nor his army any confidence in
him, and therefore they did not do their duty upon that occasion.”
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Mahl, where he endeavoured to conceal himself in a BOOK 1v.
garden. He was there, at break of day, discovered Ciaz. 3.
by a man, whom he had formerly treated with cru- 1757.
elty; and who now revealed him to the Governor.
Covered with indignity, he was hurried back to
Moorshedabad ; and presented to Meer Jaffier, who

placed him under the custody of his son. Theson,a

brutal, ferocious youth, the same night gave orders

for his assassination. M. Law, who received a sum-

mons to join the Nabob as soon as war with the
English appeared inevitable, immediately began his
march ; but had not passed Tacriagully when he
received reports of the battle of Plassy; and halted

for further information. “ Had he immediately pro-

ceeded twenty miles further,” says Mr. Orme, ¢ he

would the next day have met and saved Suraja
Dowla, and an order of events, very different from

those which we have to relate, would, in all pro-
bability, have ensued.”’

The battle was fought on the 23d of June, and on
the 25th Colonel Clive with his troops arrived at
Moorshedabad. On the next day, a meeting was
held to confer about the stipulated moneys; when
the chief officer of finance declared that the whole of
Suraja Dowla’s treasures was inadequate to the
demand. “ The restitution,” says Mr. Crme, © with
the donations to the squadron, the army, and the
committee, amounted to 22,000,000 of sicca rupees,
equal to 2,750,000/. But other donations were pro-
mised, which have since been the foundation of
several fortunes.”* 'The scantiness of the DBengal
treasury was most unexpected, as well as most pain-
ful news, to the English; who had been accustomed
to a fond and literal belief of Oriental exaggeration

1 Orme, 1i. 185, * Ibid, u. 180.
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Money obtained.

— ficulty were they brought to admit so hateful a truth.

Finding at last that more could not be obtained, they
consented to receive one half of the moneys imme-
diately, and to accept of the rest by three equal pay-
ments, in three years. Even of the portion which
was now to be received, it was necessary to take one
third not in specie, which was all exhausted, but in
jewels, plate, and other effects, at a valuation. Before
the 9th of August, after a multitude of difficulties,
the stipulated half, all but 584,905 rupees, was de-
livered and discharged.'

1 A piece of consummate treachery was practised upon an individual.
Among the Hindu merchants established at Calcatta was Omichund,
 a man,” says Mr. Orme, ¢ of great sagacity aud understanding,” who
had traded to a vast amount, and acquired an enormous fortune. “ The
extent of his habitation,” continues Mr. Orme, “ divided into various
departments, the number of his servants continually employed in various
occupations, and a retinue of armed men in constant pay, resembled
more the state of a prince than the condition of a merchant. His com-
merce extended to all parts of Bengal and Bahar, and by presents and
services he had acquired so much influence with the pricipal officers of
the Bengal government, that the Presidency, in times of difficulty, used
to employ his mediation with the Nabob. This pre-eminence, however,
did not fail to render him the objéct of much envy.” (Orme, ii. 50.)
When the alarm, excited by the hostile designs of Suraja Dowla, threw
into consternation the minds of Mr. Drake and his council, among other
weak 1deas which occurred to them, one was, to secure the person of
Ounnchund, lest, peradventure, he should be in concert with their ene-
mies. He was seized and thrown into confinement. Ihs guards, be-
lieving that violence, that is, dishonour, would next fall upon his house,
set fire to it, after the manner of {lindus, and slaughtered the inmates of
Lis harem. Notwithstanding this, when Mr. Holwell endeavoured to
parley with the Nabob, he employed Omichund to write letters to his
friends, lnportuning them to iutercede, in that extremity, with the
prince. At the capture, though his person was liberated, his valuable
effects and merchandize were plundered. No less than 40,000 rupees
in cash were found in his treasury. When an order was published that
such of the English as had escaped the black hole might return to their
Liomes, they were supplied with provisions by Omichund, “ whose inter-
cession,” says Orme, “ had probably procured their return.” Omi-
chund, upon the ruin of Calcutta, followed the Nabob’s army, and soon
acquired a high degree of confidence both with the Nabob’s favourite,
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Upon the news of the seizure and death of Suraja BOOK 1v.

Dowla, M. Law, with the French party, hastened C=+%-3-
1757.
and with himself. After the recovery of Calcutta, when the Nabob,
alarmed at the attack of his camp, entered into negotiation, apd con-
cluded a treaty, Omichund was one of the principal agents employed.
And when Mr. Watts was sent to Moorshedabad as agent at the durbar
(court) of Suraja Dowla,  he was accompanied,” says Mr. Orme,
(1i.137,) “ by Omichund, whose conduct in the late negotiation had
effaced the impression of former imputations, insomuch that Mr. Watis
was permitted to consnlt and employ him without reserve on all occa-
sions.” He was employed as a main instrument in all the intrigues with
Jaffier. It was never surmised that he did not second with all his efforts,
the projects of the English ; it was never denjed that his services were of
the utmost importance. Mr. Orme says expressly (p. 182) that  his
tales and artifices prevented Suraja Dowla from believing the represen-
tations of his most trusty servants, who early suspected, and at length
were convinced, that the English were confederated with Jaffier.” When
the terms of compensation for the losses sustained by the capture of
Calcutta were negotiated between Mr. Watts and Meer Jaffier, 3,000,000
of rupees were set down for Omichund, which, censidering the extent of
his property, and thdt ¢ most of the best houses in Calcutta were his,”
(Orme, i1, 128,) was probably not more than his loss. Looking forward
to the rewards which ke doubted not that Jaffier, if successful, would
bestow upon those of the English who were the chief instruments of his
exaltation ; estimating also the importance of his own services, and the
risk, both of life and of fortune, which, in rendering those services, he
had incurred, Omichund conceived that he too might put in his claim for
reward; and, according to the example of his countrymen, resolved not
to injure himself Ly the modesty of hisdemand. He asked a commission
of five per cent., on the money which should be received from the Na-
bob's treasury, and a fourth part of the jewels; but agreed upon hearing
the objections ot Mr. Watts, to refer his claims to the committee. When
the accounts were sent to Calcutta, the sum to be given to Omichund,
even as compensation for his losses, seemed a very heavy grievance to
men who panted for more to themselves. To men whose minds were in
such a state, the great demands of Omichund appeared {the reader will
laugh~—but they did literally appear) a crime. They were voted a
crime ; and so great a crime, as to deserve to be punished—to be pa-
nished, not only by depriving him of all reward, but depriving him of his
compensation, that compensation which was stipulated for to every body:
It was voted that Omichund sheuld have nuthing. They were in his
power, however, theretore he was not to be irntated. It was necessary
he should be deceived. Clive, whom deception, when it suited his pur-
pose, never cost a pang, proposed, that two treaties with Meer Jathier
should be drawn up, and signed : One, in which satisfaction to Omichund
should be provided for, which Omichund should see; another, that which
should really be executed, in which he should not be named. To his
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BOOK Iv.back, to join the Governor of Bahar, at Patna, the
Caar. 3. capital of the province. Upon the assassination of
1757. the father of Suraja Dowla, Aliverdi had nominated
Suraja Dowla himself to the nabobship of that im-
portant province ; but appointed Ramnarain, a Hindu,

in whom he reposed great confidence, to be Deputy
Governor in the absence of the Prince. Ramnarain

had administered the affairs of the province during

the life of Aliverdi, and had continued in the govern-

ment since the accession of Suraja Dowla. From

him Meer Jaffier expected no co-operation, and dis-
played anxiety that thc French party should be
pursued. He suspected, however, the fidelity of any

part of his own army; and a large detachment of the
English were sent under Major Coote. They were
detained too long in preparation ; they were poorly
provided with the means of expedition; and the
European part of the detachment, exasperated at the
fatigue they had to endure, behaved mutinously on

the way. DBefore they reached Patna, the French

had arrived ; and, to obviate disputes, had been sent
forward by Ramnarain into the territory of the Subah-

dar of Oude, with whom he had begun to negotiate

an alliance. Major Coote was at first instructed

to endeavour by intrigue and by force to wrest

the. government from Ramnarain: but while he

was meditating the execution of these orders, he
received further instructions which led to an accom-
modation; and he returned to Moorshedabad on the

15th of September. The detachment which he had

honour be it spoken, Admiral Watson refused to be a party in this trea-
chery. He would not sign the false treaty; and the commttee forged
Wis name. When Omichund, upon the final adjustment, was told that
he was cheated, and found that he was u ruined man, he fainted away,
and lost his reason. e was from that moment insane. Not an Eng-
Lishman, not even Mr. Orme, has vet expressed a word of sympathy or
regret.



Accommodation with the Governor of Bahar. 173

conducted was stationed at Cossimbuzar, near Moor- BOOK 1v.
shedabad ; the rest of the army was sent into quarters “**% 3-
at Chandernagor as a more healthy situation than 1757,
the seat of the Presidency ; and on the day after the

arrival of Major Coote, Colonel Clive left Moor-
shedabad and returned to Calcutta.!

1 The chief authorities which have been followed for this series of
transactiors in Bengal, have been the Seer Mutakhareen, i. 298—772;
the First Report from the Committee on the Nature, State, and Condi~
tion of the East India Company, in 1772, which is full of curious infor-
mation ; Orme’s War in India, ii. 28—196 ; and the tracts published by
the various actors in the scene, Scrafton, Watts, &c.



174

BOOK IV.
CHap. 4.

6.

17

5

Stale of Carnatic.

CHAP. IV.

Renewal of the war with the French in Carnatic—
Arrival of Lally.— French power superior to the
English—English power superior to the French.
~—Pondicherry taken—and the French driven
out of Carnatic.

WHEN the English detachment for the recovery of
Calcutta, and the French detachment for the relief
of Bussy, left Carnatic, the contending parties were
so far diminished in force, as to meditate quietness
and forbearance : the English, till the troops which
they had sent to Bengal should return ; the French,
till the armament should arrive, which they expected
from Europe. In the mean time it was felt by the
English as a grievous misfortune, that though their
Nabob Mahomed Ali was now without a rival in
Carnatic, its pecuniary produce was remarkably small.
The governors of forts and districts, the zemindars,
polygars, and renters, employed, as usual, all their
means of artifice and force, to withhold their pay-
ments ; and the rabble employed by Mahomed Al
as soldiers, ill paid and weakly governed, were found
altogether inadequate to the establishment of an
efficient authority in the province. The notion which
was early entertained of the great pecuniary supplies
capable of being drawn from Madura and Tinivelly,
appears still to have maintained a determining influ-
ence in the councils of Madras; and notwithstanding
the general resolution to remain inactive, Captain Cal-
liaud, the commanding officer at Trichinopoly, before
the end of the year 1756, received instructions to re-
new his attempts for the reduction of those depen-
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dencies. In the hope of prevailing upon the King BooK 1v.
of Tanjore to afford some assistance ; a hope which, CHAF-4
as usual, he took care to disappoint ; Captain Calliaud 1757,
directed his march through Tanjore, and crossing
Marawar, arrived in Tinivelly. The troops who ac-
companied him, joined to the body of Sepoys who
had remained in the country, and the troops of the
Polygars who had espoused the English interest, com-
posed a formidable army. But it was unable to proceed
to action for want of money ; and the utmost exertions
of Calliaud produced but an insignificant supply. In-
telligence that the rebellious polygars were treating
with the Mysoreans, who had a station at the fort of
Dindigul, presented in strong colours the necessity of
expedition ; yet he was unable to leave Tinivelly be-
fore the 10th of April; when he marched to attack
Madura with 180 Europeans, 2,500 Sepoys, six field-
pieces, and 500 horse. Upon arriving at the town,
he found it a place of much greater strength then he
had been led to suppose; and, without battering
cannon, not easy, if possible, to be reduced. He
planned an effort to take it by surprise. The first
ladders were planted; and Calliaud himself, with
twenty men, had got into the fausse-bray, when the
guard within received the alarm, and they were ob-
liged to retreat. Two companies of Sepoys were
soon after dispatched to bring two pieces of battering
artillery from Trichinopoly ; and Calliaud had com-
menced an intrigue with some of the jematdars, or
captains of the enemy’s troops, when he received
intelligence that the Irench had arrived at Tri-
chinopoly.

During these efforts to obtain possession of the re-
venues of Madura and Tinivelly, similar efforts had
been undertaken in other parts of the province. A
brother of the Nabob, by name Nezeeb Oolla,
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BOOK IV. who was Governor of Nelore and its district, situated

Cuar. 4.

1757,

in the northern quarter of Carnatic, evaded or re-
fused payment of the sums demanded of him; and
the Nabob, who possessed not the means of coercion,
was urgent with the Epglish to perform it in his
stead. The rupture between the two brothers took
place towards the end of Febrvary, and it was the
1st of April before the English troops were ready to
march. By the end of the month they had erected
batteries against the fort ; on the 2d of May a breach
was effected, which they deemed practicable ; and a
storm was attempted the next morning. But the
Eunglish were repulsed from the breach, nor was it
deemed expedient to renew the attack till more bat-
tering-cannon should be received from Madras. In
the mean time the detachment received orders to re-
turn to the Presidency with all expedition.

The Government of Pondicherry, notwithstanding
the pacific policy inculcated by the recall of Dupleix,
and the commands which they had received to ab-
stain from all operations of hazard, till the arrival of
the forces which they expected from Europe, deter-
mined, when they saw the English so largely at work,
and their small force separated to such a distance as
Tinivelly and Nelore, to avail themselves of an op-
portunity which good fortune seemed to present.
They took the field on the 6th of April; but, to
cover their designs, with only a small number of
troops, and for an object of minor importance. By
forced marches they appeared before Ellavanasore on
the 10th, a fort possessed by a chief, who had hitherto
refused to acknowledge cither the English or the
French Nabob. In a sally, in which he threw the
French army into great jeopardy, he received a
mortal wound, of which he died in a few days, and
the garrison, during the night, evacuated the fort.

~



Tnwest Trichinopoly.

1

The French, after this acquisition, marched in the BgOK Iv.

direction leading to the territory of some polygars

HAP. 4.

with whom they had disputes; and Captain Calliaud 1757.

received a letter from the Madras Presidency, on the
very day on which he attempted to surprise Madura,
that from the late intelligence received of the mo-
tions of the French, no design on their part was
apprehended against Trichinopoly.! The season for
the arrival of the English troops from Bengal was
elapsed ; and it was impossible now that any should
return before September. The French, therefore,
suddenly, barring their garrisons; leaving in Pondi-
cherry itself none but invalids; and enrolling the
European inhabitants to man the walls, dispatched
every soldier to the field; and the army took post
before Trichinopoly on the 14th of May. The gar-
rison, deprived of the troops which had marched to
Madura, were insufficient to guard the walls; and they
had 500F rench prisoners in the fort. Calliaud received
intelligence before Madura of the imminent danger of
Trichinopoly, at three o’clock in the afternoon of the
21st; at six he was on his march; on the 25Lh at
day-break he halted nineteen miles from Trichino-
poly. An army five times as great as his watched
his approach, and guarded every avenue by which it
was supposed he could enter the fort. On one side of
the town was a large plain, about seven miles in
extent, consisting of rice fields, covered with water,
which the French deemed impassable. Calliaud con-
tinued his march, as if he intended to enter by one of
the ordinary inlets, till night ; when he suddenly took
another direction; and arrived at the margin of the
rice fields about ten o’clock. The fatigue of march-
ing through the rice fields up to the knees in mud,

t Cambridge, p. 140.
VOL, IIlL N
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BOOR 1v. after forced marches of several days, was excessive.

Onar.%. At day-break, however, the main body of the detach-

1757. ment reached the fort, and were received with that

ardent welcome by its inmates which the greatness of

the danger, and the exertions which the detachment

had made to save it, naturally inspired. The French

commander, astonished at the news of their entrance,

and now despairing of success, marched away for
Pondicherry the following day.’

Intelligence of the march of the French against
Trichinopoly, and of the repulses sustained by their
own troops, in the two assaults upon Madura and
Nelore, reached the Presidency of Madras at nearly
the same time. They recalled immediately the de-
tachment from Nelore; sent as many troops as pos-
sible into the field ; and were uncertain whether,
to relieve Trichinopoly, they should recall the
French to the defence of their own settlements, or
march to attack them before the place ; when the
welcome news arrived of the fact and consequences
of Calliaud’s return. To possess and garrison the
forts which were scattered over the country, and
which, by commanding the adjacent districts, afforded
the only chance of revenue, was a principal object of
desire to both contending parties. Several transac-
tions took place about this time, relating to places of
minor importance ; but Wandewash was a fortress to
the reduction of which peculiar value was attached.
The Governor of Wandewash had paid no revenue
since 1752 he had perpetually favoured the French ;
who from that station had been enabled to make in-
cursions into every part of the province; it not only
afforded a large revenue, it was also a barrier to the

1 Orme, i, 197—217; Cambridge’s War in India, p. 137—153;
Wilks’ Historical Sketches of the South of India, p. 592, 398,
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surrounding districts. In hopes that it might be BOOK IV,
taken before the French army could arrive from C%*% %
Trichinopoly to its relief, the English commander, 1757.
sent to the attack, was ordered to push his operations
with the greatest vigour. He got possession of the
town, which was contiguous to the fort, after a slight
resistance. The French, however, werc now hasten-
ing to its relief; and Colonel Aldercron, whose march
had not displayed any wonderful dispatch, thought it
prudent to renounce the enterprise before they arrived.
At his departure he set fire to the defenceless town:
though no peculiar circumstance is alleged to justify
an act so cruel to the innocent inhabitants.

The English Presidency, to whom the nabobship
of Arcot continued as yet but little productive, were
straitened in their treasury. Anxicus therefore to
diminish expense, they gave directions, upon hearing
that the army had retired from Wandewash, for its
proceeding immediately to the Presidency. Unhap-
pily the enemy were in the field, of which they were
thus left entirely the masters; and they performed a
successful incursion as far as Conjeveram, where they
burned the town, to revenge the outrage committed
upon Wandewash. The Presidency, now aware of their
blunder, ordered back the army into the field. The
two armies were nearlyequal. The English offered bat-
tle ; but the French kept within their entrenchments.
The English, after remaining in their presence for some
weeks, retired again at the end of July ; and marched
to the several stations from which they had been drawn.
The French were no sooner masters of the field, than
they renewed their incursions, collected the revenues,
and levied contributions in several districts.

A pressure was now sustained of another descrip-
tion. The Mahratta general Balagee Row had paid
a visit of exaction to the kingdom-of Mysore the pre-

N 2
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BOOK 1V, ceding season ; and, upon marching back to his own

Cuar. 4.

1757.

country, before the period of the rains, left an officer
with a large detachment, who, after taking several
intervening forts, made himself master of one of the
passes into Carnatic, about sixty miles north-west
from the city of Arcot, and sent a peremptory de-
mand of the chout for the whole nabobship. The city
of Arcot was thrown into the utmost alarm : the
Nabob dreaded the incursion of Mahratta parties
into the very town; and accepted the invitation of
the English to send his family to Madras. The
Mahrattas pretended that the chout had been settled
by Nizam al Mulk, at 600,000 rupees a year; two
thirds for Carnatic, and one for Trichinopoly and the
southern dependencies. Of this they asserted that
six years were due; and presented their demand, in
the whole, at 4,000,000 of rupees. The Nabob, who
knew the weakness of his physical, if not of his in-
tellectual resources, was glad to negotiate. After
much discussion, the Mabratta agent consented to ac-
cept of 200,000 rupees, in ready money, and the
Nabol's draughts upon the governors of forts and
the polygars, for 250,000 more. To these terms
the Nabob agreed ; but he required that the money
should be found by the English, and should be fur-
nished out of the revenues which he had assigned to
them for the expenses of the war. At this time the
English might have obtained important assistance
against the Mahrattas. DMorari Row, and the Patan
Nabobs of Savanore, Canoul, Candanore, and Cu-
dapa, who, since the assassination of Nazir Jung, had
maintained a sort of independence, offered their al-
liance. But the English could spare no troops ; and
were as much afraid to admit such allies into the pro-
vince as the Mahrattas themselves. After as much
delay and evasion as possible, they were induced, not-
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withstanding the danger of the precedent, in fear of BOOK Iv.
greater evils, to comply with the demand. Cuar. 4.

During all this period the attention of the Presi- 1757.
dency of Madras may be considered as chiefly
divided between two objects; the French in Carnatic,
and the Polygars of Madura and Tinivelly. When
Calliaud was obliged to march from Madura for the
defence of Trichinopoly, he left about sixty Euro-
peans, and upwards of 1,000 Sepoys, who were not
inactive; and, as soon as he was convinced that no
further danger was to be apprehended from the
French, he dispatched a reinforcement from Trichi-
nopoly. In compliance with the recommendation of
the Presidency, Calliaud himself, with as great a
portion of the troops from Trichinopoly as it was
safe to withdraw, marched on the 25th of June, and
arrived at Madura on the 3d of July. Having effected
a breach on the 10th, he resolved to storm. He was
repulsed with great loss. For some days the opera-
tions of the besiegers were retarded by the sickness
of their leader. The admission of supplies into the
town was now, however, cut off; and the negotia-
tions for its surrender were renewed. After some
time was spent in bargaining about the price, Cal-
liaud, on the 8th of August, on payment of 170,000
rupees, was received into the town.

On the 8th of September a French fleet of twelve
ships anchored in Pondicherry road ; but, after land-
ing about a thousand men, it again set sail for
Mauritius. This was not the grand armament which
the government at Pondicherry expected; and, till
the arrival of which, all operations of magnitude
were to be deferred. The army, however, which had
been scouring the country, was still in its camp at
Wandewash. It was now strongly reinforced by the
troops newly arrived; and marched against the fort
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BOOK IV, of Chittapet. The Nabob, Mahomed Ali, had a
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Caar. 4. personal dislike to the Governor of Chittapet, and’

1757. had infused into the English suspicions of his fidelity,

which imprudently diminished the efforts necessary
for his support. He fell, defending his fort to the
last extremity ; and thus another place of consider-
able importance was gained by the French. From
Chittapet they marched to Trinomalee, which was
abandoned by the Governor and garrison, upon their
approach. After this they divided themselves into
several detachments; and before the 6th of Novem-
Der, when they were recalled, they had reduced eight
forts in the neighbourhood of Chittapet, Trinomalee,
and Gingee; and established collectors in the de-
pendent districts.

On the news of the arrival of the French fleet,
Captain Calliaud returned to Trichinopoly, with all
the Europeans, and was soon after followed by the
Sepoys, who, however, went back, as soon as it
appeared that Trichinopoly was not in danger. The
Mysoreans, who had been long expected to the
assistance of the confederate Polygars, arrived in the
month of November, took the fort of Sholavenden,
and plundered to the walls of Madura, under which
they remained for several days. They allowed them-
selves, however, to be attacked in a narrow pass, by
the commander of the British Sepoys, and suffered a
severe defeat. In the mean time Captain Calliaud,
under the safeguard of a passport from Pondicherry,
repaired in person to the Presidency, to represent the
state of the southern dependencies, for the reduction
of which so many useless efforts had been made;
and declared his opinion that the settlement of the
country could not be achieved, or a revenue drawn
from it, without a greater force, or the removal of
Maphuz Khan. It was agreed with the Nabob that
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an amnual income, adequate to his maintenance, BOOK 1v.

should be offered to this his elder brother, provided
he would quit the province and disband his troops.
Maphuz Khan, however, would listen to no terms
importing less than the government of the whole
country; and the confederates continued in formidable
force.

Though, after the recall of the French troops in
November, no army was in the field; the garrisons
left in the several forts continued to make incursions
upon one another, and mutually ravaged the unhappy
country, As these operations, “ being always levelled
at defenceless villages, carried,” says Mr. Orme, * the
reproach of robbery, more than the reputation of war;”
each side, too, losing by them more than it gained ;
the French officer at Wandewash proposed a confer-
ence, for the purpose of ending this wretched species
of warfare; and an English officer was authorized to
conclude an agreement. The governments of Madras
and Pondicherry were both now disposed to suspend
their efforts—the Freneh, till the arrival of the forces
which they boasted were to render them irresistible
in Carnatic—the English, that they might husband
their resources for the danger with which they were
threatened. In this situation they continued till the
28th of April, when -a French squadron of twelve
sail arrived in the road of Fort St. David.

Upon the breaking out of the war between France
and England in 1756, the French ministry resolved
to strike an important blow in India. The Count de
Lally, a member of one of those Irish families, which
had transported themselves into France along with
James II., was appointed Commander-in-Chief of all
the French forces in India. He had distinguished
himself in the battle of Fontenoy, where he took
several English officers with his own hand, and re-

Cuap. 4.

17570
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BOOK IV. ceived the rank of Colonel from the King, upon the
Cuar.4. feld of battle: It was he who proposed the daring
1758. plan of landing in England with 10,000 men, while
the Prince, Charles Edward, was trying his fortune for
a crown in another part of the island : And his hatred
of the English, and his reputation for courage, now
pointed him out as the fittest person to crush the pre-
tensions of that nation on the coast of Coromandel.
He was accompanied with his own regiment of Irish,
1080 strong; with fifty of the royal artillery, and a
great number of officers of distinction. They left the
port of Brest on the 4th of May, 1757, when a ma-
lignant fever raged in the town, of which they carried
the infection along with them. No fewer than 300
persons died in the fleet before they reached Rio Ja-
neiro, where they remained for two months, and, after
all, departed with a residue of the sickness on board.
At Mauritius they were joined by a part of the ships
which had landed the troops at Pondicherry in the
preceding year; and, after a tedious voyage, made the

coast of Coromandel on the 25th of April.

The court of Versailles anticipated nothing but
triumphs from this splendid armament ; and the pre-
sumption of Lally well assorted with that of his
government. It was even laid down in the instruc-
tions of the ministers, that he should commence his
operations with the siege of Iort St. David. For this
purpose, before communicating with the land, he
made the fleet anchor at the place of attack. He pro-
ceeded with two of the vessels to Pondicherry, where
he arrived at five in the afternoon;' and before the

! He himself complains that little preparation was made to co-operate
with him. Among the proofs of carelessness, onc was that he was su-
luted with five discharges of cannon, loaded with ball, of which three
pierced the ship through and through, and the two others damaged the
riggwg ; Memoire pour Lally, i. 89.
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night closed he had 1,000 Europeans, and as many BOOK IV.
Sepoys, on their march to Fort St. David. In milie o474
tary operations, notwithstanding the importance of 1758,
dispatch, something more than dispatch is necessary.
The troops marched without provisions, and with
unskilful gmdes, who led them astray, and brought
them to Fort St. David at seven o’clock in the morn-
ing, worn out with hunger and fatigue.' This gave
them a motive and an apology for commencing a
system of plunder and insubordination, from which
they could not easily be recalled.

These troops had scarcely arrived at Fort St.
David, when the ships in the road descried the Eng-
lish fleet making way from the south. Mr. Pococke,
with the ships of war from Bengal, had arrived at
Madras on the 24th of February; on the 24th of the
following month a squadron of five ships from Bom-
bay had arrived under Admiral Stevens; and on the
17th of April, the whole sailed to the southward,
looking out for the French. Having in ten days
worked as high to windward as the head of Ceylon,
they stood in again for the coast, which they made,
off Negapatnam, on the 28th, and, proceeding along
shore, discovered the French fleet at nine the next
morning, riding near Cuddalore. The French imme-
diately weighed, and bore down towards Pondicherry
throwing out signals to recall the two ships which had

! Lally complains, and with good reason, of the deplorable ignorance
of the French Gouvernor and Council. They could not tell him the
amount of the English forces on the coast; nor whether Cuddalore was
surrounded with a dry wall or a rampart; nor whether there was any
river to pass between Poudicherry and Fort St. David.  He complains
tnat he lost forty-eight hours at Cuddaiore, because there was not a man
at Pondichesry, who could tell himn that it was open on the side next the
sea; that he was unable to find twenty-four haurs’ provisions at Poudi-
cherry; and that the Governor, who promised to forward a portion to
him upon the road, broke his word; whence the troops were two days
without food, and some of them died. Ikid. 40, 11.
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BOOK IV. sailed with Lally; and the English Admiral gave the
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1758.

signal for chase. The summons for the two ships not
Leing answered, the French fleet stood out to sea, and
formed the line of battle. The French consisted of
nine sail, the English only of seven. The battle was
indecisive ; the loss of a few men, with some damage
to the ships, being the only result.' Both fleets fell
considerably to leeward during the engagement ; and
the French were six days in working up to the road
of Pondicherry, where the troops were landed. Lally
himself had some days before proceeded to Fort St.
David with the whole force of Pondicherry, and the
troops from the fleet were sent after him, as fast as
they came on shore.

The English were thrown into the greatest alarm.
So much was the power of the enemy now superior
to their own, that they scarcely anticipated any other
result, than their expulsion from the country; and
had Dupleix been still the guide and conductor of the
enemy’s affairs, it is more than probable, that their
most gloomy apprehensions would have been realised.?
Not only had an overwhelming addition been made
to a force, against which they had previously found
it difficult to maintain themselves; but in the mean
time, Bussy, in the northern parts of Deccan, had
obtained the most important advantages, and brought
upon the English the heaviest disasters. After the
brilliant exploit of 1756, when he defended himself at
Hyderabad against the whole power of the Subahdar,

1 A French ship was driven on shore, and obliged to be abandoned ;
but this was owing to an accident after the battle.

2 Lord Clive himself said, in his evidence before the Committee, in
1772: ¢ Mr. Lally arrived with such a force as threatened not only the
destruction of all the settlements there, but of all the East India Com-
pany’s possessions, and nothing saved Madras from sharing the fate of
Fort St. David, at that time, but their want of mouey, which gave time
for strengthening and reinforcing the place.” Report, ut supra.
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and imposed his own terms upon his enemies, he had BOOK 1v.
proceeded to the Northern Circars, where his presence Ciuap. 4.
was necessary, to collect the revenues, and, by an ad- 1758.
Jjustment of the government, to provide for the future
regularity of their payment. He began his march on
the T6th of November of that year, with 500 Buro-
peans and 4,000 Sepoys; leaving only a small de-
tachment to attend the person of the Subahdar.! In
accomplishing his progress through the country, he
encountered no coosiderable resistance. The Polygar
of Bobilee defended his fort to the last extremity ; and
exhibited the customary spectacle of Hindu despera-
tion, the fortress in flames, and the people in garrison
butchered by their own hands : But he was excited to
this desperation by the command to exchange the
government of his present for that of another district,
on account of the annoyance he gave to a neighbour-
ing Chief, from whom Bussy had received a train of
important services. When Bussy had nearly com.
pleted the arrangement which he intended to make,
he received about the Ist of April letters from Suraja
Dowla, inviting him, by the largest offers, to assist
him in expelling the English from Bengal. Bussy
waited on his northern frontier, ready to march
through Orissa into Bengal, as soon as he should re-
ceive satisfactory intelligence ; but, learning the cap-
ture of Chandernagor, and the imbecility of the Sub-
ahdar, he changed his purpose, and proceeded to the
attack of the English establishments within the Cir-
cars. There were three factories, on three different
branches of the Godavery, in a district remarkable
for the excellence and cheapness of its cloths. They

1 Orme (ii. 104) says he left 100 Europeans and 1,000 Sepoys. Wilks
(Histor. Sketches, p. 387) says he left 200 Europeans and £00 Sepays.
Orme again (Ibid. p. 264) speaks of the detachment as consisting of 200
Earopeans and 500 Sepoys.
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BOOK Iv. were places of no strength, and surrendered on the
Cmar. 4. first requisition. Vizigapatam, however, was one of
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the places of greatest importance belonging to the
English in India. It was a fort, garrisoned by 150
Europeans, and 300 Sepoys; but so injudiciously con-
structed, that the attempt to defend it was unani-
mously determined to be vain. The van of Bussy's
army appeared before it on the 24th of June; and a
capitulation was concluded ; that all the Europeans,
both military and civil, should be regarded as pri-
soners, and all the effects of the Company as prize of
war. The Sepoys, and other natives, Bussy allowed
to go where they pleased ; he also promised to respect
the property of individuals. “ And he kept his word,”
says Mr.Orme, ¢ with the utmost liberality, resigning,
without discussion, whatsoever property any one
claimed as his own.”

During these transactions, however, a great revo-
lution was preparing in the army of Salabut Jung.
He bhad two younger brothers, whom Bussy, ac-
quainted with the temper of Oriental governments,
had advised the Subahdar to provide with establish-
ments, and every indulgence suitable to their rank,
but from whom he had exhorted him carefully to
withhold those governments and places of power,
which, in the hands of the near relations of the
Prince, were the cause of so many revolutions in In-
dia. 'This prudent course was pursued till the period
of the alienation from Bussy of the mind of the Su-
bahdar; when that Prince was easily persuaded, by
his designing courtiers, to reverse the policy which the
sagacity of Bussy had established. The eldest of the
two brothers, Bassalut Jung, was appointed Governor
of the strong fort and country of Adoni; and Nizam
Ali, the youngest and most dangerous, was made
Governor of Berar, the most extensive province of



Bussy. ~ 189

Deccan, of which the Mahrattas now possessed the BOOK Iv.
principal part. Cusr. 4.
Towards the end of the year 1757, while a body of 1758,
Mabhrattas insulted Aurengabad, which was then the
residence of the Subahdar, a mutiny, under the usual
shape of clamour for pay, was excited in his army.
The utmost alarm was affected by the Duan, or mi-
nister, who togk shelter in a strong fort : The Subah-
dar, without resources, was driven to dismay : Nizam
Ali, who had acquired some reputation, and intrigued
successfully with the troops, offered to interpose and
allay the tumults, provided the requisite powers, and
among other things the great seal of the Subah, were
committed to his hands : the requisition was obeyed :
and Nizam Ali, leaving only the name of Subahdar to
hisbrother, grasped the whole powersof the state. With
an affectation of indifference he committed the seal to
his brother Bassalut Jung, but under sufficient secu-
rity that it would be used agreeably to his directions.
Bussy received intelligence of these events in the
beginning of January ; immediately began his march
with the whole of his army; and by a road never
travelled before by European troops, arrived in twen-
ty-one days at Aurungabad, a distance by the peram-
bulator of nearly 400 miles.! Four separate armies
were encamped about the city; that of Nizam Ali
from Berar ; that of the Subah, of which Nizam Ali
had now the command; that of Bassalut Jung from
Adoni; aud that of the Mahrattas commanded by
Balagce Row. The presence of Bussy, with his
handful of Europeans, imposed respect upon them all ;
and every eye was fixed upon his movements. His
first care was to restore the authority of the Subah-

' Mr. Orme states the days on report merely ; buat we may presume it
was the best information which that careful historian could procure.
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BOOK Iv, dar, whom the presence alone of the French detach-

Caar. 4. ment, which had vigilantly guarded his person, had

1758, probably saved from the assassination which generally
forms the main ingredient of Indian revolutions.

The two brothers at first assumed a high tone ; and
when obliged to part with the seal, exhibited unusual
marks of rage and indignation. Bussy clearly saw
that the safety of the Subahdar, and the existence of
the present government, demanded the resumption of
the power which had been entrusted to Nizam Ali;
but when the proposition of alarge pension was made
to him in lieu of his government, he had the art to
interest his troops in his behalf, and Bussy found it
necessary to temporize. To remove still further the
umbrage which he found was gaining ground at the
uncontrolable authority with which a stranger dis-
posed of the powers of Deccan, and of the sons of
the great Nizam al Mulk, he re-committed the seal of
state to Bassalut Jung, but under securities which
precluded any improper use.

To provide a permanent security for his predo-
minating influence in the government of the Subah,
there was wanting, besides the distant provinces
which yielded him the necessary revenue, a place of
strength near the seat of government, to render him
independent of the sudden machinations of his ene-
mies., The celebrated fortress of Dowlatabad, both
from locality and strength, was admirably adapted to
his views. It was at present in possession of the
prime minister, the mortal foc of Bussy, the chief
actor in the late commotions, and the assured instru-
ment of others in every hostile design. By a sum of
money, Bussy gained the Deputy Governor to admit
him secretly with his troops into the fort; and this
invaluable instrument of power was gained without
the loss of a man. As the utmost efforts, however,
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of the resentment of the minister were now assureG, BOOK IV.
Bussy secured the means of rendering him a prisoner Cuar.4.
in the midst of the camp of the Subahdar, at the very 1758.
hour when he himself was received into the fort of
Dowlatabad. These events alarmed Nizam Ali into
submission ; and an accommodation was effected, by
which he agreed to divest himself of his government
of Berar, and accept of Hyderabad in its stead.
When holding his court, to receive the compliments
of the principal persons, before his departure for his
new government, he was waited upon, among others,
by Hyder Jung, the Duan of Bussy. This personage
was the son of a Governor of Masulipatam, who had
been friendly to the French; and he had attached
himself to Bussy, since his first arrival at Golconda.
Bussy was soon aware of his talents, and soon dis-
covered the great benefit he might derive from them.
He became a grand and dexterous instrument for
unravelling the plots and intrigues against which it
was necessary for Bussy to be incessantly on his
guard ; and a no less consummate agent in laying the
trains which led to the accomplishment of Bussy’s
designs. To give him the greater weight with his
countrymen, and more complete access to the persons
and the minds of the people of consequence, he ob-
tained for him titles of nobility, dignities, and riches;
and enabled him to hold his Durbar, like the greatest
chiefs. He was known to have been actively em-
ployed in the late masterly transactions of Bussy ;
and an occasion was chosen on which a blow might
be struck, both at his life, and that of Salabut Jung.
A day was appointed by the Subahdar for paying his
devotions at the tomb of his father, distant about
twenty miles from Aurungabad; and on the second
day of his absence, Nizam Al held his court. Hyder
Jung was received with marked respect; but, on
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BOOKIV.some pretext, detained behind the rest of the assem-
Cusr-4. ply, and assassinated. The first care of Bussy, upon
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this new emergency, was, to strengthen the slender
escort of Salabut Jung. The next was, to secure the
person of the late minister ; of whose share in the
present perfidy he had no doubt, and whom he had
hitherto allowed to remain under a slight restraint in
the camp. That veteran intriguer, concluding that
his life was in danger, excited his attendants to re-
sist, and was slain in the scuffle. Struck with dis-
may, upon the news of this unexpected result, Nizam
Ali abandoned the camp in the night, taking with
him his select cavalry alone ; and pursued his flight
towards Boorhanpore, about 150 miles north from
Aurungabad, with all the speed which the horses
could endure. Thus was Bussy delivered from his
two most formidable enemies, by the very stroke
which they had aimed against him ; and in this state
of uncontrolable power in the wide-extended govern-
ment of Deccan, was he placed, when the arrival of
Lally produced an extraordinary change in his
views; and insured a new train of events in the
Subah.

The character of that new Governor was ill
adapted to the circumstances in which he was ap-
pointed to act. Ardent and impetuous, by the
original structure of his mind, his early success and
distinction had rendered him vain and presumptuous.

With natural talents of considerable force, his know-
ledge was scanty and superficial. Having never ex-
perienced difficulties, he never anticipated any: For
him it was enough to will the end; the means ob-
tained an inferior portion of his regard. Acquainted
thoroughly with the technical part of the military
profession, but acquainted with nothing else, he was
totally unable to apply its principles in a new situa-
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tion of things. Unacquainted with the character and BOOK Iv.
manners of the people among whom he was called Cuar. 4.
upon to act; he was too ignorant of the theory of 1758.
war, to know, that on the management of his intel-
lectual and moral instruments, the success of the Ge-
neral mainly depends.

He began by what he coneeived a very justifiable
act of authority, but which was in reality a cruel
violation of the customs, the religion, and, in truth,
the legal rights of the natives. As there was not at
Pondicherry, of the persons of the lower castes, who
are employed in the servile occupations of the camp,
a sufficient number to answer the impatience of M.
Lally, in forwarding the troops to Fort St. David, he
ordered the uative inhabitants of the town to be
pressed, and employed, without distinction of caste, in
carrying burdens, and performing whatever labour
might be required. The terror and consternation
created by such an act was greater than if he had
set fire to the town and butchered every man whom
it contained. The consequence was, that the natives
were afraid to trust themselves in his power; and he
thus insured a deficiency of attendants.!

+ This, at least, is stated by the English historians, and by the numer-
ons and too successful enemies of Lally. In the original correspondence,
there is no proo{ that I can perceive. In one of Lally’s letters (to De
Leyrit, 18th of May) he presses him to prevail upon the inhabitants of
Pondicherry, by extra rewards, to lend their assistance. This looks net
like a general order to lmpress the inhabitants. The truth is, that he
himself brivgs charges, which were too well founded, of oppression com-
mitted by others against the natives. In his letter to De Leyrit, 25th of
May, 1758, he says, ¢ J’apprend que dans votre civil et dans votre mili-
taire, il se commet des vexations vis-a~vis des gens du pays qui les €loig-
nent et les empéchent de vous faire les fournitures necessaires 3 la sub-
sistance de I'armée.”  Lally says in his Memoire, p. 50, “ Desemployés
du Sieur Desvaux, protégé par le Sieur de Leyrut, arrétoient des provi-
sions qui arrivoient au camp, et exigeoient de I'argent des noirs, pour
leur accorder la liberté du passage. Un de ces brigauds avoit été pris

VOL. I1I. o
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Lally unpopular ;

The feeble bullocks of the country, and the small-
ness of the number which the Governor and Council
of Pondicherry were able to supply, but ill accorded
with Lally’s ideas of a sufficiency of draught cattle.
The very depressed state of the treasury precluded
the possibility of affording other facilities, the want
of which his impatience rendered a galling disap-
pointment. He vented his uneasiness in reproaches
and complaints. He had carried out in his mind one
of those wide and sweeping conclusions, which men of
little experience and discrimination are apt to form;
that his countrymen in India were universally rogues:
And to this sentiment, that ignorance and avidity, at
home, which recalled Dupleix, were well calculated to
conduct him. The Directors had told him in their
instructions;  As the troubles in India have been
the source of fortunes, rapid and vast, to a great
number of individuals, the same system always reigns
at Pondicherry, where those who have not yet made
their fortune hope to make it by the same means;
and those who have already dissipated it hope to
make it a second time. The Sieur de Lally will
have an arduous task to eradicate that spirit of cu-
pidity ; but it would be one of the most important
services which he could render to the Company.”!
Every want, therefore, which he experienced ; every
delay which occurred, he ascribed to the dishonesty
and misconduct of the persons employed ;> and had

en flagrant delit. On avoit saisi sur lui un sac plein d’especes et de petits
Jjoyaux enlevés aux paysans.”

! Mem, pour Lally, p. 21. In their letter of the 20th March, 1759,
they say, ¢ Vous voudrez bien prendre en consideration I'administration
des affaires de la Compagnie, et Porigine des abus sans nombre que nous
y voyons: Un despotisme absolu nous paroit la premiere chose a corriger.”
—They add, « Nous trouvons par-tout des preuves de la prodigalité la
plus outrée, et du plus grand desordre.”

* There is no doubt at all, that the neglect of all preparation, to en-
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so little prudence as incessantly to declare those BOOKIV.

s . - . Cuarp. 4.
opinions in the most pointed and offensive terms
which his language could supply. These proceedings 1758.
rendered him in a short time odious to every class of
men in the colony; precluded all cordial co-operation,
and insured him every species of ill-office which it
was safe to render. The animosity at last between
him and his countrymen became rancour and rage;
and the possibility of a tolerable managcment of the
common concerns was utterly destroyed.

On the 1st of May, Lally himself arrived at Fort
St. David; and when joined by the troops from the
ships, and those whom he had drawn from the forts
in Carnatic, he had, according to Mr. Orme, 2,500
Europeans, exclusive of officers, and about the same
number of Sepoys, assembled for the attack. The
garrison consisted of 1,600 natives, and 619 Eu-
ropeans, of whom eighty-three were sick or infirm,
and 250 were seamen.! The place held out till the
1st of June, when, having nearly expended its ammu-

able him to act with promptitude, though they had been expecting him
at Pondicherry for eight months, was extreme, and ta the last degree
culpable. There was a total want of talent at this time at Pondicherry;
a weak 1magination that the expected armament was to do every thing,
and that those who were there before had no occasion to do any thing ;
otherwise, with the great superionty of force they had enjoyed since the
arrival of the 1,000 Europeans, in the beginning of September, they
might have performed actions of no trifling importance, and have at
least prepared some of the money and other things requisite for the
operations of Lally,

* Orme. Lally (Meru. p. 42) says, « Il y avoit dans le Fort de Saint
David sept cent Européens, et environ deux mille Cipayes. Les troupes
du Comte de Lally consistoient en seize cents Européens, et six cents
noirs, tant cavalerie qu’infanterie, ramassés a la hite. Son regiment,
qui avoit essayé un combat de mer, ou il avoit perdu quatre-vingt-quatre
hommes, et & qui on n’avoit donné depuis son débarquement & Pondi-
cherry, que quarante-huit heures de repos, etoit & peine en etat de lui
fournir deux piquets.” Tt is at least to be remembered, that this state-
ment of facts was made in the face of Lally’s numerous and bitter
enemies.

o2



196

English expect an Attack on Madras.

BUOK IV. nition, it yielded on capitulation. It was expected

CHAP. 4.

1758.

to have made a better defence; and the English
historians have not spared the conduct of the com-
manding officer. He had courage and spirit in suf-
ficient abundance; but was not very rich in mental
resources, or very accurate in ascertaining the con-
duciveness of his means. In consequence of in-
structions brought from France, Lally immediately
issued orders for razing the fortifications to the
ground: As soon as the fort capitulated, he sent a
detachment against Devi-Cotah, which the garrison
immediately abandoned; and on the 7th of June, he
returned with the army, in triumph, and sung Te
Deum at Pondicherry.

The English, in full expectation that the next
operation of Lally would be the siege of Madras, had
called in the troops from all the forts in the interior,
except Trichinopoly; and had even debated whether
they should not abandon that city itself. All the
troops from Tinivelly and Madura were ordered to
return to Trichinopoly, and, together with the gar-
rison, to hold themselves in readiness for any emer-
gency.

The great poverty, however, of the French exche-
quer; and the inability, created or greatly enhanced
by the unpopular proceedings of Lally, of supplying
its deficiencies by credit; cramped his operations,
and sharpened the asperities of his temper. He had
written from Fort St. David to the Governor of Pon-
dicherry, in the following terms; “ This letter shall
be an eternal secret between you, Sir, and me, if you
afford me the means of accomplishing my enterprise.
I Jeft you 100,000 livres of my own money to aid
you in providing the funds which it requires. I
found not, upon my arrival, in your purse, and in
that of your whole council, the resource of 100 pence.
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You, as well as they, have refused me the support of BOOK IV.
your credit. Yet I imagine you are all of you more Cuar. 4.
indebted to the Company than I am. If you con- 1758.
tinue to leave me in want of every thing, and exposed
to contend with universal disaffection, not only shall
I inform the King and the Company of the warm zeal
which their servants here display for their interest,
but I shall take effectual measures for not depending,
during the short stay I wish to make in this country,
on the party spirit and the personal views, with which
I perceive that every member appears occupied, to the
total hazard of the Company.” !
Despairing of funds from any other source, he re-
solved to devote to this object the next operations of
the war.> He at the same time recalled Bussy,
against whose character he fostered the strongest
prejudices, and the importance of whose transactions
under the Subahdar he treated as interested pretence
and imposture.
Two plans presented themselves for the supply of

! Memoire, ut supra, Piéces Justificatives, p. 30. De Leyrit defended
himself by asserting the want of means ; “ Je vous rendrai compte,” says
he, “de ma conduite, et de la disette de fonds dans laquelle on m'a
laissé depuis deux ans, et je compte vous faire voir que j'ai faitd tous
égards plus qu'on ne devoit attendre de moi. Mes ressources sont au-
jourdui epuisés, et nous n’en avons plus i attendre que d'un succes. Ou
en trouverois-je de suffisantes dans un pays ruiné par quinze ans de
guerre, pour fournir aux depenses considerables de votre armée et aux
besoins d’une escadre, par laquelle nous attendions bien des especes de
secours, et qui se trouve au coutraire denuée de tout?” Ib. No. 20.
Lett. du Sieur De Leyrit au Comte de Lally, 24th May, 1758. Lally,
however, asserts that he had received two millions of livres by the arrival
of the fleet. Mem. p. 49.

® This at least is the account ofthe English historians.  Lally himself
says, that it was his own design to proceed directly from Fort St. David
to Madras ; but the commander of the fieet absolutely refused to co-
operate with bim ; weuld go upon a cruize to the south, for the purpose
of intercepting such vessels as mght arrive from Eugland ; and carried
with him the detachment which Lally bad put on board to prevail upon
him to trust himself again at sea atter the hist engagement. Mem. p. 57-
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BOOK IV. his wants. All the western and northern districts of
Cuar- 4 the nabobship, evacuated by the English, lay open to
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his incursions, and in the rents which might be col-
lected offered a certain resource. But the collection
of rents was a tedious operation, and the expected
produce a scanty supply. The King of Tanjore,
when pressed in 1751 by Chunda Saheb and the
French, had, among his other efforts to procrastinate
and evade, given his bond, which still remained at
Pondicherry, for 5,600,000 rupees. This sum, could
it only be extorted from him, was alarge and present
resource; and in Fort St. David, as a prisoner, had
been found the pretender to the throne of Tanjore,
who might now be employed as an instrument to
frighten the Rajah into compliance. The expedition
against Tanjore was accordingly undertaken ; and on
the 18th of June Lally took the field.!

From the terror of the natives, the alienation of the
Europeans, and the want of money, the equipment of
the expedition, in attendants, draught cattle, and even
provisions and ammunition, was in the highest degree
defective. In seven days the army arrived at Cari-
cal, not without suffering, at this early stage, both
from fatigue and from hunger.? At this place Lally
was met by a messenger from the King, who was de-

' Lally repeats with what regret he postponed the siege of Madras ;
and shows that it was by earnest persuasions of the Governor, and the
Jesuit Lavaor (a missionary of a most intriguing spirit, who had contrived
to gain a vast influence in the Councils of Pondicherry), that he under-
took the expedition to Tanjore. Mem. p. 62.

2 Lally was, of course, obliged to trustto the information of those ac-
quainted with the country ; and the letters of Lavaur and De Leyrit
make it sufficiently appear that they extenuated beyond measure the dif-
ficulties of the undertaking ; and made him set out upon representations
which they knew to be false, and promises which were never intended to
be fulfilled. In fact it would have required a cooler, and a more fertile
head than that of Lally, to counteract the malignity, to stimulate the in-
difference,and to supply the enormous deficicncies, by which he was sur-
rounded.
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sirous to treat. Lally understood, that some of his BOOK Iv.
predecessors had been duped into impolitic delay, by ~**™ * Caar. 4.
the artful negotiations of the King of Tanjore. He 17s8.
resolved to display superior wisdom, by a conduct di-
rectly the reverse. He proceeded to Nagore, a town
accounted rich, about four miles to the north of Ne-
gapatnam; but the merchants had time to remove
their most valuable effects, and the acquisition yielded
only a trifle. On the 28th he arrived at Kiveloor,
the seat of a celebrated Pagoda, which eastern exag-
geration represented as containing enormous riches,
the accumulated offerings of the piety of ages: Had
it been plundered by a Mahomedan conqueror, and
the transaction recorded by a Persian historian, he
would have described his hero as bearing away, in his
fortunate chariots, a mountain of gold. Under the
vulgar persuasion, Lally ransacked, and even dug the
houses ; dragged the tanks, and took away the idols;
but no treasures were found, and the idols, instead of
gold, were only of brass. Six unhappy Brahmens
lingered about the camp, in hopes, it is probable, of
recovering some of their beloved divinities. The sus-
picions of Lally took them for spies; his violence and
precipitation took his suspicions for realities; and he
ordered the six Brahmens to be treated as the Euro-
peans are accustomed to treat the natives convicted
as spies; that is, to be shot away from the muzzles of
the guns. The King’s army took the field; but after
a slight show of resistance retreated to the capital,
near which Lally arrived on the 18th of July. Con-
ferences ensued : The King offered a sum of money,
but greatly inferior to what was required: Lally
offered to abate in his pecuniary demand, provided he
were furnished with 600 bullocks, and a supply of
gunpowder. His agents were more prudent than
himself, and suppressed the article of gunpowder,
the deficiency of which, if known to the King,
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pliance: and the bullocks, the King observed, that
his religion did not permit him to grant. The can-
nonade and bombardment began. After a few days
the King renewed his efforts for an accommodation.
The obliquities of Eastern negotiation wore out the
temper of Lally; and he threatened to carry the
King and all his family slaves to Mauritius. This
outrage produced in the Hindu a final resolution to
deferd himself to the last extremity. He had early,
among his applications for assistance, implored the
co-operation of the English ; and Captain Calliaud at
Trichinopoly was commissioned to make all those ef-
forts in his favour which his own security might ap-
pear to allow. That officer sent to him without delay
a small detachment, which might feed his hopes of a
more efficient support, and afford him no apology for
making his peace with the French. But he was
afraid to entrust with him any considerable portion of
his troops, fully aware that the French might at any
time make with him an accommodation, and receive
his assistance to destroy the very men who had come
to protect him. Upon this last occurrence Calliaud
inferred that the time for accommodation was elapsed,
and sent an additional detachment. Lally continued
his operations, and on the 7th of August effected a
breach.

At this time, however, only 150 charges of powder
for the cannon, not twenty cartouches a man for the
troops, and not provisions for two days, remained in
the camp.’ The next morning intelligence was re-

' This is the statement of Orme (ii. 27). That of Lally is——qu’il ne
restoit au parc d’artillerie que trois nilliers de poudre pour les canons,
et vingt coups par soldat en cartouche—he adds, that he had no other
balls for the cammon but those which were shot by the enemy, of which
few conesponded with the cahibre of i guns; that (wenty-four hours
battering woere sull reepaisite to make the hrouch practicable : that bie had
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ceived, that the English fleet, after a fresh engage- BOOK 1v.
ment with the French, had anchored before Carical, Cuar. 4.
from which alone the French army could derive its 1758,
supplies. TLally summoned a council of war. Qut of
thirteen officers, two, the Count d’Estaign, and M.
Saubinet, advised an immediate assault, considering
the success as certain, and the landing of the English
at Carical, while the French fleet kept the sea, as
highly improbable. It was determined, in conformity
with the opinion of the other eleven, to raise the
siege.' Intelligence of this resolution of the enemy,
and of the negligence and security in which they
encamped, encouraged the Tanjorines to attempt a
surprise; which brought Lally and his army ioto
imminent danger. After a disastrous march, in which
they suffered severely, from the enemy, from fatigue,
and from famine,” they arrived on the 28th at Carical,
and saw the English fleet at anchor off the mouth of
the river.

After the first of the naval engagements, the Eng-
lish fleet, before they could anchor, were carried a
league to the north of Sadras; the French, which bad
suffered less in the rigging, and sailed better, anchored
fifteen miles to the windward. The English as soon
as possible weighed again, and after a fruitless endea-
vour to reach Fort St. David, discovered the French
fleet on the 28th of May in the road of Pondicherry.

but a few days’ provisions for the European part of his army, while the
native part and the attendants were entirely without provisions, and had,
the greater part of them, deserted. Mem. ut supra, p.73.

! Lally says, that he had at the same time received a letter from the
Commanding Officer at Pondicherry, announcing that a body of 1,200
English, who had marched from Madras, were menacing Pondicherry ;
and one from Gopal Row the Mabratta, threarening with a visit the ter-
ritory of the French, if their army did not immediately evacuate Tanjore.
Mem. p. 73.

¢ Notwithstanding their hardships and faticues Lally isserts that they
lost but hitle. Ib p. 81.
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Operations of the Fleets.

BOOKIv. The next day, the French, at the remonstrance of
Casr. 4. Tally, who sent on board a considerable body of
1758, troops, got under sail; but instead of bearing down

on the English, unable to advance against the wind,
proceeded to Fort St. David, where they arrived on
the evening after the surrender. The English sailing
badly, fell to leeward as far as Alamparva, where
intelligence was received of the loss of the fort. The
admiral therefore, not having water on board for the
consumption of five days, made sail, and anchored
the next day in the road of Madras. The fleet had
numerous wants; Madras had very scanty means of
supply ; and nearly eight weeks elapsed before it was
again ready for sea. On the 3d of July three of the
Company’s ships arrived from Bengal, with money,
merchandize, and stores, but no troops. The mon-
soon had obliged them to make the outward passage
towards Acheen, and they came in from the south-
ward. The French Admiral, after touching at Fort
St. David, had stood to the southward, to cruize off
Ceylon; in opposition to the remonstrances of Lally,
who desired the fleet to co-operate in the destined
enterprise against Madras. Lally hastened from Fort
St. David to Pondicherry, and summoned a council
by whose authority he recalled the fleet. The injunc-
tion reached the Admiral at Carical on the 16th of
June, and he anchored the next day in the road of
Pondicherry. Hsad he continued his destined course
to the southward, he could not have missed the three
English East Indiamen from Bengal, and by their
capture would have obtained that treasure, the want
of which alone disconcerted the scheme of English
destruction. On the 25th of July the English fleet
were again under sail ; and on the 27th appeared before
Pondicherry, where the French lay at anchor. They
put to sea without delay; but the difficulties of the
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navigation, and the aims of the commanders, made BOOK IV.
it the 2d of August before the fleets encountered off "% *
Carical. The French line consisted of eight sail ; the 1758.
English, as before, of seven. The fight lasted scarcely
an hour; when three of the French ships being driven
out of the line, the whole bore away, under all the
sail they could carry. The English Admiral gave
chase; but in less than ten minutes the enemy were
beyond the distance of certain shot. Toward night
the English gave over the pursuit, and came to
anchor off Carical. The French steered for Pondi-
cherry, when the Admiral declared his intention of
returning to Mauritius. Lally sent forward the
Count D’Estaign to remonstrate with him on the
disgrace of quitting the sea before an inferior enemy,
and to urge him to renewed operations. D’Estaign
offered to accompany him on board, with any pro-
portion of the troops. Lally himself moved with the
army from Carical on the 24th of August, and,
having passed the Coleroon, hurried on with a small
detachment to Pondicherry, where he arrived on the
28th. He immediately summoned a mixed Council
of the administration and the army, who joined in a
fresh expostulation to the Admiral on the necessity
of repairing to Madras, where the success of an
attack must altogether depend upon the union of the
naval and military operations. That commander,
representing his ships as in a state of the greatest
disablement, and his crews extremely enfeebled and
diminished by disease, would yield to no persuasion,
and set sail with his whole fleet for Mauritius on the
2d of September.’

! These events are minutely recorded by Orme, ii. 197—352. The
sketches and criticisms of Col. Wilks, p. 379—398, are professional and
sensible. Cambridge, p. 135—185, goes over the same ground. A spi-
rited abstract is given, p. g—102, by the author of the History and Ma-
nagement of the East India Company. For the operations of Lally, bis
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BOOK 1V,
CHAP. 4.

1758,

Lally takes Arcot.

If we trust to the declaration of Lally, his inten-
tion of besieging Madras, still more his hopes of
taking it, were abandoned from that hour. Before
the fleet departed, an expedition against Arcot, with
a view to relieve the cruel pressure of those pecuniary
wants which the disastrous result of the expedition
to Tanjore had only augmented, was projected and
prepared. Arcot, the capital of Carnatic, had been
left under the government of one of the principal
officers of Mahomed Ali, the English Nabob, with
a small body of Sepoys and native cavalry. With
this officer, Rajah Saheb, (the eldest son of the late
Chunda Saheb,) now decorated by the French with
the title of Nabob, had opened a correspondence;
and a treaty was concluded, according to which the
Governor was to deliver up the place, to receive as
a reward 13,000 rupees, and to be taken, along
with his troops, into the pay and service of Lally.
As auxiliary measures, the previous possession of
the secondary forts of Trivatore, Trinomalee, Caran-
goly, and Timery, was deemed expedient. Lally
divided his army into four parts, to two of which
the forts of Carangoly and Timery surrendered
without resistance; Trivatore and Trinomalee were
taken by assault. On the terms of a pretended
capitulation, on the 4th of October, Lally, amid
the thunder of cannon, made his entrance into
Arcot.

The fort of Chingliput, the occupation of which,
from want of funds, or ignorance of its importance,
Lally had postponed to the acquisition of Arcot,
covered the country whence chiefly, in a case of siege,
Madras would find it necessary to draw its provi-
sions. In the consternation under wiich the English

own Memoir, with the origal documents w the appendix, is i the
highest degree mstiuctive and entertainmg.
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had withdrawn their troops from the country forts, BOOK IV.

upon the arrival of Lally, Chingliput among the rest
had been left in a very defenceless condition; and
when the French marched against Carangoly, they
might have taken Chingliput by escalade in open
day. The English, awakened to a sense of its import-
ance, left Arcot to its fate, and made all their exer-
tions to save Chingliput. A fleet had arrived from
England in the middle of September, which brought
850 of the king'stroops, and withthem Colonel Drapier
and Major Brereton: Captain Calliaud, with the
whole of the European troops, was recalled from Tri-
chinopoly : ‘And before Lally entered Arcot, Chingli-
put was supplied with a strong garrison. The ap-
plications of Lally to the government of Pondicherry
for 10,000 rupees, which were necessary, after the
acquisition of Arcot, to put the troops in motion for
Chingliput, were answered only by representations
of the complete exhaustion of their resources; and
that General, obliged for want of funds to place the
troops in cantonments, returned to Pondicherry full
of mortification and chagrin.'

He had been joined by Bussy about the time at
which he entered Arcot. That officer, who had con-
ducted himself with such rare ability in the domi-
nions of the Subahdar, and with his handful of
French had raised himself to an elevated station
among the princes of India, had left the Subahdar
on a tottering throne, which nothing but his strong
support could much longer uphold. The Subahdar,
when informed of the intended departure of the
French, was too much amazed to believe the dread-
ful intelligence ; and, when too well assured of its
ominous reality, took his leave of Bussy, in an

Mem. pour le Comte de Lally, p. 86—99 ; Orme, ii. 341—370.

Cuap. 4.

1758.
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BOOK 1v. agony of grief and despair. Bussy, it is possible,

Casr-4 ook his departure with the more alacrity, as he

1758. hoped, through the representations which in person

he would be able to make, that he could prevail upon

Lally to send him back, and with augmented force,

to his important station. Having, on his march, been

joined by Moracin, the Governor of Masulipatam,

who with his troops was also recalled, he left the

march to be conducted by Moracin, and under a safe-

guard granted him from Madras hastened to the
meeting with Lally.

The head of that General was filled with the
importance of his own project, the expulsion of the
English from India; and with contempt for the schemes
of Bussy, as of all other men who had different views
from his own. In his letter to Bussy, upon the
taking of Fort St. David, he had said, “ It is the
whole of British India which it now remains for us
to attack. I do not conceal from you that, having
taken Madras, it is my resolution to repair imme-
diately, by land or by sea, to the banks of the
Ganges, where your talents and experience will be
of the greatest importance to me.” Bussy employed
every effort to convince him of the importance of re-
taining the advantages which he had gained in the
dominions of the Subahdar; and the most pressing
and passionate letters arrived from the Subahdar
himself.' But Lally, who had already treated the
representations of Bussy as the visions of a madman,
and had told the Governor of Pondicherry that he
thought himself too condescending in reading his

* Lally himseif informs us, that these letters uniformly began with
such expressions as these, ¢ Renvoyez moi M. de Bussy avec un corps
de troupes; vous savez que je ne peux pas m’en passer ;*’ or, ¢ vous
savez que je ne peux pas me passer de M. de Bussy; renvoyez le moi
avec un corps de troupes,” &c. Mem. pour le Comte de Lally, p. 93.
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letters, lent a deaf ear to remonstrances which in- Book 1v.
wardly he regarded as the fruit of delusion or impos- CEAP- 4.
ture.! Apprized of the money which Dupleix had 1733,
raised on his personal credit, he was not without

hopes that Bussy might be possessed of similar re-
sources ; and he states as a matter of great surprise,

mixed with incredulity, the averment of Bussy, that

in this way he was altogether incapable of aiding the

general cause.

A high testimony from another quarter was yielded
to the merits of Bussy. His rank as an officer was
only that of Lieutenant-Colonel. Besides a Major-
General, six Colonels had arrived with the army of
Lally. The six Colonels, yielding to the nobler im-
pulses of the human mind, signed a requisition that
Bussy might supersede them. “ Their names,” says
Mr. Orme, “highly worthy of record on this occa-
sion, were mostly of ancient and noble descent;
D’Estaign, de Landivisiau, de la Faire, Breteuil, Ver-
diere, and Crillon.”

To whatever quarter Lally turned his eyes, he
found himself beset with the greatest difficulties.
The government at Pondicherry declared, as they had
frequently declared before, that in their exhausted
situation it was altogether impossible for them to find
the means of subsisting the army at Pondicherry.
When a council of war was called, the Count
D’Estaign, and other officers, pronounced it better to
die by a musket ball, under the ramparts of Madras,
than by hunger, within those of Pondicherry. The
idea of undertaking a siege, says Lally, the total
want of funds excluded from the mind of every one.
But it was deemed expedient to bombard the place,

t Letter to De Leyrit, 28th June, 1758. Mem. ut supra, Appen.
No. xxxvi.
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BOOK IV.
Cauar. 4.

1758,

The French attack Madras.

to shut up the English within the fort, to obtain the
pillage of the black town, and to lay waste the sur-
rounding country.' .

The Governor of Pondicherry declared that he was
destitute of every species of resource, either for the
pay or the maintenance of the soldiers. Lally ad-
vanced 60,000 rupees of his own money, and pre-
vailed upon some members of the council, and other
individuals in Pondicherry, to follow, in some degree,
his example. From this species of contribution or
loan, he obtained 34,000 rupees, which, added to his
own, made a sum of 94,000. This was the treasure
with which at the head of 2,700 European troops,
and 4,000 Indians, he marched agaivst Madras.

The expedition was ready for its departure at the
beginning of November, but the continuance of the
rains retarded its arrival before Madras till the 12th
of December, when Lally had not funds to ensure the
subsistence of the army for a single week. The
English had made active use of the intervening period
for providing themselves with the means of defence.
When Admiral Pococke quitted the coast in October
to avoid the monsoon, he left behind him the marines
of the squadron, and was expected back in January.
A body of cavalry, under an adventurer of the coun-
try, was taken into pay ; and so posted, along with
the Sepoys from Trichinopoly, as to make war upon
the line of the enemy’s convoys. The veteran Lau-
rence, who was still in Madras, was put at the head
of the troops; and took post with the greater part of
the army on elevated ground at some distance from
the town. It was not, however, hisintention torun
the risk of an action ; and as the enemy advanced,
he gradually yielded ground, till on the 12th he
entered the fort with all his army. The command

! Mem. ut supra, i. 98, 100.
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in the fort belonged to the Governor, Pigot. But he BOOK 1.
was an intelligent, and an active man ; and the har- __C_“il_'_f_'_
mony of the defence experienced no interruption. 1758.
The military within the walls now consisted of 1,758
Europeans, 2,220 Sepoys, and 200 horse of the Na-
bob, on whom by experience little dependance was
placed. The other Europeans were 150 men, who
were employed without distinction in serving out
stores, and other auxiliary operations.

On the 13th the enemy remained on the plain,
and reconnoitred the place. On the 14th, early in
the morning, they took possession of the black town,
where the soldiery, from want of skill, or authority,
on the part of their commander, abandoned them-
selves to intemperance and disorder. In hopes of
profiting by this opportunity, the English made a
strong sally with 600 chosen men. They penectrated
into the black town before the enemy were collected
in sufficient numbers ; but were at last opposed by a
force which they could not withstand ; and, had the
division of the enemy, which was under the com-
mand of Bussy, advanced with sufficient promptitude
to cut off’ their retreat, it is highly probable that few
of them would have made their escape. Lally ad-
duces the testimony of the officers, who commanded
under Bussy, that they joined in urging him to in-
tercept the English detachment ; but that he, alleg-
ing the want of cannon, absolutely refused. Mr.
Orme says that he justified himself by the delay of
Lally’s orders, without which it was contrary to his
duty to advance. To gain however a great advan-
tage at a critical moment, a zcalous officer will ad-
venture somewhat, under some deficiency both of can-
non and of orders.  The loss on the part of the Eng-
lish was not less than 200 soldiers, and six officers.

YVOIL. 111 v
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Operations against Madras,

BOOK 1V. In mere numbers that of the enemy was nearly the

CHar. 4,

1758,

same.

The capture of the black town had furnished to
Lally for the demands of the service only 80,000
livres, lent to him by an Armenian merchant, whom
he had saved from plunder; and to these were added

© 12,000 livres furnished by an Hindu partizan. With

these funds he began to construct his batteries, in the
intention, as he repeats, of only bombarding the place,
when intelligence was brought, on the 24th of De-
cember, that a frigate from the islands had arrived at
Pondicherry with a million of livres. It was this
circumstance, he says, which now determined him to
convert the bombardment into a siege.

With only two engineers, and three artillery
officers, excepting the few who belonged to the Com
pany, all deficient both in knowledge and enterprise;
with officers in general dissatisfied and ill-disposed,
with only the common men on whom he could de-
pend, and of whose alacrity he never had reason to
complain, he carried on the siege with a vigour and
activity which commanded the respect even of the
besieged, though they were little acquainted with the
difficulties under which he toiled. By means of the
supplies which had plentifully arrived from Bengal,
and the time which the Presidency had enjoyed to
make preparation for the siege, the English were
supplied with an abundance both of money and of
stores. 'The resolution to defend themselves to the
utmost extremity, which has seldom been shared
more universally and cordially by any body of men,
inspired them with incessant vigilance and activity.
The industry of the enemy was perpetually counter-
acted by a similar industry on the part of their oppo-
nents, No soener had those without erected a work,
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than the most active, and enterprising, and often BOOK 1V.

skilful exertions were made from within to destroy
it. Whatever ingenuity the enemy employed in
devising measures of attack was speedily discovered
by the keen and watchful eyes of the defenders. A

CHar. 4.
w——npetig)

1758.

breach, in spite of all those exertions, was however |,

effected; and the mind of Lally was intensely en-
gaged with preparations for the assault; when he
found the officers of his army altogether indisposed
to second his ardour. Mr. Orme declares his opinion
that their objections were founded on real and pru-
dential considerations, and that an attempt to storm
the place would have been attended with repulse and
disaster. Lally, however, says that the most odious
intrigues were carried on in the army, and groundless
apprehensions were propagated, to shake the resolu-
tion of the soldiers, and prevent the execution of the
plan: that the situation of the General was thus
rendered critical in the highest degree, and the
chance of success exceedingly diminished; yet he
still adhered to his design, and only waited for the
setting of the moon, which in India sheds a light not
much feebler than that of a winter sun, on the very
day on which an English fleet of six sail arrived at
Madras.

The fleet under Admiral Pococke, which had left
Madras on the 11th of October, had arrived at Bom-
bay on the 10th of December, where they found six
of the Company’s ships, and two ships of the line,
with 600 of the King’s troops on board. On the
31st of December the Company’s ships, with all the
troops, sailed from Bombay, under the convoy of two
frigates, and arrived on the 16th of February, at a
critical moment, at Madras. ¢ Words,” says Lally,
“ are inadequate to express the effect which the ap-

P2
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The French retire from Madras.

BOOK 1V. pearance of them produced. The officer who com-

CHar. 4.

1758.

manded in the trenches deemed it even inexpedient
to wait for the landing of the enemy, and two hours
before receiving orders retired from his post.”’

Lally was now constrained to abandon the siege.
The officers and soldiers had been on no more than
half pay during the first six weeks of the expedition,
and entirely destitute of pay during the remaining
three. The expenses of the siege, and the half pay,
had consumed, during the first month, the million of
livres which had arrived from the islands. The officers
were on the allowance of the soldiers. The subsist-
ence of the army for the last fifteen days had de-
pended almost entirely upon some rice and butter,
captured in two small vessels from Bengal. A very
small quantity of gunpowder remained in the camp;
and not a larger at Pondicherry. The bombs were
wholly consumed three weeks before. The Sepoys
deserted for want of pay, and the European cavalry
threatened every hour to go over to the enemy.
The defence of Pondicherry rested upon 800 inva-
lids; and, within twelve hours, the English, with
their reinforcements, might land and take possession
of the place. On the night of the 17th the French
army decamped from Madras; and the English
made no efforts to molest their retreat.'

We may judge of the feelings, towards one an-
other, of Lally and his countrymen, when he tells us,
that the retreat of the army from Madras produced

' Orme, ii, 383—459 ; Mem. pour Lally, p. 99—117. Of the sick
and wounded, those who were too ill to be removed, to the number of
thirty-three, accordmng to Lally’s own account, (o that of forty-four ac-
cording to Mr. Orme’s, were left bebind, and recommended by a letter
ot Lally to the English commander. They were treated, as Lally hin-
seif declares, with all the care which the laws, both of war and of hu-
manity, prescribed.
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at Pondicherry the strongest demonstrations of joy, BOOK 14\'
Cuar,

and was celebrated by his enemies as an occasion of
triumph.

The Nabob, Mahomed Ali, who had retreated into
Madras when the French regained the ascendancy in
the province, had been removed during the siege to
Trichinopoly ; and of his two refractory brothers
Abdul Wahab and Nejeeb Oolla, who had taken the
side of the French, the former returned to the Eng-
lish connexion, hefore the siege of Madras, and was
Joined to the party of the English kept in the field to
act upon the enemy’s communications; the latter,
induced by the event of the siege to anticipate suc-
cess to the party which he had renounced, murdered
all the French in his service, except a single officer,
and professed himself a partizan of the English.

The English now elevated their hopes to the re-
covery of the province, but found their operations
cramped by the narrowness of their funds. It was
the 6th of March before the army, consisting of
1156 Europeans, rank and file, 1570 Sepoys, 1120
collieries (irregular troops of the southern Polygars,)
and- 1956 horse, was in a condition to move. The
countries of Madura and Tinivelly at the same time
recalled the attention of the Presidency. No sooner
had the troops been withdrawn for the defence of
Madras, than the refractory chiefs began their en-
croachments. Only the towns of madma and Pa-
lam-Cotah, preserved by the steadiness of the Sepoys
in garrison, remained in obedience to the Knglish.
And DMahomed Issoof, who had commanded with
reputation the Company’s native troops, in their
former attempts in that country, was now sent back,
in the quality of renter, with a body of Sepoys, for
the recovery of the country.

1
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Bé’,ﬁ’;‘j’ The French army had marched from Madras in
___the direction of Conjeveram; and there the French
1759. and English armies remained in sight of one another,
without any operation of importance, for two and
twenty days. The English, at the end of this time,
made a march upon Wandewash ; took possession of
the town, and began to open ground against the fort.
This brought the French army to defend it; upon
which the English decamped in the night; by a
forced march of two days arrived at Conjeveram,
and took it by assault. The two armies continued
to watch one another till the 28th of May, when they

both went into cantonments.

On the 28th of April, Admiral Pococke had ar-
rived upon the coast from Bombay, but had con-
tinued to windward of Pondicherry, and principally
at Negapatnam, with a view to intercept the French
squadron, which was expected from the isles. And
near the end of June, three of the usual ships arrived
at Madras, with 100 recruits of the Company, and
intelligence that Lieutenant Colonel Coote, with
1000 of the King’s troops, might be shortly expected
on the coast. The satisfaction, however, which this
good fortune was calculated to excite, was grievously
damped by an attendant piece of advice; that the
Court of Directors, *“dazzled,” as Mr. Orme ex-
presses it, “ by representations of the great wealth
acquired by the conquest of Bengal, and of its suffi-
ciency to supply their other presidencies, had deter-
mined to send po more treasure to any of them till
the year 1760.” Irom the first moment of Indian
conquests to a late period in their history, were the
Company led into blunders, and were but too success-
ful in misleading the councils of the nation, by their
ahsurd estimates of the pecuniary value of Indian do-
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minion. This intelligence was so disastrous, and ngll(, I:’-
full of discouragement, * that for every reason,” says -
Mr. Orme, “it was kept within the Council.” 1759.
Towards the end of July five of the expected ships,
with the first division of the troops, arrived at Nega-
patnam, and having given out the provisions and
stores which they had brought for the use of the
squadron, sailed for Madras. On the 20th of August
the squadron left Negapatnam, and sailed for Trinco-
malee in the island of Ceylon, where the French fleet
was descried, on the 2d of September. D’Aché had
been reinforced by the arrival of three ships from
France ; but as the resources of the islands were in-
adequate to refit and supply the fleet, not only much
time had been lost, but he had been compelled to re-
turn to sea, in a state of very imperfect equipment.
It was the 10th of September before the state of the
winds and the weather permitted the encounter of the
fleets. The English having the wind, came down
a-breast, while the French, who were farthest out at
sea, lay-to in line of battle a-head. The English
squadron consisted of nine ships of the line, a frigate,
the Queensborough, two of the Company’s ships,
and a fire ship. The French were eleven sail of the
line, and three frigates; and their total battery ex-
ceeded that of the English by 174 guns, and conse-
quently, by eighty-seven in action. The engagement
lasted searcely two hours, when the greater part of
the French ships having quitted the line, the whole
fleet sailed away, and, in a few minutes were beyond
the reach of the English shot. Such was the indeci-
sive character of naval actions in general, at the pe-
riod to which we now refer. The English, though
they had clearly the victory, had also the principal
share of the loss. In point of men the injury was
supposed to be nearly equal on both sides; but all
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Attack upon Wandewash.

BOOK IV. the French ships, one only excepted, carried topsails

CHapP. 4,

1759.

when they retired from the fight ; none of the Eng-
lish ships, after the engagement, could set half their
sails, and two were obliged to be taken in tow. The
English fleet anchored the next day in the road of
Negapatnam, and the French in four days arrived at
Pondicherry.

As nothing could exceed the distress of the
French in respect to supplies; so their hopes were
ardent of relief by the arrival of the ships. The fort
of Covrepawk had surrendered upon summons, to a
detachment of the English army, in the beginning of
July. In the beginning of August, Lally’s own re-
giment mutinied for want of pay, and, by their ex-
ample, subverted the discipline of the whole army.
The confidence of the English had mounted so high,
that Major Brereton, who commanded the troops, and
who burned for an opportunity of performing some
exploit before the arrival of Coote, persuaded the
Presidency to sanction an attempt for the reduction
of Wandewash. After waiting till the roads were
passable, the whole army marched from Conjeveram
on the 26th of September. The principal part of the
French forces were concentrated at Wandewash ; and
the enterprize was unsuccessful. The English made
a spirited attack on the night of the 29th, but were re-
sisted with great gallantry, and finally repulsed with a
loss of more than 200 men. In this action, a detach-
ment of grenadiers were very expeditiously quitting
the vicinity of danger ; when their officer, instead of
calling after them, an imprudence which would, in all
probabhility, have converted their retreat into a flight,
ran till he got before them, and then, turning sud-
denly round, said, “Halt,” as giving the ordinary
word of command. The habit of discipline pre-
vailed. The men stopped, formed according to
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orders, and marched back into the scene of action. BOOK 1v.
But this success of the French, however brilliant, C¥A®-4-
neither clothed the men, nor provided them with pro- 1759,
visions. Neither the English nor the French had

ever been able to draw from the districts which they

held in the country sufficient funds to defray the ex-

pense of the troops, employed in conquering and
defending them. A considerable portion of those
districts, which the French had been able to seize

upon the arrival of Lally, the English had again re-
covered. The Government of Pondicherry, left al-

most wholly destitute of supplies from Europe, was
utterly exhausted, first, by the long and desperate
struggle in which they had leen engaged; and
secondly, (for the truth must not be disguised, though

the complaints of Lally have long been treated with
ridicule) by the misapplication of the public funds: a
calamity, of which the violent passion of individuals

for private wealth was a copious and perennial foun-

tain. Lally had, from his first arrival, been strug-

gling on the borders of despair, with wants which it

was altogether out of his power to supply. The
English had received, or were about to receive, the

most important accession to their power. And
nothing hut the fleet, which had now arrived, and the
supplies which it might have brought, could enable

him much longer to contend with the difficulties
which environed him.

M. d'Aché had brought, for the use of the colony,
16,000/. in dollars, with a quantity of diamonds,
valued at 17,000/, which had been taken in an
English Last Indiaman; and, having landed these
effects, together with 180 men, he declared his reso-
lution of sailing again immediately for the islands.
Nothing could exceed the surprise and consternation
of the colony upon this unexpected and alarming in-
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%?IOKIV. telligence. Even those who were the most indif-

“M4r-4 ferent to the success of affairs, when the reputation of

1759, Lally, and the interest of their country alone were at

stake, now began to tremble, when the very ex-

istence of the colony, and their interests along with

it, were threatened with inevitable destruction. All

the principal inhabitants, civil and military, assembled

at the Governor’s house, and formed themselves into

a national council. A vehement protest was signed

against the departure of the fleet. But the resolu-

tion of the Admiral was inflexible; and he could

only be induced to leave 400 Caffres, who served in

the fleet, and 500 Europeans, partly marines and
partly sailors.

At the same time the departure of Bussy had been
attended, in the dominions of the Subahdar, with a
rapid succession of events, ruinous to the interests of
the French. An expedition from Bengal, fitted out
by the English against the Northern Circars, those
important districts of which Bussy had obtained the
dominion from Salabut Jung, had been attended with
the most brilliant success; had not only driven the
French entirely out of the country, but had com-
pelled the Subahdar to solicit a connexion with the
English. Nizam Ali, whose audacious and aspiring
character rendered him extremely dangerous to the
feeble resources and feeble mind of his brother, had
returned from the flight, to which he had been urged
by the spirit and address of Bussy, at the head of a
considerable army; and compelled the Subahdar to
replace him in that commanding situation, from
which he had recently been driven. Bassalut Jung,
the second of the three brothers, who anticipated the
revolution which the victorious return of Nizam Ali
portended, promised himself important advantages
from the assistance of the French, in the changes
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which he expected to ensue; and dispatched a letter BOOK 1v,
to Lally, in which he told him he was coming to S#F-#
throw himself into his arms.! Bussy urged in strong 1759.
terms the policy of declaring Bassalut Jung Nahob

of Carnatic. This was opposed by the step which -

had been recently taken by Lally, of making this
declaration, with much ceremony and pomp, in favour

of the son of Chunda Saheb. It was, however,

agreed that a body of troops, under the command of
Bussy, should be sent to join Bassalut Jung, who
hovered upon the borders of Carnatic. He had left
Hyderabad, under pretence of regulating the affairs

of his government of Adoni; but he soon directed

his march toward the south-east, supporting his army

by levying contributions as he proceeded, and ap-
proached Nelore in the month of July.

M. Bussy arrived at Wandewash the very day
after the repulse of the English; and, having placed
himself at the head of the detachment, which was
destined to accompany him to the camp of Bassalut
Jung, proceeded on his march. But the French
army, which had long been enduring extraordinary
privations, now broke out into the most alarming
disorders, DMore than a year’s pay was due to them;
they were destitute of clothing, and many times ill
supplied with provisions. The opinion was dissemi-
nated, that a much larger sum than was pretended
had been left by the fleet; and that the General was
acquiring immense wealth by dilapidation. On the
16th of October the whole army was in mutiny, and
the officers deprived of all authority. Intelligence of
these disastrous events overtook Bussy at Arcot, and
induced him to suspend his march. The troops were
at last restored to obedience by the payment of six

! Mem, pour Lally, p. 185,

L e we
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BOOK Iv. months of their arrears, and a complete amnesty.
Cmar. 4. Byt the delays which had intervened had exhausted

1759.

the resources which enabled Bassalut Jung to re-
main on the borders of Carnatic : He was at the same
time solicited, by a promised enlargement of his ter-
ritory, to join with Nizam Ali, who dreaded the re-
appearance of M. Bussy in the territories of the
Subahdar: His ardour for the French alliance was
cooled by the intelligence of the disorders among
their troops: He was alarmed by the presence of an
English corps of observation, which had been sent to
act upon his rear, if he should advance into the pro-
vince: And on the 19th of October he struck off
across the hills into the district of Kurpa; where
Bussy, who followed him by a different route, arrived
on the 10th of November. Bassalut Jung offered
to accompany the I'rench detachment to Arcot, pro-
vided he was recognized by the French as sovereign of
Carnatic, and furnished with four lacks of rupees for
the payment of his troops. The French were not
without objections to the first of these conditions, and
altogether incapable of fulfilling the last. The nego-
tiation, therefore, proved fruitless; and Bussy re-
turned; with an addition, however, of 400 good
horse, whom he had found the means of attaching to
his service.!

Urged Ly the necessity of making eflorts for the
supply, and even subsistence, of the army, Lally,
shortly alter the reconciliation of his troops, thought
proper to divide his army into two parts; with the
one of which he proposed to collect the rents of the
southern; with the other, stationed at Wandewash

1 In the account of Bussy’s march, I have followed his own and
Orme’s account. Lally (Mem. p. 136) cowplains of lis delays, and
insinuates that to the misconduct through which these delays touk place,
the loss of Bassalut Jung’s alliance ought to be ascribed.
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and Arcot, to protect what belonged to the French BOOK IV.
in the northern districts. De Leyrit and the Council &4 *
of Pondicherry represented the danger, which could 1759.
not be concealed from Lally himself, of dividing the
army in the presence of a superior enemy ; but they
pointed out no means by which it was possible to pre-
serve it together. On the 20th of November, the
division which marched to the south took possession
of the rich island of Seringham, which the garrison
at Trichinopoly was too feeble to defend.

The English took the field. Colonel Coote, with
the last division of his regiment, had arrived on the
27th of October ; and on the 21st of November pro-
ceeded to Conjeveram, where the troops were can-
toned for the rains. The first of his acts was to as-
semble a Council of the principal officers; that he
might obtain from them a knowledge of facts,
and profit by their observations. To divide the at-
tention of the enemy, he began, with movements
which indicated an attack upon Arcot; but his real
intention was to gain possession of Wandewash;
which was attacked and carried on the 29th. The
inaction of the French army, at Chittapet, which,
probably deeming itself too weak, made no effort for
the protection of Wandewash, induced the English to
march immediately to Carangoly, which made a
feeble resistance, and surrendered on the 10th of
December.

The loss of Arcot, and with it the command of all
the northern districts of the proviuce, now presented
itself to the eyes of Lally as threatened to an
alarming degree. The greater part of the troops
was hastily recalled from Seringham; Bussy at
the same time arrived from his expedition to the
camp of DBassalut Jung; a DMahratta chief and
his body of horse were taken into pay; and Lally
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BOOK 1v.was eager to strike a blow for the recovery of Wan-
Crap, 4. dewash.

1759.

Bussy, on the other hand, was of opinion, as the
French were superior in cavalry, which would render
it dangerous for the English to hazard a battle, ex-
cept in circumstances of advantage, that they should
avail themselves of this superiority, by acting upon
the communications of the English, which would
soon compel them either to fight at a disadvantage,
or retire for subsistence to Madras: whereas if they
besieged Wandewash, the English would have two
important advantages; one, that of fighting with
only a part of the French army, while another part
was engaged in the siege; the other, that of choos-
ing the advantage of the ground, from the obligation
of the French to cover the besiegers.

At the same time the motives of Lally were far
from groundless. The mental state of the soldiers
required some brilliant exploit to raise them to the
temper of animated action. He was deprived of all
means of keeping the army for any considerable time
in the field. By seizing the English magaziunes, he
counted upon retarding for several days their march
to the relief of Wandewash; and as the English had
breached the fort and taken it in forty-eight hours,
he counted, and not unreasonably, upon rendering
himself master of .the place before the English could
arrive.

Amusing the English, by some artful movements,
he surprized and took Conjeveram, which he con-
cluded was the place of the English ragazines. The

* fact however was, that the English had no maga-

zines, but were dependant on the purchases of the
day, and already straitened for supplies by the ex-
tensive excursions of his Mahratta horse. Lally re-
paired to Wandewash; but several days elapsed be-
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fore his battery was ready to play; and in the mean B({gl: iV
time the English approached. Lally throws the
blame upon his engineer; whom he ordered to batter 1759.
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in breach with three cannon upon one of the towers
of the fort, which was only protected by the fire of a
single piece, and which, five weeks before, the Eng-
lish with inferior means had breached in forty-eight
hours. But the engineers insisted upon erecting a
battery in exact conformity with the rules of the
schools; and the soldiers in derision asked if they
were going to attack the fortifications of Luxzems-
burgh.*

The project of Lally having in this manner failed,
now was the time, at any rate, to have profited by the
Judicious advice of Bussy, and, abandoning the siege,
to have made war upon the English means of supply.
But Lally, who was aware that his character had
fallen low with the army, could not brook the impu-
tation of retreating before his enemy; he prepared,
therefore, to meet the attack of the English army,
and to continue his operations. It was the policy of
the English commander to leave the enemy at work,
till they were ready to assault the fort, when he was
sure of attacking separately, at his choice, either the
troops engaged in the siege, or those who covered
them. His movements were judiciously made; and
on the morning of the 22d, he was on the ground
before the French camp, his army drawn up in two
lines in a most advantageous position, where he had a
free communication with the fort, and one of his flanks
protected by its fire. The Irench occupied the
ground in front of their line, where the field of

! Mem. pour Lally, p. 161;~—Orme, ii. 577, says that cannon for the
battery, which did not open till the 20th, six days after Lally took pos-
session of the Pettah or town adjoining the fort, were brought from
Valdore on carriages sent from Pondicherry.
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BOOK 1. battle had previously been marked out. The English

CHar. 4.

1759.

army consisted of 1900 Europeans, of whom eighty
were cavalry, 2100 Sepoys, 1250 black horse, and
twenty-six field-pieces. The French, including 300
marines and sailors from the squadron, consisted of
2,250 Europeans, and 1,300 Sepoys; for the Mah-
rattas kept aloof at the distance of some miles from
the field of battle.! Tally, and apparently with
reason, complains that his troops did their duty ill in
the action. While the English army were advancing,
Lally, who imagined he perceived some wavering on
their left, occasioned by the fire of his artillery,
though Mr. Orme says they had not yet come within
cannon shot, put himself at the head of the cavalry,
to profit by the favourable moment. The cavalry
refused to march. The General suspended the Com-
manding Officer, and ordered the second Captain to
take the command. He, also, disobeyed. Lally ad-
dressed himself to the men; and a Cornet crying out
that it was a shame to desert their General in the day
of battle, the officer who commanded on the left offered
to put the troop in motion. They had not advanced
many paces, when a single cannon-shot, says Lally,
the rapid firing of two pieces, says Mr. Orme, put them
toflight, and they gallopped off, leaving him absolutely

1 Orme, ii. 582. Lally (Mem. p. 161) gives a very different account
of the respective numbers: that the French had 900 infantry, 150 ca-
valry, 300 marines and sailors, in all 1,350 Europeans, with 1,800
Sepoys ; and that the English had 2,500 infantry and 100 cavalry, all
Europeans ; of black troops nearly an equal number with the French.
~—There is some appearance that Mr. Orme’s account of the French
force 1s conjectural, and hence exaggerated, as all his numbers are round
numbers, one regiment 400, another 700, another 400, cavalry 300, &c.
Perhaps we ought to trust to Lally’s account of his own forces, because
it was given in the face of his enemies, who were interested, and
well able, to contradict it if untrue; and we need not hesitate to
take Mr. Orme’s account of the English, where his knowledge was
coinplete,
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alone upon the plain.' Lally returned to the ins BOOK1V.
fantry, and brought up his line. The French fired Cuar. 4.
rashly, and ineflfectually, both with artillery and 1759, ’
musketry ; the English leader, who was cool, and
perfectly obeyed, made his meu reserve their fire, till
sure of its execution. The regiment that occupied
the enemy’s right, when the distance between them
and the English was now inconsiderable, threw them-
selves into column, and rushed forward at a rapid pace.
Coote, directing the opposite regiment to be firm, and
preserve their fire, gave the command when the enemy
were at fifty yards distance. The fire fell heavy, both on
their front and flanks. Yet it stopped not the course
of the column; and in an instant the two regiments
were mingled at the push of the bayonet. The
weight of the column bore down what was opposed -
to it; but as it had been left unprotected by the
flight of the cavalry, posted on its right, its flanks
were completely exposed, and in a few moments the
ground was covered with the slain, when it broke, and
fled in disorder to the camp. Almost at the same
time a tumbril blew up in the redoubt in front of the
enemy’s left; and during the confusion which this
accident produced, the English took possession of the
post. No part of the French line continued firm
much longer. When ordered to advance, the sepoys
absolutely refused. Bussy, who put himself at the
head of one of the regiments, to lead them to the
push of the bayonet, as the only chance of restoring
the battle, had his horse wounded under him, was
abandoned by the troops, and taken prisoner. Lally
frankly acknowledges, that his cavalry, who had be-
haved so ill at the beginning of the action, protected

' Mr. Orme, ii. 583, says, that two field-pieces, which fired several
times in one minute, and brought down ten or fifteen men or horses,
caused the theht.
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B&OK IV. his retreat with great gallantry: He was thus en-
—2% % abled to wait for the junction of the detachment at
1760. Wandewash, and to carry off his light baggage and
the wounded. The black cavalry of the English
were too timid, and the European too feeble in num-

bers, to impede the retreat. -

Lally retired to Chittapet, from which, without
strengthening the garrison, he proceeded the follow-
ing day towards Gingee. The enterprise next re-
solved on by Colonel Coote was the reduction of
Arcot, toward which, the day after the battle, he
sent forward a body of troops. Intelligence however
of the defenceless state in which the enemy had left
Chittapet, gave him hopes of making that a previous
acquisition. In two days the English effected a
breach, and the garrison surrendered. On the 1st of
February, Coote arrived at Arcot. On the 5th three
batteries opened on the town. On the night of the
6th the army began their approaches. Although
operations were retarded for want of ammunition, on
the morning of the 9th the sap was carried near the
foot of the glacis; and by noon, two breaches, but
far from practicable, were effected; when, to the
great surprise of the English, a flag of truce appeared,
and the place was surrendered. Not three men had
been lost to the garrison, and they might have held
out ten days longer, before the assault by storm
could have been risked.

From Gingee Lally withdrew the French troops to
Valdore, both to prevent the English from taking
post between them and Pondicherry, and to protect
the districts to the south, from which alone provisions
could be obtained. The difficulties of Lally, which
had so long been great, were now approaching to ex-
tremity. The army was absolutely without equip-
ments, stores, and provisions, and he was destitute of
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resources to supply them. He repaired to Pondi- BOOK 1V.
eherry to demand assistance, which he would not be- Cuar. 4.
lieve that the governor and council were unable to 1760.
afford,. He represented them as embezzlers and pe-
culators; and there was no imputation of folly, of
cowardice, or of dishonesty, which was spared against
him in return.

To proceed with the reduction of the secondary
forts which the enemy held in different parts of the
province; to straiten Pondicherry, and, if sufficient
force should not arrive from France for its relief, to
undertake the reduction of that important place, was
the plan of operations which the English embraced.!
The country between Alamparva and Pondicherry
was plundered and burnt; Timery surrendered on
the 1st of February; Devi-Cotah was evacuated
about the same time : on the 29th of the same month
Trinomalee surrendered; the fort of Permacoil was
taken after some resistance in the beginning of
March; and Alamparva on the 12th. Carical now
remained the only station on the coast; except Pon-
dicherry, in possession of the French ; and of this it
was important to deprive them, before the shortly
expected return of the fleet. A large armament
was sent from Madras, and the officer who com-
manded at Trichinopoly was ordered to march to
Carical with all the force which could be spared from

' Lally says (Tableau Histor. de I'Expedition de 1'Inde, p. 32), and
dpparently with justice, * Il n’est pas douteux que si 'enoemie se fit
porté tout de suite [after the battle of Wandewash] sur Pondichéry, il
s'en fit rendu maitre en huit jours. Il n'y avoit pas un grain de ris dans
la place; les lettres, prieres, ordres, et meuaces que le Compte De Lalty
employoit depuis deux ans vis-a-vis du Sieur de Leyrit, n'avoient pu le
determiner 4 y former un seul magazin.” ‘The English leaders appear
to have bad no conception of the extremely reduced state of the French,

and how safe it would bave been to strike a decisive blow at the seat of
the-colony.

Q2
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_ Lally negotiates

the garrison. Lally endeavoured to send.a strong
detachment to its relief; but the place made a
miserable defence, and yielded on the 5th of April
before assistance could arrive. On the 15th of that
month Valdore surrendered after a feeble resistance ;
as did Chillambaram on the 20th. Cuddalore was
taken about the same time, and several strong at-
tempts by the enemy to regain it were successfully
resisted. » :

By the 1st of May the French army was confined
to the bounds of Pondicherry, and the English en-
camped within four miles of the town ; the English
powerfully reinforced from England, and elated with
remembrance of the past, as well as hope for the
future ; their antagonists abandoned, by neglect at
home, to insuperable difficulties; and looking with
eager eyes to the fleet, which never arrived. On the
part of the English, Admiral Cornish had reached
the coast with six ships of the line, before the end of
February : On the 25th of April Admiral Stevens,
who now commanded in room of Pococke, arrived
with four ships of the line ; and on the 23d of May
came another ship of the line, with three companies
of the royal artillery on board.

As the last remaining chance of prolonging the
struggle for the preservation of the French colony,
Lally turned his eyes towards the natives ; and fixed
upon the Mysoreans as the power most capable of
rendering him the assistance which he required.
The adventurer Hyder Ali was now at the head of
a formidable army, and, though not as yet without
powerful opponents, had nearly at his disposal the re-
sources of Mysore. Negotiation was performed ; and
an agreement was concluded. On the one hand the
Mysorean chief undertook to supply a certain quan-
tity of bullocks for the provision of Pondicherry, and
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to join the French with 3,000 select horse, and 5,000 BOOK 1v.
Sepoys. On the other hand the French consented ©#47-4 .
to give the Mysoreans immediate possession of the 1760. b
fort of Thiagar, a most important station, near two
of the principal passes into Carnatic, at an easy dis-
tance from Baramhal, and about fifty miles E. S. E.
from Pondicherry. Even Madura and Tinivelly were
said to be promised, if by aid of such valuable allies
the war in Carnatic were brought to a favourable
conclusion, "T'his resource proved of little importance
to the French. The Mysoreans (who routed however a
detachment of the English army sent to interrupt
their march) were soon discouraged by what they be-
held of the condition of the French; and soon re-
called by an emergency which deeply affected Hyder
at home. They remained in the vicinity of Pondi-
cherry about four weeks, during which time Lally
had found it impossible to draw from them any ma-
terial service ; and departing in the night without his
knowledge they marched back to Mysore. A few
days before their departure six of the English Com-
pany’s ships arrived at Madras with king’s troops to
the amount of 600 men: On the 2d of September,
one month later, several other ships of the Com-
pany arrived, and along with them three ships of
war, and a portion of a Highland regiment of the
King, increasing the fleet in India to the amount of
seventeen sail of the line.

Lally had now, and it is no ordinary praise, during
almost eight months since the total discomfiture of
his army at Wandewash, imposed upon the English
so much respect, as deterred them from the siege of
Pondicherry ; and notwithstanding the desperate
state of his resources, found means to supply the
fort, which had been totally destitute of provisions,
with -a stock - sufficient to maintain the garrison for
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BOOK IV.several months. And be still resolved to strike a
Corr. 4 blow which might impress them with an opinion that
1760, he was capable of offensive operations of no incon-

siderable magnitude. He formed a plan, which has
been allowed to indicate both judgment and sagacity,
for attacking the English camp by surprise in four
places on the night of the 4th of September. But
one of the four divisions, into which his army was
formed for the execution of the enterprise, fell be-
hind its time, and disconcerted the operations of the
remainder. )

A circumstance now occurred in the English army,
which affords another proof (we shall find abundance
of them as we proceed) of the impossibility of govern-
ing any country well from the distance of half the
circumference of the globe. No government, which
had any regard to the maxims either of justice or of
prudence, would deprive of his authority a commaan-
der, who, like Colonel Coote, had brought a great
and arduous service to the verge of completion, at
the very moment when, without a chance of failure,
he was about to strike the decisive blow which would
give to his preceding operations the principal part of
their splendour and renown. Yet the East India
Company, without intending so reprehensible a con-
duct, and from their unavoidable ignorance of what
after many months was to be the state of affairs, had
sent out a commission, with the fleet just arrived, for
Major Monson the second in command, to supersede
Coote who was destined for Bengal. Monson was
indeed directed to make no use of his commission
while Coote remained upon the coast ; but the spirit
of Coote would not permit him to make any advan-
vantage of this indulgence; and had he been less a man
of sense and temper, had he been more governed by
that boyish sensibility to injury, which among vulgar
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people passes for honour, this imprudent step of the BOOI\ .
Company would have been attended with the most

serious consequences. When Coote was to proceed
to Bengal it was the destination of his regiment to
proceed along with him. The Council of Madras
were thrown into the greatest alarm. Monson de-
clared that if the regiment were removed he would
not undertake the siege of Pondicherry. Coote con-
sented that his regiment should remain, to encircle
the brows of another with laurels which belonged to
his own.

Around Pendicherry, like many other towns in
India, ran a hedge of the strong prickly shrubs of the
country, sufficiently strong to repel the sudden incur-
sions of the irregular cavalry of the country. As the
position of the French was contrived to give it what-
soever protection this rampart could yield, the first
operation of Monson was intended to deprive them
of that advantage. The attack was indeed success-
ful; but through mismanagement on the part of some
of the officers, the plan was badly executed; and
considerable loss was incurred. Among the rest,
Monson himself was wounded, and rendered incapa-
ble for a time of acting in the field. Colonel Coote
had not yet sailed for Bengal ; and Monson and the
Council joined in requesting him to resume the com-
mand. He returned to the camp on the 20th of
September, and actively proceeded with the reduc-
tion of the outposts. When the rains began, in the
beginning of October, the camp was removed to an
elevated ground at some distance from the town;
and during the rains no efforts were made, except
those on the part of the French, to introduce provi-
sions, and those on the part of the English, to frus-
trate their attempts. About the beginning of De-
cemher, the rains drawing to a close, preparations
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‘Pondicherry surrendered.

BOOK Iv. were made for improving the blockade into more ex.
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1761.

peditious methods of reduction. Several batteries
were prepared, which played on the town from the
8th to the 36th of December. On that day a dread-
ful storm arose, which stranded three of the English
ships in the road, and seriously damaged the greater
part of the fleet; while it tore up the tents of the
soldiers, and -threw the camp into the utmost con-
fusion. Fortunately the inundation produced by the
storm rendered it impracticable for the enemy to
move their artillery, nor could the troops carry their
own ammunition dry. The greatest diligence was
exerted in restoring the works. An attempt failed,
which was made on the 5th of January, to obtain pos-
session of a redoubt still retained by the enemy. But

‘on the 12th of January the trenches were opened.

The enemy were now reduced to the last stage of
privation. Lally himself was sick ; worn out with
vexation and fatigue, The dissensions which raged
within the fort had deprived him of almost all au-
thority : A very feeble resistance was therefore made
to the progress of the English works. The provi-

sions, which such arduous efforts had been required

to introduce into the fort, had been managed without
economy ; the importunities of Lally to force away
the black inhabitants, who consumed the stores of
the place with so much rapidity, were resisted, till
matters were approaching to the last extremity.
While provisions for some days yet remained, Lally
urged the Council, since a capitulation must regard
the civil as well as the military affairs of the colony,
to concert general measures for obtaining the most
favourable terms; and procured nothing but chica-
nery in return. The device of the Council was to
preserve to themselves, if possible, the appearance of

‘having had no share in the unpopular -transaction of
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surrender, and the advantage, dear to their resent- BOOK 1v.
ments, of throwing with all its weight the blame s 4.
upon Lally. When at last not two days’ provisions 1761,

remained in the magazines, Lally informed them

that he was reduced to the necessity of delivering up

the military possession of the place; for the civil g
affairs it rested with them to make what provision
was in their power. Towards the close of day on
the 14th, a commissioner from Lally, together with a
deputation from the Council, approached the English
camp. The enemy claimed the benefit of a cartel
which had been concluded between the two crowns,
and which they represented as precluding them from
proposing any capitulation for the town of Pondi-
cherry. As a dispute respecting that cartel remained
still undecided, Coote refused to be guided by it, or
to accept any other terms than those of an uncondi-
tional surrender. 'Their compliance, as he concluded
with sufficient assurance, the necessity of their affairs
rendered wholly indispensable.

On the fourth day after the surrender, there arose
between the English civil and military authorities a
dispute, which, had the military been as daring as
the civil, might have been attended with the most
serious consequences. Mr. Pigot, the Governor of
Madras, made a formal demand, that Pondicherry
should be given up to the Presidency, as the pro-
perty of the East India Company. Coote assembled
a council of war, consisting of the chief officers, hoth
of the fleet and the army, who were of opinion that
the place ought to be held for the disposal of the
King. Pigot, with a hardihood which subdued them ;
though, in a man without arms in his hands, to-
ward men on whase arms he totally depended, it
might have been a hardihood attended with risk;
declared that, unless Pondicherry were given up to
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BOOK V. the Presidency, he would furnish no money for the
Caar- 4 gubsistence of the King’s troops or the French pri-
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soners. Upon this intimation the military authorities
submitted.

Two places in Carnatic, Thiagar, and the strong
fort of Gingee, still remained in possession of the
French. The garrisons, however, who saw no hope
of relief, made but a feeble resistance; and on the
5th of April Gingee surrendered, after which the
French had not a single military post in India : for
even Mahé and its dependencies, on the Malabar
coast, had been attacked and reduced by a body of
troops which the fleet landed in the month of Janu-
ary. The council of Madras lost no time in levelling
the town and fortifications of Pondicherry with the
ground.

Dreadful was the fate which awaited the unfortu-
nate Lally, and important are the lessons which it
reads. By the feeble measures of a weak and defec-
tive government, a series of disasters, during some
preceding years, had fallen upon France; and a
strong sentiment of disapprobation prevailed in the
nation against the hands by which the machine of
government was conducted. When the total loss of
the boasted acquisitions of the nation in India was
reported, the public discontent was fanned into a
flame : and the ministry were far from easy with re-
gard to the shock which it might communicate to
the structure of their power. Any thing was to be
done which might have the effect to avert the
danger. Fortunately for them, a multitude of per-
sons arrived from India, boiling with resentment
against Lally, and pouring out the most bitter accu-
sations, Fortunately for them, too, the public,
swayed as usual by first appearances, and attaching
the blame to the man who had the more immediate
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guidance of the affairs upon which ruin had come, BOOK V.

appeared abundantly disposed to overlook the minis-
try in their condemnation of Lally. The popular in-
dignation was carefully cultivated; and by one of
those acts of imposture and villany of which the his-
tory of ministries in all the countries of Europe affords
no lack of instances, it was resolved to raise a screen
between the ministry and popular hatred, by the cruel
and disgraceful destruction of Lally. Upon his ar-
rival in France, he was thrown into the Bastille;
from the Bastille, as a place too honourable for him,
he was removed to a common prison. An accusation,
consisting of vague or frivolous imputations, was
preferred against him. Nothing whatsoever was
proved, except that his conduct did not come up to
the very perfection of prudence and wisdom, and that
it did display the greatest ardour in the service, the
greatest disinterestedness, fidelity, and perseverance,
with no common share of military talent, and of men-
tal resources. The grand tribunal of the nation, the
parliament of Paris, found no difficulty in seconding
the wishes of the ministry, and the artificial cry of the
day, by condemning him to an ignominious death.
Lally, confident in his innocence, had never once an-
ticipated the possibility of any other sentence than
that of an honourable acquittal. When it was read
to him in his dungeon, he was thrown into an agony
of surprise and indignation ; and taking up a pair of
compasses, with which he had been sketching a chart
of the Coromandel coast, he endeavoured to strike
them to his heart; but his arm was held by a person
that was near him. With indecent precipitation
he was executed that very day. He was dragged
through the streets of Paris in a dirty dung cart;
and lest he should address the people, a gag was
stuffed into his mouth, so large as to project beyond

Caar. 4.

1761.

© e e L mA



286 Fate of Lally.

BOOK IV his lips. Voltaire, who had already signalized his

Cask 4 nen by some memorable interpositions in favour of

1761. justice and the oppressed, against French judges and

their law, exerted himself to expose, in a clear light,

the real circumstances of this horrid transaction;

which Mr. Orme scruples not to call “ a murder

committed with the sword of justice.” It was the

son of this very man, who under the name of Lally

Tolendal, was a member of the Constituent Assem-

bly, and by his eloguence and ardour in the cause of

liberty, contributed to cramble into dust a monarchy,

under which acts of this atrocious description were

so liabie to happen. Thus had the French East In-

dia Company, within a few years, destroyed three,

the only eminent men who had ever been placed at

the head of their affairs in India, Labourdonnais, Du-

pleix, and Lally. It did not long survive this last
display of its imbecility and injustice.!

! For these events see Mem, pour le Comte de Lally; Mem, pour le

Sieur De Leyrit; Mem: pour Bussy; Orme, vol. ii.; Cambridge ;

Wilks; Voltaire, Fragmens Hist. sur I'Inde, et surla Mort da Comte
de Lally,
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First Nabobship of Meer Jaffier— Expedition
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A DEFECTIVE treasury is the grand and perennial ook 1v.
source of the difficulties which beset the sovereigns of Cuar-5.

India. This evil pressed with peculiar weight upon
Meer Jaffier. Before the battle of Plassy, which
rendered him Subahdar, his own resources were
scanty and precarious. The liberality of Aliverdi,
the expense of his war with the Mahrattas, and the
ravages of that destructive enemy, left in the trea-
sury of the province a scanty inheritance to Suraja
Dowla: The thoughtless profligacy of that prince,
even had his reign been of adequate duration, was
not likely to add to the riches of the state: To pur-
chase the conspiracy of the English, Meer Jaffier,
with the prodigality of Eastern profession, had pro-
mised sums which he was altogether unable to pay :
The chiefs whom he had debauched by the hopes of

1757.



298

Views of Meer Jaffier.

BOOK 1v. sharing in his fortunes, were impatient to reap the
CHAP. 5. fruits of their rebellion : And the pay of the troops

1757.

was deeply in arrear. In these circumstances it was
almost impossible for any man to yield satisfaction.
The character of Meer Jaffier was ill calculated for
approaching to that point of perfection.

In making promises, with a view to the attainment
of any great and attractive object, an Indian sove-
reign seldom intends to perform any more, than just
as much as he may find it unavoidable to perform;
and counts, in general, too, with a well-grounded cer-
tainty, upon evading a considerable part at least of
that for which he had engaged. To Meer Jaffier the
steadiness with which the English adhered to the
original stipulations appeared, for a time, the artifice
merely of cunning men, who protract an accommoda-
tion for the purpose of rendering it more advantage-
ous. Private bribes to defeat public ends, in Orien-
tal politics, an engine seldom worked in vain, were
applied with some perseverance. When he found
the rigid fulfilment of the vast engagements to the
English, still peremptorily and urgently claimed, he
was not only surprised but exasperated; and began
to hope, that some favourable event would deliver
him from such obstinate and troublesome associ-
ates.!

The English were not the parties against whom
his animosities were first displayed. Aliverdi Khan,
aware of the rebellious and turbulent spirit, which
almost always reigned among those adventurers from
Iran and Turan, who commonly rose to the chief
command in the armies of the Mahomedan princes in
Hindustan, had adopted the sagacious policy of bring-
ing forward the gentle, the less enterprising, and less

1 Clive’s Letter to the Proprietors of E. I. Stock, in 1764, p. 30.
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dangerous Hindus. And he had raised various in- BOOK tv.
dividuals of that race to the principal places of power Cair. 5.
and emolument under his government. Of Ramna- 1757,
rain, whom he entrusted with the important govern-

ment of Berar, the reader has already received infor-

mation. Dooloob Ram, another Hindu, held the

grand office of Duan, or Superintendant of the Fi-

nances. That celebrated family, the Seets of Moor-
shedabad, who by merchandize and banking had ac-

quired the wealth of princes, and often aided him in

his trials, were admitted largely to share in his coun-

sels, and to influence the operations of his govern-

ment. Aliverdi had recommended the same policy

to Suraja Dowla; and that prince had met with no
temptation to depart from it.!

Meer Jaffier was placed under the deepest obliga-
tions to Dooloob Ram. When he was convicted of
malversation in his office, and stood in disgrace with
his master, it was Dooloob Ram who had made his
peace” In the late revolution, Dooloob Ram had
éspoused his interests, when the influence of that mi-
nister, and his command of treasure, might have con-
ferred the prize upon another chief. Whether he
dreaded the power of the Hindu connexion, or was
stimulated with a desire of their wealth, Meer Jaffier
resolved to crush them ; and with Dooloob Ram, as
the most powerful individual, it was prudent to
begin. Before the departure of Clive, he had sum-
moned Ramramsing, the Governor of Midnapore, and
head of the Spy-office, to repair to the capital to an-
swer for the arrears of his government ; but the cau-
tious Hindu, already alarmed, evaded the mandate
by sending two of his relations. The Nabob, so by
the English now was Jaffier styled, threw both into

+ Orme, ii. 53. 2 Seer Mutakhareen, ii. 8.
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BOOK V. prison ; and easily reconciled Clive, by informing
Cusr- 5 him, that Ramramsing was an enemy to the English,

1757.

and had been the agent through whom the corres-
pondence between Suraja Dowla and Bussy had been
carried on. A close connexion had long subsisted
between Ramramsing and Dooloob Ram; and the
latter, to whose sagacity the designs of Jaffier were
not a secret, regarded the present step as a prelimi-
nary part of the plan which was laid for his own de-
struction.

Meantime opposition began to display itself in va-
rious parts of the provinces. The Rajah of Midna-
pore took arms upon the news of the detention of his
relatives : An insurrection in favour of a son of Se-
reffraz. Khan, whom Aliverdi deposed, was raised at
Dacca: In the province of Poorania, the duan of the
late governor had raised a creature of his own to the
chief command : And Jaffier had resolved on the re-
moval of Ramnarain from the province of Berar.
Colonel Clive found the means of reconciling Ram-
ramsing ; and, with the assistance of the English, the
insurrection at Dacca was easily quelled. But when
the troops were drawn out to proceed to Poorania,
they refused to march, without payment of their
arrears. Clive was preparing to join the Nabob; but
his troops, with the prize money distributed among
them in consequence of the battle of Plassy, had in-
dulged in such intemperance, that many of the Euro-
peans had died, a still greater proportion were sick,
and the army was unable to leave Chandernagor be-
fore the 17th of November.

The Nabol’s troops were ordered to march on the
6th of October. Partial payments, and other means
of overcoming their disobedience were employed till
the 7th of November, when the Nabob repaired to
the camp. No sooner had he left the city, than. his
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son Meeran, who was to act as Governor, distributed BOOK IV.
intelligence, that a confederacy was formed, under Caar. 5.
the authority of the Emperor at Delhi, between Ram-  1757.
narain, the Subahdar of Oude, and Dooloob Ram,
to raise to the government of Bengal the son of a
younger brother of Surajah Dowla.' He then com-
missioned a band of ruffians to enter in the night
the palace of the widow of Aliverdi, with whom the
mother of Suraja Dowla, and grandmother of the
prince, resided. They murdered the child, and sent
the two princesses to Dacca. The Nabob, who denied
all participation in the action, received from the Eng-
lish, says Mr. Orme, “ no reproaches.”

Clive arrived at Moorshedabad, on the 25th of
November, where Dooloob Ram, who, under pretence
of sickness, had refused to accompany Jaffier, remained
with his troops. On the 3d of December he joined
the Nabob at Raje Mahl. Cuddum Hussun, who
had long been an associate in the pleasures of Jaffier,
was destined for the government of Poorania;* and
some days had elapsed since he crossed the river into
that province, with a body of troops. The terror
inspired by the Nabol’s army, the intrigues which
Cuddum Hussun, by means of letters and spies, was
able to raise in the enemy’s camp, together with the
rawness of the insurgent troops, made them take
flight and disperse, upon the very approach of Cud-
dum Hussun ; who took quiet possession of the govern-
ment, and began immediately to gratify his avarice
by the severest exactions.

' Orme, ii. 272. Clive, however, (Report, ut supra); and the author
of the Seer Mutakhareen (ii. 8), both say that the murdered prince was
a brotker of Suraja Dowla.

2 Orme calls him Jaffier's relation ; but the author of the Seer Mutak-
hareen (ii. 9), who had better opportunities of knowing, says he was
only the son, by a concubine, of a man who had married Jaffier’s sister.

VOL. 1II. R
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Transactions

The mind of the Nabob, now tranquil on account
of other quarters, turned itself to the more arduous
proceedings which it meditated in Bahar. Clive per-
ceived his opportunity ; and refused to proceed with
him, unless all the sums, due upon the agreements
with the English, were previously discharged. No
payments could be made without Doolooh Ram. A
reconcilement, therefore, was necessary ; and, Clive
undertaking for his security, Dooloob Ram joined the
camp with 10,000 troops. Twenty-three lacks of
rupees were now due: Orders were signed upon the
treasury for one half; and tuncaws, that is, orders
to the local receivers to make payment out of the
revenues as they come in, were granted on certain
districts for the remainder.

Clive, however, now stated, as objections to the re-
moval of Ramnarain; the strength of his army; the
probability that he would receive assistance from the
Subahdar of Oude; the probability that the English
would be recalled to the defence of their own settle-
ments by the arrival of the French ; and the danger
lest Ramnarain should bring an army of Mahrattasto °
his aid. Jaffier was oot willing to oppose directly an
opinion of Clive ; and offered to accept of his media-
tion; reserving in his mind the use of every clan-
destine effort to accomplish his own designs. The
army began its march to Patna; and was joined by
Ramnarain, after receipt of a letter from Clive,
assuring him, that both his person and government
should be safe. The intended delays and machina-
tions of the Nabob were cut short, by intelligence
that the Subahdar of Oude, with the French party
under M. Law, and a great body of Mahratta horse,
was about to invade the province; and by the actual
arrival of a Mahratta chief, who came in the name of
the principal Mahratta commanders to demand the
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arrears of chout, amounting to twenty-four lacks of BOOK IV.
rupees, which were due from Bengal. These events Cuae. 5.
produced a speedy accommodation with Ramnarain. 1758,
The Nabob, indeed, used various efforts to remain
behind the English, in order to defeat the securities
which that Governor had obtained. But Clive pene-
trated, and disappointed his designs. He even ex-
torted from him another grant, of no small impor-
tance to the English treasury. A leading article in
the European traffic was the salt-petre produced in
Bengal, the whole of which was made in the country
on the other side of the Ganges above Patna. This
manufacture had in general been farmed for the
benefit of the Government; and Clive saw the ad-
vantage of obtaining the monopoly for the English.
He offered the highest terms which the government
had ever received; but the Nabob knew he could not
demand from the English the regular presents which
he would derive from a renter placed at his mercy;
he was not, therefore, inclined to the arrangement;
but, after a variety of objections, the necessity of his
circumstances compelled him to comply.

Clive got back to Moorshedabad on the 15th of
May; and, on the same day, received intelligence
from the coast of Coromandel, of the arrival of the
French fleet, and of the indecisive first engagement
between it and the English. A friend to the use
which governments commonly make of their intelli-
gence of the events of war,  Clive spread,” says
Orme, “ the news he received, as a complete naval
victory ; two of the French ships sunk in the fight,
instead of one stranded afterwards by a mischance;
the rest put to flight, with no likelihood of being
able to land the troops which they had brought from
Pondicherry.”

On the 24th, Clive departed from Moorshedabad

R 2
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Commission_for re-modelling the Government.

BOUK 1V. without waiting for the Nabob. On the 20th of
CusP- 5. June, a ship arrived at Calcutta from England ; and

1758.

brought along with it a commission for new model-
ling the government. A council was nominated con-
sisting of ten; and, instead. of one Governor, as in
preceding arrangements, four were appointed, not to
preside collectively, but each during three months
in rotation. The inconvenience of this scheme of
government was easily perceived. “ But there was
another cause,” says Mr. Orme, “ which operated on
opinions more strongly. Colonel Clive had felt and
expressed resentment at the neglect of himself in the
Company’s orders, for no station was marked for him
in the new establishment.” Convinced that he alone
had sufficient authority to overawe the Nabob into
the performance of his obligations, the council, in-
cluding the four gentlemen who were appointed the
governors, came to a resolution, highly expressive of
their own disinterestedness and patriotism, but full
of disregard and contempt for the judgment and
authority of their superiors.! This high legislative
act of the Company they took upon them to set aside,
and, with one accord, invited Clive to accept the
undivided office of President. With this invitation
he assures us, that “ he hesitated not one moment
to comply.”?

! Mr. Scrafton (Reflections on the Government, &c. of Indostan, p.
115) says, “ At this crisis, when military virtue and unanimity were
more immediately necessary, the Directors, divided by violent contests
among themselves, which certainly did them no honour, were so un-
fortunate in their judgment, as to appoint four Governors of Bengal, to
govern each four months, and left Colonel Clive entirely out of this list.
The absurdity of such a system was too apparent to take place,” &c.

2 Report, ut supra. The influence of the Colonel is depicted by the
following anecdote. There was an officer of rank, to whom Jaffier had
been often indebted before his elevation, remarkable for his wit. This,
from their former intimacy, and a jealousy of present neglect, he did not
spare on the Nabob himself. While the armies of the Nabob and of
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In the mean time considerable events were prepar- BOOKIV.

ing at Moorshedabad. On the approach of Clive
and Dooloob Ram, Meeran had thrown the city into
violent agitation, by quitting it with demonstrations
of fear, summoning all the troops and artillery of the
government, and giving it out as his intention to
march for the purpose of joining his father. Clive
wrote with much sharpness to the Nabob; and
Meeran apologised in the most submissive strain.
Though inability to discharge the arrears due to the
troops, who could with much difficulty be preserved
from tumults, compelled the Nabob to delay his pro-
ceedings, he was impatient for the destruction of
Dooloob Ram; the severity of his despotism in-
creased ; and he declared to one of his favourites, who
betrayed him, « that if a French force would come
into the province he would assist them, unless the
English released him from all their claims of money,
territory, and exemptions.”' Among the Hindus,
who had risen to high employment under the en-
couraging policy of the late Subahdars, was Nun-
comar, who acted as Governor of Hoogley at the time
of Suraja Dowla’s march against Calcutta. Nun-
comar had followed the armies to Patna, and, as con-

Clive were at Patna, he was one day accused to the Nabob of having
permitted a fray between some of his own soldiers and some of Clive’s.
“ It chanced,” says the author of the Seer Mutukhareen, ii. 19, « that
Mirza Shemseddin himself made his appearance at that very moment : it
was in full durbar and in the hall of audience. The Nawab fised his
eyes upon him, and spoke a few words that seemed to border upon re-
primand : ¢ Sir,” said he, ¢ your people have had a fray with the Colonel’s
people : Is your honour to learn whe is that Colonel Clive, and in what
station heaven has seated him?’ ¢ My Lord Nawab,’ answered the Mirza,
getting up instantly, and standing bolt-upright before him : < Me, to
quarre] with the Colonel ! me! who never get up in the morming, with-
out making three profound bows to his very jack ass! How then could I
be daring enough, after that, to fall out with the rider himself!’”
t Orme, 11, $56.

Cuar. 5.

1758.
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BOOK 1v. versant with the details of the revenue, was employed
Cuar. 5 by Dooloob Ram. When the difficulties of obtaining

1758.

payment upon the tuncaws granted to the English
began to be felt, he proffered his assistance; and, if
supported by the government of the Nabob, assured
the English, that he would realize the sums. He
was vested with such authority as the service ap-
peared to require; but as he expected not to elude
the knowledge of Dooloob Ram, in the practices
which he meditated, for raising out of his employ-
ment a fortune to himself, he resolved to second the
designs of the Nabob for the removal of that vigi-
lant Duan. He persuaded the Seets to withdraw
their protection from this troublesome inspector, by
awakening their fears of being called upon for money,
if Dooloob Ram withheld the revenues, and supplied
not the exigencies of the state. He assured the
Nabob and Meeran, that the English would cease to
interfere in their government, if the money was re-
gularly paid. Dooloob Ram took the alarm, and
requested leave to retire to Calcutta, with his family
and effects. Permission was refused, till he should
find a sum of money sufficient to satisfy the troops.
Under profession of a design to visit Colonel Clive at
Calcutta, the Nabob quitted the capital; but, under
pretence of hunting, remained in its neighbourhood.
On the second day after his departure, Meeran in-
cited a body of the troops to repair to the residence of
Dooloob Ram, and to clamour tumultuously for their
pay. The English agent interfered; but, as the
troops were directed by Meeran to make sure of Doo-
loob Ram, the agent found great difficulty in preserv-
ing his life. Clive at last desired that he should be
allowed, with his family, to repair to Calcutta; and the
consent of the Nabob was no longer withheld.

Within a few days after the return ~€ the Nabob
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from Calcutta, a tumult was excited in his capital by BOOK 1v.
the soldiers of one of the chiefs, and assumed the C™*%%-
appearance of being aimed at the Nabob’s life. A 1758.
letter was produced, which bore the character of a

letter from Dooloob Ram to the commander of the
disorderly troops, inciting him to the énterprise, and
assuring him that the concurrence of Clive, and other

leading Englishmen, was obtained. Clive suspected

that the letter was a forgery of Jaffier and Meeran,

to ruin Dooloob Ram, in the opinion of the English,

and procure his expulsion from Calcutta; when his

person and wealth would remain in their power. All

doubts might be resolved by the interrogation and
confrontation of the commander, to whom the letter

was said to be addressed. But he was ordered by the

Nabob to quit his service, was way-laid on his de-
parture, and assassinated.

In the mean time advices had arrived from the Pre-
sidency at Madras, that Fort St. David had yielded,
that a second engagement had taken place between
the fleets, that the French army was before Tanjore,
that M. Bussy was on his march to join Lally: And
the most earnest solicitations were subjoined, that as
large a portion of the troops as possible might be
sent to afford a chance of averting the ruin of the
national affairs in Carnatic. “ No one,” says Orme,
“ doubted that Madras would be besieged, as soon as
the monsoon had sent the squadrons off the coast, if
reinforcements should not arrive before.”* Clive chose
to remain in Bengal, where he was master, rather
than go to Madras, where he would be under com-

1 Orme says, (ii. 363,) “ Clive did not entertain a surmise that it
would be taken whilst 1t had provisions.” But Clive himself says, (Re-
port, ut supra,) Nothing saved Madras from sharing the fate of Fort
St. David, but their [the French] want of money, which gave time for
strengthening and reinforcing the place.”
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BOOK 1V.mand ; and determined not to lessen his power by

Cuar. 5.

1759.

sending troops to Madras, which the Presidency,
copying his example, might forget to send back. An
enterprise, at the same time, presented itself, which,
though its success would have been vain, had the
French in Carnatic prevailed, bore the appearance of
a co-operation in the struggle, and afforded a colour
for detaining the troops.

One of the leading Polygars in the Northern Cir-
cars, fixing his eve upon the advantages which he
might expect to derive from giving a new master to
the provinces, communicated to the English in Bengal
his desire to co-operate with them in driving out the
French, while Bussy was involved in a struggle with
the brothers of the Subahdar. The brilliancy of the
exploit had no feeble attractions for the imagination of
Clive; and after the recall of Bussy to Pondicherry,
he imparted his intentions to the Council. The pro-
ject met with unanimous condemnation.’ But Clive,
disregarding all opposition, prepared his armament.
It consisted of 500 Europeans, 2,000 Sepoys, and
100 Lascars, with six field-pieces, six battering can-
non, one howitz, and one eight-inch mortar. This
expedition, commanded by Colonel Forde, was des-
tined to proceed by sea; but the altercations in the
council, which the disapprobation of the measure
produced, and the delays which occurred in the
equipment of the ships, retarded its departure till the
end of September.’

On the 20th of October Colonel Forde disem-

' Orme only says, (ii. 364,) “ The measure was too vigorous to be
acceptable to all the members of the council.” But Clive himself says
(Report, ut supra), that he undertook it, ¢ contrary to the inclinations
of his whole council.”

? Orme, 1., 269287, and 352—363; Seer Mutakhareen, ii.
4—24.
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barked at Vizigapatam, and joined his troops with BUOK 1v.
those of the Rajah Anunderauz; at whose instigation Car. 5.
the exploit .was undertaken. It was expected, that 1759.
this chief would afford money for the maintenance of

the troops; and hence but a small supply of that ne-
cessary article was brought from Bengal. The Rajah

was in the usual state of Rajahs, Nabobs, Subahdars,

and Emperors in India; he was reputed by the Eng-

lish immensely rich, while in reality he was miserably
poor : He was, therefore, not very able to provide the

sums expected from him; and still less willing. The
delays by which he contrived to elude the importu-

nities of the English were highly proveking; and,

by retarding their movements, threatened to deprive

them of all the great advantages of rapidity and sur-

prise. A sort of treaty was at last concluded, by
which it was agreed that, excepting the seaports, and
towns at the mouths of the rivers, the conquered
country should all be given up to Anunderauz, upen

the condition of his advancing a certain monthly sum

for the maintenance of the troops.

M. Conflans, who had been sent to command the
French troops upon the recall of Bussy, had concen-
trated his forces about Rajamundri; towards which
the English and the Rajah directed their march. The
force, which remained under the command of Con-
flans, after the departure of the troops which were
recalled with Bussy, was still considerably superior to
that which had arrived with the English ; but when
the troops for other services were deducted, he took
the field against the English with numbers nearly
equal. A battle was brought on; and the French
were completely defeated; they were not only stript
of their camp, but fled from Rajamundri.

During the battle, the Rajah and his troops re-
mained cowering in the hollow of a dry tank, which
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BOOK 1v. protected them from shot. After the battle all his

Caap. 5.

1759.

operations were tardy; what was worse, no money
could be extracted from him; all the cash which had
been brought from Bengal was expended ; and during
fifty days, when advantage might have been taken
of the want of preparation on the part of the enemy,
and of the dejection arising from their defeat, the
English were unable to move. At last, by a new
arrangement, a small sum was obtained from the
Rajah; the troops were put in motion, and on the
6th of February arrived at Ellore or Yalore, where
they were joined by the Zeminder or chief of the
district.

Conflans had no longer confidence to meet the
English in the field, but withdrew to defend himself
in Masulipatam, the principal fort, and principal
station of the French, on that part of the coast;
while he urged the Subahdar of Deccan to march to
the defence of his own territories, the French being
occupants under his authority, and subject to his law,
while the English intended to wrest the country
wholly from his hands. The views of the courtiers
of the Subahdar happened at the moment to coincide
with his own wishes to preserve for himself the pro-
tection of the French, and he put his army in motion
towards Masulipatam.

This prevented not the English commander from
hastening to attack the place. He arrived on the 6th
of March. The French treated his pretensions with
ridicule. Masulipatam, for an [ndian town, and against
Indian means of attack, was of no inconsiderable
strength: The defenders within were more numerous
than the besiegers: A considerable army of observa-
tion was left in the field: The Subahdar, with the
grand army of Deccan, was on the march: And a
reinforcement of Europeans was expected from Pondi-



Storms Masulipatam. 251

cherry. A sum of money for the English had arrived BOOK 1v.
from Bengal; but the French army of observation _C_:‘_’_'_i
+ rendered it dangerous, or rather impracticable, to 1759,
send it to the camp. The English troops mutinied
for want of pay ; and it was with much difficulty, and
by large promises, that they were induced to resume
the discharge of their duty.
Three batteries continued a hot fire on three dif-
ferent parts of the town, without having effected any
_considerable damage, from the 25th of March to the
6th of April, when the situation of the English began
to wear a very threatening aspect. Salabut Jung was
approaching ; the French army of observation had
retaken Rajamundri, and might effect a junction with
the Subahdar; it was impossible for the English now
to retreat by the way which they had come, or even
to embark at Masulipatam with their cannon and
heavy stores ; the monsoon had begun ; the reinforce-
ment from Pondicherry was expected ; and to crown
all, the engineers reported that no more than two
days’ ammunition for the batteries remained uncon-
sumed. In these circumstances, however apparently
desperate, Colonel Forde resolved to try the chance of
an assault. The batteries were directed to play with
the utmost activity during the whole of the day; and
the troops to be under arms at ten at night. The at-
tack, in order to divide the attention of the enemy,
and render uncertain the point of danger, was to be
in three places at once; and the three divisions of the
army were to be on their respective grounds exactly
at midnight. The struggle wus expected to be se-
vere; from the superior numbers of the enemy, and
the little damage which the works had sustained. A
part of the army faultered considerably; nor did all
the officers meet the danger with perfect composure.



252

Success of Colonel Forde.

BOOK IV. They got, however, within the walls with compara-
Casr. 5. tive ease; where, being met by superior forces, they

1759.

might have paid dear for their temerity, had not sur-
prise aided their arms, and had not M. Conflans, con-
founded by uncertainty, and by various and exagge-
rated reports, after a short resistance, surrendered
the place.

Within one week two ships appeared with a rein-
forcement of 300 troops from Pondicherry. The
Subahdar, whose arrival had been anticipated but
a very few days by the fall of Masulipatam, found
himself in circumstances ill calculated to carry on by
himself a war against the English. He was anxious
on the other hand, being now deprived of the French,
to cultivate a friendship with the English, and to ob-
tain from them a body of troops, to protect him
against the dangerous ambition of his brother Nizam
Ali, who, since the departure of Bussy, had returned
at the head of a considerable body of troops, and filled
him with serious alarm. Colonel Forde repaired to
his camp, where he was received with great distinc-
tion, and concluded a treaty, by which a considerable
territory about Masulipatam was ceded to the Eng-
lish, and the Subahdar engaged to allow no French
settlement for the future to exist in his dominions.
The French army of observation, which, it was by
the same treaty stipulated, should cross the Kistna in
fifteen days, joined the army of Bassalut Jung, the
elder brother of the Subahdar, who had accompanied
him on the expedition to the Northern Circars, and
now marched away to the south. The two ships
which had brought the reinforcement from Pondi-
cherry, upon discovering the loss of Masulipatam,
sailed away to the north, and landed the troops at
Ganjam. They made several efforts to render some
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useful service, but entirely fruitless; and after endur- BOOK Iv.
ing a variety of privations, returned greatly reduced ©247- >
in numbers to Pondicherry.' 1759.
While the detachment from the army of Bengal
was engaged in these operations, the solicitude of
Clive was attracted by an enemy of high pretensions
in a different quarter. Toward the close of the his-
tory of the Mugul Emperors, it appeared, that the
eldest son of the Emperor Aulumgeer II., not daring
to trust himself in the hands of the Vizir, the daring
Umad al Mulk, by whom the emperor was held in a
state of wretched servitude, had withdrawn into the
district of Nujeeb ad Dowla, the Rohilla, who was an
opponent of the Vizir, and a partizan of the Imperial
family. At this time, the revelution effected by the
English in Bengal, the unpopularity and disorders of
Jaffier’s administration, and the presumed weakness
of his government, excited hopes in the neighbouring
chiefs, that an invasion of his territories might be
turned to advantage. The imagination of Mahum-
mud Koollee Khan, the Subahdar of Allahabad, was
the most highly elevated by the prospect of sharing
in the spoils of the English Nabob. He was insti-
gated by two powerful Zemindars, the Rajahs, Sunder
Sing, and Bulwant Sing. And the Nabob of Oude,
his near kinsman, one of the most powerful chiefs in
Hindustan, joined with apparent ardour in the design.
The Nabob of Oude entertained a double purpose;
that of obtaining, if any thing was to be seized, as
great a share as possible of Bahar or Bengal; and
that of watching his opportunity, while his ally and
kinsman was intent upon his expected acquisitions, to
seize by force or stratagem the fort of Allahabad.
The influence of the imperial name appeared to them

1 Orme, ii, 375—380, 472—401, 554; Wilks, p. 401.
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BOOK 1v. of noe small importance in the war with Jaffier ; and
Cuar.5. o5 the prince, who had fled into Rohilcund, was soli-
1759. citing them for protection, it was agreed to place him
ostensibly at the head of the enterprise. Preparations
were made ; and the Prince, having obtained from the
Emperor legal investiture, as Subahdar of Bengal, Ba-
har, and Orissa, crossed the Carumnassa, a river
which bounds the province of Bahar, towards the
conclusion of the year 1758. From the exhaustion
of the treasury when Jaffier was raised to the go-
vernment, the great sums which he had paid to the
English, the difficulty of extracting money from the
people, his own negligent and wasteful administration,
and the cruel and brutal character of his son Meeran,
Jaffier was ill-prepared to meet a formidable invasion.
From his own rabble of ill-paid and mutinous soldiers,
he was obliged to turn, and place all his hopes of
safety in the bravery and skill of the English, whom,
before the news of this impending danger, he had
been plotting to expel. The English appear to have
had no foresight of such an event. By the absence
of the troops in the Northern Circars, their force was
so inconsiderable, and both they and Jaffier needed so
much time to prepare, that had the invaders pro-
ceeded with tolerable expedition and skill, they might
have gained, without difficulty, the whole province of
Bahar. A blow like this, at so critical a period, would
have shaken to such a degree the tottering govern-
ment of Jaffier, that the incipient power of the Eng-
lish might have despaired of restoring it ; and a mo-
mentary splendour might again have surrounded the
throne of the Moguls.

The march of the Prince and his confederates to-
wards Patna placed Ramnarain the Governor between
two dreadful fires. To Jaffier he neither felt, nor
owed attachment. But, joining the prince, he risked
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every thing, if Jaffier; adhering to Jaffier, be risked BOOK 1v.
as much, if the prince ; should succeed. The situation Caar. 5.
was calculated to exercise Hindu duplicity and ad~ 1759.
dress. An application to Mr. Amyatt, the chief of

the English factory, was the first of his steps; from
whom as he could receive no protection, he expected

such latitude of advice, as would afford a colour to any
measures he might find it agreeable to pursue. It
happened as he foresaw. Mr. Amyatt informing him

that the English would remain at Patna, if assistance
should arrive ; if not, would retire from the danger ;
frankly and sincerely instructed him, to amuse the
Prince as long as possible; but if all hopes of succour
should fail, to provide for himself as events might
direct. Ramnarain studied to conduct himself in

such a manner as to be able to join with the greatest
advantage the party for whom fortune should declare.

He wrote to Bengal importuning for succour ; and he

at the same time privately sent a messenger to propi-

tiate the Prince. He was even induced, when the
English of the factory had retired down the river, to

pay him a visit in his camp; and the troops of the
Prince might have entered Patna along with him. The
opportunity however was lost ; and the observations
which the Hindu made upon the Prince’s camp and

upon the councils which guided him, induced him to

shut the gates of the city when he returned, and to
prepare for defence.

The hardihood of Clive was seldom overcome by
scruples. Yet the Emperor Aulumgeer was legi-
timate sovereign of Bengal ; and had undoubted right
to appoint his eldest son to be his deputy in the go-
vernment of that province: To oppose him, was
undisguised rebellion.! The English forces, a slender

! The Prince, Holwell assures us, (Memorial, p.2) repeatedly offered
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BOOKIV. band, marched to Moorshedabad, and, being joined
Cuar-5. by the best part of Jaffier's troops, commanded by
1759. Meeran, they advanced towards Patna; where Ram-

narain had amused the prince by messages and over-
tures as long as possible, and afterwards opposed
him. Though the attack was miserably conducted,
a breach was made, and the courage and resources of
Ramnarain would have been soon exhausted; when
intelligence reached the camp, that the Subahdar of
Oude, who was on his march with an army under
pretence of joining the prince, had treacherously
seized the fortress of Allahabad. Mahummud Kool-
lee Khan, by whom the prince’s affairs were con-
ducted, and whose forces were his entire support,
resolved to march immediately for the recovery or
protection of his own dominions ; and though he was
Jjoined at four miles’ distance from the city by M.
Law, who had hastened from Chutterpore with his
handful of Frenchmen, and importuned him to
return to Patna, of which he engaged to put him in
possession in two days, the infatuated Nabob con-
tinued his march, and being persuaded by the
Subahdar of Oude to throw himself upon his gene-
rosity, was first made a prisoner, and afterwards put
to death.

When Clive and Meeran approached, the enemy
had already departed from Patna; and the unhappy
prince, the descendant of so many illustrious sove-
reigns, the legal Subahdar of Bengal, Bahar, and
Orissa, and the undoubted heir of a throne, once
among the loftiest on the globe, was so bereft of
friends and resources, that he was induced to write a

to grant the English their own terms, if they would assist him in reco-
vering his rights. On what side justice lay, is evident enough. On
what side policy, whether on that which Clive rejected, or that which
he chose, is a more subtle inquiry.
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letter to Clive, requesting a sum of money for his BOOK 1v
subsistence, and offering in requital to withdraw from Cuar. 5.
the province. Upon these easy terms was Clive, by 1759.
his good fortune, enabled to extricate himself from a
situation of considerable difficulty. Ramnarain ob-

tained, or it was convenient to grant him, credit for
fidelity ; the Zemindars who bad joined the Prince
hastened to make their peace; and Clive returned to
Calcutta in the month of June.!

This was a fortunate expedition for Clive. So
unbhounded was the gratitude of Jaffier, that after
obtaining for his defender the rank of an Omrah of
the empire, he bestowed upon him, under the title
of Jaghire, the whole of the revenue or rent, which
the Company, in quality of Zemindar, were bound
to pay, for the territory which they held round Cal-
catta. The grant amounted to the enormous sum
of 30,000/ per annum. ¢ Clive’s Jaghire” is an
expression of frequent recurrence, and of consider-
able weight, in the History of India.

The Shazada (such was the title by which the
eldest son of the Mogul was then distinguished in
Bengal) was thus fortunately repulsed, and Colonel
Forde with his troops was no less fortunately returned
trom the south, when the English were alarmed by
the news of a great armament, fitted out by the
Dutch at Batavia, and destined for Bengal. The
Dutch were not then at war with England, and
being excited to cupidity by the lofty reports of the
vich harvest lately reaped by the English in Bengal,
possibly aimed at no more than a share of the same
advantages, or to balance before its irresistible
ascendency the increasing power of their rivals,

' Scott’s History of Bengal, p. 579—391; Seer Mutakhareen, vol. ii.
partii. p. 42—89; Francklin’s Shah Aulum, p. 8—11; First Repuit
of the Seject Committee in 1772: Holwell's Memorial, p. 2.

VOL, 111, N
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Bgox IV. They had received encouragement from Jaffier; but
A5 that ruler, since the invasion of the Mogul Prince,

1759.

felt so powerfully his dependence on the English,
that, when called upon by the English for the use
of his authority and power, he durst not decline. In
the month of August a Dutch ship arrived in the
river, filled with troops; and this was speedily fol-
lowed by six more, the whole having on board 700
Europeans and 800 Malays. To attack without pro-
vocation the ships or troops of a nation in friend-
ship with this country, was not regarded by Clive as
less than a hazardous step. The advantages, how-
ever, of standing without a rival in Bengal out-
weighed his apprehensions; he obtained an order of
the Subahdar, commanding the Dutch to leave the
river; and under pretence of seconding his authority
resolved upon hostilities. The seven ships ascended
the river as far as a few miles below Calcutta, and
landed their troops, which were thence to march to
the Dutch factory at Chinsura. Clive detached
Colonel Forde, with a force, consisting of 300 Euro-
peans, 800 Sepoys, and about 150 of Jaffier’s cavalry,
to intercept them; and at the same time commanded
three of the Company’s ships, fitted out and manned
for the purpose, to attack the Dutch East Indiamen.
Colonel Forde, by the dexterity and success of his
exploit, converted it into one of the most brilliant
incidents of the war; and of the 700 Europeans, not
above fourteen were enabled to reach Chinsura, the
rest being either taken prisoners or slain. The at-
tack upon the ships was equally successful; after an
engagement of two hours, six of them were taken,
and the seventh was intercepted by two English
ships which lay further down the river. After this
heavy blow the Dutch, to prevent their total expul-
sion {from Bengal, were contented to put themselves
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in the wrong, by paying the expenses of the war;BgOK .
and the irregularity of his interference made Clive """ ™"
well pleased to close the dispute, by restoring to the 1760.
Dutch their ships, with all the treasure and effects.
The agreement with the Dutch was ratified on the
5th of December; and Clive, who for some months
had been meditating return with his fortune to
Europe, resigned the government early in February.
and sailed from Calcutta.!

He left not the country in peace. Meeran, before
he departed from Patna, the preceding year, had
sown the seeds of a future war. He treated with
injustice some officers of considerable rank and influ-
ence; and no sooner was he gone than a confederacy
was formed between them and some neighbouring
Zemindars to support the Shazada in a fresh inva-
sion. Intelligence of their designs had reached Cal-
cutta before the contest with the Dutch was decided.
And the Nabob of Poorania, whom Meeran had
already endeavoured to cut off by treachery, had
taken the field, and was expected to join the Mogul
prince.

Colonel Calliaud had been called from Carnatic to
take the command of the forces in Bengal, when
Clive and Forde, who meditated simultaneous depar-
ture, should sail for Europe. He arrived with a
reinforcement of troops toward the end of November;
and it was necessary that he should proceed to stop
the menaced invasion without a moment’s delay. He
left Calcutta with a detachment of 300 Europeans,
1,000 Sepoys, and fifty artillery men, with six pieces

! First Report from the Select Committee in 1772 ; Holwell's Memo-~
rial; Calliaud’s Narrative. The author of the Seer Mutakhareen won-
ders greatly what could be the reason of Clive’s quitting the government ;
a sentiment very natural to bim, who well understood the pleasures of
governing; but could not so easily conceive the passion of an English-
man to see lodged a princely fortune in his own country.

S %
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BOOK IV. of cannon, and arrived at Moorshedabad on the 26th

Cuavp. 5.

1760.

of December. He was joined by Clive on the 6th of
January, who, having made his arrangements with
the Subahdar, or Nabob, set out after a week for
Calcutta. Calliaud, being joined by 15,000 horse
and foot, and twenty-five pieces of cannon, of the
Nabob, under command of Meeran, resumed his
march on the 18th.

In the mean time, the Mahrattas, who had been
incited by the Vizir, Umad al Mulk, to invade the
provinces of Oude and Rohilcund, had been defeated
and obliged to fly; while the powerful King of the
Abdallees was again on his march for the invasion of
Hindustan. Excited by the approach of formidable
danger, the Vizir, in a fit of exasperation or despair,
ordered the murder of the Emperor, the wretched
Aulumgeer; and the news of this tragical event
reached the Shazada, just as he had passed the
Carumnassa into the province of Bahar., He was
advised to assume immediately the state and title of
Emperor; to confer the office of Vizir upon Suja
Dowla, the Nabob of Oude, and to confirm Nujeeb
ad Dowla in the office of Ameer ul Omrah. The
majesty of the imperial throne, and his undoubted
title, had an influence still upon the minds of men.
It was now clear and immediate rebellion to resist
him; and whatever guilt could be involved in making
war upon their rightful sovereign, must be incurred
by those who carried arms against him. The English
had already familiarized themselves with the idea
of rebellion in India; and the consideration of legi-
timate sovereignty, though the sovereign would have
purchased their protection by unlimited grants, ap-
pears not to have excited a scruple in a single breast.
The new dignity, however, of Vizir called upon the
Nahob of Oude for some exertions in favour of his
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sovereign; and the fascination of the imperial title BOOK Iv.
was still of force to collect around him a considerable ©"+%- %
army.! 1760.
The march of the English was retarded by the
necessity of settling terms with the Nabob of Poora-
nia, who had encamped on the left bank of the river
between Moorshedabad and Patna, and professed a
‘desire of remaining obedient to Jaffier, provided the
English would engage for his security. This nego-
tiation wasted seven days; and in the mean time
the Emperor advanced towards Patna. Ramnarain,
whom the sagacity of Aliverdi had selected to be
deputy Governor of Bahar, on account of his skill in
matters of finance, was destitute of military talents;
and considering his situation, under the known
hatred of Jaffier, as exceedingly precarious, he was
unwilling to lay out any of the wealth he had ac-
quired, in providing for the defence of the country.
He was still enabled to draw forth a respectable
army, reinforced by seventy Europeans and a bat-
talion of English sepoys, commanded by Licutenaunt
Cochrane ; and he encamped under the walls, with a
view to cover the city. He had received by letter
the strongest injunctions from Calliaud, on no ac-
count to hazard a battle till Meeran and he should
arrive,  An action however took place; the army of
Ramnarain was attacked with impetuosity ; some of
his officers behaved with treachery; his {roops were
giving way on all sides; and he himsell was dan-
gerously pressed; when he sent an importunate re-
quest to the English for immediate assistance. The
Lieutenant had advised him at the beginuing of the
action to place himself, for the security of his person,

' It is stated at 60,000 men by Calliaud (Narrative of what hap-
pened in Beugal in 1760, p. 7); but tlus we conceive is an exaggerated
cunjecture,



262

Attack upon Patna

BOOK IV.near the English battalion; an advice with which
Cuar- 5 his vanity did not permit him to comply. That officer
1760. marched to his relief without a moment’s delay; but

he imprudently divided his handful of troops; they
were unable to withstand the force of numbers; all
the European officers of the Sepoys fell, when the
Sepoys dispersed and were cut to pieces. The Eng-
lish who remained alive, resolved to fight their way
to the city; and such was the awe and terror which
the sight of their courage inspired, that the enemy,
not daring to resist, opened instantly to the right and
left, and allowed them to retire.!

Had the troops of the Emperor pushed on with
vigour, immediately after this victory, when Ram-
narain was severely wounded, his army panic-struck

1 The remarks of the Mogul nobleman, who was in Patna at the
moment of the action, are amusing at least. “ What remained of their
people,” he says, # was rallied by Doctor William Fullerton, a friend
of mine, and possibly by some English officers whose names I know not,
who ranged them in order again; and as one of their guos was to be left
on the field of battle, they found means to render it useless and of no
avail, by thrusting a large needle of iron into its eye. The other being
in good cundition, they took it with them, together with its ammunition ;
and that handful of men had the courage to retire in the face of a vic-
torious enemy without ouce shrinking from their ranks. During their
journey, the cart of ammunition chanced to receive some damage; the
Doctor stopped unconcernedly, and after baving put it in order, he
bravely pursued his route again; and it must be acknowledged, that this
nation’s presence of mind, firmness of temper, and undaunted bravery,
are past all question. They join the most resolute courage to the most
cautious prudence; nor have they their equals in the art of ranging
themselves in battle array, and fighting in order. If to so many military
qualifications they knew how to join the arts of government; if they
showed a concern for the circumstances of the husbandman and the
geutieman, and exerted as much ingenuity and solicitude in relieving and
easing the people of God, as they do in whatever concerns their military
affairs, no nation in the world would be preferable to them, eor prove
worthier of command. But such is the little regard which they show to
the people of these kingdoms, and such their apathy and indifference for
their welfare, that the people under their dominion groan every where,
and are reduced to poverty and distress. Oh God! come to the assist-
ance of thine afflicted servants, and deliver them from the oppressions
they suffer.” Seer Mutakhareen, ii. 101.
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and dispersed, and the city without defenders, they BOOK 1v.
might have taken Patna with the greatest ease. C“*™:%
But they employed themselves in ravaging the open 1760.
country, and in receiving messengers and overtures
from Ramnarain till the 19th of February, when
they learned that Meeran and the English were dis-
tant from them but twenty-eight miles. The resolu-
tion was taken to march and engage them; and next
day the two armies approached. Colonel Calliaud
urged immediate attack; but Meeran and his astro-
logers found that the stars would not be favourable
before the 22d. Early on the morning of that day,
Calliaud was in motion ; but before he could reach
the enemy the day was so far spent, “ by the insuf-
ferable delays,” as he himself complains, “ of
Meeran’s march,” that, wishing to have time before
him, he was unwilling to engage till the following
morning. The enemy however advanced, and Calli-
aud drew up his men between two villages which
covered both his flanks, advising Meeran to form a
second line, the whole of which, except the two
wings, would have been covered by the English and
the villages. But though this was agreed upon,
“ he crowded his army upon the right, and, in spite
of the most pressing and repeated solicitations, pre-
sented to battle a body of 15,000 men with a front
of scarcely 200 yards in a tumultuous unformed
heap.” With a feigned appearance of directing the
main attack upon the English, the enemy advanced
with the best part of their army against Meeran,
who in about ten minutes began to give way. Co-
lonel Calliaud, however, marched with a battallion of
Sepoys to his aid, and immediately decided the fate
of the day. The Sepoys drew up within forty yards
upon the enemy’s flank, and having poured in a
couple of fires, advanced with the bayonet, when the
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BOOK IV.enemy recoiled upon one another, fell into confusion,

CHap. 5.

1760.

and, being charged by Meeran’s cavalry, dispersed
and fled. Calliaud was eager to pursue, but Meeran,
who had received a trifling wound in the battle, pre-
ferred an interval of ease and pleasure at Patna. He
would not even permit the service to be performed
without him; and though Calliaud offered to proceed
with his own troops alone, if only a few horse, which
he earnestly entreated, were granted him, he found

-all he could urge without avail.

The Ewmperor fled the same night to Bahar, a town
ahout ten miles from the field of battle. Here a
measure of great promise suggested itself: To leave
Meeran and the English behind ; and, marching with
the utmost expedition to Bengal, surprise Moorshe-
dabad, and take the Nabob prisoner. It was the
29th of the month before Meeran could be prevailed
upon to abandon the indulgences of Patna; when he
and the English marched towards Bahar, and were -
surprised to learn that the enemy had already per-
formed two marches towards Bengal. The strongest
motives pressed for dispatch: The English embarked
in boats, and along with Meeran’s cavalvy in three
days overtook the foe; who adopted a bold and po-
litic resolution. No longer able to proceed along the
river, the Emperor directed his march across the
mountains; and Calliaud still resolved to follow his
steps.  The rouie was long and difficult, and it was
near the end of }March hefore the Emperor emerged
ou the plains of Bengal, about thirty miles west from
Moorshedabad.  During this interval, intelligence
was in sufficient time reccived by Jaffier to enable
him to collect an army and obtain a body of 200
Furopeans trom Calcutta: but the Emperor was joined
by a body of Mahrattas, who had lately broken into
that part of the country; and had he rapidly attacked
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the Nabob, he still enjoved, in the opinion of Calliaud, BOOK 1v.
the fairest prospect of success. But he lingered till f‘_‘fi
Meeran and the English joined the Nabob on the 1760,
4th of April; and on the 7th, when they advanced

to attack him, he set fire to his camp and fled. Cal-

liaud again urged for cavalry to pursue, and again

was absolutely refused.

One object of hope was even yet reserved to the
Emperor. By the precipitation with which his pur-
suers had followed him, Patna was left in a miserable
state of defence. Could he return with expedition,
and anticipate the arrival of succour, it must fall into
his hands. At this very time M. Law, with his small
body of Frenchmen, passing that capital, to join the
Emperor who had again invited him from Chitter-
pore, threw it into the greatest alarm. It was almost
entirely destitute of the means of defence ; but Law
was ignorant of its situation; and proceeded to Ba-
har to wait for the Emperor. At this time the Naib
of Poorania took off the mask, espousing openly the
cause of the Emperor; and had he seized the present
opportunity of marching to Patna, nothing could
have prevented it from falling into his hands. The
exertions however of Ramnarain, and of the gentle-
men of the English factory, had collected, before the
Emperor was able to arrive. a sufficient body of de-
fenders to secure the city against the first impres-
sion; and Colonel Callinud, who foresaw the danger,
formed a detachment of 200 chosen Europeans, and
a battalion of Sepoys, of which he gave the command
to Captain Kuox, and commanded them to march
with the utmost expedition to Patna.  The Lmperor
had lost no time in commencing the siege; and after
several days of vigorous operation, during which
Mr. Fullerton, the English Surgeon, and Raja Shita-
broy, had distinguished themselves peculiarly within
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Captain Knox attacks with Success

BOOK 1v, the walls, Law attempted an assault. Though re-
Cuar. 5. pulsed, he, in two days, renewed the attempt; and
1760. part of the wall being demolished, the rampart was

scaled. The enemy were still compelled to retirg;
but the city was now thrown into the greatest alarm;
a renewed assault was expected the following night ;
and scarcely a hope was entertained of its being
withstood ; when Captain Knox with a flying party
was seen approaching the walls. He had performed
the march from Moorshedabad to Patna, under the
burning heat of a Bengal sun, in the extraordinary
space of thirteen days, himself marching on foot, as
an example and encouragement to the men. That
very night the Captain reconnoitred the enemy’s
camp in person; and pext day, watching the hour of
afternoon’s repose, surprised them when asleep, and
drove them from their works, to which they never
returned.

While the Emperor, conscious of his weakness,
withdrew to the neighbourhood of Teekaury, waiting
the result of his applications to the Abdallee Shah,
who was now commanding from the ancient seat of
the Mogul government the whole of the upper pro-
vinces of Hindustan, the Naib or Deputy Governor
of Poorania had collected his army, and was on the
march to join him. To counteract his designs, the
English army under Calliaud, and that of Jaffier
under Meeran, rendezvoused at Raje mahl, on the
23d of May. They moved upwards on the one side
of the river, the Naib advancing on the other; and
orders were forwarded to Captain Knox to cross
over from Patna, and harass his march till the main
army should arrive ; while his boats, which were not
able to ascend the river so fast as he marched, were
overtaken and seized. Captain Knox amazed the
inhabitants of Patna by declaring his resclution, as



the Nabob of Purneah. 2687

soon as the enemy appeared, of crossing the river BOOK IV.
with his handful of men and giving them battle. C®4™3-
Part of Ramnarain’s troops were placed under his 1760.
command ; but as the enterprise appeared to them
an act of madness, they formed a determined resolu-
tion to have no share in it. Raja Shitabroy having
between two and three hundred men in his pay, with
whom he had performed important services in the de-
fence of Patna, joined the Captain with a real dispo-
sition toact. Two hundred Europeans, one battalion
of Sepoys, five field-pieces, and about 300 horse,
marched to engage an army of 12,000 men, with
thirty pieces of cannon. Arrived within a few miles
of the enemy, Knox proceeded in the dark to the
quarters of Shitabroy, to communicate his design of
surprising the enemy’s camp during the night: he
found that gallant associate fully prepared to second
his ardour; the troops were allowed a few hours for
repose ; and a little after midnight they began to
march. The guide having missed his way from the
darkness of the night, they wandered till within two
hours of day-break, and having lost the time for at-
tacking the enemy by surprise, abandoned the de-
sign. They had laid down their arms, and prepared
themselves for a little repose, when the vanguard of
the enemy appeared. The gallantry of Knox allowed
not a moment’s hesitation. He took his ground with
skill ; and though completely surrounded by the ene-
my, repulsed them at every point; sustained a con-
flict of six hours, in which Shitabroy fought with the
greatest activity and resolution; and having com-
pelled them at last to quit the field, pursued them till
night.’

1 The author of the Seer Mutakhareen, who had a distant view of the

battle from the walls of Patna, descnbes, with much effect, the alterna-
tion of hopes and fears which agitated the inhabitants, as the various

-
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Operations of the English Army.

BOOK IV.  In consequence of this defeat, the Naib postponed

Cuar. 3.

1760.

’

his resolution of joining the Emperor, and marched
towards the north. In a few days Calliaud and Mee-
ran crossed the Ganges to pursue him, and, as his
army was encumbered with baggage and artillery,
soon overtook him. He immediately formed his line,
as if to engage; but unloading the treasure, and the
most valuable part of the baggage, putting it upon

-camels and elephants; and skirmishing only till the

English came up, he marched away with great expe-
dition, leaving his heavy baggage and artillery be-
hind.! The rains were now set in with unusual vic-
lence, yet Calliaud, animated by the reports of the

reports of the battle renched the city, or the tokens which came to their
eyes and their ears were variously interpreted. At last, he says,  when
the day wus far spent, a note came to Mr. Amyatt from Captain Kuox,
which mentioned that the enemy was defeated and fiying.  This intelli-
gence was sent to all the principal men of the city, and caused a deal of
juy. 1 went to the factory to compliment the gentlemen, when in the
dusk of the evening Captain Knox himself crossed over, and came with
Shitabroy in his company. They were both covered with dust and
sweat. The Captain then gave some detail of the battle, and paid the
greatest encomiums on Shitabroy's zeal, activity, and vaiour. He ex-
claimed several times, ¢ 1lus is a real Nawab; I vever saw such a Na-
wab in my hfe’ A few moments after, Ramnarain was introduced. He
had in his company both Mustapha Coollee Khan, and the Cutwal of
the city, with some other men of consequence, who, on hearing of the
arrival of these two men, Lad fiocked to the factory; and on seeing them
alone could not help believing that they had escaped from the slaughter;
s0 far were they irom conceivmg that o few hundreds of men could defeat
a4 nhole army.  Nor could they be mude to believe (impressed as they
were with Hindian notions) that a commander could quit his army so
unconcernediy, unless he bad indeed run away from 1t; nor would hsten
to what Mr. Amyatt repeatedly said to convince Ramnarain and others
of their mistake.”  8cer Mutakbareen, Ji. 123.

1 Calliaud, on this vecasion o, complans heavily of Meeran: “ The
young Nubob and s troops behaved in this skirmish i their usual
manuer, halting above a mile 1 the rear, nor ever once made a motion
to sustatu the English.  1lad he but acted on this occasion with the least
appearance of spirit, and made cven a semblance of fighting, the aftuir
must have proved decisive; nor could Cuddum Houssein Khan or his
treasure have escaped.”  Culliaud’s Narrative, p. 34,
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rich treasure (the English were credulous on the sub- BoOK 1v,
ject of treasure) which the Naib carried in his train, CF*-5-
resolved to make the utmost exertions to overtake him 1760,
before he could reach the forests and mountains. The ¢
pursuit had been continuved four days, when during
the night of the 2d of July, which proved exceedingly
tempestuous, the tent of Meeran was struck with
lightning, and he, with all his attendants, were killed
on the spot. The death of their leader is, to an In-
dian army, the signal to disband. 'The probability of
this event, which would deliver the province of Bahar
into the hands of the Emperor, struck the English
commander with the utmost alarm. His whole at-
tention was now occupied in keeping the army to-
gether, till reconducted to Patna, toward which he
marched with all possible expedition ; and distributed
the troops in winter quarters in the 29th of July.!

The political affairs of the province were hastening
to another crisis, The government of Jaffier was in
astate approaching to dissolution. The English Presi-
dency was distressed by want of pecuniary resources,
and the seeds of violent discords were sown in the
council,

When Jaflier got possession of the viceroyalty by the
dethronement and death of his master Suraja Dowla,
and when the Inglish leaders were grasping the ad-
vantages which the revolution placed in their hands,
both parties, dazzled with first appearances, overlooked
the consequences which necessarily ensued. The cu-
pidity natural to mankind, and the credulity with

* On the history of this second 1nvasion of the Mogul Prince, see Scott’s
Hist. of Bengal, p. 302—397; Seer Mutakhareen, 1i. 91—139; Cal-
linud’s Narrative of what happened in Bengal 1n 1760, p. 1—36 ; Cal-
linud’s Evidence before the Committee of 1772; Calliaud’s Letters 1w
Holwell's Tracts, p. 27 ; Franchlw’s Shab Aulum, p. 12.
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State of the English Government

BOOK IV, which they believe what flatters their desires, made the
Cusb. 5. Tnglish embrace, without deduction, the exaggera-

1760.

tions of Oriental rhetoric on the riches of India ; and
believe that a country which they saw was one of the
poorest, was nevertheless the most opulent upon the
surface of the globe. The sums which had been ob-
tained from Jaffier were now wholly expended. « The
idea of provision for the future,” to use the words of
a governor, “ seemed to have been lost in the apparent
immensity of the sum stipulated for compensation of
the Company’s losses at Calcutta.” No rational fore-
sight was applied, as the same observer remarks, to
the increased expenditure which the new connection
with the government of the country naturally pro-
duced ; and soon it appeared that no adequate provi-
sion was made for it. * In less than two years it was
found necessary to take up money at interest, although
large sums had been received besides for bills upon
the court of Directors.”' The situation of Jaffier
was deplorable from the first. With an exhausted
treasury, an exhausted country, and vast engagements
to discharge, he was urged to the severest exactions;
while the profusion with which he wasted his treasure
upon his own person, and some unworthy favourites,
was ill caleulated to soothe the wretched people, un-
der the privations to which they were compelled.
The cruelties of which he and Meeran were guilty,

! Vansittart’s Narrative, i. 19, 22. The distress at home created by
these bills was not inferior to what was endured in India. “ The funds
of the Company in Europe,” says the same unquestionable authority,
“ were not sufficient to pay the bills when they became due: and it is a
fact well known upon the Royal Exchange, that in the year 1758, the
Directors prevailed not without difficulty, upon the bill-holders, togrant
a further time for the payment of their bills ; if this accommodation had
failed, the consequence would have been what I need not name.” A

Letter to the Proprietors of the East India Stock from Mr. Henry Van-
sittart, p. 13,



in Bengal. an

made them objects of general detestation: the neg- BOOK IV.
ligence, disorder, and weakness of their government, °*4%
exposed them to contempt ; and their troops, always 1760.
mutinous from the length of their arrears, threatened
them every moment with fatal extremities. When
the news arrived at Moorshedabad of the death of
Meeran, the troops surrounded the palace, scaled the
walls, and threatened the Nabob with instant death;
nor were they, in all probability, prevented from exe-
cuting their menaces, otherwise than by the interfer-
ence of Meer Causim, his son-in-law, who, on pro-
mise of succeeding to the place and prospects of Mee-
ran, discharged a part of their arrears from his own
treasury, and induced them to accept of Jaffier's en-
gagements to pay the whole within a limited time.
When Clive resigned the government of Bengal,
instead of leaving the elevation to the chair in the
established order of succession, his influence was suc-
cessfully exerted to procure the nomination of Mr.
Vansittart, who was called from Madras. Mr. Hol-
well, on whose pretensions there had been violent de-
bates in the Court of Directors, was promoted to the
office in virtue of his seniority, till July, when Mr.
Vansittart arrived. The new governor found the
treasury at Calcutta empty, the English troops at
Patna, on the very brink of mutiny, and deserting in
multitudes for want of pay; the Presidencies of Ma-
dras and Bombay totally dependant upon Bengal for
pecuniary resources ; the provision of an investment
actually suspended ; the income of the Company
scarcely sufficient for the current expences of Cal-
cutta; the allowance paid by the Nabob for the
troops several months in arrear ; and the attainment
of that, as well as of a large balance upon his first
agreements, totally hopeless. Some change, by which
the revenue of the Company could be placed on a
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BOOK 1v. level with their expenditure, was indispensable.’ They
Cuar. 5. might retire from all concern with the government of
1760. the country, and content themselves with the protec-
tion of Calcutta, for which a small body of troops and
a small expenditure would suffice. But not to speak
of the golden hopes which had been so fondly che-
rished, fears suggested themselves (fears when they
favour wishes are potent counsellors) that the place
which the Company might resign in directing the
government of the country would be occupied by the
French or the Dutch. From the adwministration of
Jaffier, resigned as he was to a set of unworthy fa-
vourites ; old, indolent, voluptuous, estranged from
the English, and without authority ; no other conse-
quences were to be expected, than those which had
already been experienced. I'rom a strong sense of
the incurable vices of Jaffier and his family, Mr. Hol-
well, during the few months of his administration, had
advised the council to abandon him ; and, embracing
the just cause of the Emperor, to avail themselves of
the high offers which that deserted monarch was
ready to make. An idea, however, of fidelity to the
connexion which they had formed, though with a
subject in rebellion to his king, prevailed in the
breasts of the council; and a middle course was
chosen. Ofall the members of Jaffier’s family, whose
remaining sons were young, Meer Causim, the hus-
band of his daughter, who passed for a man of talents,
appeared the only person endowed with qualities
adapted to the present exigencies of the government.
It was agreed that all the active powers of administra-
tion should be placed in his hands; Jaffier not being

' The necessity of an increased expenditure, and the total want of funds
for defraying it, under the arrangements of Clive, is satisfactorily defended
against objectors by Mr. Vunsittart, in his Letter to the Proprietors,
p. 17—22.
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dethraned in name, but only in reality. A treaty was BOOK IV.
concluded with Meer Causim on the 27th of Septem- Caar. 5.
ber. He agreed, in return for the powers thus 1760.
placed in his hands, to assign to the Company the re-
venues of the three districts of Burdwan, Midnapore,
and Chittagong, to pay the balance due by Jaffier,
and a present of five lacks for the war in Carnatic.
On the 2d of October, Mr. Vansittart, accompanied
by Colonel Calliaud and a detachment of troops, pro-
ceeded to Moorshedabad to persuade or to compel the
Nabob to accede to the arrangements which had been
formed. Jaffier discovered intense reluctance; and
Mr. Vansittart wavered. Meer Causim, who could
be safe no longer in the power of Jaffier, exclaimed
against the perfidy of making and not fulfilling an en-
gagement such as that which was contracted between
them: and formed his resolution of joining the Em-
peror with all his treasure and troops. The resolu-
tion of Mr. Vansittart was at last confirmed ; and a
favourable moment was chosen for occupying the pa-
lace of Jaffier with the troops. When assured that
no designs against his person or authority were enter--
tained ; that nothing was proposed beyond a reform
of his government in the hands of his son-in-law, who
would act as his deputy; he replied, with disdain,
that he was no stranger to the meaning of such lan-
guage; and too well acquainted with the characters
of men, particularly that of his son-in-law, to be in
doubt respecting the consequences. He perempto-
rily refused to remain a vain pageant of royalty, and
desired permission to retire to Calcutta, to lead a pri-
vate life under the English protection.’

' First Report of the Committee in 1772; Vansittart’s Narrative, i.
19—195 ; Holwell's Memorial; Scrafton’s Observations on Vapsittart's
Narrative ; Vansittart’s Letter to the Proprietors of East India Stock
answer to Scrafton ; Verelst’s View of the English Government in Ben-
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Division in the Council,

BOOK IV. When the pecuniary distresses of the Company’s

CHap. 5.

1760,

government, and the enormous disorders in that of
the Nabob, were under the deliberation of the board
at Calcutta, there was but one opinior concerning the
necessity of some important change. To vest Meer
Causim with the power requisite for reforming the
government of the Nabob, was the plan approved of
unanimously in the Select Committee. The force
which might be necessary to subdue his reluctance
was provided; and though it was not anticipated that
he would resign the government rather than comply,
the step which that resolution made necessary was a
natural consequence ; and was without hesitation de-
creed. When Mr. Vansittart returned to Calcutta
on the 7th of November, he found there were persons
by whom those measures were by no means approved.
Mr. Verelst and Mr. Smyth, two members of the
Council, who were not of the Select Committec, en-
tered a minute on the 8th, in which they complained
that a measure of so much importance had not been
submitted to the Council at large; and laying great
stress upon the engagements which had been formed
with Jaffier, insinuated their ignorance of the exist-
ence of any cause why those engagements should be
abandoned and betrayed. When Clive made his plan
for the government of Bengal, by the irregular eleva-
tion of Mr. Vansittart, he seems to have overlooked,
or very imperfectly to have estimated, the passions
which it was calculated to excite. Mr. Amyatt, who
was a man of merit, and next to the chair, could not
behold himself postponed or superseded without dis-
satisfaction; and those among the Bengal servants,
who stood next to bim in hopes, regarded their in-
terests as involved in his. A party thus existed, with

gal; Seer Mutakhareen, ii. 130—160; Scott's Hist. of Bengal, p. 399
—401,
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feelings averse to the Governor; and they soon be- BOOK IV.
came a party, opposed to his measures. Other passions, Cur. 5.
of a still grosser nature, were at this time thrown into  1760.
violent operation in Bengal. The vast sums, obtained
by a few individuals, who had the principal manage-
ment of the former revolution, when Meer Jaffier
trode down Suraja Dowla his master, were held in
vivid remembrance ; and the persuasion that similar
advantages, of which every man burned for a share,
were now meditated by the Select Committee, excited
the keenest emotions of jealousy and envy. Mr.
Amyatt was joined by Mr. Ellis, a person of a violent
temper, whom, in-some of his pretensions, the Gover-
nor had opposed; and by Major Carnac, who had
lately arrived in the province to succeed Calliaud, but
whom the Governor had offended by proposing that
he should not take the command till the affairs at
Patna, in which Calliaud was already engaged, and
with which he was well acquainted, should be con-
ducted to a close. A minute, in which Mr. Ellis and
Mr. Smyth coincided, and in which the deposition of
Jaffier was formally condemned, was entered by Mr.
Amyatt on the 8th of January. No attempt was
made to deny the extreme difficulties in which the
English government was placed, or the disorders and
enormities of Jaffier's administration; it was ounly
denied that any of these evils would be removed by
the revolution of which, in violation of the national
faith, the English, by the Select Committee, had been
rendered the instruments.

Meer Causim, aware that money was the pillar by
which alone he could stand, made so great exertions
that, notwithstanding the treasury of Meer Jaffier was
found almost empty, he paid in the course of a few
months the arrears of the English troops at Patna; so
far satisfied the troops of the Subah, both at Moorshe-
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Ecztrusion of the Emperor,

BOOK IV. dabad and Patna, that they were reduced to order

Cuar. 5

1761.

_and ready to take the field; and provided six or
seven lacks in discharge of his engagements with the
Company, insomuch that the Presidency were enabled
in November to send two lacks and a half to Madras,
whence a letter had been received declaring that
without a supply the siege of Pondicherry must be
raised.

In the month of January, Major Carnac arrived at
Patna, and took the command of the troops. The

Pprovince of Bahar had suffered so much from the

repeated incursions of the Emperor; and the finances
both of the Nabob and of the Company were so much
exhausted by the expense of the army required to
oppose him, that the importance was strongly felt of
driving him finally from that part of the country.
The rains were no sooner at an end, than the Eng-
lish commander, accompanied by the troops of Ram-
narain, and those which had belonged to Meeran,
advanced towards the Emperor, who was stationed
at Gyah Maunpore. The unhappy Monarch made
what exertions he could to increase his feeble army ;
but Carnac reached his camp by three days’ march;
forced him to an engagement, and gained a victory.
The only memorable incident of the battle was, that
M. Law was taken prisoner: And the British officers
exalted themselves in the eyes even of the rude
natives, by treating him with the highest honour
and distinction.'

¢ It 15 interesting and delightful to hear the account of the native
historian. ¢ When the Emperor left the field of battle, the handful of
troops that followed M. Law, discouraged by this flight, and tired of the
wandering life which they had hitherto led in his service, turned about
likewise and followed the Emperor. M. Law, finding himself abandoned
and alone, resolved not to turn his back ; he bestrode one of his guns,
and remained firm in that posture, waiting for the moment of his death.
This being reported to Major Carnac, he detached himself from his
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At this time the Zemindars of Beerboom, and Burd- BOOK 1v.

wan, two important districts of Bengal, not far from

main, with Captain Knox and some other officers, and he advanced to
the man on the gun, without taking with him sither a guard or any
Talingas (Sepoys) at all. Being arrived near, this troop alighted from
their horses, and pulling their caps from their heads, they swept the air
with them, as if to make him a salam: and this salute being returned by
M. Law in the same manner, some parley in their language ensued.
The Major, after paying high encomiums to M. Law for his perseverance,
conduct, and bravery, added these words: ¢ You have done every thing
which could be expected from a brave man; and your name shall be
undoubtedly transmitted to posterity by the pen of history: now loosen
your sword from your loins, come amongst us, and abandon all thoughts
of contending with the English.” The other answered, ¢ That if they
would accept of his surrendering himself just as he was, he had no ob-
Jjection; but that as to surrendering himself with the disgrace of being
without his sword, it was a shame he would never submit to; and that
they might take his life if they were not satisfied with that condition,’
The English commanders, admiring his firmness, consented to his sur-
rendering himself in the manner he wished ; after which the Major with
his officers shook hands with him, in their European manner, and every
sentiment of enmity was instantly dismissed on both sides. At the
same time the Major sent for his own palaukeen, made him sit in it, and
he was sent to camp. M. Law, unwilling to see or to be seen, shut up
the curtains of the palankeen for fear of being recognised by any of his
friends at camp; but yet some of his acquaintances, hearing of his
being arrived, went to bim. The Major, who had excused him from ap-
pearing in public, informed them that they could not see him for some
days, as he was too much vexed to receive any company. Ahmed Khan
Koteishee, who was an 1impertinent talke1, having come to look at him,
thought to pay his court to the English by joking on the man’s defeat; a
behaviour that has nothing strange, if we consider the times in whicl
we live, and the company he was accustomed tc frequent; and it was in
that notion of his, doubtless, that with much pertuess of vuice and aur,
e asked him this question; ¢ And Biby (Lady) Law, where 1s shei’
The Major and the officers present, shocked at the impropriety of the
question, reprimanded him with a severe look, and very severe expressions:
¢ This man,” they said, ¢ has fought Lravely, and deserves the attention of ali
brave men; the impertinences which you have been offering hin may be
custowary amongst your friends and your nation, but cannot be sutlered in
ours, which has itfor a standing rule, never tooifer an njury to a vanquished
foe.” Abmed Kban, checked by this repnmand, held his tongue, and
did not answer a word. He tarried about oue hour more in hus visit, and
then went away much abashed; and, although he was n commander of
importance, and one to whom much honour had been always paid, no
one did speak to him any more, or made a show of standiug up at hus
departure, This reprimand did much honour to the English; and, it

CHar. 5.

—

1761.
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BOOK Iv. Moorshedahad, took arms. It has been alleged that

Cuar. 5. they acted in concert with the Emperor; with whom

1761, it had been arranged during his former campaign,

that a body of Mahrattas should penetrate into Ben-

gal immediately after the rains; that he himself

should advance to Bahar, and, by as menacing an ap-

pearance as possible, engage the attention of the

English and Nabob ; that the Zemindars should hold

themselves in readiness, till the Emperor, giving his

enemies the slip, should penetrate into Bengal, as he

had done the year before; when they should fall

upon the province by one united and desperate effort.

There seems in this too much of foresight and of

plan for Oriental politicians, especially the weak-

minded Emperor and his friends: At any rate the

movements of the Zemindars betrayed them: Meer

Causim, attended by a detachment of English under

Major Yorke, marched in haste to Beerboom, de-

feated the troops which were opposed to them, re-

duced both provinces to obedience, and drove the
Mahrattas to the south.

Immediately after the battle with the Emperor,

Major Carnac sent to him the Raja Shitabroy, to

make an overture of peace; and to ask permission to

visit him in his camp. At first, by the instigation of

one of the restless Zemindars who supported him, he

declined the proposal; presently afterwards, having

listened to other counsels, he became eager to make

nis terms. He was tired of his dependence upon

the rude and insolent chiefs who hitherto had upheld

must be acknowledged, to the bonour of those strangers, that as their
conduct in war and in battle 1s worthy of admiration, so, on the other
hand, nothing 18 more modest and more becoming than their behaviour
to an enemy, whether in the heat of action, or in the pride of success and
victory ; these people seem to act entirely according to the rules ob-
served by our ancient commanders, and our men of genjus.” Seer
Mutakbareen, ii. 165, 166,
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his cause; and cherished hopes that the late revolu- BOOK 1v.
tion at Delhi might produce some turn in his favour. C“_’“'s
The Abdallee Shah, after his great victory over the 1761
Mahrattas, had acknowledged him as sovereign of
Hindustan; had appointed his son to act in the
quality of his deputy at Délhi; and had recom-
mended his cause to the Afghaun chiefs, and to his

vizir the Nabob of Oude. Major Carnac paid his
compliments to him as Emperor, in his own camp,

and, after the usual ceremonies, conducted him to
Patna.

Meer Causim was not easy upon the prospect of a
connexion between the Emperor and the English;
and hastened te Patna, to observe and to share in the
present proceedings. Upon his arrival he declined
waiting upon the Emperor in his own camp; either
because he was afraid of treachery, of which there
was no appearance; or because (so low was the house
of Timur fallen) he was pleased to measure dignities
with his King. After much negotiation the English
invented a compromise ; by planning the interview in
the hall of the factory, where a musnud was formed of
two dining tables covered with cloth. The usual
ceremonies were performed; and Meer Causim, upon
condition of receiving investiture as Subahdar of
Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa, engaged to pay annually
twenty-four lacks of rupees to the Emperor, as the
revenue of the provinces, with the government of
which he was entrusted. After a short stay at Patna,
where the intrigues of the Nabob had as yet pre-
vented his being proclaimed as sovereign, Shah
Aulum accepted the invitation of the Subahdar of
Oude, of Nujeeb ad Dowla, and other Afghaun chiefs,
to whom his cause was recommended by the Ab-
dallee Shah, to place himself under their protection,
and marched toward his capital. He was escorted
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BOOK 1Iv.by Major Carnac to the boundaries of the province
CHar- 5 of Bahar; and made a tender to the English of the
1761. duanee of Bengal, Bahar, and Orissa, for which, and
all their other privileges, he offered to grant phir-
mins, whenever the petition for them should be pre-
sented in form. The intention was distinctly formed
at Calcutta, to afford assistance for placing and con-
firming him on his paternal throne ; but the want of
money, and the disinclination of the Nabob, proved

decisive obstructions.

Meer Causim, who had supplied his first neces-
sities, by squeezing out of those persons, who were
suspected of having made riches in the public service,
all that terror or cruelty, under pretence of making
them account for their balances, was calculated to
extort, regarded the supposed treasures of Ramna-
rain, as well as the revenues of his government, with
a craving appetite ; and resolved to omit no effort or
contrivance, to get both in his power. As Ramna-
rain, however, had been assured of protection by the
English, it was necessary to proceed with caution and
art. The pretence of calling upon him to account
for the receipts of his government was the instru-
ment employed. It was the purpose of the Nabob
to accede to mo accommodation which should not
leave Ramnmarain at his mercy: It was the purpose
of Ramnarain to avoid, by every effort of chicanery,
the rendering of a fair account. These endeavours,
truly Oriental, of the Nabob on the one side, and
Ramnarain on the other, operated to the ruin of
both.

Mr. Vansittart, and the party who supported him,
desirous of finding the conduct of Meer Causim,
whom they had raised, of a nature to justify their
choice, were disposed to interpret all appearances in
his favour: The opposite party, who condemned the
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elevation of Meer Causim, were not less disposed to BOOK 1v.
interpret all appearances to his disadvantage. Unfor- CH4®- -
tunately for Ramnarain, and, in the end, not less y761.
unfortunately for the Nabob, the persons at Patna,

in whose hands the military power of the English at

this time was placed, belonged to the party by whom

the Governor was opposed. Major Carnac was
indeed superseded in the chief command by the
arrival of Colonel Coote soon after the Emperor was
received at Patna; but Coote fell so entirely into the

views of his predecessor, that Carnac, though in a
subordinate station, remained at Patna, to lend his
countenance and aid to measures, the line of which

he had contributed to draw.

So far was Mr. Vansittart from intending lo per-
mit any injustice towards Ramnarain, that Major
Carnac, in his first instructions, was particularly
informed of the engagements subsisting between the
English government and Ramnarain; and of the
necessity of supporting his life, fortune, and govern-
ment against the Nabob, should any hostile design
appear to be entertained. Mr. Vansittart, however,
listened to the representations which the Nabob art-
fully sent him, of the artifices by which Rammarain
evaded the settlement of his accounts: The exi-
gencies of the Calcutta government urgently required
the payments due from the Nahol: The Nabob
declared that the rccovery of the balances from
Ramnarain was the only fund from which those pay-
ments eould he made: And Vansittart, with the
usual credulity, believed the vulgar reports, of the
great treasures, as well as the vast balances, in the
hands of Ramnarain; though the accounts of only
three years of his government were unexamined, and
though in each of those years his country had been
regularly over-run by hostile armies, and he had been
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than he was able to pay.!

Major Carnac and Colonel Coote, on the other
hand, allowed their minds to be entirely engrossed
by the evidence which appeared of the resolution of
the Nabob to destroy Ramnarain. The proof which
they possessed was indeed but too conclusive, since
they have both left their declarations upon record,
that the Nabob tempted them with enormous bribes
to leave Ramnarain in his power.> Their opposition
to the Nabol, which was often offensive and excep-
tionable in the mode, appeared to Vansittart to have
no better aim than vexation to himself; it lessened
the care of Ramnarain to save appearances in evad-
ing the extortion with which he was threatened ; and
it enabled the Nabob at last to persuade Vansittart,
that he was a man requiring nothing but justice,
which Ramnarain was labouring to defeat; and that

t Major Carnac (see his Evidence In the Third Report of the Com-
mittee of 1772) believed that he owed nothing at all.

¢ Both insisted upon the fact, that Ramnnarain was ready to account
fairly. Tn a letter of Major Carnac’s to the Select Committee, dated
13th April, 1761, he says, “ I have long had reason to suspect the
Nabob had ill designs agamst Ramnarain, and have now found my sus-
picions to be too true. Ilis Excellency (the Nabob) made a heavy com-
plaint to me yesterday, in the presence of Mr. M‘Guire, Major Yorke,
Messrs. Lushington and Swinton, that there was a considerable balance
due on the revenues of this province. Ramnarain has declared to me,
that he was ready to lay the accounts before him; however, as the two
parties differ widely in their statements, Mr. M‘Guire and I proposed,
that they should each make out their accounts, and refer them to your
board, who would fairly decide between them. This, which I thought
was a reasonable propasal, was so far from being satisfactory te the
Nabob, that he plainly declared, nothing less could satisfy him than
the Mahraje's being removed from the Naibut of this province before he
returned 10 Moorshedabad.”  Tirst Report of the Committee in 1772,
App. No. 13, In his evidence befure the Committee, Carnac says,
% The plea of his being in arrear was the pretext always made use of for
oppressing him, but without foundation; for in the frequent conversa-
tions I had with Ramnarain on the subject, he always seemed ready to
come to a fair and equitable account.”
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his government was hastening to ruin from the ob- BOOK IV.
stinate dishonesty of one man supported by two “%¢%%
English commanders. 1761.

So far did these altercations and animosities pro-
ceed, that on the 25th of June, Vansittart, who had
a majority in the council, came to the unhappy re-
solution of recalling both Coote and Carnac from
Patna, and of leaving Ramnarain at the mercy of the
Nabob. He made that use of his power, which it
was the height of weakness in Vansittart not to
foresee. Ramnarain was immediately seized and
thrown into prison; his very house was robbed; his
friends were tortured to make confession of hidden
treasures; his life was only for the moment spared,
lest the indignation of the English should be too
violently roused ; and after all, the quantity of trea-
sure which he was found to possess was insignificant,
a sum barely sufficient for the daily expenses of his
government.'

This was the fatal error of Mr. Vansittart’s ad-
ministration ; because it extinguished among the
natives of rank all confidence in the English protec-
tion ; and because the enormity to which, in this in.
stance, he had lent his support, created an opinion of
a weak or a corrupt partiality, and diminished the
weight of his interference when the Nabob was
really the party aggrieved. For now began the me-
morable disputes between the Nabob and the Com-
pany’s service about the internal trade; and, at the
same time, such changes were produced in the Coun-
cil at Calcutta, as impaired considerably the Gover-

' Vansittart's Narrative, 1. 141—271; The Evidence of Carnac and
Coute in the First Report, and that of Clive, M<Guire, and Carnac, in the
Third Report of the Committee, 1722; Scott’s Hist. of Bengal, p. 404
~—409; Seer Mutakhareen, ii. 160—181; Verelst’s View of the English
Government in Bengal, p. 47.
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in the history of the Company, the memory of which
1s of peculiar importance.

Just before Colonel Clive resigned the government
in Bengal, the 147th paragraph of one of the last of
the dispatches, to which he affixed his name, ad-
dressed the Court of Directors in the following terms.
“ Having fully spoken to every branch of your affairs
at this Presidency, under their established heads, we
cannot, consistent with the real anxiety we feel for
the future welfare of that respectable body from whom
you and, we are in trust, close this address without
expostulating with freedom on the unprovoked and
general asperity of your letter per Prince Henry
Packet. Our sentiments, on this head, will, we
doubt not, acquire additional weight, from the con-
sideration of their being subscribed by a majority of
your Council, who are, at this very period, quitting
your service, and consequently, independent and dis-
interested. Permit us to say, That the diction of
your letter is most unworthy yourselves and us, in
whatever relation counsidered, either as masters to
servants, or gentlemen to gentlemen. Mere inadver-
tencies, and casual neglects, arising from an unavoid-
able and most complicated confusion in the state of
your affairs, have lheen treated in such language and
sentiments, as nothing but the most glaring and pre-
meditated fanlts could warrant. Groundless infor-
mations have, without further scrutiny, borne with
you the stamp of truth, though proceeding from those
who had therein obviously their own purpose to serve,
no matter at whose expense. These have received
from you such countenance and encouragement, as
must most assuredly tend to cool the warmest zeal of
your servants here and every where else; as they
will appear to have been only the source of general
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reflections, thrown out at random against your faith- BooK 1v.
ful servants of this Presidency, in various parts of ©%%5:
your letter now before us,—faithful to little purpose, 1761.
~—if the breath of scandal, joined to private pique or
private or personal attachments, have power to
blow away in one hour the merits of many years
services, and deprive them of that rank, and those
rising benefits, which are justly a spur to their in-
tegrity and application. The lttle attention shown
to these considerations in the indiscriminate favours
heaped on some individuals, and undeserved censures
on others, will, we apprehend, lessen that spirit of zeal
so very essential to the well-being of your affairs, and,
consequently, in the end, if continued, prove the de-
struction of them. Private views may, it is much to
be feared, take the lead here, from examples at home;
and no gentlemen hold your service longer, nor exert
themselves further in it, than their own exigencies
require. This being the real present state of your
service, it becomes strictly our duty to represent it in
the strongest light, or we should with little truth,
and less propriety, subscribe ourselves,
“ May it please your Honours,
“ Your most faithful servants,

“ RosLrT CLIVE,

“J Z.HoLwELL,

“ Wil B. SUMNER,

“ W. M‘GuIre.”

The Company were even then no strangers to what
they have become better acquainted with the longer
they have acted; to that which, from the very nature
of their authority, and from their local circumstances,
it was evident they must experience; a disregard of
their orders, when contrary to the interests or
passions of their servants: but as they never before
had a servant of such high pretensions, and so auda-
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BOOK 1v. cious a character as Clive, they had never before been
Cuar. 5 treated with so much contumely in words. They

1761.

were moved .accordingly to resent it highly. In the
very first paragraph of their general letter to Bengal,
dated the 21st of January, 1761, they said, « We
have taken under our most serious consideration the
geueral letter from our late President and council of
Fort William, dated the 29th December, 1759, and
many paragraphs therein containing gross insults
upon and indignities offered to the Court of Direc-
tors ; tending to the subversion of our authority over
our servants, and a dissolution of all order and good
government in the Company’s affairs: To put an
immediate stop therefore to this evil, we do posi-
tively order and direct, that immediately upon the
receipt of this letter, all those persons still remaining
in the Company’s service, who signed the said letter,
viz. Messieurs John Zephaniah Holwell, Charles
Stafford Playdell, William Brightwell Sumner, and
William M*Guire, be dismissed from the Company’s
service ; and you are to take care that they be not
permitted, on any consideration, to continue in India,
but that they are to be sent to England by the first
ships which return home the same season you receive
this letter.”

The dismissals of which this letter was the signal,
not only gave a majority in the Council to the party
by whom Vansittart was opposed; but sent Mr,
Ellis, the most intemperate and arbitrary of all his
opponents, to the chiefship of the factory at Patna.
He treated the Nabob with the most insulting airs of
authority; and broke through all respect for his go-
vernment. So early as the month of January he
gave his orders to the commander of the troops to
seize and keep prisoner one of the Nabob’s collectors,
who had raised some difficulties in permitting a
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quantity of opium, the private property of one of the BOOK 1v.
Company’s servants, to pass duty free as the property *4%-%:
of the Company. This outrage the discretion of the 1761.
officer avoided, by suspending obedience to the order,
and sending a letter to the Nabob, to redress by his
own authority whatever might zppear to be wrong.
About the same time another servant of the Nabob,
a man of high connexions and influence, purchased
for the Nabol’s use a quantity of nitre. But the
monapoly of the saltpetre trade had been conveyed
to the Company. Though an exception in favour of
the Nabob to the extent of his own consumption
was, from standing usage, so much understood, that
to express it had appeared altogether useless and
vain, this purchase was converted by Mr. Ellis into
such an invasion of the English rights, that the
Nabob was not to be consulted in the punishment of
his own servant. The unfortunate man was seized,
put in irons, and sent down a prisoner to Calcutta to
receive whatever chastisement the Council might
direct. It required the utmost address and power
of the President to get him sent back to be punished
by his master. As to sending him back for the pur-
pose of ascertaining whether he was guilty or inno-
cent, that was a preliminary which it would have
been absurd to propose. Some of the Council in-
sisted that he should be publicly whipped at Cal-
cutta ; others, that he should have his ears cut off.
Not many days after these violent proceedings, Mr.
Ellis, having heard by vague report that two English
deserters were concealed in the fort of Mongeer, dis-
patched a company of Sepoys, with orders to receive
the deserters, or to search the fort. The Governor
declared that no Europeans were there; and for
ampler satisfaction carried two officers of the Com.-
pany vound the fort. T'rom apprehension, however,
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military duty, he refused without orders to admit a
body of armed men ; shut the gates; and threatened
to fire upon them if they approached the walls. This
Mr. Ellis treated as the highest excess of insolence ;
and obstinately refused to withdraw the Sepoys till
they had searched the fort. By these repeated in-
vasions of his government, the pride of the Nabob
was deeply wounded. He complained to the Pre-
sident in bitter terms; and with reason declared that
the example, which was set by the servants of the
Company, of trampling upon his authority, deprived
him of all dignity in the eyes of his subjects,
and rendered it vain to hope for their obedience.
After a dispute of three months, during which Ellis
was supported by the Council, the difference was
compromised, by the Nabol’s consenting to admit
any person to search the fort whom Mr. Vansittart
should name; when Lieutenant Ironside, after the
strictest investigation, was convinced, that no Euro-
pean whatsoever, except an old French invalid, whose
freedom Mr. Hastings procured, had bheen in the
fort.

Hitherto Meer Causim had conducted his govern-
ment with no ordinary success. He had reduced to
obedience all the rebellious Zemindars: What was of
still greater importance, he had, as was declared by
the President in his minute of the 22d of March,
1762, discharged the whole of his pecuniary obliga-
tions to the English; and satisfied both his own and
his predecessor’s troops.” He had extorted money
with unsparing hands from the Zemindars and other

! His payments to the Company consisted of twenty-six lacs of sicca
rupees, of 2s. 8{d., together with fifty-three lacs of current rupees, of
2s. 4d., derived from the ceded districts, See Vansittart’s Minute,
Narrative, ii. 38.
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functionaries: In the financial department of his go- BOOK IV.

vernment, he was clear-sighted, vigilant, and severe:

CHaPr. 5.

He had introduced a strict economy, without appear~ 1762.

ance of avarice, in his whole expenditure: And he
had made considerable progress in new-modelling
and improving his army ; when the whole internal
economy of his government became involved in dis-
order by the pretensions of the Company’s ser-
vants.

In India, as under most uncivilized governments,
the transit of goods within the country was made
subject to duties; and upon all the roads and navi-
gable rivers, toll-houses, or custom-houses, (in the
language of the country chokeys) were erected, which
had power of stopping the goods, till the duties were
levied. By the rude and oppressive nature of the
government these custom-houses were exceedingly
multiplied ; and in long carriages the inconvenience
of numerous stoppages and payments was very
severé. As in all other departments of the govern-
ment, so in this, there was nothing regular and fixed;
the duties varied at different times and different
places; and a wide avenue was always open for the
extortion of the collectors. The internal trade of
the country was by these causes subject to ruinous
obstructions.

The English Company had at au early period
availed themselves of a favourable opportunity to so-
licit exemption from such oppressive interruptions and
expense ; and the rulers of the country who felt in
their revenues the benefits- of foreign commerce
granted a phirmaun by which the export and im-
port trade of the Company was completely relieved,
as both the goods which they imported were allowed
to pass into the interior, and those which for exporta-
tion they purchased in the interior were allowed to

VOL. 111, u
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pass to the sea, without either stoppage or duties. A
certificate, signed by the English President, or chiefs
of factories, (in the language of the country a dus-
tuck) shown at the toll-houses or chokeys, protected
the property. The Company, however, engrossed to
themselves the import and export trade hetween In-
dia and Europe, and limited the private trade of their
servants to the business of the country. The benefit
of this exemption therefore accrued to the Company
alone; and though attempts had been sometimes
made to extend the protection of the Company's du-
stuck to the trade carried on by their servants in the
interior, this had been always vigorously opposed by
the Subahdars, both as defrauding the public revenue,
and injuring the native merchants.

No sooner had the English acquired an ascendancy
in the government by the dethronement of Suraja
Dowla, and the elevation of Meer Jaffier, than the
servants of the Company broke through the restraints
which had been imposed upon them by former Su-
bahdars, and engaged largely in the interior trade of
the country. At first, however, they carried not
their pretensions beyond certain bounds; and they
peid the same duties which were levied on the sub-
Jects of the Nabob. It appears not that during the
administration of Clive, any of the Company’s ser-
vants, unless clandestinely, attempted to trade on any
other terms. According however as they acquired
experience of their power over the government of the
country ; and especially after the fresh and signal
instance of it, the elevation of a new sovereigu in the
person of Meer Causim, the Company’s dustuck or
passport, which was only entitled to protect the goods
of actual exportation and importation, was employed
by the Company’s agents of all descriptions to protect
their private trade in every part of the country. So
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great was now the ascendancy of the English name, BOOK v.

that the collectors or officers at the chokeys or toll-
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houses, who were fully aware of the dependance of 1762.

their own government on the power and pleasure of
the English, dared not in general to scrutinize the
use which was made of the Company’s dustuck, or to
stop the goods which it fraudulently screened. The
Company’s servants, whose goods were thus conveyed
entirely free from duty, while those of all other mer-
chants were heavily burthened, were rapidly getting
into their own hands the whole trade of the country,
and thus drying up one of the sources of the public
revenue. When the collectors of these tolls, or tran-
sit duties, questioned the power of the dustuck and
stopped the goods, it was customary to send a party
of Sepoys to seize the offender and carry him prisoner
to the nearest factory. Meer Causim was hardly
seated on the musnud, when grievous complaints of
these enormities came up to him from all quarters,
and he presented the strongest remonstrances to
the President and Council. In his letter to the Go-
vernor, dated March 26th, 1762, he says, *“ From

the factory of Calcutta to Cossimbuzar, Patna, and -

Dacca, all the English chiefs, with their gomastahs,
officers and agents in every district of the govern-
ment, act as collectors, renters, and magistrates, and,
setting up the Company’s colours, allow no power to
my officers. And besides this, the gomastahs and
other servants in every district, in every market and
village, carry on a trade in oil, fish, straw, bamboos,
rice, paddy, beetel-nut, and other things; and every
man with a Company’s dustuck in his hand regard